
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Date: TUESDAY, 6 NOVEMBER 2018
Time: 11.30 am
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Chris Boden (Chairman)
Michael Hudson (Deputy Chairman)
Wendy Mead
Alderman Alison Gowman
Vivienne Littlechild
Steve Stevenson (Co-opted Member)
Vacancy

Enquiries: Joseph Anstee
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

N.B. Part of this meeting may be subject to audio-visual recording. 

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1.00pm. 

John Barradell
Town Clerk

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Reports

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 1 May 
2018.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. EAST LONDON HEALTH & CARE PARTNERSHIP
Report of East London Health & Care Partnership

For Information
(Pages 9 - 30)

5. UPDATE ON NEIGHBOURHOOD HEALTH AND CARE SERVICES
City and Hackney CCG to be heard.

For Information

6. HEALTHWATCH UPDATE

For Information

7. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY (SEND) CITY OF LONDON 
LOCAL AREA INSPECTION OUTCOME – MAY 2018
Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services

For Information
(Pages 31 - 46)

8. NORTH EAST LONDON CCGS - HEALTH BASED PLACES OF SAFETY (HBPOS)
Report of City and Hackney CCG

For Information
(Pages 47 - 276)

9. ANNUAL WORKPLAN
Report of the Town Clerk

For Information
(Pages 277 - 278)



3

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act.

Part 2 - Non-Public Reports

13. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



This page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 1 May 2018 

Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee held 
at the Guildhall EC2 at 11.30 am

Present

Members:
Chris Boden (Chairman)
Wendy Mead (Deputy Chairman)
Alderman Alison Gowman

Michael Hudson
Vivienne Littlechild
Steve Stevenson

Officers:
Joseph Anstee - Town Clerk's Department
Simon Cribbens - Community & Children's Services Department
Tracey Jansen - Human Resources

Also in attendance:
Nina Griffith - Homerton University Hospital Foundation Trust
Dr. Angshu Bhowmik - Homerton University Hospital Foundation Trust

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Emma Edhem.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations.

3. ORDER OF THE COURT OF COMMON COUNCIL 
The Committee received an Order of the Court of Common Council of 19 April 
2018 appointing the Committee and approving its Terms of Reference.

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
The Committee proceeded to elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing 
Order No.29. The Town Clerk read a list of Members eligible to stand and 
Christopher Boden, being the only Member who expressed a willingness to 
serve, was duly elected as Chairman of the Committee for the ensuing year.

5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
The Committee proceeded to elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with 
Standing Order No.30. The Town Clerk read a list of Members eligible to stand 
and Michael Hudson, being the only Member who expressed a willingness to 
serve, was duly elected as Deputy Chairman of the Committee for the ensuing 
year.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



6. CO-OPTION OF A HEALTHWATCH REPRESENTATIVE 
RESOLVED – That Steve Stevenson be co-opted as the representative for 
Healthwatch.

7. APPOINTMENT OF INELJHOSC REPRESENTATIVE(S) 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be appointed to the Inner North East London 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the Deputy Chairman as 
their substitute.

8. MINUTES 
The Committee noted that the external guests who had attended the last 
meeting had been omitted from the attendance and agreed that this should be 
corrected.

RESOLVED – That, pending the above correction, the public minutes of the 
meeting held on 13 February 2018 be agreed as a correct record.

Matters Arising

Update on Changes to Cancer Services and Breast Cancer Screening

A Member clarified that the concerns they had raised in the previous meeting 
about the cancer unit at St. Bartholomew’s were more specifically about the 
expectation that patients could receive more than one treatment in a day at the 
unit, and that patients were having to wait too long for mammograms. It was 
hoped that this could be improved.

Employment for People with a Learning Disability

The Committee was given an update on the City of London Corporation’s 
activities in this area. The Committee noted that the Establishment Committee 
was responsible for matters of employment at the Corporation itself. A major 
project was underway to co-ordinate work experience opportunities at the 
Corporation, who had various partnerships already. Led by Human Resources, 
this would also involve Community and Children’s Services, the Economic 
Development Office, the City Bridge Trust and working with a number of 
brokerages. This was to ensure that the new service would address the 
different commitments and strategies already in place or planned. It was not 
thought that expanding the work experience offering would impact on 
commitments to placements for schools, as generally students required 
different work experience opportunities to adults and there was a range of 
people that would benefit.

Members felt that the Corporation had a statutory duty to provide appropriate 
support where possible, but accepted that due to the wide spectrum of learning 
disabilities there was no ‘one size fits all’ approach. The Corporation also had a 
responsibility with regards to children and young people with learning 
disabilities. The Committee hoped that the City of London could move towards 
an individual, integrated approach. The Assistant Director of HR advised that 
she could only comment in relation to employment and in this regard, it was the 

Page 2



Equality Act 2010 that identified issues such as disability discrimination and 
reasonable adjustments.

The Committee heard that the Corporation had received Silver accreditation 
last year and was working towards Gold, which entailed gathering better 
monitoring information. Learning disabilities were self-reported on the 
Corporation self-service facility but were not broken down into types of 
disability. Support was offered on an individual and one-to-one basis. It was an 
area where the Corporation was always learning and trying to improve. The 
Corporation had also had a duty to make reasonable adjustments for 
employees with disabilities. A Disability Staff Network was in place and had 
hosted events to support individuals with disabilities. The Director of 
Community and Children’s Services told the Committee that their department 
had met with the City Bridge Trust and the HR department to review what was 
already in place to support people with learning disabilities joining the 
workforce. The Corporation was awarded disability-confidence recognition and 
supported individuals on a one to one basis to meet their needs. The 
Corporation, through its attracting talent and recruitment initiatives, aspired to 
become a leader in this area in the City. It was important to utilise the amount 
of employment opportunity available in the City of London.

A Member asked what support was in place for children in care after the age of 
16, where in some places a lack of continuing support could cause problems, 
as a foster home would not necessarily prepare a child for adult life. The 
Director of Community and Children’s Services told the Committee that an 
extensive network of support was in place for care leavers, including training 
and a care-nominated member of staff. Support was available until the care 
leaver reached 25 years of age. A recent Ofsted report had rated the 
Corporation’s services for care leavers as Good. Outcomes in health and 
wellbeing and education, employment and training were measured. The 
Corporation also cared for a number of unaccompanied asylum seeker children 
via the national dispersal scheme, and took in a higher number of children that 
suggested by the quota. The Committee suggested that more effort could be 
made to publicise the good work that the Corporation was doing in these areas 
and encouraged officers to do so.

The Committee noted that the Corporation had recently been inspected by 
Ofsted on its SEND programme, and were waiting for the formal feedback 
letter. This could be brought back to the next Committee meeting as it picked 
up on the issue of transition.

9. NHS 111 SERVICE 
The Committee received a report of Homerton University Hospital Foundation 
Trust and welcomed Nina Griffith, Workstream Director for Unplanned Care in a 
cross-borough City and Hackney role, to the meeting. A new 111 service was 
being procured for North-East London, and the Committee was given an 
overview of the planned service. The intention was that one phone call would 
give patients access to a doctor and service if needed, with various outcomes 
including self-care, a GP, urgent GP or pharmacy appointment, or a referral to 
A&E. Call handlers would be non-clinical, but clinicians would be on hand and 

Page 3



available if necessary. Children and elderly patients would be put straight to 
through to a clinician. The service was not intended to overlap with 999 which 
would still be the recommendation for emergencies. The Committee noted the 
NHE England specifications, and that the single point of entry was a strong 
national driver.

The Committee noted the current patient model in City and Hackney provided 
by the City & Hackney Urgent Healthcare Social Enterprise (CHUHSE) system 
was small and no longer viable. CHUHSE would provide interim cover for face-
to-face GP out-of-hours services until March 2019, with the new 111 service 
going live on 1 August 2018, at which point the CHUHSE telephone service 
would cease.

A Member suggested that patients over the age of 75 may find it more difficult 
to express themselves over the phone and asked how the service could help 
these patients. It was hoped that within call handling issues like this could be 
picked up and inform clinicians as to how to direct the call. The Committee was 
informed that the Home Visiting service would also continue for City residents. 
A key change under the new service was that there would be more options for 
out-of-hours appointments and locations. Out-of-hours Hubs were planned, one 
of which would be the Neaman Practice. Clinicians would determine which 
professional a patient needed and would have a directory on hand to find the 
best one for the patient. A Member suggested that there may be patients 
outside of children and the elderly who should be put straight through to a 
clinician, and pointed out that GPs had a list of patients who should be fast-
tracked that they could share with the 111 service.

The Committee was informed that work was ongoing with the 111 design team 
on such issues. There had been a good level of clinical input into the design of 
the service to give it a strong line of sight and the right level of detail to be 
effective, but the service would be informed by feedback and could always be 
improved.

A Member asked if the service would be available for people working in the City 
of London as opposed to residents. The 111 service would be available and 
patients would be referred locally if they required urgent treatment, but would 
otherwise be referred to their local GP. Full specifications for the service were 
still under negotiation and could be shared after June when contracts had been 
finalised. Members suggested that if response times for the service were not 
quick patients would be likely to call 999 instead. Members also suggested that 
the service be able to pick up the number of the person calling in case they 
needed to respond urgently to a distressed or incapacitated caller, as with the 
999 service which could override withheld Caller IDs.

The Committee thanked Nina Griffith for her excellent presentation.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

Page 4



10. INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING PROGRAMME - HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services updating Members on the progress of the integrated commissioning 
programme and two current key pieces of work within it – the development of a 
local integrated care model and the pooling of budgets for Continuing Health 
Care and Adult Social Care.

The Director of Community and Children’s Services informed the Committee 
that there were various changes including the introduction of a Sustainability 
and Transformation Partnership. Local authorities and the CCG had looked at 
introducing a single system for better delivery and outcomes. It was stressed 
that this would not be a merger with Hackney, but rather the pooling of some 
resources with the CCG which would aim to enable quicker design and delivery 
and drive better outcomes and efficiency. The City of London alone was a small 
part of the market and this model would give the City of London more of a voice 
and increased ability to make changes. The emergence of neighbourhood 
delivery would help with the City’s smaller population base. Implementation 
would be overseen by the Integrated Commissioning Board which included 
three City of London Corporation representatives. The Board would have 
oversight of CCG budgets. The governance structure included four 
workstreams, each with a Director and Senior Responsible officer. These 
workstreams were Unplanned Care, Planned Care, Prevention and Children, 
Young People and Maternity. 

The changes were about collaboration and partnership and hoped to see real 
service delivery change, aiming for equality of service and shared 
understanding within and between neighbouring CCGs. Along with the 111 
service, this approach would allow for more choice and opportunities in areas 
such as out-of-hours services.

The Committee noted the development of the neighbourhood model with 
regards to GP services. Members were aware of the national challenges for GP 
practices around recruitment and particularly attracting partner GPs, as well as 
practices merging or entering into joint office support arrangements. The 
Neighbourhood Model would aim to make City and Hackney attractive to GPs 
and work was ongoing with the local GP confederation. An integrated structure 
would be more appealing to GPs and the model would be based on 
geographical location to inform the understanding of local needs. Members 
suggested that bureaucracy and the administrative burden for partners was 
another barrier to GP recruitment. 

The aim was to provide more continuity of care and to join up a broader range 
of services. The Committee noted models used elsewhere such as Acute 
Providers taking on GP functions which alleviated the administrative burden. 
Better recruitment in other areas could also help GPs. Members felt that the 
admin support issue, continuity of care and health and social care integration 
were key in providing better GP services. There was an inherent risk in having 
a high turnover of GPs, whilst poor administrative support and patients visiting 
GPs with non-health issues was uneconomical for both patients and doctors. 

Page 5



The essence of the new model was to create structures for local ownership, to 
enable long term sustainability and flexibility for local leaders.

The Committee noted the progress of the integrated commissioning programme 
and key pieces of work within it, and agreed they were steps in the right 
direction. The Committee thanked Nina Griffith for attending and for her 
contributions to the meeting.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

11. CANCER SCREENING - 62-DAY TREATMENT TARGET 
The Committee received a report of Homerton University Hospital Foundation 
Trust and welcomed Dr. Angshu Bhowmik, consultant in respiratory and 
general medicine and lead clinician for lung cancer, to the meeting. The 
Committee was given an overview of the process and pathways for healthcare 
services in diagnosing and treating cancer patients, from the point of GP 
referral to receiving treatment. The target timeframe for this process was 62 
days and the expectation was to meet this target in 85% of cases. However, 
there were some legitimate reasons why this could not be met, for example in 
the case of patients who had recently had a heart attack.

Performance in City and Hackney against the 62-day GP standard had been 
inconsistent over the last 24 months. There were challenges in meeting the 
target, as pathways were sometimes clinically complex, and histology was often 
a problem. It could take up to four weeks to devise a treatment plan. 
Furthermore, many new drugs were available to treat cancers, but special tests 
were required to determine a patient’s suitability, and it could take up to six 
weeks to approve drug use. The pathway was stretched to the limit to enable 
treatments. Timescales for surgery had shortened in recent years, but 
timescales for chemotherapy had gotten longer. The Committee noted that the 
majority of treatments completed at Homerton were compliant, but patients who 
went for treatments at other Trusts who then breached the 62-day target still 
counted towards the figures for Homerton.

There were three broad categories of delays; pathway management, patient 
choice/behaviour and clinical complexity. The Committee was informed that 
areas for improvement to minimise or prevent delays had been identified such 
as changes to staffing and recruitment, particularly in specialist positions. The 
hospital was also looking at how quickly tissue samples were transported, as 
small delays in histology could make a big difference and turnaround could take 
up to 10 days. There were sometimes delays for the Homerton in getting their 
histology results back from the Royal London. However, transporting to 
hospitals that were not local may in some cases mean that a sample was 
analysed quicker, but could equally be longer, and as this would mean the 
analysing doctor would not be able to attend multidisciplinary team meetings, it 
would not be a good thing overall. There were issues with histology timescales 
and similar experiences in many areas of the country, but efforts were being 
made to improve.

Page 6



In response to a query from a Member, Dr. Angshu Bhowmik told the 
Committee that private sector work was done in the hospital, but this was 
separately allocated and done outside of a doctor’s NHS shifts, so should not 
be using up any NHS resource or contributing to delays. The Committee noted 
concerns around histology procedures, but recognised that this was a national 
issue. Members suggested looking into histology in greater detail as part of the 
annual workplan. Whilst it was positive that there was better available 
treatment, this was offset if it caused longer waits. The Committee was 
informed that timescales for newer treatments were coming down, but there 
was more work to be done. New drugs had proven to be excellent treatments 
but currently only a small percentage of cancers were treatable with them. It 
was hoped this percentage would increase significantly over the next few years.

The Secretary of State had been made aware of the issues around cancer 
treatment at the moment as it was frequently raised by the BMA and other 
bodies. It was not felt that the targets should be relaxed, but more effort should 
be made to work towards meeting them. Members suggested that the CCG and 
INELJHOSC may also be interested in exploring the issue of histology 
procedures, as a turnaround of up to 10 days was a concern.

The Committee thanked Dr. Angshu Bhowmik for attending and for his helpful 
contributions to the meeting, which had explained a complicated subject in a 
clear and concise manner. 

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

12. ANNUAL WORKPLAN 
Members received a report of the Town Clerk regarding the Committee’s 
meetings and activities for the year, and the current workplan, and the following 
agenda items were suggested:

Histology at Royal London – To examine the procedures around histology as 
part of the process for cancer treatment.

Air Pollution – To look at the actions taken or being taken to improve air quality 
in the City of London, progress made against the Air Quality Strategy and 
whether the Corporation’s targets were being met.

SEND – To receive the results of the Corporation’s recent Ofsted inspection for 
discussion.

Healthwatch – Healthwatch representatives to attend a Committee meeting and 
report to the Committee on governance changes and restructuring of 
Healthwatch City of London and Hackney.

RESOLVED – That the proposed schedule of meetings be agreed.

13. INNER NORTH EAST LONDON UPDATE 
The Committee noted that the last meeting of the Inner North-East London 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been cancelled due to 

Page 7



adverse weather conditions, and in lieu of a rescheduled meeting, a letter had 
been sent to the NHS North East London Commissioning Alliance containing 
questions relating to the agenda items for the cancelled meeting. The 
Committee noted the documents provided, including the letter sent to the NHS 
on behalf of the JHOSC and the letter and documents received in response.

RESOLVED – That the report and documents provided on behalf of the JHOSC 
be noted.

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
There was no other business.

The meeting closed at 1.20 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 8



Committee(s): Date:
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 6 November 2018

Subject:
East London Health & Care Partnership

Public

Report of:
East London Health & Care Partnership

For Information

Main Report

The Committee has been provided with a briefing paper by East London Health & 
Care Partnership on better care and wellbeing in East London. The report sets out 
the Partnership’s priorities, aims and actions to improve health and care services in 
the area. At Committee we will welcome Jane Milligan, Executive lead for the East 
London Health & Care Partnership, to discuss the changing role of the CCG and 
update Members on the work of the Partnership so far.

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the report and briefing paper provided.

Appendices

Report of East London Health & Care Partnership: Better Care and Wellbeing in East 
London

Joseph Anstee
Town Clerk’s Department

T: 020 7332 1480
E: joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



ChadwellHeathRushGreenRomfordRainhamUpminsterHornchurchHaroldWood
GideaParkNewburyParkSevenKingsMoorgateAldgateMansionHouseBankLiverpoolSt
ShoreditchBethnalGreenWhitechapelStokeNewingtonHackneyDalstonCanaryWharf
PoplarStepneyIsleofDogsMileEndBowLimehouseShadwellStamfordHillLowerClapton
CanningTownPlaistowNorthWoolwichCustomHouseEastHamStratfordGreenStWestHam
ManorParkForestGateBecktonWalthamstowLeytonLeytonstoneChingfordHighamHillWoodford
WansteadIlfordBarkingsideSnaresbrookGoodmayesBarkingDagenhamBarkingRiverside
ChadwellHeathRushGreenRomfordRainhamUpminsterHornchurchHaroldWood
GideaParkNewburyParkSevenKingsBarbicanAldgateMansionHouseBankLiverpoolSt
ShoreditchBethnalGreenWhitechapelStokeNewingtonHackneyDalstonCanaryWharf
PoplarStepneyIsleofDogsMileEndBowLimehouseShadwellStamfordHillLowerClapton
CanningTownPlaistowNorthWoolwichCustomHouseEastHamStratfordGreenStWestHam
ManorParkForestGateBecktonWalthamstowLeytonLeytonstoneChingfordHighamHilWoodford
WansteadIlfordBarkingsideSnaresbrookGoodmayesBarkingDagenhamBarkingRiverside
ChadwellHeathRushGreenRomfordRainhamUpminsterHornchurchHaroldWood
GideaParkNewburyParkSevenKingsMoorgateAldgateMansionHouseBankLiverpoolSt
ShoreditchBethnalGreenWhitechapelStokeNewingtonHackneyDalstonCanaryWharf
PoplarStepneyIsleofDogsMileEndBowLimehouseShadwellStamfordHillLowerClapton
CanningTownPlaistowNorthWoolwichCustomHouseEastHamStratfordGreenStWestHam
ManorParkForestGateBecktonWalthamstowLeytonLeytonstoneChingfordHighamHillWoodford
WansteadIlfordBarkingsideSnaresbrookGoodmayesBarkingDagenhamBarkingRiverside
ChadwellHeathRushGreenRomfordRainhamUpminsterHornchurchHaroldWood
GideaParkNewburyParkSevenKingsBarbicanAldgateMansionHouseBankLiverpoolSt
ShoreditchBethnalGreenWhitechapelStokeNewingtonHackneyDalstonCanaryWharf
PoplarStepneyIsleofDogsMileEndBowLimehouseShadwellStamfordHillLowerClapton
CanningTownPlaistowNorthWoolwichCustomHouseEastHamStratfordGreenStWestHam
ManorParkForestGateBecktonWalthamstowLeytonLeytonstoneChingfordHighamHilWoodford
WansteadIlfordBarkingsideSnaresbrookGoodmayesBarkingDagenhamBarkingRiverside

East London 
Health & Care 
Partnership

East London 
Health & Care 
Partnership

East London 
Health & Care 
Partnership

East London 
Health & Care 
Partnership

BETTER CARE 
AND WELLBEING
IN EAST LONDON

UPDATED:
 FOR 2017

HIGHLIGHTS
SEE P.30

Page 11



As more and more people choose to live and 
work in east London, and more of us are living 
longer, the demand on health and social care 
services is at an all-time high. 

Our doctors, nurses, therapists and other 
health and care professionals are looking after 
record numbers of people every day as our 
population grows faster than in any other part 
of the country. 

Despite immense pressures, local hospitals 
are continuing to treat A&E patients as fast 
and effectively as any major western country. 

Our GP, mental health and community services 
are among the very best in the country, and 
local councils are providing vital care to the 
most vulnerable.

It’s thanks to the dedication and hard work of 
the professionals involved, and the support 
of many thousands of voluntary carers, 
community and charity organisations across 
the area that we are getting the care we need. 
But change must be allowed to happen, and 
things improved, if we are to protect the 
health and care services we value so much, 
not just for now but for future generations. 

The NHS has constantly adapted and must 
continue to do so as our community and our 
health needs also change.
 
It is now able to treat people with new drugs 
and clinical care that weren’t available 
in the past. With this comes an increase 
in life expectancy, but also a rise in the 
ailments of old age. More people now have 
conditions including heart disease, arthritis 
and Type 2 diabetes.

There are big opportunities to improve 
things by making common-sense changes 
to how the NHS has historically worked and 
bring it closer to the social care services run 
by local councils. 

This a chance to deliver improvements 
that matter:

to make it easier to see a GP;
 
to speed up cancer diagnosis;
 
to offer better support in the community 
for people with mental health conditions;
 
to provide care for people closer to their 
home.

If we do nothing and carry on providing and 
using services in the way we do now, without 
any changes, we will not only miss out on these 
improvements, we will fail to keep up with 
the growing demand and simply won’t have 
enough money to keep services going as now. 

In the east London area alone, there will be a 
£580m shortfall in funding within four years, 
by 2021. Services and facilities may have to 
close and standards of care will suffer if not 
addressed urgently.  

Change is required, and fast, to help keep us 
healthy and well in the future and to receive 
care when we need it. 

We all have a part to play in this – all of those 
providing the services, and all of us using 
them. We can all do our bit.   

It’s why neighbouring NHS hospitals, 
community and mental health trusts, family 
doctors, pharmacies, local councils and others 
have come together to plan for the future 
and redesign local health and care services 
to benefit us all – now and in the years ahead. 

Working as the East London Health & Care 
Partnership, and backed by the leaders of all 
the organisations involved, they are combining 
their expertise and resources to develop ways 
of giving our nurses, doctors and care staff 
the best chance of success to look after us 
when we need them to.

We can all do our bitWe are:

BETTER CARE AND WELLBEING 
IN EAST LONDON

Tower Hamlets
Clinical Commissioning Group

Redbridge
Clinical Commissioning Group

Waltham Forest
Clinical Commissioning Group

City and Hackney
Clinical Commissioning Group

Havering
Clinical Commissioning Group

Newham
Clinical Commissioning Group

Barking and Dagenham
Clinical Commissioning Group

Tower Hamlets
Clinical Commissioning Group

Redbridge
Clinical Commissioning Group

Waltham Forest
Clinical Commissioning Group

City and Hackney
Clinical Commissioning Group

Havering
Clinical Commissioning Group

Newham
Clinical Commissioning Group

Barking and Dagenham
Clinical Commissioning Group

NHS

Councils

03

P
age 12



The organisations behind the Partnership are:

NHS
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Barking & Dagenham; City & Hackney; 
Havering; Newham; Redbridge; Tower 
Hamlets; Waltham Forest

‘Provider’ Trusts

Barking, Havering and Redbridge 
University Hospitals Trust; Barts Health   
NHS Trust; The Homerton University 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; East 
London NHS; Foundation Trust; North 
East London NHS Foundation Trust

Councils
Barking & Dagenham; City of London 
Corporation; Hackney; Havering; Newham; 
Redbridge; Tower Hamlets; Waltham 
Forest

With a shared goal to help people live healthy 
and independent lives, the Partnership’s 
mission is to protect vital services and provide 
better treatment and care built around the 
needs of local people, safely and conveniently, 
closer to home. 

A top priority is to reduce the pressures on 
our hospitals and accident and emergency 
departments. A&E is all too often used as the 
only door into health and care services, when 
ideally people should be supported by NHS 111 
staff, GPs, community staff and resources in 
their own homes. The public themselves. The 
public wants easier access to GPs.

The Partnership also wants better outcomes 
for cancer patients, people with diagnosed 
with diabetes and improvements to mental 
health services, and to help people become 
independent with access to care at home. 

Reshaping services to provide them in the 
right place, where people need them most, 
supported by the right team of staff from 
across health and social care, with the right 
resources, is a key and urgent requirement. 

The response to the demand on services needs 
to offer better alternatives that help prevent 
people’s health deteriorating. This isn’t just to 
make the most efficient use of the resources 
and money available, but to provide a better 
quality of care and services in the community, 
where local people have told us they want them.

Improving the hundreds of health and care 
services for the two million people of east 
London – a population expected to grow by 
around 30,000 more people in 2017 alone – is 
a challenge.

Significant improvements are already being 
made by joining services up and people are 
starting to feel the benefit. The area now has 
some of the best care provision and facilities 
in the country, but there’s still much to do.

Although they operate safely, some our 
hospitals aren’t fully equipped to meet the 
needs of modern healthcare. Waiting times for 
appointments and treatments must be reduced. 
And more has to be done to safeguard our most 
vulnerable people, such as the elderly, disabled 
and those with mental health difficulties. 

‘Barrier busters’ 

The East London Health & Care Partnership 
isn’t afraid to tackle these challenges. It will 
build on the successes achieved so far and 
bring health and social care service providers 
even closer together – busting any barriers 
between them and ensuring services are fully 
able to meet the needs of local people, now 
and in future.

The Partnership’s main priorities are:

To help local people live healthy and 
independent lives

To improve local health and care services 
and outcomes

To have the right staff in the right place 
with the right resources to meet the 
community’s needs

To be a well-run, efficient and open 
Partnership

The Partnership is not seeking to take away 
local control of services. It recognises that 
while east London as a whole faces some 
common problems – such as the high rate of 
preventable illness and a shortage of clinicians 
and care staff – the local make up and 
characteristics of the area vary considerably 
and services must continue to be tailored and 
managed accordingly.

The Partnership is therefore shaping the 
way it tackles its priorities around three 
localised areas, bringing the councils and NHS 
organisations within them together as local 
care partnerships:

Barking, Havering and Redbridge

City of London & Hackney

Newham, Tower Hamlets and 
Waltham Forest

They will be responsible for ensuring the 
people living in these areas get high quality 
standards of care designed around their 
particular needs.  

The Partnership as a whole will drive forward 
the things that can only be achieved by all of 
the councils and NHS organisations across 
east London working together. This includes:

good quality urgent and emergency care 
for the area 

the availability of specialist clinical 
treatments 

a better use of buildings and facilities

the recruitment and retention of doctors, 
nurses and other health and care 
professionals

an increased use of digital technology to 
speed up the diagnosis and treatment of 
illness

ways of working that put a stop to 
duplication and unnecessary expense

The involvement of councils is enabling the 
provision of health and care services to be 

aligned with the development of housing, 
employment and education, all of which can 
have a big influence.

But the biggest single factor in the long term 
is to prevent ill health and in particular deaths 
caused by the effects of lifestyle choices such 
as diet, lack of exercise and smoking.

This is something we can all play a part in – 
everyone living and working in east London. 
It’s not just down to the authorities. 

All of us can do those little things each day 
that help us stay healthy and well, watching 
what we eat and drink and being more active. 
We will help people to do this and get involved 
in local communities to overcome isolation, 
which is a bigger killer than smoking. 

It’s also about using health and care services 
in the right way. Rather than go to a doctor 
or an A&E for every minor ailment, we can 
get advice from NHS111 first, online or by 
telephone, or go to a local pharmacist.  

We can all do our bit. If we do this, and get 
behind the work of the East London Health 
& Care Partnership, the prize is being able to 
lead healthy and independent lives, and get 
the care we can trust and rely on when we 
need it.

04

BETTER CARE AND WELLBEING 
IN EAST LONDON

05

P
age 13



More and more people are choosing to live, 
work and stay in east London. 

Major regeneration of the area is creating 
growth and opportunity, bringing new jobs 
and housing, better transport, shopping and 
leisure facilities, making it an attractive place 
to call home.

But while this is improving east London 
as a place, and making it generally more 
prosperous, are we actually investing in 
ourselves and taking care of our personal 
future health and wellbeing?   

Some 40 per cent of all deaths in England are 
preventable and are caused by the effects of 
lifestyle choices including diet, lack of exercise, 
smoking, alcohol and drugs. 

Treating preventable diseases, such as heart 
disease and smoking-related lung cancer, 
costs the NHS in England £11 billion each year. 

About 1.2m people in London still smoke. Of 
these, 280,000 live in east London and the 
local NHS spends £56m a year treating people 
for illnesses caused by it.

Type 2 diabetes is also preventable. 

One in six patients in hospital in England has 
diabetes, 90 per cent of whom have Type 2 
and it costs the NHS £1million an hour to care 
for them – 10 per cent of the total NHS spend.
 
More than half of all adults in east London 
are overweight or clinically obese. This is less 
than the national average of 63 per cent, but 
London has the highest rate of childhood 
obesity of any city of its size in the world.

If we fail to tackle preventable illnesses, not 
only will this situation continue, and likely get 
worse, the sustainability of our health and care 
services will be put at risk. 

The East London Health & Care Partnership 
has three priorities to help tackle these issues:

To help people stop smoking. We will 
especially target children and young 
people, so they fully understand how 
harmful and expensive smoking is – both 
to the individual and, in terms of treatment, 
to the NHS 

To reduce diabetes. We want to improve 
early diagnosis and provide ongoing 
support for those identified ‘at risk’. This 
includes offering places on the National 
Diabetes Prevention Programme, where 
people are given a personal health and 
wellbeing coach to help with their diet 
and exercise. We also want to improve 
outcomes for those living with Type 1 and 
Type 2 diabetes, ensuring they receive 
regular follow ups and have access to 
specialist advice when needed.  

To improve workplace health. Around 24 
million working days are lost in London 
each year because of sickness absence 
or injury. We will help business and public 
sector organisations across east London, 
including our own, give better health and 
wellbeing support to staff. We will promote 
healthy eating and physical activity and 
create support services for dealing with 
stress and other health issues, including 
those who want to stop smoking or reduce 
the amount of alcohol they drink. 

But it’s not just down to the authorities; we all 
have a stake in our own health. There are many 
things we can do in our daily lives to take 
better care of ourselves – such as eating more 
healthily, reducing alcohol intake and getting 
plenty of exercise. 

Some of the things we want to do will take 
longer than others, but we are doing all we can 
to make them happen as quickly as possible.

Our aims
•	 Better support to stop smoking
•	 Better screening, treatment and support for diabetes
•	 Help you look after your own general health and wellbeing

What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Providing better support in our hospitals, 	
	 mental and community health and primary 	
	 care services to help people stop smoking

•	 Improving screening processes to better 		
	 identify those at risk of contracting Type 2
 	 diabetes, and offering courses to help 		
	 those people change their lifestyles

•	 Making the care that people with Type 1 		
	 and Type 2 diabetes receive in GP 		
	 surgeries and hospitals the same across 		
	 east London

•	 Empowering people, through flexible self-
	 care courses, to better look after their diabetes
 	 and avoid unnecessary trips to hospital

•	 Working with local schools, colleges and 		
	 universities, employers, libraries and
 	 voluntary services to provide better 		
	 support for young people with diabetes

•	 Improving workplace health across east
 	 London, starting with the NHS. 			 
	 Happier, healthier NHS staff means better 	
	 healthcare for patients.

PREVENTION

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 Better support to stop smoking, with help 	
	 and advice available at many health and 		
	 care centres, workplaces and online

•	 Better screening, diagnosis, treatment and 	
	 support for people with diabetes

•	 New services to help young people, and 		
	 pregnant women, manage diabetes better

•	 Better opportunities and more support to 	
	 stay healthy at work

•	 Greater consistency of healthcare 		
	 opportunities and support across 
	 east London

•	 Help to help you take better care of 		
	 yourself

What can you do?

•	 If you smoke, try to stop and seek 	
	 help to do so

•	 Cut down on sugary food and drinks

•	 Eat smaller portions and enjoy a 		
	 balanced diet, including vegetables

•	 Keep hydrated – plenty of water!

•	 If you drink alcohol, do so sensibly 	
	 and watch how much you drink 

•	 Try to do some physical exercise
 	 every day. Just taking the stairs
 	 instead of the lift once a day, or 		
	 going for a quick stroll, can make 
	 a difference

And if you do these things yourself, 
support a family member or friend 
that wants to do the same!

Take an NHS Health Check

The NHS Health Check is a health check-up for 
adults in England aged 40-74. It’s designed to 
spot early signs of stroke, kidney disease, heart 
disease, type 2 diabetes or dementia. As we 
get older, we have a higher risk of developing 
one of these conditions. An NHS Health 
Check helps find ways to lower this risk.

If you are in this age group without a pre-
existing condition, you can expect to receive 
a letter from your GP or local authority 
inviting you for a free NHS Health Check 
every five years. 

In the meantime, there are other ways 
of getting your health checked. Visit 
www.nhs.uk for more information on 
this and many other topics.

06 07

P
age 14



Our hospital Accident & Emergency (A&E) 
Departments face some of the most intense 
pressures in our local health and care services, 
with growing numbers of people attending 
them each year. 

Around 100 people are currently visiting the 
A&Es across east London every hour. But 
many of them do not need to be there, as they 
have relatively minor problems that can be 
treated elsewhere.

With people unsure of where to go for 
treatment, there is a huge demand on busy 
A&E services. 

Some 68 per cent of patients have told us they 
do not know the difference between facilities 
such as ‘Urgent Treatment Centres’ and ‘Minor 
Injury Units’. We want to change this. 

An immediate priority for the East London 
Health & Care Partnership is to give better 
information on how and where we can all get 
the right care and treatment, including advice 
on ways we can look after ourselves.

There are three ways in which you can access 
health services and help to reduce pressure on 
our hospitals: 

‘Click’ - online information and support and 
to book urgent or routine appointments 
when  needed.

‘Call’ – for people who don’t have access 
to the internet and those who need more 
advice or reassurance from a healthcare 
professional.

‘Come in’ – where patients really need to 
see a healthcare professional. 

…and we are improving all three.

‘Click’ and ‘Call’ – information and support 
online and by telephone through NHS 111

Click
Online support and information 24/7 through 
the NHS 111 website at www.nhs.uk. Here you 
get information on a range of health issues, 
and in a variety of languages, to help you 
decide what action to take, including what to 
do if you need to speak to a clinician.   

Call
If you do not have access to the internet, or 
need further health advice after going online, 
you should firstly try calling your GP. If your GP 
is unavailable, you can call NHS 111 by simply 
dialing 111.   

The NHS 111 telephone service is being improved 
from next year, enabling you to speak to a wider 
range of qualified healthcare professionals, 
including nurses, GPs and pharmacists. 

Calls to NHS 111 about the very young and 
older people (babies under one and people 
over 75) will always be directed immediately 
to a qualified healthcare professional.

Speaking to NHS 111 will ensure you are getting 
the right level of advice and support. If you need 
to be seen by someone, you will be booked an 
appointment at the most appropriate place, 
such as with your own GP or at an Urgent 
Treatment Centre close to where you live. 

Staff from care homes and community health 
staff are also now using NHS 111 for clinical 
advice. It is helping many people avoid the 
need to go to hospital and be treated and 
cared for at home instead. 

Come in
Where patients really need to see a healthcare 
professional because it is an emergency.

Our aims
•	 Make it easier to understand the range of services available and how to 
	 access them quickly
•	 Provide more services in local communities, so they are accessible 
	 and convenient. This will also reduce the pressure on hospitals 
•	 Make it easier to see a GP and bring services together

URGENT & EMERGENCY CARE

GP Practices 

We don’t just want to make it easier to book 
an appointment with a GP. We also want to 
offer them at a more convenient time. 

It’s now possible to book appointments online 
at many surgeries. An increasing number 
are extending their opening hours to cover 
evenings and weekends.  

In some instances you may not need to visit a 
surgery at all. You could have the appointment 
with a doctor, or nurse, by a video link from 
your smartphone instead.

We are also looking to free GPs, and other 
healthcare professionals in local surgeries, 
from paperwork so they can spend more 
time with their patients, especially those with 
complex conditions. 

Improvements to information systems, and 
the links between surgeries, hospitals and 
specialist services, will give doctors and other 
clinical specialists quicker access to records 
and test results, enabling them to plan and 
give better care to patients.

Community

A priority is to provide care closer to, or in, 
people’s homes. It’s why we are bringing 
all the relevant services together in local 
neighbourhoods.

GPs, community nurses and other NHS 
specialists will be based alongside council 
care teams in centres across east London, 
within easy reach of the main residential areas, 
to provide comprehensive treatment and 
support – not just in the centres themselves, 
but also in the surrounding homes. 

Bringing expertise together in this way will do 
more than just streamline services. With more 
staff than traditional GP practices, and equipped 
with the latest facilities and technology, the 
centres will be able to stay open longer and 
offer a greater range of services – from 8am to 
8pm, seven days a week.

Urgent Treatment Centres

If your need cannot be treated by a GP, you 
may be directed or booked for an appointment 
at your nearest Urgent Treatment Centre. 

Located across east London, Urgent Treatment 
Centres give treatment for minor injuries 
including: sprains, strains and broken bones; 
injuries to the back shoulders and chest; minor 
head and eye injuries; minor burns and scalds; 
insect and animal bites; and wound infections.
 
Before heading off to one of these centres, 
we recommend people contact NHS 111 first 
so they can be directed to the right place. If 
you do go to an Urgent Treatment Centre and 
your need can be better met elsewhere you 
will be redirected. It’s therefore best to give a 
‘click’ or ‘call’ to NHS 111 first to ensure you get 
it right and don’t waste time.

Accident & Emergency Departments

If you need to attend an Accident & Emergency 
Department (A&E) we want to ensure you are 
treated as soon as possible. 

For some emergency conditions, we are 
setting up special areas in A&Es where people 
can be quickly assessed and treated so they 
can, when possible, go straight home without 
being admitted to hospital.  

An example would be for a clot in the 
lung (pulmonary emboli) or leg (deep vein 
thrombosis). You will be treated by a team 
of specialists in a separate part of the A&E 
and may be able to leave the same day, 
with medication and a schedule of follow up 
treatment if needed.  

08 09

P
age 15



What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Providing better information to the 		
	 public on where to get the most 			 
	 appropriate healthcare. 

•	 Launching a new, improved NHS 111 		
	 online and telephone service, with better 		
	 links to other health services such as GPs, 	
	 pharmacists, Urgent Treatment Centres, 		
	 mental health specialists and community 		
	 health professionals.  

•	 Improving access to weekend and evening 	
	 GP appointments.

•	 Saving some visits to the surgery by 		
	 enabling patients to speak to a doctor 		
	 or nurse online or via a video link from 
	 a smartphone. 

•	 Improving information systems for GPs 		
	 to free them up from paperwork, see more
 	 patients and plan and give better care.

•	 Bringing community nurses, GPs, other 		
	 NHS specialists and social care staff under 	
	 one roof in local communities. 

•	 Creating consistency in the services 		
	 available at Urgent Treatment Centres, so 	
	 people understand what treatment can be 	
	 given to them. 

•	 Creating special areas in the hospital for
 	 specific emergency conditions to avoid 		
	 people being admitted to hospital when 		
	 there is no medical need for this. 

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 It will be easier to understand what 		
	 healthcare services are available, 
	 and where.
  
•	 By calling or visiting NHS 111 online you 
	 will be able to get all the advice you 
	 need on how and where you can get 
	 the best care. 

•	 It will be easier to book an appointment 		
	 with a GP. Appointment times will be 		
	 more convenient, including evenings and
 	 the weekends. In some instances you 
	 may not need to go to the surgery at all. 		
	 Instead, you could speak to the doctor 
	 or nurse over the phone, online or via a 		
	 video link from a smartphone.  

•	 You will be able to see a range of health 		
	 and social care professionals, quickly 		
	 and conveniently in one place, close 		
	 to your home.

•	 Wherever you live in east London, you will 	
	 have access to an Urgent Treatment 		
	 Centre for the treatment of minor injuries, 	
	 including broken bones and minor burns.

•	 We will strive to give every patient the 		
	 best possible care and treatment. If you 		
	 need to be admitted to hospital, we want 	
	 to reduce the time you have to spend 
	 there and get you safely home as soon 
	 as possible. 

10 11

P
age 16



Primary Care services are usually the first point 
of contact the public has with the NHS. They 
include GP surgeries or practices, pharmacies 
and dentists.

Across east London there are examples of 
excellent primary care services. Many are 
among the best in the country, but there are 
also some that need improving.

We want all of our health and care services 
in east London to be the very best and are 
working with clinicians and staff in primary 
care to ensure they are consistently good 
across the area, both now and in the future.

Information on the many improvements we 
are making is also given elsewhere in this 
guide, especially in the section on Urgent and 
Emergency Care. This includes information 
about the NHS 111 service, which you can contact 
online or by telephone for advice and help, day 
and night, when you don’t feel well and are 
unsure about what to do and where to go. 

We want to make it easier to book an 
appointment with a GP. We also want to offer 
them at a more convenient time. 

It’s now possible to book appointments at 
many surgeries online. An increasing number 
are extending their opening hours to cover 
evenings and weekends.  

In some instances you may not need to visit a 
surgery at all. You could have the appointment 
with a doctor, or nurse, by a video link from 
your smartphone instead.

We are also looking to free GPs, and other 
healthcare professionals in local surgeries, 
from paperwork so they can spend more 
time with their patients, especially those with 
complex conditions. 

Improvements to information systems, and 
the links between surgeries, hospitals and 
specialist services, will give doctors and other 

clinical specialists quicker access to records 
and test results, enabling them to plan and 
give better care to patients.

For minor ailments it’s often quicker in the first 
instance to visit your local pharmacy rather 
than GP surgery.

Pharmacists are skilled, qualified healthcare 
practitioners who will be able to see you 
immediately and offer advice and medication 
for a range of complaints such as hay fever, 
conjunctivitis and flu. They offer many other 
services as well, including flu vaccinations and 
help with stopping smoking.

An increasing number of pharmacists in 
east London are able to offer urgent repeat 
medication. NHS 111 can also help with this.

An important priority is to provide care closer 
to, or in, people’s homes.

It’s why we are bringing all the relevant 
services together in local neighbourhoods, in 
the form of hubs.

GPs, community nurses and other NHS 
specialists will be based alongside council 
care teams in centres across east London, 
within easy reach of the main residential areas, 
to provide comprehensive treatment and 
support – not just in the centres themselves, 
but also in the surrounding homes.

Bringing expertise together in this way will 
do more than just streamline services. With 
more staff than traditional GP surgeries, 
and equipped with the latest facilities and 
technology, the hubs will be able to stay open 
longer and offer a greater range of services – 
from 8am to 8pm, seven days a week.  

As well as making primary care more accessible 
and convenient, we want to improve the 
quality of services so people experience the 
best possible treatment and care – whoever 
they are and wherever they live.

Our aims
•	 Make it easy to see your local GP or healthcare professional
•	 Improve the quality of services provided, so it is consistently good 
•	 Bring services together to make them more accessible and convenient

PRIMARY CARE SERVICES What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Providing better information to the 
	 public on where to get the most 
	 appropriate healthcare. 

•	 Launching a new, improved NHS 111
 	 online and telephone service, with better
 	 links to other health services such as GPs,
 	 pharmacists, Urgent Treatment Centres,
 	 mental health specialists and community
 	 health professionals.  

•	 Improving access to weekend and evening 	
	 GP appointments

•	 Saving some visits to the surgery by
 	 enabling patients to speak to a doctor
 	 or nurse online or via a video link from 
	 a smartphone. 

•	 Improving information systems for GPs
 	 to free them up from paperwork, see more
 	 patients and plan and give better care.

•	 Bringing community nurses, GPs, other
 	 NHS specialists and social care staff under 	
	 one roof in local communities. 

•	 Helping GP practices improve the 			
	 experience of their patients, including 		
	 better staff training and development 

•	 Helping GP practices improve services 
	 for people with long term conditions, 
	 such as diabetes

•	 Projecting the mix and number of GPs 
	 and other Primary Care staff that will be 		
	 needed to meet the needs of the public 
	 in the future, and working hard to 
	 recruit them 

•	 Working together to retain current staff 
	 for longer, making east London an 			
	 attractive place to work for both existing 
	 and new recruits 
 

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 It will be easier to understand what 		
	 healthcare services are available, 
	 and where.  

•	 By calling or contacting NHS 111 online 
	 you will be able to get all the advice you
	  need on show and where you can get 
	 the best care. 

•	 It will be easier to book an appointment 		
	 with a GP. Appointment times will be 		
	 more convenient, including evenings and 		
	 the weekends. In some instances you may 	
	 not need to go to the surgery at all. 
	 Instead, you could speak to the doctor or 	
	 nurse over the phone, online or via a video 	
	 link from a smartphone.  

•	 You will be able to see a preferred clinician 	
	 if you wish and are prepared to wait longer 	
	 for an appointment.

•	 You will be able to see a range of health 		
	 and social care professionals, quickly 		
	 and conveniently in one place, close to 
	 your home.

•	 Your overall experience of Primary Care 		
	 will be better and consistent. You will feel
	 you are treated as a person, not a number
 

12 13

P
age 17



Mental health services in east London are 
among the best in England, but they face 
tough challenges ahead.

The area’s growing population is placing 
unprecedented demands on services, with 
higher numbers of people needing mental 
health support.

One in four of us will have problems with 
our mental health at some time in our lives. 
Whether it is a concern about a job, financial 
problems, a relationship, bereavement or 
the pace and pressures of modern life, it can 
happen to any of us.

People with a serious mental health illness 
die on average 15 years younger than the 
rest of the population.

Physical and mental health issues are 
intrinsically linked – 30 per cent of people 
with a long-term condition have a mental 
health problem and 46 per cent of people 
with a mental health problem have a long-
term condition.

Mental health service users in east London 
are two to three times more likely to die of 
cancer, circulatory or respiratory disease 
than the rest of the population.

50 per cent of lifetime mental health 
conditions are first experienced by the age 
of 14, 75 per cent by the age of 24.

60 per cent of people in contact with 
secondary care mental health services are 
not in employment.

47 per cent of people with serious mental 
illness smoke compared to 20 per cent of 
the wider population.

30 per cent of people with serious mental 
illness are obese compared to 10 per cent 
of the general population.

Many people with mental health problems 
have to rely on emergency departments (A&E) 
for help. 

People with mental health problems in east 
London attend A&E nearly three times as 
often as others. They are also three times 
more likely to be admitted to hospital in 
emergencies than others. 

More than 20 per cent of all emergency 
admissions in east London can be 
attributed to mental health service users, 
who only make up seven per cent of the 
overall population.

No one should experience mental illness 
without the right support. But with more and 
more people needing it, and only so many 
resources available, we will have to change the 
way our mental health services are delivered.

We are making the provision of sustainable 
mental health services across east London one of 
our top priorities, but believe we can go further.

Working in partnership, bringing the NHS and 
councils together, our ambition is to: 

Develop new models of care that address 
mental and physical health and social care 
needs as one.

Provide good service user education to 
reduce stigma and promote resilience.

Help people with more serious mental 
health problems to find and remain in 
employment – a key factor in their recovery.

We also want to find the right place for people 
to live, with the right support close by – 
essential in helping them get well.  

Creating opportunities and providing good 
quality care in the community, including 
specialist services, is an underlying aim of the 
East London Health & Care Partnership. It is 
part and parcel of helping people live happy 
and independent lives, and nowhere is this 
more important than in mental health.

Our aims
•	 Improve access to services and cut waiting times for treatment
•	 Treat mental and physical health needs as one
•	 Address the wider determinants on mental health, e.g. housing and employment

MENTAL HEALTH What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Working with partners to address the 
	 wider determinants of mental health 
	 e.g. access to accommodation, education
 	 and employment.

•	 Supporting the roll out of digital 
	 self-management tools such as the 
	 London Digital Mental Wellbeing Service 		
	 (www.digitalwellbeing.london).

•	 Developing an east London-wide suicide 		
	 prevention strategy.

•	 Supporting employers to improve staff
 	 mental health and emotional wellbeing 
	 via programmes such as Mental Health 
	 First Aid.

•	 Developing our talking therapies services 		
	 so there are more appointments with 
	 reduced waiting times. 

•	 Integrating mental health services into GP 	
	 surgeries, A&E and general hospitals.

•	 Developing perinatal mental health 
	 services for expectant mums and mums 
	 of new babies.

•	 Improving services for people experiencing 	
	 a crisis by ensuring everyone in crisis can 		
	 access mental health crisis support 24/7. 

•	 Delivering mental health treatment at home.

•	 Delivering specialist mental health 
	 services for children and young people 		
	 closer to home.

•	 Developing a new Child and Adolescent 		
	 Mental Health Unit Psychiatric Intensive 
	 Care Unit here in east London.

 

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 Improved access to, and shorter waiting 		
	 times for, psychological therapies.

•	 A wider range of mental health services to 	
	 be accessible via your GP.

•	 Your mental and physical health and social 	
	 care needs treated as one, wherever and 		
	 whenever necessary.

•	 Enhanced support to access the 
	 right education, employment and 			
	 accommodation opportunities for 
	 people with mental health issues.

•	 People in east London will have access 		
	 to the same range of mental health 		
	 services wherever they live.

14 15

P
age 18



Parts of east London compare poorly with 
the rest of England in helping to prevent and 
treat cancer.

Local people aren’t living as healthy a lifestyle 
as others elsewhere. The area has higher-
than-average rates of smoking and obesity 
and fewer take part in any form of physical 
activity.

People are also not going for check-ups as 
often as they should, greatly reducing the 
chances of survival because a cancer hasn’t 
been detected and treated early enough.  

The facts are simple:

More than 40 per cent of cancers 
diagnosed in the UK last year could have 
been prevented by people adopting 
healthier lifestyles.

Up to 10,000 deaths in England could be 
avoided each year if cancer is diagnosed 
earlier and treatment started sooner.

But we can all do something about it.

The East London Health & Care Partnership 
is making the prevention of cancer, and 
improving outcomes for people that have it, 
a top priority.

We are going to improve information on 
screening for breast, cervical and bowel 
cancer and other forms of the disease. This 
includes better signposting on when and 
where you can be screened, and what you 
can do yourself to check for symptoms.

We especially want to reach out to those 
that don’t have regular health checks, or 
who don’t like seeking help.

We want to cut waiting times for appointments 
and ensure patients from all backgrounds 
have access to timely, high quality modern 
treatments. With the help of some of the 
best expertise available, we want people to 
live well after treatment and increase their 
chances of survival.

Our aims
•	 Cut waiting times for appointments
•	 Diagnose and treat any cancer quickly, with better education and information
 	 for the public
•	 Improve care and outcomes for people

CANCER What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Ensuring all patients who are referred for 	
	 an urgent appointment with a specialist 		
	 are seen within two weeks.

•	 Making sure patients are receiving their 		
	 tests and diagnostics on time to enhance 	
	 early diagnosis and treatment and improve 	
	 cancer survival.

•	 Enabling better communication between
 	 GPs, hospital consultants and other 		
	 specialists to allow faster and more 		
	 effective treatment and care.

•	 Encouraging patients in east London to 		
	 take up their screening.

•	 Improving information technology and 		
	 administrative processes to make sure 		
	 the cancer referral pathway is effective 		
	 and patient care is joined up.

•	 Listening to patients and carers to ensure 	
	 we meet their needs and keep improving 	
	 their care.

•	 Working with public health services to 		
	 improve prevention and lifestyle choices.

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 If you are referred urgently by your GP or 	
	 another health care professional you will 		
	 be seen within two weeks.

•	 If you have a cancer diagnosis, you will 		
	 receive treatment quickly in order to 		
	 improve your chances of survival.

•	 A number of health and social care 		
	 professionals will be involved in your care 	
	 to ensure your care is joined up.

•	 Your experience of care will be positive 		
	 because we are listening to you and 		
	 making improvements.

•	 If you take up screening when you get an 	
	 appointment, you are likely to receive early 	
	 detection and treatment.

What can you do?

We will do our bit to turn things round, 
and make sure east London does 
everything it can to beat cancer. But 
you can play your part too and take 
good care of yourself. It is by far and 
away the best thing you can do to avoid 
this disease.

Do yourself, your family and friends a 
favour and:

•	 stop smoking

•	 avoid too much alcohol

•	 eat well

•	 keep active

•	 check yourself over regularly

•	 register with a GP

•	 attend regular screening 			 
	 appointments

If your GP refers you to the hospital for 
a test, or to be seen, please make sure 
you attend the appointment.

16 17

P
age 19



East London has the fastest growing population 
in the UK and the highest birth rate. 

Our health and care services must cope with 
this growth and continue to ensure all goes 
well for the mums and babies. But it’s not 
the only challenge.

More women of child bearing age are living 
with a long-term health condition, such as 
diabetes or heart disease. This can lead to 
a complex birth, requiring extra care and 
attention. We need to help women prevent 
and better manage these conditions.  

Our vision for maternity services in east 
London is for them to be safe, caring and 
kind. We want it to be easier for women to 
find out about the services, and for care to 
be focussed around the needs of the woman 
and her family.
 

We want all women to feel safe and secure 
during their pregnancy. We want them to 
have a choice about how and where they 
give birth and to feel supported throughout.
 
For our staff, our culture is to promote 
innovation and continuous learning. We want 
to create a working environment where they 
feel valued – one that will help us attract and 
retain the best people.

We are one of seven areas across the country 
taking part in the Better Births Initiative to make 
care safer and give women greater control and 
more choices during their pregnancy. It aims to 
reduce the number of different midwives and 
doctors seen during pregnancy, so a proper 
relationship can be built.

We will strive for continual improvement 
in all that we do to ensure the best, and 
happiest, outcome for every mum and baby.

Our aims
•	 Improve information and advice about pregnancy to help prevent any problems
•	 Give women greater control and more choice about how and where they 	
	 give birth
•	 Make them feel safe and secure, cared for and supported

MATERNITY What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Listening to, and working with, women in
 	 east London to understand their needs 		
	 and design care around them.

•	 Giving women greater choice about how 		
	 and where they give birth.

•	 Making it easier for people to get help and 	
	 information and book appointments. 

•	 Ensuring safe and high quality care for all 	
	 mums and babies.

•	 Ensuring there are enough midwives to 		
	 cope with the increasing number of births. 	
	 There is currently a shortage of midwives 	
	 in east London, many are retiring or
 	 moving away from the area. We need to 		
	 recruit more and keep them here.

•	 Working together to ensure every woman 	
	 gets continuity of care throughout her 		
	 pregnancy and birth. We want to 
	 reduce the number of different 
	 midwives and doctors she sees, 
	 so a proper relationship can be built.

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 You will have a greater choice about where 	
	 and how you give birth.

•	 You will have easier and better access to 		
	 help and information, including advice 
	 on how to keep well before, during and
 	 after pregnancy. You will also be able to 		
	 book appointments online.

•	 You will likely see the same midwife 		
	 throughout your pregnancy to ensure 		
	 continuity of care.

•	 The plan for care during your pregnancy 		
	 will be developed and agreed between 		
	 you and your midwife or obstetrician.

•	 If you have a long-term condition, such
 	 as diabetes, or you are having twins or
 	 other multiples, you will be seen by your
 	 midwife and obstetrician regularly and 		
	 may be referred to a specialist.

•	 Your overall experience of care during 
	 and after your pregnancy will be positive 		
	 and of high quality. We want you to feel 		
	 safe and secure, cared for and supported.

18 19

P
age 20



What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Following national recommendations 		
	 from NHS England, we are reviewing the
 	 prescribing of certain medicines. They
 	 are those for which there is limited 		
	 evidence about their effectiveness. 

•	 Buying some medicines from alternative
 	 better value suppliers. These are the
 	 unbranded items that do exactly the same
	 thing, but for a lot less money. It will 
	 enable any savings to be better spent 
	 on other health and care services.

•	 Helping people take charge of their overall 	
	 health and achieve better outcomes 		
	 without a dependency on medication. 		
	 Holding regular reviews with patients to 		
	 identify medicines they no longer need.

•	 Reducing medicines waste

•	 Reducing resistance to antibiotics by
 	 moderating the amount and type
 	 prescribed. Educating patients and
 	 prescribers on the importance of 
	 completing courses of antibiotics 
	 when necessary.

•	 Ensuring we have sufficient pharmacists
 	 where they are needed. This includes
 	 clinical pharmacists within GP practices
 	 and/ or clinics in order to help ensure the
 	 right medicines are used, at the right time 	
	 for the right patients.

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 You will be able to get professional
 	 medical advice for all minor ailments
 	 in pharmacies, including out of hours 
	 pharmacies. 

•	 Pharmacists will give you advice on the
 	 nature of medicines available to buy
 	 over the counter and what you will need 
	 a prescription for. 

•	 You will not be prescribed medicines 		
	 for which there is limited evidence about
 	 their effectiveness or where there are 
	 safer alternatives. 

•	 You will not be prescribed antibiotics 		
	 unless they are essential.

•	 You will be less likely to be kept in hospital 	
	 waiting for medicines to be prescribed.

•	 The cost of prescribing medicines to you
 	 as a tax-payer will be less, meaning money
 	 can be better spent on other health and
 	 care services.

To be truly effective, medicines must be used 
properly and responsibly – from those that 
help get us better when we’re ill, to those that 
keep people with long-term conditions alive. 

The East London Health & Care Partnership’s 
aim is to ensure the right people, get the right 
medicine at the right time. We don’t want 
people taking medicines they don’t need. 

New medicines are being introduced all the 
time. This includes those available over the 
counter from pharmacists and supermarkets, 
as well as those only available on prescription.

GPs, pharmacists and other healthcare 
professionals must have a good understanding 
of what medicines their patients are taking 
and what they can and cannot do. They also 
need to know the side effects of the medicines 
and how and when they should be taken.

Evidence from the Royal Pharmaceutical 
Society shows there is an urgent need to get 
the fundamentals of medicine use right. 

For example:

Only 16 per cent of patients who 
are prescribed a new medicine 
take it as prescribed. 

At least six per cent of emergency 
re-admissions are caused by avoidable 
adverse reactions to medicines. 

It’s estimated at least £300m is wasted 
on medicines each year across England. 

The overuse of anti-biotics is also something 
we need to get right. It is weakening their 
effectiveness and making them counter-
productive. The World Health Organisation 
says resistance to antibiotics is one of the 
biggest threats to global health.

We will be improving education and 
information about medicines and encouraging 
people to become less dependent on them, 
including antibiotics. 

There are alternative and often more effective 
ways to treat and prevent common ailments. 

Taking regular Vitamin C and Zinc supplements, 
for instance, can prevent colds developing. If 
you do have a cold, steaming your nose and 
mouth for up to 15 minutes, four times a day, 
and drinking plenty of fluids, can alleviate 
the symptoms.  

For people with long-term conditions, 
alternatives to medication can include 
following a particular healthy eating regime 
and an exercise programme. 

An example is for those with high cholesterol. 
A diet rich in plant sterols and stanols, that 
block the body’s absorption of cholesterol, can 
avoid some people having to take drugs called 
statins. They are substances that are naturally 
found in small amounts in plants – in fruit, 
vegetables, pulses and grains. You can also 
buy spreads, cereals and yoghurt-style drinks 
which have been fortified with them. Regular 
exercise also helps and sometimes reduces 
the need for blood pressure medication.

Physical activity can also help with mental 
health conditions, such as depression, as 
can getting sufficient sleep and being more 
involved in communities to combat loneliness. 

We also need to reduce the prescribing of 
medicines that are proven to have limited 
clinical value. 

Around £3.8m is currently being spent on 
them every year in east London. It doesn’t 
just represent poor value for money – which 
could be better spent on other health and care 
services – the use of such medicines is not in 
the best interest of patients. 

It is not always necessary to go to a GP 
for treatment for minor ailments, or for 
medication that can be bought over the 
counter in a pharmacy or shop without a 
prescription. A pharmacist can give advice 
for problems such as coughs, colds, fevers, 
hay fever and eye infections.

For those taking medication for a long-
term condition, your GP will regularly review 
what you are taking and adjust it as and 
when needed. If your surgery has a practice 
pharmacist you can ask them to check the 
medication too. 

Our aims
•	 Ensure the right medicines are used, at the right time, for the right patients
•	 Reduce medicine waste
•	 Make it easier to get prescribed medicine when it is needed

MEDICATION 

20 21

P
age 21



Digital technology has brought benefits that 
are now part of everyday life. It has given 
us greater control over how and when we 
do anything, from shopping and banking to 
learning and communicating.

With this has come an expectation to access 
and receive services quickly and easily, 
whenever we want. 

It’s no different when it comes to health and 
care services.

This is why we want to make the best use of 
technology and give local people help and 
support at their convenience, rather than ours.

It means being able to book appointments with 
a your GP online; not having to physically go to 
a surgery or hospital every time you need help; 
and being able to view your own records. Our 
aim is to put you in the driving seat.

Improvements to information systems and the 
sharing of records will allow health and care 
organisations to work more closely together. It 
will eliminate unnecessary tests and stop you 
having to keep telling us about any medication 
you might be taking.

Doctors and other care professionals will 
be better placed to help prevent illness and 
give you the most appropriate and timely 
care should you need it. With better access 
to clinical data, and details of any hereditary 
illness, they will be able to detect any potential 
problems much sooner – increasing your 
chances of avoiding illness completely or 
recovering more quickly.

We also plan to introduce digital technology 
to allow doctors and healthcare professionals 
provide more care in local communities – 
something that will also reduce the pressure 
on hospitals.

Digital devices, such as those that can monitor 
your heart via a smartphone, will enable you 
to care for yourself in the comfort of your 
own home, yet remain in constant touch with 
expert help and support, should it be needed.

Digital outpatient services – virtual clinics that 
allow a consultant to assess a patient’s records 
to decide if they actually need to visit hospital, 
or if the GP can take the required action – are 
also being introduced.

Finally, more information will be made 
available on how to avoid ill health, especially 
online and through digital apps. This includes 
improvements to the national NHS Choices 
website, as well as local initiatives like the 
MyMindApp and GP websites.

Our aims
•	 Give quick and easy access to health and care services, with you in control 
	 and able to see your own records
•	 Make it easy to book an appointment with, and talk to, a GP or other 
	 healthcare professional
•	 Enable healthcare professionals to provide better treatment and care by
 	 improving information systems and the sharing of records

DIGITAL & ONLINE SERVICES 

22

What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Enabling GP appointments to be 
	 booked online.

•	 Allowing people to view their own health 	
	 and care records.

•	 Putting more services, such as some 
	 GP consultations and mental health 		
	 services, online.

•	 Improving information systems and
 	 sharing of records to allow healthcare
 	 professionals to work more closely.

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 You will have quicker and easier access 		
	 health and care services.

•	 You will be able to book GP appointments 	
	 or talk to your GP online if you choose to.

•	 Doctors and other healthcare professionals
 	 will be better placed, with the right
 	 information, to help prevent illness and
 	 give you better care should you need it.

•	 You will be cared for closer to home, or in 	
	 your home.

•	 You will have better information on
	 how to stay healthy and well; to monitor
 	 your own health better and prevent it
	 deteriorating by getting support  
	 at the first sign of a problem.

23

P
age 22



THE RIGHT STAFF
There is a considerable shortage of staff to fill 
key roles in health and care services. It’s one 
of the biggest challenges the sector is facing 
in meeting the demands of a growing and 
ageing population. 

Not as many people want to become doctors 
or nurses or care workers as used to.

Doctors, nurses and care workers cannot 
afford to live in London because of high 
property prices and a chronic shortage of 
suitable accommodation. 

People also want more flexible jobs and careers 
so they can manage their other responsibilities 
like childcare or looking after an older relative.

Many GPs are due to retire soon, and a quarter 
of nurses leave their profession after just five 
years.

Nearly 20 per cent of jobs in registered social 
care lie vacant.

We are having to rely heavily on temporary 
staff, who come at higher rates than permanent 
staff and are not always available. 

While we are still managing to provide services 
safely, action is needed to tackle the shortages, 
both now and in the future. 

Attracting staff

The regeneration of many parts of east London 
is making it an increasingly attractive place to 
live and work. We need to promote this more 
strongly and sell its strengths.

In future when we advertise for staff, we 
will not just give details about the job and 
organisation. We will tell people about the 
wider benefits of the area – its transport, 
shopping and restaurants; the nurseries, 
schools and colleges; the many leisure 
attractions. Most importantly, we will help 
find them a home and offer affordable key 
worker accommodation. This is the single 
most important factor in recruiting staff to 
work in London and is something we are 
currently working on with housing providers 
and developers.

But we don’t just want to attract staff from 
outside the area. Far from it. We want to recruit 
‘home-grown’ talent too and are working 
with local schools, colleges and universities 
to do more of this. Creating job and career 
opportunities in our public services for the 
people that already live here will always be a 
priority for the partnership.   

When we have recruited good quality people to 
come and work with us, we want to keep them.

THE RIGHT STAFF IN THE RIGHT PLACE 
WITH THE RIGHT RESOURCES

Our aims
•	 Ensure we have the we have right number of good quality staff to look after
 	 people, now and in the future
•	 Make services and care accessible and convenient, consistent and personal
•	 Give the best possible treatment and care by ensuring our staff have access 
	 to all information and resources they need What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Collaborating with councils and housing 		
	 associations to ensure there is affordable 	
	 accommodation for key workers. 

•	 Expanding roles in GP surgeries (including
 	 physician associates, clinical pharmacists,
 	 practice healthcare assistants and care
 	 navigators) and developing an endoscopy
 	 and community nurse workforce. 

•	 Promoting east London as a place, 
	 with all its attractions and benefits, to
 	 encourage more staff to live, work and
 	 stay here.

•	 Working with education and training
 	 providers to develop job and career
 	 opportunities in health and care for 
	 local residents. 

•	 Offering more training, research and 		
	 career development opportunities. 

•	 Looking after staff so they can better look 	
	 after the people of east London. 

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 More healthcare professionals likely to 
	 be taken on and retained to look after 
	 you and your family’s health and care 		
	 needs – now and in the future.

•	 A continuity of care wherever you are
 	 treated – in hospital, in the community 
	 and at home. 

•	 More job and career opportunities in local 	
	 health and care services

To do this we need to offer more training, research 
and career development opportunities, with the 
ability to work across different organisations.

For example, midwives in east London are now 
getting the chance to work in all different areas 
of the profession not just one – home births; 
deliveries in birthing centres; hospital labour 
wards; experience of complicated births. It’s this 
sort of variety, and the opportunity to progress 

a career without having to keep moving home, 
that’s a big factor in retaining people.  

As well as offering careers, we will also be 
putting more emphasis on looking after the 
health and wellbeing of our staff, including 
how to manage stress. Difficulty with this is a 
major reason why many doctors, nurses and 
carers leave the profession. We want to ensure 
the right support is in place to help them. 

24 25

P
age 23



THE RIGHT PLACE
Having staff in the right place might be a 
hospital, a GP surgery or even a patient’s home. 

Whether staff work in a hospital trauma 
centre or in the community, we are enabling 
and encouraging them to work together 
across the range of health and care services. 
We want to stop working in silos. The focus 
will be on following patients, not patients 
following us. 

Where we can we are looking to put local 
health and care, and other public services, 
in the same building. This isn’t just to save 
money, but to encourage closer working 
between them – and to stop the public having 
to go to lots of different places.

When a building is no longer required, the 
money recouped from the sale or rent will be 
reinvested locally to help improve or rebuild 
those we do need.

Although we have many modern facilities 
in the area, we also have buildings that are 
more than 100 years old and no longer fit for 
purpose. Whipps Cross Hospital in Waltham 
Forest definitely needs rebuilding, and we 
are working on this right now. We want all of 
our facilities to be up to date and functional, 
ready for future advances.  

A greater use of digital technology will also 
help ensure services are provided in the right 
place. We want staff to have greater flexibility 
over how and where they work so they can 
spend more time in local communities. It also 
saves money on costly building space, which 
can be better spent on patient care. 

Technology brings other benefits too. 

Using a digital device to constantly monitor 
someone’s heart, or provide a video link to 
a doctor or nurse, for instance, can enable a 
patient needing that type of care to stay in 
the comfort of their own home, yet remain in 
constant touch with expert help and support 
should it be needed.

It will not only make care accessible and 
convenient, but more consistent and personal. 
It’s very likely you will see the same staff 
throughout your care rather than lots of 
different people.

If you are unfortunate enough to have an 
accident requiring major surgery, for instance, 
once you have been discharged from hospital 
the same team of physiotherapists will visit 
you at home to help you fully recover. As well 
as saving numerous trips back and forth to the 
hospital, it will avoid you constantly having to 
repeat your medical history, or details of any 
medication, to a number of different people. 

THE RIGHT STAFF IN THE RIGHT PLACE 
WITH THE RIGHT RESOURCES

What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Ensuring staff can offer a continuity of 		
	 care to all patients. 

•	 Enabling staff to work in the community
 	 – making services more accessible and
 	 convenient and saving on costly 
	 building space. 

•	 Looking to share the buildings we do 
	 need with other public services, not 		
	 just to save cost but to make things 
	 more convenient for people.

•	 Improving buildings and facilities in need 		
	 of repair or modernising.

•	 Tapping into the opportunities digital
 	 technology offers to give patients better
 	 and more convenient access to services.
 	 This includes appointments via a video
 	 link and apps to monitor their own health 	
	 and progress.

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 Care will be accessible and convenient, 		
	 more consistent and personal

•	 More care will be given to you in 			 
	 your home or close by, helped by 
	 digital technology 

•	 You will more likely see the same 			
	 staff throughout your care, establishing
 	 a relationship with them that generates 		
	 assurance and trust

•	 No need to keep repeating your medical
 	 history and medicines to different health 		
	 and care professionals.

26 27

P
age 24



THE RIGHT RESOURCES
It’s vital our staff have all the resources they 
need to do their job effectively.

As we have already said, digital technology 
will enable staff to spend more time in local 
communities. We will continue to invest in it 
to ensure they have easy and reliable access 
to all the information and data while out 
and about.

The right resources also means creating 
better links between the many different 
information and IT systems across health and 
care services. 

Many of them have been developed 
independently of one another and, as a result, 
they can’t ‘talk’ to each other. It’s slowing 
down information exchanges between 
organisations and delaying the results of 
clinical tests. We are joining systems up to 
overcome these problems.

And it’s not just about information technology. 

To give effective treatment and care, staff 
need access to an array of equipment and 
resources, from hi-tech medical scanning 
systems to basic office supplies. We are 
working together to make sure they have 
it, investing in new kit and facilities where 
needed and joining up our buying teams to 
secure the best possible deals.    

THE RIGHT STAFF IN THE RIGHT PLACE 
WITH THE RIGHT RESOURCES

What are we doing?

Some of the things we want to do will take longer than others, but we are doing all we can to make 
them happen as quickly as possible.

•	 Continuing to invest in digital technology 	
	 to ensure staff can work anywhere in the 		
	 community with the information and data 	
	 they need. 

•	 Joining up IT systems to speed up
 	 information exchanges and the sharing
 	 of records so staff can plan, and give
 	 better treatment and care.

•	 Working together to ensure staff have 
	 all the modern facilities and equipment
 	 they need to do their jobs effectively  

What does it mean 
for local people?

•	 More care can be given in or closer to
 	 your home as a result of staff being better
 	 equipped to work flexibly

•	 Your treatment and care will be planned 		
	 and managed more effectively thanks
 	 to improved IT systems and the sharing 
	 of records

•	 Modern equipment and facilities will 		
	 enable you to get the best possible 		
	 treatment and care

28 29

P
age 25



Highlights
•	 We agreed a shared ambition to reduce obesity, smoking, diabetes, high 	
	 blood pressure and heart disease. We want to support people to do more 	
	 physical activity, educate people around how to avoid or better manage 	
	 health conditions and see more use of ‘social prescriptions’.
•	 We secured extra funding to support people with diabetes and help 		
	 smokers quit. 
•	 We held a successful conference on workplace health and established a 	
	 community of practice to promote it. We also launched a project with 		
	 the Healthy London Partnership to improve staff health in GP practices 
	 and pharmacies. 

Highlights
We worked together to improve access to health services. In the New Year, 
patients will be able to:

‘Click’ – using NHS 111 online to access information and support regarding 
their health. 

‘Call’ – calling NHS 111 to access advice or reassurance from a healthcare 
professional 

‘Come in’ – when patients need to be seen, because it is an emergency, 
we are supporting direct booking into either their own GP or appropriate 
service. This will also help reduce the pressures on A&E departments so 
that people who need to be seen there will be treated as soon as possible.

•	 We have shared learning to improve patient flows through our hospitals, valuing 	
	 our patients’ time and reducing delays in transfers of care following an admission. 
•	 We implemented measures to enhance care provided in care homes and 	
	 people’s own homes, helping develop a skilled workforce.
•	 Social care providers told us it is often difficult to support people who become 	
	 unwell in their own home. As a result, we will shortly be launching a pilot to give 	
	 domiciliary care workers increased direct access to clinical advice via NHS 111.

2017 HIGHLIGHTS PREVENTION

URGENT & EMERGENCY CARE

30 31

P
age 26



Highlights
•	 We launched a series of programmes to improve and standardise the quality
 	 of primary care across east London. This includes training plans and a 		
	 common system for sharing improvement projects, with 500 free licences 	
	 available to commissioners and providers.
•	 We established business intelligence systems to collect clinical outcome 	
	 data and help improve the efficiency of patient services. 
•	 We successfully set up a development framework to help our primary care 	
	 providers (GP federations and networks) improve quality across local health 	
	 and care systems.  
•	 We introduced a model to help us evaluate future workforce needs and a 	
	 potential skill mix for multi-professional working. 
•	 We implemented a range of plans to recruit and retain our primary care 	
	 workforce across east London.

Highlights
•	 We set up three local programmes to improve cancer outcomes at a local 	
	 level across east London.
•	 We achieved cancer waiting time targets and secured more funding to help 	
	 earlier diagnosis. 
•	 The one-year survival rate is continuing to improve for our local population.

Highlights
•	 We completed and submitted (in November) our East London Maternity 	
	 Transformation Plan and Funding Bid in line with the Better Births strategy 	
	 to improve maternity care for our local women. We are awaiting the 		
	 outcome of the bid.
•	 We initiated joint procurement arrangements that will save money for the 	
	 maternity system without impacting on services.
•	 We became one of seven maternity ‘Pioneer’ sites in the country.
•	 We finalised our East London Midwifery Workforce Programme for 		
	 launching in the New Year. 
•	 We secured FIVE nominations in the Royal College of Midwives annual 	
	 awards! Two of these being in the prestigious ‘Team of the Year’ category. 

Highlights
•	 We successfully bid for additional funding to increase mental health support 	
	 for people in hospitals.
•	 We were awarded more money to support children and young people in 	
	 mental health crisis. 
•	 We began work to improve access to psychological therapies, local crisis 	
	 services and maternal mental health services. 
•	 We increased the number of physical health checks for patients with a 	
	 mental illness and are opening up more employment opportunities for 	
	 people as part of their recovery.

PRIMARY CARE SERVICES CANCER

MATERNITY

MENTAL HEALTH

Highlights
•	 Hospital providers and clinical commissioning groups are now working together 	
	 to switch to medicines that do the same thing as others, but for a better price.
•	 A national consultation on the value and cost of medicines that have a low 	
	 clinical value was completed at the end of October. The results of will help 	
	 steer our future decisions on this in east London.

MEDICATION

32 33

P
age 27



Highlights
•	 Health and social care professionals are able to make better and safer
 	 decisions by sharing records through the east London Patient Record
 	 (eLPR) system. NELFT, LB Newham & LB Hackney have also recently
 	 connected to the system, which is now getting over 80,000 views per 
	 month – more than anywhere else in the country.
•	 2.3m patient records are now placed in Discovery – a population health 	
	 analytics platform.

DIGITAL & ONLINE SERVICES

34 35

THE RIGHT STAFF IN THE RIGHT PLACE 
WITH THE RIGHT RESOURCES

Highlights

Organisational development (OD)

•	 East London Health & Care Partnership is now the pilot site for the national
 	 STP OD programme, partnering with the staff college to develop 		
	 collaborative working.

Workforce recruitment

•	 We have been working together, across the NHS and councils, to help 		
	 recruit and retain essential staff for east London, such as doctors, nurses 	
	 and care workers. This includes helping find them somewhere to live, and 	
	 developing career opportunities. 

Provider productivity

•	 A cap on the use of medical agencies was introduced in October, thanks to 	
	 an initiative we ran in conjunction with a pan-London group.
•	 The introduction of a new procurement scheme has led to economies of 	
	 scale and greater value for money in the buying of provider consumables.

Infrastructure

•	 We established an East London Health & Care Partnership estates board – 	
	 in line with the formation of a London Estates Board and the requirements 	
	 of London Devolution.
•	 We have been working together to identify opportunities to share 		
	 accommodation, office and back office functions. This includes agile and 	
	 new ways of working, such as shared booking systems.
•	 We are focusing on maximising the clinical utilisation of estates, thereby 	
	 supporting seven-day working while increasing efficiency and releasing 	
	 savings through disposal.
•	 We are working to complete a prioritised pipeline of sites, mapping current 	
	 demand and capacity so we can ensure the right infrastructure is in place to 	
	 meet future needs.

Health & Housing Conference

•	 Developing the relationship between housing and health, and bringing the 	
	 various providers and services closer together was the subject of our highly 	
	 successful Health & Housing Conference in October 2017.
•	 Delegates from across east London, with an interest in health, social care, 	
	 housing and regeneration discussed a range of topics, from the provision 	
	 of accommodation for key workers to how digital technology can help 	
	 care for people, especially the most vulnerable, in their own home. They 	
	 also talked about ways of combating homelessness and how housing 
	 services can help reduce delays in discharging people from hospital 
	 because of a lack of suitable accommodation and support.
•	 The conference was the first of its kind in east London, generating lots of 
	 ideas – many of which were simply the result of everyone coming together.

P
age 28



First Floor, Vicarage Lane Health Centre, 
10 Vicarage Lane, Stratford E15 4ES

Follow us on Twitter @EastLondonHCP

www.eastlondonhcp.nhs.uk

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Committees: Dated:
Community and Children’s Services Committee 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Audit and Risk Management Committee
Health & Social Care Scrutiny Committee

08/06/2018 
15/06/2018 
17/07/2018
06/11/2018

Subject:
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
City of London Local Area Inspection outcome – 
May 2018 

Public

Report of: 
Andrew Carter, Director of Community and 
Children’s Services
Report author:
Theresa Shortland, Head of Service – Education 
and Early Years

For Information

Summary

This report provides an update to Members on the outcome of the City of London 
Local Area Inspection letter – May 2018. 

Her Majesty's Chief Inspector of Education, Children's Services and Skills gave 
notification on 5 March 2018 to the City of London local area that we were going to 
be inspected, under section 20 of the Children Act 2004, from 12 to 16 March 2018.

The inspection provided an independent external evaluation of how well the City of 
London local area carries out its statutory duties in relation to children and young 
people with special educational needs and /or disabilities (SEND) to support their 
development.

Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) published the inspection findings in 
letter form on 18 May 2018. The findings set out briefly the context of the inspection, 
the evidence gathered, any strengths and weaknesses, and areas recommended for 
improvement. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to: 

• Note the report.

Page 17Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Main Report

Background 

1. The duties on local areas regarding provision for children and young people 
with SEND are contained in the Children and Families Act 2014. The Minister of 
State for Children and Families has tasked Ofsted and the CQC with inspecting 
local areas on their effectiveness in fulfilling these duties. The Ofsted/CQC 
Inspection Framework sets out the legal basis and the principles of inspection. 

Context 

2. Her Majesty's Chief Inspector of Education, Children's Services and Skills 
gave notification on 5 March 2018 to the City of London local area that they were 
going be inspected under section 20 of the Children Act 2004 from 12 to 16 
March 2018.

3. The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors from Ofsted, with a 
team of five, including an Ofsted inspector and a children’s services inspector 
from the CQC.

4. The inspectors undertook a range of sessions over the period they were in the 
City and spoke with children and young people who have special educational 
needs and/or disabilities, parents and carers, local authority and National Health 
Service staff. They visited a range of providers, including Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School, and spoke to parents, staff and governors about 
how they were implementing the SEND reforms. 

5. Inspectors looked at a range of information about the performance of the local 
area, including the local area’s self-evaluation. They reviewed performance data 
and evidence about the local offer and joint commissioning alongside a number 
of other relevant documents relating to the governance of the SEND work in the 
City. 

6. The inspection provided an independent, external evaluation of how well the 
City of London local area carries out its statutory duties in relation to children and 
young people with SEND to support their development. The evaluation identified 
strengths and areas for development. 

7. Ofsted published the inspection findings in letter form on their website on 18 
May 2018. The letter sets out the context of the inspection, the evidence 
gathered, any strengths and weaknesses and areas recommended for 
improvement. The letter constitutes an inspection report under Regulation 3 of 
the Children Act 2004 (Joint Area Reviews) Regulations 2015 (see Appendix 1). 

Summary of main findings 

8. The letter identified that leaders in the local area have shown a strong and 
purposeful commitment to implementing the reforms. They have a detailed 
understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of their work. As a result, their 

Page 18Page 32



self-evaluation is accurate. Leadership roles and responsibilities are clearly 
outlined. Governance arrangements in the local area are effective.

9. Due to its small geographical size, the City of London local area faces 
significant challenges as a large proportion of children and young people who 
have SEND are educated in schools outside the local area. However, leaders 
have effectively mobilised resources and staffing, and used joint commissioning 
to manage these challenges effectively. Inspectors reviewed several examples 
where leaders commissioned a personalised package to support children and 
their families.

10. Professionals involved in meeting the needs of children and young people 
work well together, sharing information and communicating effectively. Strong 
support is also provided to parents and carers where needed. Professionals and 
leaders have a clear understanding of the risks facing children and young people 
with SEND. The sharing of information and monitoring of individual pupils means 
that additional social care support and interventions are in place to help young 
people to manage any identified risks.

11. Providers are highly complimentary about the local area’s work. They 
particularly point out the strong communication, quick response and commitment 
of leaders and professionals to working together with the provider to meet 
children and young people’s needs.

12. The local offer has improved significantly over the last few years. It was 
reviewed in the autumn term 2017 to include more access to provision outside of 
the local area. In the words of one parent: “It is refreshing that the local area 
wants to improve the local offer.” Parents appreciated this and recognised the 
improvements made. Leaders acknowledge that a priority is to widen the offer 
further, particularly broadening the short-breaks offer and including more 
activities that take place within the City. Leaders are aware of the need to further 
improve communication about the offer to parents and young people.

13. Leaders have correctly identified that they need to further develop their 
processes for ensuring that they receive timely information from schools that City 
children and young people attend outside the local area. This particularly affects 
the details that leaders have of the attendance and outcomes for those children 
and young people identified as receiving SEND support.

14. The Parent Carer Forum (PCF) is in the early stages of development and is 
moving towards autonomy and independence. One leader of the PCF is also co-
chair of the SEND Programme Board. This is another example of the 
commitment of the local area to working with and hearing the voice of parents. 

Strengths

15. The findings identify that there are clear systems and procedures in place for 
early identification of SEND in a timely way, particularly in the early years. Health 
visitors and early years staff work well together. Leaders also provide effective 
support for children, young people and families before a formal assessment is 
finalised. This means that any emerging needs are met quickly.

Page 19Page 33



16. Leaders have a strong vision and high ambition for children and young 
people who have SEND. They have made sure that there is effective multi-
agency working, and that the providers they commission can meet the needs of 
children and young people.

17. A wide range of professionals work well together, make effective 
contributions to Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans, and identify learning 
needs. Also, a culture has been created which means that professionals in the 
local area work well together to identify, assess and meet the needs of children 
and young people. Providers and parents particularly appreciate the availability 
and quick response of the Educational Psychology service. The range of 
information gathered from professionals is used well to ensure that detailed 
provision is included in EHC plans. It was evident that the right people attend 
meetings at the same time. 

18. There is good provision for children looked after by the City. This is currently 
a unique group of looked-after children composed entirely of unaccompanied 
asylum seekers. Health professionals have worked to commission a local 
bespoke health package for all those in this group, including a Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) assessment and an immunisation 
and vaccination check. This means that children and young people in this group 
have quick access to the right support where any signs of SEND are identified.

Areas for development

19. One of the main areas for development is for leaders to improve the City’s 
data collection with providers that educate City children outside of the local area. 
This is particularly in relation to monitoring information that relates to the SEND 
support group. Leaders have recognised the need to make better arrangements 
to collect and share information that relates to attendance, exclusions and 
achievement more quickly. This work is important because a very high 
proportion of children and young people are educated outside the local area.

20. Leaders are aware that there is a need to build on their initial work to identify 
any children or young people who may have a social, psychological or emotional 
health need, particularly for those aged 13 to 19. Their recent research has 
suggested that this needs to be explored further.

21. Leaders acknowledge that their work to engage children and young people in 
co-production is at an early stage of development – for example, collating and 
analysing their feedback as part of the transition process so that any 
improvements made reflect their views and opinions.

22. The designated medical officer (DMO) works across both Hackney and the 
City of London. A lack of time for the DMO role has meant that their work for 
children from the City focuses on operational priorities. For example, the DMO is 
unable to attend the SEND programme board meetings. The children’s 
programme board manager attends these meetings and feeds back to the DMO. 
This means that the expertise of the DMO is not being immediately heard when 
strategic issues are being discussed at the SEND Programme Board.

Page 20Page 34



Conclusion

23. The priorities for the second year of the SEND Strategy 2017–2020 have 
been identified in the revised self-evaluation in February 2018. The areas for 
development identified in the Ofsted and CQC inspection findings are already 
included in the self-evaluation. The inspection identified that the local area has a 
detailed understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of its work and, as a 
result, their self-evaluation is accurate.

24. The summary of findings and the development areas will be implemented 
and monitored by the SEND Programme Board. SEND report updates are a 
standing item on the Safeguarding Sub Committee of the Community and 
Children’s Services Committee. The development plans will be reported back to 
the Sub Committee and the Children’s Executive Board at regular intervals over 
the next year. 

Appendices
 Appendix 1 – Letter to City of London – Inspection finds of the joint local 

area SEND inspection in City of London

Theresa Shortland 
Head of Service – Education and Early Years 
T: 020 7332 1086
E: theresa.shortland@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 21Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22Page 36



 

Ofsted 
Agora 

6 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 

NG1 6HJ 

 T 0300 123 1231 

Textphone 0161 618 8524 

enquiries@ofsted.go.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted 

lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 

 

10 May 2018 
 
Mr Andrew Carter 

Director of Community & Children’s Services, City of London Corporation 
City of London North Wing, Guildhall 
PO BOX 270 

London 
EC2P 2EJ 
 

Simon Hall, Acting Managing Director, Tower Hamlets CCG 
David Maher, Acting Managing Director, City & Hackney CCG 
Theresa Shortland, Local Area Nominated Officer, City of London 
 

Dear Mr Carter 
 
Joint local area SEND inspection in City of London 

 
Between 12 March 2018 and 16 March 2018, Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) conducted a joint inspection of the local area of City of London to 

judge the effectiveness of the area in implementing the disability and special 
educational needs reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. 
 

The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors from Ofsted, with a team 
of inspectors including an Ofsted Inspector and a children’s services inspector from 
the CQC. 

 
Inspectors spoke with children and young people who have SEN and/or disabilities, 
parents and carers, local authority and National Health Service (NHS) officers. They 
visited a range of providers and spoke to leaders, staff and governors about how 

they were implementing the special educational needs reforms. Inspectors looked at 
a range of information about the performance of the local area, including the local 
area’s self-evaluation. Inspectors met with leaders from the local area for health, 

social care and education. They reviewed performance data and evidence about the 
local offer and joint commissioning. 
 

This letter outlines our findings from the inspection, including some areas of 
strengths and areas for further improvement. 
 

Page 23Page 37

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.go.uk
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted
mailto:lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

2 
 

 

Main findings 
 
 Leaders have shown a strong and purposeful commitment to implementing the 

reforms. They have a detailed understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of 

their work. As a result, their self-evaluation is accurate. This is enabling leaders to 
plan effectively further improvements to the support and provision for children 
and young people who have SEN and/or disabilities in the local area. Leadership 

roles and responsibilities are clearly outlined. Governance arrangements in the 
local area are effective. 

 The local area, due to its small geographical size, faces significant challenges. For 
example, a significant proportion of children and young people of the City who 
have SEN and/or disabilities are educated in schools outside the local area. 

Furthermore, the overall number of children who have SEN and/or disabilities is 
low. Leaders have effectively mobilised resources and staffing, and used joint 
commissioning, to manage these challenges effectively. 

 Leaders and professionals have a detailed understanding of the needs of children, 

young people and their families. Professionals involved in meeting the needs of 
children and young people work well together, sharing information and 
communicating effectively. Strong support is also provided to parents and carers 
where needed. 

 The early years team work well together. The team use a range of methods to 

identify any emerging needs. As a result, systems and processes to take prompt 
action are fully in place. 

 Leaders use joint commissioning effectively. A leader commented that ‘no rule is 
set in stone’. This sums up the local area’s approach to making decisions about 
how to meet the needs of children and young people. Inspectors reviewed several 

examples where leaders commissioned a personalised package to support 
children and their families. However, with some commissioning that relates to 
health needs there is confusion as to how arrangements work for families that 
live in different parts of the City. 

 Professionals and leaders have a clear understanding of the risks facing children 
and young people who have SEN and/or disabilities. The sharing of information 
and monitoring of individual pupils means that additional social care support and 
interventions are in place to help young people to manage any identified risks.  

 Providers are highly complimentary about the local area’s work. They particularly 

point out the strong communication, quick response and commitment of leaders 
and professionals to working together with the provider to meet children and 
young people’s needs.  

 A review of the local offer, which included children and young people and the 
parent carer forum (PCF), took place last year. As a result, leaders updated and 

re-launched the local offer in autumn 2017. Parents appreciated this and 
recognised the improvements made. Leaders acknowledge that a priority is to 

Page 24Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

3 
 

widen the offer further, particularly broadening the short-break offer and 
including more activities that take place within the City. Leaders are aware of the 

need to improve communication about the offer to parents and young people still 
further. 

 Leaders have recently carried out their own review of the quality of education, 
health and care plans (EHC plans). The review identified strengths and 
weaknesses. This has enabled leaders to sharpen and simplify the expected 

outcomes that are included in the EHC plans. However, not all plans have been 
amended to reflect the findings of the review.  

 All statements of special educational needs are on track to being converted to an 
EHC plan by the 31 March 2018 deadline. Leaders issue plans regularly within the 
20-week timeframe. 

 Leaders have correctly identified that they need to develop further their processes 

for ensuring that they receive timely information from schools that City children 
and young people attend outside the local area. This particularly affects the 
details that leaders have of the attendance and outcomes for those children and 
young people identified as receiving SEN support. 

 The PCF is in the early stages of development. Previously, the PCF focused on 

information-sharing and providing a venue for feedback from and dialogue with 
leaders in the local area. Now, the PCF is on a journey towards autonomy and 
independence. One leader of the PCF is also co-chair of the ‘SEND [governance] 

programme board’. This is another example of the commitment of the local area 
to working with and hearing the voice of parents. 

 Families across the City receive timely and appropriate advice and interventions in 
relation to health needs. Records show that referrals and interventions are 
appropriate and followed up. The waiting times for therapies such as speech and 

language and children and adolescent mental health (CAMHS) assessment are 
within the key performance timescales. Children are seen in a timely manner 
where any SEN and/or disabilities can be identified at an early stage. 

 Parents, health professionals and early years staff are complimentary about the 

range of services being provided at Hackney Ark, where the child development 
unit is located. A range of health professionals conduct weekly multi-agency 
referral service meetings (MARS) to discuss referrals and to progress them, either 
jointly or to a single health agency. This co-location means that a swift and 

efficient process is in place for vulnerable children.  
 

The effectiveness of the local area in identifying children and young 

people’s special educational needs and/or disabilities 
 
Strengths 

 
 There are clear systems and procedures in place to identify any SEN and/or 

disabilities in a timely way, particularly in the early years. Health visitors and early 

years staff work well together. There is a range of ways to engage parents and 

Page 25Page 39



 

 

 

 

 

4 
 

carers in the early years, including fail-safes to make sure that any vulnerable 
children do not ‘fall through the net’. Information-sharing in the early years is 
plentiful.  

 Leaders also provide effective support for children, young people and families 

before a formal assessment is finalised. This means that any emerging need is 
met quickly. 

 Leaders have a strong vision and high ambition for children and young people 
who have SEN and/or disabilities. Leaders have ensured that there is effective 
multi-agency working. Also, leaders make sure that the providers they 
commission can meet the needs of children and young people.  

 The transition forum meets regularly to consider the needs of children, young 
people and their families. Leaders commission impartial advice and guidance 
through an external provider who works with young people from Year 9 onwards. 

This includes sourcing information, accompanying young people on visits to 
providers and expanding their aspirations. Young people spoken to during the 
inspection were aware of their future career choices. 

 A wide range of professionals work well together and make effective contributions 
to EHC plans and/or identifying a learning need. Providers and parents 

particularly appreciate the availability and quick response of the Educational 
Psychology service. The range of information gathered from professionals is used 
well to ensure that detailed provision is included in EHC plans.  

 Providers are particularly confident in the work of leaders and professionals in the 
local area. They consistently report that there is the right balance of reactive and 

proactive approaches. Leaders ensure that the right people attend meetings at 
the same time. A culture has been created which means that professionals in the 
local area work well together to identify, assess and meet the needs of children 
and young people. 

 There is effective sharing of health information across the different services that 
informs the ‘tell it once’ approach. Health professionals effectively use the same 
electronic patient record system, which enables them to maintain strong 

communication between different health teams. This allows professionals to 
coordinate appointments, provide health reports and be aware of the child’s 
health history before any appointments take place.  

 There is good provision for children looked after by the City. This is currently a 
unique group of children looked after composed entirely of unaccompanied 

asylum seekers. Health professionals have worked to commission a local bespoke 
health package for all those in this group, including a CAMHS assessment and an 
immunisation and vaccination check. This means that children and young people 

in this group have quick access to the right support where any signs of SEN 
and/or disabilities are identified. 

 The health visitor service is commissioned to meet the needs of first-time and 
vulnerable parents, including a four-week and four-month visit for all first-time 
and vulnerable parents. A health visitor with a lead role in disability represents 

Page 26Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

5 
 

the health visiting service at Hackney Ark to provide representation in the MARS 
process as well as training in SEN and/or disabilities for other professionals and 

parents. This aids and supports other professionals in identifying emerging needs 
in children. 
 

Areas for development 

 
 One of the main areas for development is for leaders to improve the City’s data 

collection with providers that educate City children outside of the local area. This 

is particularly in relation to monitoring information that relates to the SEN support 
group. Leaders have recognised the need to make better arrangements to collect 
and share information that relates to attendance, exclusions and achievement 

more quickly. This work is important because a very high proportion of children 
and young people are educated outside the local area. 

 Some initiatives in the local area are relatively new, for example the network 
meetings for special educational needs coordinators. As a result, not all initiatives 
have secured a high level of impact. 

 Leaders are aware there is a need to build on their initial work to identify any 

children or young people who may have a social, psychological or emotional 
health need, particularly for those aged 13 to 19. Their recent research has 
suggested that this needs to be explored further. 

 Leaders acknowledge their work to engage children and young people in co-
production (a way of working where children and young people, families and 

those that provide the services work together to create a decision or a service 
which works for them all) is at an early stage of development, for example 
collating and analysing their feedback as part of the transition process so that 
any improvements made reflect their views and opinions. 

 The designated medical officer (DMO) works across both Hackney and the City of 
London. A lack of time for the DMO role has meant that their work for children 
from the City focuses on operational priorities. For example, the DMO is unable to 
attend the SEND programme board meetings. The children’s programme board 

manager attends these meetings and feeds back to the DMO. This means that the 
expertise of the DMO is not being immediately heard when strategic issues are 
being discussed at the SEND programme board. 

 
The effectiveness of the local area in meeting the needs of children and 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 
Strengths 
 

 The local offer has improved significantly over the last few years. It was reviewed 
in the autumn term 2017 to include more access to provision outside of the local 
area. In the words of one parent: ‘It is refreshing that the local area wants to 
improve the local offer.’ 

Page 27Page 41



 

 

 

 

 

6 
 

 Parents and carers make use of events and activities at the leisure centre and 
libraries. Leaders also track how the local offer is accessed by families. For 

example, their analysis of the website showed that ‘protected sessions’ was the 
most common area being searched for by parents. As a result, leaders have 
added protected sessions for swimming. These are popular with families. 

 Leaders are always looking at new ways of making improvements to provision to 
help widen opportunities to meet the needs of children and young people. For 

example, consultation has started on a possible additional site for children’s 
centre services.  

 The independent information advice and support service (SENDIASS) is effective 
in helping families. SENDIASS is accessible to parents. They report that they find 
the advice that they are given helpful and supportive. Other sources of support, 
for example from a national charity, are also available. 

 Parents find professionals and leaders in the local area friendly, responsive and 
welcoming. There were numerous examples where parents explained to the 
inspection team that professionals working in the local area listened to their 
concerns and responded quickly. 

 A large sample of EHC plans were reviewed during the inspection. They include 

detailed information about the child’s and family’s views. A range of information 
from professionals is gathered to inform the provision that is put in place to meet 
identified needs. Leaders’ review of the EHC plan process is resulting in improved 

plans, particularly in relation to health and social care outcomes. Education 
outcomes increasingly focus on appropriate short- and long-term targets. 

 Leaders use joint commissioning effectively. Given the size of the local area, there 
is a reliance on commissioning of services through agencies in other local areas. 
Leaders ensure that children and young people who have SEN and/or disabilities 

generally receive a fair and equitable level of service. Numerous case studies 
illustrated how well leaders use ‘one-off’ commissioning and funding to meet the 
needs of children, young people and their families. Their response to 
commissioning provision is typically quick. 

 There has been considerable investment in the CAMHS service in the City. This 
has resulted in a wide range of service provision that is brought together under 
the local CAMHS alliance. This includes first steps, an early intervention and a 
prevention service. Overall, there is a wide range of support on offer. This means 

families are well supported. Children and young people also benefit from access 
to some interventions without a referral to the CAMHS service. 

 

Areas for development 
 
 Although there are examples of co-production being used to develop provision, 

more still needs to be done. This includes ensuring that leaders make more 
effective use of the views of children and young people. Also, the PCF is not yet a 
fully productive partner in deepening and developing the co-production of 
provision across the local area. 

Page 28Page 42



 

 

 

 

 

7 
 

 Leaders know that there is a need to continue to improve the local offer through 
including more activities within the local area and broadening the range of short 

breaks that are available. Parents and carers have requested a review of the 
availability of library provision, which currently closes at 4.00pm on weekdays. 

 Although health professionals provide a thorough and comprehensive report to 
the EHC planning process, they are not routinely providing comments on the draft 
EHC plan. Some practitioners, such as speech and language therapists, receive 

the draft plans but other professionals, such as the CAMHS team, do not. Health 
professionals are not challenging how their reports are being interpreted into the 
final EHC plan.  

 The targets that health professionals set for children and young people are not 
always included in EHC plans in their entirety. This means that families and 

professionals are unable to focus on the very specific outcomes that have been 
identified, for example in relation to speech and language therapy, physiotherapy 
and occupational therapy. 

 Although the SENDIASS is meeting parents’ needs, leaders are aware of the need 

to enhance their evaluation of the service, for example making clear to parents 
how their needs will be met should they need to contact their SENDIASS 
caseworker during holiday periods or when their caseworker is not available. 

 Some parents expressed some dissatisfaction with the timeliness of follow-up to 
concerns. However, this was not commonplace among the views expressed by 

the wide range of parents spoken to during the inspection. 
 
The effectiveness of the local area in improving outcomes for children and 

young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 
 

Strengths 
 

 Children and young people who have SEN and/or disabilities attend good or 
better schools. Leaders work effectively with parents and carers when deciding on 
a suitable provider for children and young people who have an EHC plan. 

 The overall numbers of children and young people in the local area who have SEN 
and/or disabilities is low. A review of a range of case studies across different 
needs, ages and phases of education showed that: 

– leaders and professionals have a thorough and detailed understanding of the 
needs of children and young people who have EHC plans 

– there was clear evidence of the inclusion of appropriate social care targets 

– there was demonstrable evidence of an improvement in children’s and young 
people’s social participation and communication skills 

– the targets that are set for children and young people are ambitious  

– targets for educational, health and social care outcomes are typically supported 
by quicker access to the resources needed to help children and young people 
to achieve their targets 

Page 29Page 43



 

 

 

 

 

8 
 

– the views of children and young people and their parents are fully collated and 
considered  

– children and young people are being effectively supported for their next steps 
into education, training or employment. 

 All providers visited or spoken to during the inspection were unequivocal about 

the local area’s challenge to them on achieving the outcomes detailed in EHC 
plans. Furthermore, providers reported that the local area is flexible and 
responsive to any additional requests for funding to help children and young 
people. The local area’s use of commissioning is particularly effective in ensuring 

that provision is personalised to the children and young people as required, for 
example in relation to transport, care or respite.  

 The commissioning of the information, advice and guidance for children and 
young people as they move through the next steps of their education and training 

works well. There is effective help and support provided. Leaders have an 
awareness of individual children and young people’s aspirations.  

 Children and young people feel safe and gave examples of how they know to 
keep themselves safe. They also said that they feel welcome when using leisure 
and health facilities. 

 Health professionals use a range of measures to check on the progress being 

made by individual children and young people before, during and after 
interventions have taken place. Progress is routinely monitored and plans are 
adjusted to ensure that needs and objectives are met. 

 Health professionals provide training to those working in the children’s centre to 
aid early identification and engage in preventative work. For example, training 

has been provided to staff to help with behaviour management. This training is 
helping staff to manage and improve the behaviour of children and to build more 
effective relationships with parents. 

 
Areas for improvement 
 

 Parents are dissatisfied with the service from general practitioners (GPs) in the 
City. Parents felt that their GPs were not always supportive when they asked for 
help, advice and/or referrals to specialist services. The local area has not ensured 
that enough parents are aware of the fact that they can self-refer for access to 
specialist services. 

 Health professionals, providers and families stated that, in some cases, access to 
health services was unclear. Families living in certain postcodes in the City who 
access GP services not associated with the NHS City & Hackney Clinical 

Commissioning Group found the pathways confusing and at times transfer 
between health services was necessary. This means that children and young 
people may experience disruption to the care that they are receiving. 

 The DMO is currently in the process of collating information to undertake an audit 
of the quality of medical assessments being used in EHC plans, but this is still in 

Page 30Page 44



 

 

 

 

 

9 
 

its infancy. This means that the DMO has no oversight of the quality of the health 
input into the EHC plans of children and young people who are not registered 
with a City and Hackney practice and cannot influence any improvement. 

 Leaders have prioritised improving pathways into employment for adults with 

learning difficulties. The local offer is currently being improved to include more 
information about preparing for employment and signposting possible pathways. 
There is currently no use of personal budgets in the local area beyond direct 

payments for short breaks and the offer of personal health budgets for children 
and young people eligible for continuing care. 

 Leaders have created a ‘data digest’ of information that relates to children and 
young people who have SEN and/or disabilities. They review the digest regularly 
and use it to report to the SEND programme board. Although the digest includes 

a lot of valuable information, it does not fully reflect the outcomes being achieved 
by those who are on SEN support. Leaders acknowledge the need to consider 
how best to account for the broad outcomes of this group of children and young 

people. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Sam Hainey 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

 

Ofsted Care Quality Commission 

Mike Sheridan 

 
Regional Director 

Ursula Gallagher 

 
Deputy Chief Inspector, Primary Medical 
Services, Children Health and Justice 

Sam Hainey 
 

HMI Lead Inspector 

Tahir Hussain 
 

CQC Inspector 

Rosemary Henn-Macrae 

 
Ofsted Inspector 

 

 
Cc: DfE (Department for Education) 
Clinical commissioning group(s) 
Director Public Health for the local area 

Department of Health 
NHS England 
 

Page 31Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32Page 46



Committee(s): Date:
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 6 November 2018

Subject:
North East London CCGs – Health Based Places of 
Safety (HBPoS) 

Public

Report of:
City and Hackney CCG

For Information

Main Report

The Committee has been provided with a briefing paper by the City and Hackney 
CCG regarding Health Based Places of Safety (HBPoS). A Health-Based Place of 
Safety (HBPoS) is a space where people can be detained under Section 136 of the 
Mental Health Act and assessed. Patients are typically detained under the Mental 
Health act under Section 136 by Police, then transported to a Section 136 Suite to 
be assessed. 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership (HLP) has worked in partnership with 
London’s health and care system to develop a Pan-London business case to inform 
a specification for a new model of care for individuals detained under Section 136. 
The HLP business case proposes that the 20 existing dedicated HBPoS sites across 
London are reduced to nine hubs, each with better facilities and immediately 
available 24/7 staffing on site. This includes hubs within North East London. 

The aim is to deliver:
• Better, quality, built environments that offer patients who are vulnerable or 

acutely unwell, the safety, privacy and dignity they deserve. 
 Improved capacity with more rooms being added to fewer sites, to ensure 

blue light services are turned away less often.
 Trained and experienced dedicated staffing to improve the quality and 

efficiency of assessments and the relationships between services.

The HLP business case has been subject to a North East London STP options 
appraisal which was conducted by the STP Workstream 3, with stakeholders from 
each of the sites. 

This paper details the options and recommendations arrived at as the result of this 
options appraisal, and the subsequent engagement process required for the 
reconfiguration of Health Based Places of Safety and Section 136 detentions, Pan-
London and within the North East London STP.

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the report and briefing paper and provide their 
comments on the proposal.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



Appendices

Appendix 1 - Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Health Based Places of 
Safety in Outer North East London Report

Joseph Anstee
Town Clerk’s Department

T: 020 7332 1480
E: joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 48



City of London - Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee 

Health Based Places of Safety in North and East London

Subject Heading: East London Health Care Partnership 
(North East London STP) 

 Health Based Places of Safety (HBPoS)  

Report Author and contact details: Dan Burningham, Mental Health Programme 
Director, City and Hackney CCG
dan.burningham@nhs.net
Rory McMahon, Assistant Director of 
Transformation, North East London 
Commissioning Support Unit 
Rory.McMahon1@nhs.net

Policy context: In 2017, the government formally announced 
changes to section 136 of the Mental Health 
Act 1983 (s136 MHA) through the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017. These came into effect on 11 
December 2017.  Under these amendments, 
CCGs must ensure plans for the designation, 
and appropriate staffing of CCG-
commissioned health-based places of safety.
In May 2018 HLP produced a pan-London 
business case for few better quality HBPoS. 

Page 49

mailto:dan.burningham@nhs.net
mailto:Rory.McMahon1@nhs.net


2

SUMMARY

 
A Health-Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) is a space where people can be detained under 
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act and assessed. Patients are typically detained under 
the Mental Health act under Section 136 by Police, then transported to a Section 136 Suite 
to be assessed. 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership (HLP) has worked in partnership with London’s 
health and care system to develop a Pan-London business case to inform a specification 
for a new model of care for individuals detained under Section 136. 

The HLP business case proposes that the 20 existing dedicated HBPoS sites across London 
are reduced to nine hubs, each with better facilities and immediately available 24/7 
staffing on site. This includes hubs within North East London. 

The aim is to deliver:
• Better, quality, built environments that offer patients who are vulnerable or acutely 

unwell, the safety, privacy and dignity they deserve. 
 Improved capacity with more rooms being added to fewer sites, to ensure blue light 

services are turned away less often.
 Trained and experienced dedicated staffing to improve the quality and efficiency of 

assessments and the relationships between services.

The HLP business case has been subject to a North East London STP options appraisal 
which was conducted by the STP Workstream 3, with stakeholders from each of the sites. 

This paper details the options and recommendations arrived at as the result of this 
options appraisal, and the subsequent engagement process required for the 
reconfiguration of Health Based Places of Safety and Section 136 detentions, Pan-London 
and within the North East London STP.

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that The North East London STP proceed with Option 5, a three site 
HBPoS option in the short term, located with three rooms each at Sunflower Court and 
Homerton Hospital, and one at the Newham Centre for Mental Health. This option is in 
line with the Transition Phase recommended in the HLP business case.

After a year of operation, the option will be assessed and a view taken on whether to keep 
the Newham HBPoS, or whether to re-divert the flows and move to a two site solution: 
Homerton and Sunflower Court. 

Page 50



3

REPORT DETAIL

Context

Section 136 detainments give the police the power to remove a person from a public place 
when they appear to be suffering from a mental disorder to a place of safety. The person 
will be deemed by the police to be in immediate need of care and control as their 
behaviour is of concern. It is important to point out that a person is not under arrest when 
the decision is made to remove the person to a place of safety, where they can be 
assessed by relevant healthcare professionals. The police power is to facilitate assessment 
of their health and wellbeing as well as the safety of other people around them. 

London’s crisis care system is under significant pressure and does not have the services or 
infrastructure to ensure people experiencing a mental health crisis under a section 136 
detainment receive timely, high-quality care that respects individual needs.

The Pan-London change and engagement process

An HBPoS options appraisal in conjunction with an extensive engagement process, was 
undertaken by the Healthy London Partnership to identify how London’s HBPoS sites 
could meet the developed specification. Over 400 Londoners with lived experience of 
Mental Health crisis and carers have been involved in developing the new model of care 
through an extensive engagement process. 

Workshops, online surveys, and patient statements have been used in order to inform the 
Options Appraisal and recommendations. 

The options appraisal identified several delivery options, with the aim of deciding on an 
optimal Pan-London place of safety configuration including:

 the required number of sites; 
 optimal capacity; and
 optimal locations across London.

The output of this process was a nine-site model. This wider, pan-London process has then 
informed the development of a business case for HBPoS service change across the NEL 
STP.

Current Provision of Health-Based Places of Safety (HBPoS) in North East London 

There are currently four HBPoS sites operating in North East London:

• Sunflower Court, in Redbridge, provided by NELFT (2 assessment rooms)

• Newham Centre for Mental Health, in Newham provided by ELFT (one assessment 
room)

• Homerton Hospital, in Hackney provided by ELFT (one assessment room)

Page 51



4

• Royal London, in Tower Hamlets, provided by ELFT (one assessment room)

Figure 1 – Health Based Places of Safety within the North East London STP

Key issues within the case for change can be summarised as follows:
• The HBPoS at the Royal London Hospital within Tower Hamlets is situated in a busy 

Accident and Emergency department, potentially compromising patient safety, privacy 
and dignity. The unit is also situated one mile away from mental health teams and 
wards, making an immediate transfer to patients problematic and drawing on staff 
support from mental health teams difficult. For these reasons the RLH is not 
considered an appropriate environment by CQC and HLP.

• The HBPoS at Royal London, Homerton and Newham have no dedicated staff and use 
staff from the wards. This makes it hard to ensure staff with sufficient experience and 
training are available. It therefore does not comply with the recommendations of 
HLP’s business case that staff from wards are not used and that all staff are trained 
and experienced. 

• The HBPoS at Homerton is situated in a rather public space and is not easily accessible. 

Options for Service Delivery 
The following options for delivery of a new model of Health Based Places of Safety within 
the North East London STP were considered. 

Option 1: Do nothing - Sunflower Court, Homerton, Royal London, Newham General all 
remain open.

Option 2: Develop an alternative HBPoS to Royal London at Mile End hospital; Homerton, 
Newham and Sunflower Court remain open.

Page 52



5

Option 3: Two Sites - Sunflower Court & Homerton and Newham General HBPoS).

Option 4: Two Sites remain open - Newham and Sunflower Court.

Option 5: Three Sites remain - Homerton, Newham and Sunflower Court.

Based on the case for change and the options appraisal alongside an analysis of revenue 
costs, it is recommended that ELHCP proceed with option 5, a three site HBPoS option in 
the short term: 
• Sunflower Court (3 rooms) with a dedicated core staff team 

• Homerton Hospital (3 rooms) and re-located to offer better patient privacy and dignity 
and staffed with a dedicated core staff team

• Newham Centre for Mental Health (1 room).

Figure 2  Option 5, HBPoS Three-Site Option

This option expands the Homerton site’s capacity to absorb the potential re-directed s136 
flows from the Royal London. 

Furthermore, the use of option 5 has the following advantages:
 More flexible facilities in terms of capacity in the short-term ,and allows time for 

further planning for a future two-site model if appropriate.  

Page 53



6

 Means reduced travel distances compared to Option 3. 

 Enables experienced, qualified staff to be immediately available 24/7 on all sites.

 Incorporates capacity close to the City of London, which has a high number of section 
136s. 

 Facilitates better care for children and young people with two co-located CAMHS sites. 

 Is in keeping with HLPs 13 site transition phase. 

Option 4 (HLP’s recommended final configuration), was rejected in the short-term 
because it was considered that re-directing flows from two sites at once was too risky. It 
was agreed that it would be better to close one site, map the flow, and then assess the 
case for closing a second site. 

It was also agreed that Option 4 would be difficult to deliver in the short-term due to the 
higher revenue and capital cost implications. This could delay the re-diversion of flows 
from Royal London which does not meet standards of patient safety, privacy and dignity.

  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS

Financial and Activity implications and risks: 

a) Financial Implications

 The Department of Health has funded a £388,200 capital development at 
Homerton (2-3 rooms) and £349,000 at Sunflower court (3 rooms). This element is 
thus cost-neutral to the local healthcare economy.  Revenue costs are currently 
under negotiation with local CCGs.

b) Activity: 

 The model predicts that the additional capacity from the closure of the Royal 
London site will be absorbed by the Homerton; any additional demand will be 
mitigated by the increased use of Street Triage and home treatment teams.  

c) Legal implications and risks: Not applicable to this report. 

d) Human Resources implications and risks:   Not applicable to this report.

e) Equalities implications and risks: The preferred option is likely to improve the safety, 
privacy, and dignity of all service users through improved built environments and 
dedicated staffing teams. Older adults and people with disabilities may benefit from 
closer adjacencies to the wards. A dedicated and trained and qualified staff team is 

Page 54



7

also more likely to have a better understanding of the needs of BME and LGBT patients 
and share this in good working relationships with the police.

Appendices

London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Programme, Stakeholder Engagement Summary, July 
2018, Healthy London Partnership
Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners, HBPoS Business Case, March 2018, Healthy 
London Partnership

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London’s Mental Health Crisis 

Care Programme  

Stakeholder Engagement Summary 

July 2018 

  

Page 57



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

2 

About Healthy London Partnership 

Healthy London Partnership formed in 2015. Our aim is to make London the 

healthiest global city by working with partners to improve Londoners' health and 

wellbeing so everyone can live healthier lives. 

Our partners are many and include London’s NHS in London (Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Health Education England, NHS England, NHS Digital, NHS 

Improvement, trusts and providers), the Greater London Authority, the Mayor of 

London, Public Health England and London Councils. 

All our work is founded on common goals set out in Better Health for London, NHS 

Five Year Forward View and the Devolution Agreement.  

About this document 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership (HLP) has worked in partnership with 

London’s health and care system to develop a pan-London new model of care for 

individuals detained under Section 136 (s136).  Continuous system wide 

engagement has been integral to the development of the new model of care. This 

document summarises the engagement in terms of activities undertaken, the 

stakeholders involved and how this has fed into the development of the new model 

of care. For further information on the proposed pan-London model of care for s136, 

please refer to the public engagement document.  

  

Page 58

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/better-health-london-report/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/london-devolution-mou-and-summary/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

3 

Contents 

Overview of the engagement process ........................................................................ 4 

Key documents and dissemination ............................................................................. 6 

Committees and boards ........................................................................................... 10 

Service user engagement ........................................................................................ 11 

Key presentations and meetings .............................................................................. 23 

Events and workshops ............................................................................................. 36 

Marketing and media ................................................................................................ 41 

 
  

Page 59



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

4 

Overview of the engagement process 
 

It has long been recognised across London that mental health crisis care services 

often fall short in providing effective access, care and treatment for people who are 

among the most vulnerable in our society. London’s crisis care system is under 

significant pressure and does not have the services or infrastructure to ensure 

people experiencing a mental health (MH) crisis receive timely, high-quality care that 

respects individual needs. 

In 2015, HLP worked with stakeholders, including service users and carers, from 

across London’s mental health crisis care system to identify key issues across the 

pathway and to develop a strong case for change. 

A multi-agency group including service users, carers, frontline staff, MH and acute 

trusts, the London Ambulance Service, the three London police services and local 

authorities led the development of London’s s136 Pathway and HBPoS 

Specification, which outlines the minimum standard of care for HBPoS sites and the 

roles and responsibilities of all professionals in the pathway. Extensive engagement 

led to all partners formally endorsing this guidance, which was launched by the 

Mayor of London in December 2016. 

The new model of care was developed from the principles laid out in the guidance. It 

was recognised across the system that in order to meet the specification standards, 

significant changes were needed to the current provision of services.  

A HBPoS options appraisal was undertaken to identify how London’s place of safety 

sites could meet the specification.  The options appraisal identified the optimal pan-

London place of safety configuration including the required number of sites, capacity 

and optimal locations across London. The output of this was a 9 site model with 5 of 

these sites as all-age provision. This then informed the development of a business 

case for service change. 

HLP is now working with London’s crisis care system and service users to support 

implementation of the model of care across London. Next steps include the 

development of business plans in each Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnership (STP) and for these to be taken through local decision making forums in 

order to progress implementation. As part of this process there will be further public 

engagement as further consideration is given at the STP level regarding plans for 

future HBPoS provision. 

The voice of people with mental health problems has been at the heart of the 

programme. A section of this document has been dedicated to engagement with 

service users and carers, describing how they have been involved and how their 

experiences and views have shaped the development of the programme and the 

pan-London s136 model of care.  

Page 60

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

5 

Figure 1 below includes the amount of engagement that has taken place throughout 

the life of the programme. Figure 2 provides an overview of staff that have been 

actively engaged more recently since the pan-London guidance has been 

developed. This includes those involved in specific activities to 

support implementation of the guidance throughout 2017 and 2018. Individual STP 

maps are available in appendix 1. 

Figure 1: Summary of engagement throughout the programme  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: London engagement to implement the guidance throughout 2017 and 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

6 

Key documents and dissemination 

 London's s136 pathway and HBPoS specification (December 2016) 

 Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s Centralised 

HBPoS (December 2017) 

 The business case for service change (April 2018) 

 S136 new model of care public engagement document 

1. London's s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership has worked with London’s health and care 

system to develop a pan-London, new model of care for individuals detained under 

s136. Significant engagement at the outset of London’s mental health crisis care 

(MHCC) programme determined that the s136 pathway was best focussed on at a 

pan-London level and that this would complement other local crisis care service 

development.  

The pan-London s136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) 

specification, which outlines the minimum standard of care for HBPoS sites and the 

responsibilities of staff within the pathway, was developed through extensive 

engagement with London’s crisis care system, including over 300 service users and 

carers and over 300 frontline staff from London Ambulance Service, London’s police 

forces, mental health and acute trusts. Draft guidance was circulated to over 150 

stakeholders for feedback prior to the final version being developed. An outline of the 

engagement is displayed in the figure below. 

The pathway and specification was also formally endorsed by all NHS stakeholder 

organisations and pan-London forums, London’s three Police forces, London 

Ambulance Service, the Royal College of Psychiatry, Mind and the National Crisis 

Care Concordat Initiative.  

 

 

  

Page 62

https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Londons-section-136-pathway-and-HBPoS-specification-updated-Dec-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/SLaM-Centralised-Health-Based-Place-of-Safety-Evaluation-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/SLaM-Centralised-Health-Based-Place-of-Safety-Evaluation-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Business-Case-Crisis-Care-April-2018.pdf


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

7 

Figure 3: Summary of engagement for development of London’s s136 pathway and 

HBPoS specification. 

 
 

 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall (see Events section 

for more details). 

The document was uploaded to the HLP website in order to broaden its reach with 

1863 page views since publication in October 2017. HLP also targeted specific 

stakeholders for distribution including: 

 Metropolitan Police 

 British Transport Police 

 City of London Police 

 London Ambulance Service 

 Mental Health Trusts 

 Local authorities, including London’s AMHP services 

Page 63



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

8 

 Acute Trusts 

 Service users 

2. Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Centralised HBPoS 

To understand the impact of SLaM’s new centralised place of safety, piloting the 

pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification, Healthy London Partnership 

worked with service users, SLaM staff, the police, the London Ambulance Service 

and AMHPs to evaluate the new service.  

The evaluation report was circulated in November 2017 to stakeholders across 

London. Information and a link to the report was also included in the End of Year 

crisis care programme update distributed to over 450 stakeholders and in a news 

item on the HLP website. The evaluation itself has also been available on the HLP 

website since November 2017, where so far it has had over 500 page views. 

Since its launch, information from the evaluation has been included in numerous 

presentations and to share learning on the potential impacts of the pan-London new 

model of care. Crucially, the findings from the evaluation, including the service user 

and frontline staff feedback, were used to develop the business case for service 

case.  

3. Business case for service change  

The Business case for service change has been disseminated to a broad range of 

stakeholders via emails, events and meetings including: 

 All 5 of London’s Sustainable Transformation Partnerships (STPs): North Central 

London, North East London, North West London, South West London and South 

East London. 

 London’s Mental Health Trusts 

 London’s Acute Trusts 

 Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) 

 Local Authorities (LA) 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

 NHS England (London region) 

 NHS Improvement (NHSI) 

Page 64

https://www.healthylondon.org/pilot-shows-health-based-place-safety-improves-care-lifts-pressure-aes/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/evaluation-centralised-health-based-place-safety-south-london-maudsley-nhs-foundation-trust/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

9 

 Greater London Authority (GLA) 

 London Ambulance Service (LAS) 

 All 3 London police services (Metropolitan Police Service, British Transport 

Police and City of London Police) 

 Mind charity  

 Service users 

The Business case for service change was presented to London’s Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group for comment in mid-February 2018 and circulated for 

comment to the group members. This included feedback from service users and 

Mind. It was then taken to London’s Mental Health Transformation Board and the 

Urgent and Emergency Care Transformation and Delivery Board for consideration in 

late March 2018 and the NHSE (London) Parity of Esteem Delivery Group in April 

2018. 

The Business case for service change was uploaded to the HLP website where it 

has had 157 page views since publication. A link to the document was provided in 

the April 2018 programme update distributed to over 450 stakeholders. 

4. Other documents and resources developed and disseminated via the HLP 

website and targeted emails to specific stakeholders include: 

 Regular Programme updates, including a 2017 End of Year crisis care 

programme Report. 

 The Voluntary Handover Form (April 2018): A process to support the safe and 

effective handover of patients attending emergency departments (EDs) 

accompanied by police. 

 The Mental Health Crisis Care Toolkit (December 2017): Training slides 

developed by an independent legal expert support local training regarding the 

roles and responsibilities for s136 of the Mental Health Act, including legislation 

changes in which came into effect in December 2017. 

 Posters detailing the roles and responsibilities of each agency involved in the 

s136 pathway as outlined in the new pan-London guidance developed by HLP. 

These were provided on request to MH Trusts, Acute Trusts, LAS and Police 

(December 2017) 

 Posters from the 12 December 2016 launch event for the new London s136 

pathway and HBPoS Specification (December 2016) 

Page 65

https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Voluntary-mental-health-attendance-to-hospital-form.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Mental-health-crisis-care-toolkit-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-s136-pathway-launch/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

10 

 London s136 pathway: key principles (December 2016) 

 S136 pathway service user scenarios (December 2016) 

 Crisis care sustainability and transformation presentations (December 2016) 

 Improving care for children and young people with mental health crisis in London 

(October 2016) 

 The launch of London’s s136 pathway learning report (December 2016) 

 Improving care for children and young people in mental health crisis in London: 

Recommendations for transformation of services (November 2015) 

Committees and boards 

The following committees provide stewardship of the programme and expert input 

into the development of the s136 new model of care through various engagement 

activities including regular meetings and programme updates. The groups are made 

up of a range of key stakeholders from London’s health and care system including 

mental health and acute trust staff, service users, representatives from all five STP 

areas, the police, LAS, local authorities and senior representatives from all partner 

organisations. 

 London’s Mental Health Transformation Board  

 London’s Urgent and Emergency Care Transformation & Delivery Board  

 NHSE (London) Parity of Esteem Delivery Group 

 Service User and Carer Advisory Group 

 London’s Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group 

 London’s Crisis Care Technical Implementation Group 

 London s136 Commissioning and Payments Task & Finish Group 

 London’s Urgent & Emergency Care Clinical Leadership Group 

 London’s Mental Health Strategic Clinical Network  

The governance structure for the programme is outlined in the figure below. 

 

 

Page 66

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/london-section-136-pathway-key-principles/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/section-136-pathway-service-user-scenarios/
file:///C:/Users/DALMAR/AppData/Roaming/priand/Desktop/•%09https:/www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-sustainability-transformation-presentations/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Improving-care-for-children-and-young-people-with-mental-health-crisis-in-London.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Learning-Launch-of-Londons-s136-pathway.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Emerging-findings-Improving-care-for-children-and-young-people-in-mental-health-crisis-in-London-November-2015.pdf


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

11 

Figure 4: Programme governance structure for London’s Mental Health Crisis Care 

programme 

 

 

Service user engagement 
 

Over 400 Londoners with lived experience of MH crisis and carers have been 

involved in developing the new model of care through an extensive engagement 

process. Below we outline who we involved and why, how service users were 

involved, what we learned from our conversations and how this influenced the 

programme development. There are approximately 5000 s136 detentions in London 

per year; this includes multiple detentions for the same individuals.  

Who was involved and why 
 

Over 400 Londoners have been involved in London’s Mental Health crisis care 

programme, the majority of whom have lived experience of mental health crisis as a 

service user or carer. This has included those with specific experience of the s136 

pathway, and those with experience of the wider crisis care in London. 

Representatives were sought from all areas of London, with black and ethnic 

minority communities and Children and Young people (CYP) also represented.  

Through this, the programme endeavoured to include the input of both a large 

number of service users and to capture the experience in different areas of London 

and for particular groups. Where demographic information was asked for and 

provided, the proportion of white (65%) and BME (35%) represented in the service 

user engagement, reflects the proportion of these groups who are detained under 

s136 in London. A summary of service user and carer engagement and 

demographics for key events in development and implementation of London’s s136 

pathway and HBPoS specification is shown in the table below. Note that 

demographic information was not asked for in all cases. 

 

Page 67



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

12 

Table 1: Service user demographics  

 White BME Information not 

given 

Online survey and focus group 70 23 61 

CYP Focus Group for I 

statements 

0 0 3 

CYP Online survey for I 

statements 

24 5 33 

Crisis Care Summit 0 0 25 

Mental Health Trust focus 

groups 

5 10 32 

Harrow in Mind (Somali group) 0 17 3 

CYP workshop 2 0 0 

Service user and carer 

advisory group 

  11 

S136 Launch   10 

Evaluation of SLAM’s 

centralised place of safety 

  45 

Technical Implementation 

Group and Implementation 

Steering Group 

  4 

Mental Health Act Multiagency 

Training 

  8 

London Ambulance Service 

patient forum 

  10 

Page 68



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

13 

Patient and public network 

meeting 

  4 

Total  405 

 

How service users have been involved  
 

Engagement with service users and carers has taken place at each stage of the 

process from developing the case for change through to implementation. 

Workshops 

Five workshops with over 50 service users and carers were held in each STP in 

London to look at a number of areas of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

in more detail to ensure service user needs and expectations were met. Specific 

ideas were also tested with service users to support the implementation process. 

London’s diverse population has been represented through these workshops 

including all ages and a range of ethnic groups, specific workshops were held for 

children and young people and individuals from BME communities. 

Online survey 

In 2016, Healthy London Partnership’s Mental Health Crisis Care programme 

undertook engagement with service-users and carers to further understand the 

experiences of people who have experienced a mental health crisis in London and 

find out what is important to them when they are in crisis.  

Part of this work involved the charity, Mind, supporting the programme in developing 

an online survey, which focussed on the experiences of those whose crisis led to: 

 attending an ED or 

 being detained under section 135 or 136 of the Mental Health Act by the police 

The survey was live online from 18 January to 24 February 2016 and was promoted 

by HLP, Mind, National Survivor User Network, Young Minds and other partners on 

social media. We received 104 responses by 29 January (the point at which HLP did 

the analysis to inform the I-statements) and 154 by 24 February when it closed. All 

except 6 people (29 January) rising to 10 (24 February) were from across London. 

The service users and carers who took part in the online survey told us about their 

recent experiences of crisis care, including those in EDs and HBPoS sites. Service 

users told us what was good and what could have been better. They also told us 

what was most important to service users when helping to prevent a crisis, during a 

crisis and following a crisis.   

Page 69



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

14 

The information gathered has been used to steer the development of London’s new 

model of care to ensure that it meets the needs of service users.  

Demographic information for those who took part in the survey can be found in 

Appendix 2. 

I statements – focus group and online consultation  

A key output from the service user and carer involvement was the development of ‘I 

statements’. These are first person statements setting out the expectations of how 

Londoner’s wish to be treated before, during and after a MH crisis. Over 200 service 

users co-produced a set of ‘I’ statements through online surveys and focus groups 

facilitated by Mind and YoungMinds. They were then refined through further online 

consultation (see appendix 3).  

Further engagement was also undertaken with children and young people to better 

understand where their experiences and needs might differ from those of adults. 

HLP created an online survey to enable more children and young people to feed 

back on the draft ‘I’ statements. The survey was actively promoted on social media 

and featured on the YoungMinds online blog, which reaches thousands of young 

people across their network.  

The survey was launched on 6th April 2016 and more than 60 young people 

completed it. Their responses were used to redraft the statements to ensure they 

reflect what is most important to Londoners who experience a mental health crisis as 

a young person. The CYP ‘I’ statements (see appendix 4) are to be read alongside 

and not instead of the other statements, which apply to Londoners of all ages. 

The ‘I’ statements reflect service user needs and expectations of London’s mental 

health crisis care and were used in the development of a case for change. The 

statements directly informed London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification and 

the new model of care and will be crucial to the evaluation of the programme. 

BME service user experience 

As part of HLP’s continued service user engagement, in July 2016 a workshop was 

specifically arranged for members of BME communities to ensure that the needs of 

service users from BME communities were well represented within the new model of 

care. The workshop was co-facilitated by Mind and HLP. This was in addition to BME 

service users already represented in the other forums relating to the programme.  

Expert by experience videos and stories 

In spring 2016, HLP filmed with a number of experts by experience to talk about their 

story and experience of being cared for under s136. In 2017, service user 

experiences were included on the Healthy London Partnership website, a Rethink 

blog and were presented at MHCC summit in February 2016 as well. These 

Page 70

https://www.healthylondon.org/our-work/crisis-care/experts-by-experiences/
https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care
https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

15 

accounts of crisis care in London have been vital to inform the case for change and 

provide on-going drive for the programme.  

London’s crisis care summit 

London’s crisis care summit was held in February 2016 and over 12% of delegates 

were service users from across London with experience of London’s crisis care 

services. Service users were also involved in the event through presentations and 

co-facilitating workshops with clinical staff and key partners. The presentations from 

the service users highlighted examples of substandard crisis care while 

demonstrating an appetite to work together to improve the pathway for Londoners. 

Pan-London s136 pathway launch 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall. Over 10% of 

attendees were crisis care service users. 

Place of safety options appraisal process 

Service users in each STP were engaged in the options appraisal to determine the 

best way to deliver crisis care services across London in order to meet the standards 

set out in London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. 

Evaluation of SLAM’s centralised place of safety 

The new model of care was piloted in South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation 

Trust (SLAM) in 2017, through the consolidation of 4 sites into 1 purpose built site 

with 24/7 dedicated staffing.  The new purpose built facility was co-designed with 

service users to support delivery of safe, dignified care in a therapeutic setting and 

staff reported being able to use the facilities flexibly to better manage risk and 

respond to the changing needs of the individual in their care.  

Service user surveys were carried out both before and after the centralised HBPoS 

opened. Under the new model, 76% of those surveys were positive about the 

support they received and 64% felt safe (compared with 36% in previous surveys of 

Londoner’s). Furthermore, 79% of service users reported being treated with respect 

and dignity by staff, 63% felt listened to by staff and 94% felt that they understood 

the next steps prior to leaving the unit. 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

16 

Figure 5. Service user perceptions SLAM’s centralised place of safety 2017 

 
 

Service User and Carer Advisory Group / committee representation  

Two service User and Carer Advisory Groups were formed (one for adults and one 

for CYP) to help ensure that service users had meaningful input into the stewardship 

of the programme. In addition to this service users also sit on London’s Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group and the Crisis Care Technical Implementation 

Group. 

Other meetings: 

London Ambulance Service (LAS) patient forum (August 2017):Service users 

involved in  the LAS patient forum were gathered  to hear more about the London 

mental health crisis care programme and to provide feedback on the implementation 

plans across London. 

Urgent and emergency care patient and public network meeting (April 2018): 

Programme updates were provided to members of London’s patient and public care 

networks. Their role is to ensure there is patient input into London’s wider UEC 

programme and ensure effective feedback links between local patient groups into 

London-wide work.   

Programme updates 

Regular programme updates every x month? have emailed to service users 

throughout the development of the new model to help keep them engaged and 

informed and to give them an opportunity to feedback to the programme team. 

Page 72



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

17 

London’s crisis care mailbox: 

The crisis care programme team set up a dedicated email address which is widely 

available and advertised on the Healthy London Partnership website and on 

programme updates to allow access to information directly from the programme 

team and to allow all stakeholders, including service users to provide feedback. 

What was learned from the conversations  

A number of issues came out strongly from the surveys, focus group and online 

consultation when respondents were asked about their recent experiences in 

London’s EDs and HBPoS sites.  

These issues can be grouped under the follow themes: access and timeliness of 

care, attitudes and skills of staff, environment, and continuity of care. 

We asked people what the most important thing to them was. The following were the 

most commonly identified areas of importance across the comments left by service 

users: 

 being treated with compassion  

 feeling safe 

 being listened to 

A number of respondents explicitly associated feeling safe with the appropriateness 

of the surroundings and the attitude of staff. 

A significant number of respondents also raised the importance of being taken 

seriously, feeling respected and being able to access care quickly. 

The following areas were identified through the engagement process as particularly 

important in the delivery of crisis care. The survey responses and focus group have 

helped to identify both the current problems across these areas and how service 

users think improvements could be achieved. 

 Access to the right help – less than half of survey respondents knew how to 

access advice and support to get the help they needed when in crisis 

 Timeliness of care – nearly 70% of survey respondents felt there were missed 

opportunities to prevent their mental health deteriorating to crisis point 

 Compassion – only 34% who attended an ED and 27% who attended a place of 

safety agreed that staff had treated them with compassion 

 Choice and Involvement – only 30% felt involved in discussions about their 

mental health problems 

Page 73



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

18 

 Staff attitudes and knowledge – only 36% of those who attended an ED felt 

listened to and that their concerns were taken seriously 

 Environment – 93% of respondents feel that being in an environment that suits 

their needs when in crisis is either important of very important 

 Continuity of care – Over 95% said that receiving appropriate follow-up care 

after their crisis was either important of very important 

Key messages from BME workshop 

 Service users said that HBPoS staff were often not very welcoming. It could 

seem like they were ‘preparing for war’, treating the individual as dangerous and 

showing fear of the individual in crisis. This demonstrated a lack of training and 

the stigma that currently exists. 

 Service users often felt that there was not enough joined up thinking for the 

benefit of the individual in crisis. 

 Staff should be mindful of the individuals’ cultural and spiritual beliefs and do 

their best to provide culturally appropriate care.  

 Those detained under s136 should be provided with a clear explanation of what 

is happening in their own language. 

 Consideration should be given to ensure that those detained can be assessed by 

someone of their own gender if requested.  

 Onward care plans should give consideration to an individual’s social care 

needs, such as housing and employment, as well as addressing their mental 

health need. 

 More information is needed on the voluntary and community services available 

including face-to-face and online support. Where possible, efforts should be 

made to find support groups that align with the individuals cultural and spiritual 

beliefs. Socialising is an important part of support and access to support groups 

and peer-support is needed.  

Key messages from expert by experience videos 

 ED can be distressing and manic for an individual in crisis. ED members of staff 

do not always understand an individual’s mental health need or treat it with the 

same importance as those with a physical health need.  

Page 74



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

19 

 Individuals with mental health needs don’t want to end up in ED but if they do 

they want to know physical and mental health staff are working together to 

coordinate their care.  

 Waiting for long periods of time to access care or get a mental health 

assessment makes a crisis worse. They want to be seen quickly by skilled staff 

that can care for their mental and physical health needs.  

 Individuals don’t always know what is happening and members of staff don’t 

always treat them with compassion.  They want to be seen by skilled staff that 

understand mental health and listen to their needs.  

 Suitable follow-up care not always available for individuals when they need it. 

Individuals want to know about all the services they can turn to in their 

community.  

 A bad experience with the NHS means individuals can lose trust in health 

services and stop engaging in their care. They can then be extremely reluctant to 

seek help from the NHS when they need it.  

 People are extremely hopeful things are going to change and it’s a positive step 

that everyone has been working together to improve the care for patients 

detained under s136.   

Key messages from the options appraisal process 

Service users involved in the optional appraisal process (service user and carer 

advisory groups and reps on the boards) were key to determining the criteria used in 

the process. The figure below shows the priorities for all age service users and CYP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

20 

Figure 6: Adult and CYP priorities for the pan-London S136 model of care. 

 
 

How feedback and involvement influenced programme development  

 

We were told: People need timely access to care and effective pathways to reduce 

delays. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification provides an effective pathway 

which aims to reduce delays. Key standards that promote timely access to care 

include: 

 Individuals detained under s136 must be taken to the closest HBPoS to the site 

of detention, regardless of where they are resident.  

 If there is no capacity at the local HBPoS, it is that site’s responsibility to ensure 

that the individual is received into a suitable place of safety. 

 When the HBPoS states that it has capacity, this means it is able to receive the 

detained individual as soon as they arrive on site.  

 When an individual under s136 presents to an ED, the ED cannot refuse access 

unless a formal escalation action has been enacted. 

Page 76



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

21 

 The mental health assessment should be completed within 4 hours of the 

individual arriving at the HBPoS unless there are clinical grounds for delay. 

Under the proposed London model, 88.5% of patients will be 45 minutes or less from 

an HBPoS which is able to provide specialist care through a 24/7 dedicated staffing 

team. Though the reconfiguration will mean that there are a smaller number of sites, 

those sites will have a higher capacity. 

It is expected that access to care on arrival at the site will be quicker, with fewer 

incidences of individuals waiting outside HBPoS sites whilst staff are brought in from 

other areas of the trust to staff the unit. Furthermore, there will be fewer site closures 

and instances of individuals being transported from one trust to another due to 

insufficient capacity at an individual site.  

By providing sufficient capacity at the HBPoS sites, the proposed option for the new 

model of care will reduce the average journey time from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for 

police vehicles and 24 minutes to 22 minutes for ambulance vehicles. This will 

ensure that patients receive emergency clinical care more quickly. Patient 

experience will improve as delays are minimised and they can be seen faster by 

clinical staff trained to care for their needs. 

We were told: Specialised skilled staff must be available to care for patients 24 

hours a day, and not pulled off inpatient wards 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

A key feature of London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification is that all sites 

should have 24/7 dedicated staff teams to ensure that delays do not occur as staff 

are sought from other areas of the trust. Furthermore, there are clear expectation for 

the mental health and physical health competencies for all staff at the HBPoS.  

The roles and responsibilities of all non-HBPoS staff e.g. police, paramedics, ED 

staff etc. are specified in the guidance to ensure clarity as to the expectation for all 

professionals involved in the pathway.  

Under the proposed new model of care, the number of sites () will be reduce to 9 

centres of excellence (however overall capacity will not change), this allows the 24/7 

dedicated staffing to be feasible at all sites. 

Multiagency training has taken place in all mental health trusts and for the London 

ambulance service in order to ensure that professionals involved in the s136 

pathway are clear on their responsibilities under the guidance and the Mental Health 

Act legislation. Further training sessions will take place throughout 2018/19 with the 

focus on ED clinical and operational staff.  

Page 77



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

22 

Furthermore, the programme has supported four of London’s mental health trusts 

with existing dedicated staffing to secure funding from Health Education England and 

to begin setting up rotational nursing programmes to allow mental health nurses to 

develop physical health skills in EDs and ED nurses to develop mental health skills 

by spending time in the HBPoS. These programmes are on-going and hope to be 

implemented pan-London as centres of excellence develop. 

We were told: The HBPoS environment must promote dignity, recovery, comfort 

and confidentiality for the patient. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

This is achieved both through the physical design of an HBPoS site and staff factors: 

the training of the staff to use the environment effectively, the compassion and 

dignity afforded to patients by staff and the relationships within the staff team and 

with other professionals.  

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification outlines the requirements for the 

facilities at an HBPoS. Where HBPoS environments have been co-designed with 

patients, this can ensure that the environment meets patient, as well as staff, needs. 

The guidance advises that there is significant service user and carer involvement in 

the governance and monitoring of HBPoS sites. 

The crisis care programme has also supported London trusts to apply for capital 

funding to ensure facilities developed under the new model of care are fit for purpose 

with the right capacity.  

We were told: Proximity to other health services is important, including mental 

health services and EDs to enable access to physical health care if required. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

Whilst no EDs are dedicated HBPoS sites under the proposed pan-London s136 

new model of care (under guidance from the Royal College of Psychiatry and the 

Royal College of Emergency Medicine) the options appraisal process ensured that 

close proximity to both mental health inpatient beds and 24/7 urgent physical care 

were key criteria points to determine the preferred location of sites in London.  

We were told: Individuals with mental health problems do not want to end up in ED 

and if they do, but if they do they want to know ED and mental health staff are 

working together to coordinate their care.  

What is in progress and what has been done:   

Under the proposed pan-London s136 new model of care, no EDs are designated 

HBPoS sites (under guidance from the Royal College of Psychiatry and the Royal 

College of Emergency Medicine). In addition, London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS 

Page 78



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

23 

specification outlines physical health competencies for HBPoS staff to ensure that 

there are no unnecessary transfers to EDs for minor physical health problems. There 

is also a clear protocol to ensure that individuals under the influence of alcohol are 

not automatically transferred to ED including closer working with paramedics. 

The rotational nursing programme and ED training sessions described above will 

support mental health and ED staff to work together and ED staff to clearly 

understand their role in the s136 pathway.  

How will London’s crisis care programme engage with service users and 

carers in future? 

The input of service users and their carers into the London’s crisis care programme 

is vital for its future success and implementation of the pan-London new model of 

care. Service users continue to be valued members of the Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group and Technical Implementation Group. The London 

programme will continue to circulate programme updates and upload material to the 

crisis care pages on www.healthylondon.org.  

Whilst Healthy London Partnership continues to support the crisis care system on a 

pan-London basis, following the business case for service change outlining the 

proposed pan-London HBPoS configuration, STPs are taking ownership of planning 

and delivery at a local level. This will involve public engagement on local plans and 

taking these through decision making forum within the STP footprint.  

London’s crisis care programme has initiated work to develop a plan for evaluating 

the changes resulting from implementation of the new model of care and to collect 

baseline data for this evaluation. Service users and carers will have an important 

role, both by providing insight into current care through focus groups, and through 

input into the design of the evaluation. 

Key presentations and meetings 

Throughout the programme information and updates have been given at a number of 

forums across London. These have been an opportunity to develop plans and 

receive feedback from a wide variety of stakeholders. 

In the table below, a large number of small meetings (1-3 attendees), 

teleconferences and email exchanges have not been included as it is not practicable 

to detail such a significant number of interactions with senior stakeholders and 

frontline staff from police, LAS and NHS trusts.  

 

 

Page 79

http://www.healthylondon.org/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

24 

Meeting Date Audience Purpose 

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

care Clinical 

Leadership 

Group 

Monthly Urgent and 

emergency care 

clinical leads from 

London 

Regular updates on the 

MHCC programme and 

securing feedback/ 

clinical input into the 

development of the s136 

pathway and pan-London 

model of care; an 

opportunity to increase 

support and engagement 

for the programme to 

support implementation, 

particularly around ED 

issues.  

Mental Health 

London 

Transformation 

Board 

Regular  

attendance 

Senior London 

Mental health care 

stakeholders 

Formal reporting updates 

provided as this is a pan-

London Board within HLP 

governance. This 

included the presentation 

of the final business case 

for endorsement. 

Feedback and input from 

the group sought to 

inform and steer 

development of the 

programme.  

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

Care 

Transformation 

and Delivery 

board 

Regular 

attendance 

Senior London 

urgent and 

emergency care 

stakeholders 

Formal reporting updates 

provided as this is a pan-

London Board within HLP 

governance. This 

included the presentation 

of the final business case 

for endorsement. 

Feedback and input from 

the group sought to 

inform and steer 

development of the 

programme. 

Page 80



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

25 

London Learning 

Disability and 

Mental Health 

Commissioners 

Network Meeting  

June 2018, 

February 

2017 

London Learning 

Disability and Mental 

Health 

Commissioners 

 

General update on the 

MHCC programme 

ensuring links with MH 

and LD commissioning 

and increasing 

engagement efforts 

across London. Recent 

presentation of the 

business case and 

proposed London model 

of care.  Feedback 

sought as well as 

understanding of any 

local issues to help 

inform development/ 

implementation.  

Association of 

Adult Directors of 

Social Services 

Meeting 

June 2018 

and June 

2016 

Adult directors of 

social care London 

 

The London ADASS lead 

has presented to ADASS 

colleagues on the MHCC 

programme over the past 

couple of years outlining 

new guidance and 

London proposals, the 

engagement with AMHPs 

and ensuring comments, 

feedback and potential 

challenges are fed into 

the programme.   

London Health 

Board  

June 2018, 

October 2017 

The Mayor of 

London, leaders 

of London local 

authorities (LA) and 

senior 

representatives from 

the Health Sector in 

the capital. 

Outline of MHCC 

programme 

implementation progress 

and a request for both the 

Board’s and Mayor’s 

continued support and 

input into the programme.   

NHSE (London) 

Parity of Esteem 

Delivery Group 

April 2018, 

September 

2017 

 An overview of the case 

for change and pan-

London model of care 

Page 81

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

26 

including the business 

case for service change. 

An opportunity to 

increase engagement 

and support from NHS 

London and to align the 

work with the PoE 

agenda/ discuss issues 

relating to this.  

MiCapacity 

workshop 

 

March 2018 MHCC stakeholders 

including MH Trust 

staff, the police, LAS 

and service users. 

Linking the London s136 

pathway with advances in 

the MiDOS MiCapacity 

tool which is looking at a 

pan-London live capacity 

tool for place of safety 

sites/ exploring synergies 

between the two 

programmes and 

opportunities for 

alignment.  

Health Education 

England - 

Delivering the 

Five Year 

Forward View: 

Caring for 

patients at the 

right time and in 

the right place 

 

March 2018 Various London NHS 

staff 

An overview of the MHCC 

work to date with 

particular emphasis on 

the development of a 

rotational nursing 

programme between 

HBPoS and EDs; raising 

awareness of the work 

and an opportunity to 

hear feedback and 

explore synergies with 

other relevant projects at 

the event. 

London Security 

Management 

Specialists 

Managers Forum  

January 2018 Hospital security 

managers from 

across London 

 

An introduction to pan-

London transformation 

programmes, specifically 

what is happening in 

crisis care to increase 

understanding of the 

roles and responsibilities 

Page 82



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

27 

of all staff; understanding 

local issues relating to 

security and garnering 

support for and input into 

the implementation of the 

s136 pathway across 

London with these in 

mind.   

Approved Mental 

Health 

Professional 

(AMHP) London 

Leads Meeting  

 

Various 

dates- 

January 

2018, March 

2017, 

November 

2016, May 

2016, April 

2016 

London AMHP leads Updates on the 

development of the 

MHCC programme with 

support from AMHP leads 

involved in the 

programme; an 

opportunity for AMHP 

feedback/ input into 

development of the 

pathway and 

implementation of the 

new model as well as to 

understand local issues/ 

barriers to 

implementation. 

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

Care 

Improvement 

Collaborative 

Event 

December 

2017 

London’s urgent and 

emergency care 

system stakeholders, 

including service 

users. 

Workshop at the event 

dedicated to detailing the 

London guidance with a 

specific emphasis on 

mental health crisis care 

in ED’s. Presentation 

included input from MHA 

legal expert. Aim was to 

understand issues and 

potential barriers to 

implementation and to 

increase awareness and 

support.   

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Chairs meeting 

November 

2017 

Mental Health Trust 

chairs from across 

London 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme of work to 

date; an opportunity to 

gain input/ feedback to 

Page 83



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

28 

inform delivery and to 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support for the work. 

Mind London 

CEO Network 

meeting 

 

November 

2017 

Mind charity CEOs 

London 

Overview of the 

programme provided as 

well as asking for 

feedback and support to 

increase third sector and 

service user involvement 

in local implementation of 

the new model of care.  

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Chief Operating 

Officers 

Various dates 

2017 

Mental Health Trust 

Chief Operating 

Officers 

Regular updates provided 

to the London MH Trust 

COOs on the 

programmes’ progress. 

Updates provided an 

opportunity to ask for 

feedback and continue 

engagement with senior 

leaders to ensure 

continued momentum 

and support.  

London Mental 

Health Trust 

Cavendish 

Square Group  

 

Various 

dates- 

November 

2017, May 

2017 

Senior 

representatives from 

London’s MH Trusts 

Regular updates provided 

to the London MH Trust 

CEs on the programmes 

progress. Updates 

provided an opportunity 

to ask for expert 

feedback and continue 

engagement with senior 

leaders to ensure 

momentum and support.  

Meetings with 

CAMHS clinical 

leads at each MH 

trust 

August 2017 CAMHS clinical leads 

at each MH trust in 

London 

Meetings to test possible 

options for CYP HBPoS 

provision. Feedback from 

these meetings steered 

programme towards 

having CYP HBPoS 

Page 84



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

29 

provision in each STP 

footprint 

London Clinical 

Senate Council 

Meeting  

 

May 2017, 

July 2017 

Nominated 

representatives of 

the Patient & Public 

Voice, London’s 

Clinical 

Commissioning 

Council, Academic 

Health Science 

Networks, Local 

Education and 

Training Boards, and 

Directors of Public 

Health Network and 

Social Care, and 

appointed senior 

health professionals. 

Intro to HLP and the 

MHCC programme, an 

overview of the work 

undertaken to date and a 

request for specific 

advice and feedback from 

senate members around 

next steps in 

implementation incl. 

barrier and enablers such 

as financial challenges, 

buy-in at both a local and 

pan-London level. 

Metropolitan 

Police Service 

Mental Health 

Liaison Officers 

meeting  

 

May 2017 Metropolitan Police 

Service Mental 

Health Liaison 

Officers 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date; 

opportunity to increase 

engagement, ask the 

officers for feedback/ 

input into the multi- 

agency training agenda 

and uncover local issues/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.   

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Directors of 

Nursing meeting 

May 2017 London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Directors of Nursing 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

options appraisal & Pan-

London configuration 

criteria; an opportunity to 

seek feedback, increase 

engagement/ support 

from the nurses and to 

understand if anything 

additional needs to be 

considered during 

Page 85



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

30 

development/ 

implementation.  

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Medical Directors 

meeting   

May 2017; 

May 2016, 

May 2015 

London’s Mental 

Health Trust Medical 

Directors 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

options appraisal & Pan-

London configuration 

criteria; opportunity to 

increase engagement/ 

garner support from the 

MDs and their clinicians 

to ensure clinical input. 

London ED 

Consultants 

Network meeting 

May 2017 London ED 

consultants 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with a 

particular emphasis on 

the changes in 

legislation; opportunity to 

seek feedback and info 

on ED related issues/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.  

London Care 

Quality 

Commission 

Mental Health 

Team meeting 

May 2017 Care Quality 

Commission London 

mental health team 

(30 attendees) 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

comparison between 

RCPsych guidance and 

the London specification; 

a call for feedback /input 

to direct development 

and a call for support 

from the CQC. 

London Mental 

Health Senior 

Commissioners 

meeting 

Various 

dates- April 

2017, 

February 

2017 

London’s Mental 

Health senior 

commissioners 

Regular updates on the 

progress of the MHCC 

programme and 

opportunity for feedback/ 

input from a 

commissioning 

perspective as well as 

support (e.g. explore 

Page 86



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

31 

local governance & 

nominate a member to 

join the MHCC 

Implementation Steering 

Group). 

London Clinical 

Commissioning 

Group Chief 

Officers meeting  

April 2017, 

July 2017 

Chief officers London 

 

Update on the progress 

of the MHCC programme; 

opportunity for feedback 

to inform development 

and a consultation on 

how the group would like 

to be engaged with 

/updated going forward. 

London Mental 

Health Clinical 

Network 

Leadership 

Group 

Various dates 

2016 

 Regular updates and 

opportunities for 

feedback on the 

programme ensuring 

clinical input into the 

development of the s136 

pathway and pan-London 

model of care. Also an 

opportunity to increase 

support/ engagement for 

the programme to 

support implementation 

London Directors 

of Nursing 

meeting (acute 

and mental health 

trusts) 

October 2016 Directors of nursing 

(45 attendees) 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme to date and 

an opportunity to gain 

input/ feedback to inform 

deliver, increase 

engagement & support 

amongst nursing and to 

understand any issues 

pertaining to this group / 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

Westminster 

briefing 

October 2016 25 attendees Presentation on London’s 

s136 pathway by Briony 

Sloper (LAS) and Dan 

Page 87



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

32 

Thorpe (Metropolitan 

police) to raise 

awareness and gain 

feedback.  

NHSE (London) 

Sustainability 

and  

Transformation 

Executive 

October 2016 Pan-London An update on the MHCC 

programme and London’s 

new model of care to 

raise awareness and gain 

feedback from NHSEL 

executives to inform 

implementation.  

S136 pathway 

scenario testing 

workshop 

September 

2016 

Multiagency s136 

pathway 

stakeholders (14 

attendees) 

Testing of s136 patient 

scenario pathways with 

stakeholders to 

understand issues, 

barriers to 

implementation and to 

inform delivery of the 

programme. 

BEH Inter-Agency 

Mental Health 

Law Monitoring 

Group 

June 2016 Multi-agency 

stakeholders 

involved in MH law 

within BEH trust 

An update on the MHCC 

programme to date and 

an opportunity to gain 

input, understand issues 

and increase 

engagement / support 

amongst this group. 

London Mental 

Health 

Partnership 

Board meetings 

Oct 2015; Jan 

& Apr 2016 

Senior mental health 

crisis care 

stakeholders 

An introduction to the 

pan-London MHCC 

programme including the 

scope of the programme 

and what it is proposed to 

cover in regards to s136, 

ensuring strong links and 

alignment with work that 

was being led by the 

Partnership Board.  

Mental Health Various (May, London urgent and The MHCC subgroup 

Page 88



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

33 

Crisis Care 

Subgroup 

meetings 

Jul, Sep, Nov 

Dec 2015; 

Jan; Mar, 

May, Jun 

2016) 

emergency care and 

MH crisis care 

stakeholders 

was a precursor to the 

Implementation steering 

group (see below). 

Meetings were held to 

inform and progress the 

development of the case 

for change, as well as the 

scope, content and 

direction of the MHCC 

programme.  

London Nursing 

Leadership forum 

June 2016 Acute and mental 

health trust nurses 

(40 attendees) 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress and 

an opportunity to gain 

input/ feedback to inform 

direction, hear about 

issues/ potential barriers 

and to increase 

engagement & support. 

London AMHP 

workshop 

discussing 

staffing models 

for AMHP options 

June 2016 

 

London borough of 

Newham AMHPs (12 

attendees) 

Workshop facilitated by 

Simon Pearce (London 

ADASS lead) to discuss 

alternative staffing 

models for AMHPs to 

support implementation 

of the new model of care 

and to hear about 

challenges faced by this 

group that may hinder 

implementation as well as 

possible solutions.  

London borough 

Mental Health 

Officers meetings 

June 2016 Metropolitan police 

borough mental 

health officers (50 

attendees) 

Update provided to 

London’s borough MH 

officers assigned to each 

Trust outlining details of 

the London pathway, 

asking for feedback and 

information on issues 

experienced / barriers 

faced as well as 

expectations from officers 

Page 89



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

34 

and other staff groups to 

inform development of 

the programme.   

St. Mary’s 

Psychiatric 

Liaison team 

meeting 

April 2016 Psychiatric Liaison 

Team (8 attendees) 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

ED mental health 

subgroup 

meeting (St. 

Mary’s hospital) 

April 2016 ED staff members Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

St. Thomas’ ED 

Psychiatric 

Liaison team 

April 2016 Psychiatric Liaison 

Team (8 attendees) 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.  

Camden and 

Islington MH 

Trust acute 

divisional 

meeting 

April 2016 Camden and 

Islington MH Trust 

Staff members 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification; 

understanding local 

issues and sharing the 

pathway development to 

date; call for input/ 

feedback to shape 

development.  

Page 90



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

35 

London Chief 

Executive 

Officers (CEO) 

Mental Health 

Trusts (Individual 

meetings) 

Various 

meetings 

throughout  

2016 

Individual meetings 

between programme 

team and each MH 

trust CEO in London 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress; an 

opportunity to gain input / 

feedback to inform 

development and 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support. To explore 

local challenges and 

plans with the CEO. 

Implementing the 

Urgent and 

Emergency Care 

Vision in London 

November 

2015 

Broad range of 

London urgent and 

emergency care 

stakeholders 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress; an 

opportunity to gain input / 

feedback to inform 

development and 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support. 

NHS England 

National Mental 

Health Team 

July 2015 NHS England 

national MH team 

members 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress and 

a call for feedback; an 

opportunity to define the 

input & support this group 

has to offer in terms of 

informing development.  

South London 

and the Maudsley 

NHS Foundation 

Trust induction 

day 

May 2015 HBPoS new staff 

members 

Supporting pilot site 

induction and its 

alignment with London’s 

s136 pathway; helping 

staff understand what 

they are piloting and the 

expectations around the 

project. 

London Police 

Force s136 

workshop 

May 2015 Police officers from 

all three of London’s 

police forces (40 

attendees) 

Workshop lead by Chief 

Inspector from the Met 

Police to understand 

issues faced by front-line 

officers and to ensure 

Page 91



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

36 

they are addressed in the 

London s136 pathway 

guidance.    

 

Events and workshops 

This section outlines additional specific activities associated with programme 

stages 
 

London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Summit 
 

London’s first Mental Health Crisis Care Summit was held at the KIA Oval on 25th 

February 2016 to share learning and best practice in crisis care and explore the 

changes required in order to meet the needs and expectations of Londoners facing a 

mental health crisis. The summit brought together multi-agency partners including 

local crisis concordat groups, the Urgent & Emergency Care networks and key 

partners such as the Police and London Ambulance Service, to promote partnership 

working and strategic alignment across national, London and local initiatives. The 

day comprised of three sessions that allowed delegates to hear from national and 

London mental health leaders, receive updates on different crisis care programmes 

and participate in ‘share and learn’ workshops that focussed on good practice and 

innovation.  

200 delegates attended the day from numerous agencies across all five of London’s 

UEC Networks. There was strong representation from commissioners, providers, 

clinicians, managers, local authorities and service users. 

Feedback on the event received from delegates via evaluation forms and feedback 

cards was overall positive.  Comments highlighted the multiple opportunities to learn 

from others and hear from service users, while suggestions for improvement 

included covering less content in the agenda and further involving service users in 

the design and delivery of the event.   

Feedback and discussions from the event was used to inform the development of the 

programme. 

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification development 
 

Over 50 meetings, workshops and pan-London forums took place to inform the case 

for change and the development of London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS 

Specification, including: 

 Service user and carer engagement (as outlined in separate section). 

Page 92



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

37 

 Establishment of CYP working group (including CAMHS and commissioners) 

 Site visits and meetings with pan London organisations including the London 

Ambulance Service and London’s three police forces 

 Engagement with acute trust and mental health trust staff including liaison 

psychiatry staff. 

 MH liaison officer workshop 

 Police frontline officer workshop 

 Scenario testing workshop 

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification launch event 
 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall. The event brought 

together over 100 delegates from across London’s crisis care system to recognise 

the significant partnership work undertaken and to build momentum to ensure the 

collaboration continued to implement the guidance.  There was significant 

representation from service users, frontline and senior staff from Acute and Mental 

Health Trusts, commissioners, London’s police forces, London Ambulance Service, 

Local Authorities and the voluntary sector. Over 10% of attendees were service 

users and all organisations that formally endorsed the guidance were present at the 

event.  

The event offered a chance to hear from service users and leaders across London’s 

crisis care system, and to provide facilitated multi-agency discussions to familiarise 

delegates with the new guidance, identify current blockers in the system and 

understand the further work required to ensure its successful implementation.  

The event included presentations from an expert by experience and representative 

of the NSUN voluntary organisation, Sadiq Kahn (Mayor of London), John Brouder 

(Chief Executive of North East London Foundation Trust), Fionna Moore (former 

Chief Executive of London Ambulance Service) and Commander Christine Jones 

(Metropolitan Police and National Lead for Mental Health). Feedback and 

discussions from the event were used to inform the crisis care delivery plan to 

implement the guidance across London. 

173 unique Twitter users used the event hash tag #crisiscare16 in 400 posts. These 

tweets were delivered to over 3 million users and to almost 20 million Twitter 

streams. The launch of the new guidance was picked up by BBC London News and 

featured on both the lunchtime and evening programmes. The item featured service 

user Pat Kenny and Dr Mary Docherty, a psychiatrist from SLaM involved in the 

Page 93

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

38 

development of the guidance. Dr Marilyn Plant, clinical lead for the programme, was 

interviewed for BBC Radio London. 

 

Options appraisal workshops 
 

In order to provide a viable solution to the existing issues, it was necessary to 

consider the full range of alternative delivery models for the s136 pathway and 

HBPoS specification. As such, a structured process made up of several steps was 

required to examine the options in order to identify the most desirable alternative to 

the status quo.  

At each stage, a set of criteria was used to measure the different reconfiguration 

options in terms of patient experience and outcomes as well as efficiency 

improvements to the wider system. Before progressing to the next stage of the 

options appraisal process, the criteria was approved by the Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group, a group including members from the police, London 

ambulance service, mental health trusts, acute trusts and experts by experience.  

Service user groups provided valuable input into the development of criteria and the 

options appraisal process, as described in the service user section. Frontline staff 

also had strong input into the options appraisal process, including outlining their 

priorities for a ‘good’ staff experience of the s136 pathway; this is shown in the figure 

below.  

Specifically, in May 2017, an options appraisal evaluation workshop was held with 

senior staff from the different stakeholder groups as well as staff from London’s 

mental health and acute trusts, and service users. At the workshop, pan-London 

configuration options were reviewed to provide recommendations for the optimal 

HBPoS configuration for London. The workshop representatives were able to use 

their experience and expertise to review and critique the options, and share opinions 

on the impact each option may have on patient experience, outcomes and the wider 

mental health and acute system. Recommended configuration options were then 

taken to a focussed testing workshop with mental health and urgent and emergency 

care clinical leads in June 2017.  

At the multi-agency evaluation workshop, it was agreed that the assessment 

regarding CYP HBPoS sites should be completed in a more focussed session with 

Children and Adult Mental Health Services (CAMHS) clinicians and commissioners 

and needed to incorporate wider developments occurring across the CAMHS 

system. Therefore, a separate CYP options appraisal workshop was held in June 

2017 which explored the HBPoS site configuration for CYP in the context of other 

CAMHS programmes in London. This workshop was supplemented by further 

engagement with CAMHS clinical leads from each Mental Health Trust which led to 

the notion that there should be one dedicated CYP HBPoS site in each STP to align 

Page 94



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

39 

with local pathways; this was incorporated into the final proposed preferred pan-

London configuration.  

Figure 7: Staff priorities 

 

Following the options appraisal workshops, a dedicated STP implementation 

workshop took place in mid-July 2017, with leads from each footprint. London’s STP 

leads involved in the programme attended the workshop to discuss how to align 

outputs from the London-wide HBPoS options appraisal with local implementation 

and decision making processes. It was agreed at this workshop that more extensive 

testing with stakeholders would take place, as well as taking local Health Based 

Place of Safety configuration proposals through appropriate governance boards and 

forums. With the range of representatives in the room from different London STPs, 

 Staff are part of a dedicated, skilled team that have capacity to appropriately 

manage the service and able to deliver high quality care to those in crisis. Staff 

are able to maximise their skills due to enough throughput of activity through the 

site.   

 Staff feel supported in their role and have access to the right tools and 

resources to carry out their responsibilities to deliver effective patient care.   

 Staff have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities within the 

s136 pathway including the powers under the mental health act.  

 The physical environment is pleasant, well equipped with good facilities and 

arranged in a way that supports staff to undertake their role.  

 Staff feel safe whilst carrying out their work and should be supported by clear 

organisational procedures to reduce risk, and ensure appropriate response. 

 Staff are appropriately trained to confidently carry out their role, e.g. training in 

the mental health act and de-escalation, and are provided with opportunity to 

learn and develop through their work.  

 Staff have positive working relationships across the multi-agency pathway to 

allow effective cooperation and to improve morale. 

 There are clear, effective and timely escalation protocols in place that ensure 

staff feel able to call on senior staff when necessary to provide additional 

support.   

 There are clear governance processes in place for staff to feedback on the 

service and effectively manage quality, performance and risk. 

Page 95



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

40 

the group was able to define what needed to happen locally in order to get to the 

proposed configuration for HBPoS sites, including engagement methods and 

timeframes for implementation. 

Programme STP leads tested the proposed short list of configuration options locally 

in late 2017 / early 2018, this included significant engagement with commissioners, 

Trust representatives, service users, Directors of Adult Social Services and 

Approved Mental Health Professionals as well as the London Ambulance Service 

and London’s three police forces.  

AMHP workshop 

An AMHP workshop was held in June 2017 led by Simon Pearce (Association of 

Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS)), with representatives covering all nine of 

London’s MH trusts; this group discussed the challenges that the current AMHP 

service could face with changes in the configuration of HBPoS sites across London. 

The group acknowledged that these challenges could be worked through, and 

proposed options for achieving this, including a pan-London agreement for cross-

borough working and dedicated AMHPs to each HBPoS site.    

Physical health competencies workshop  

A workshop was held in November 2017 between HLP and Health Education 

England (HEE) to scope existing opportunities to improve the physical health 

competencies of HBPoS staff. Discussions highlighted a particular interest in the 

development of rotational nursing programmes between EDs and HBPoS sites out of 

which came the HEE funded HBPoS/ED Rotational Nursing Programme (RNP). 

Twenty-four representatives from seven mental health trusts, four acute trusts (ED 

representatives), the Royal College of Nursing, Health Education England and the 

London Ambulance Service attended the workshop. 

Mental Health Act Multi-agency training 

Engagement with frontline staff involved in the crisis care pathway was further 

strengthened by multiagency training developed by HLP. This training was facilitated 

by an independent legal expert and aimed to inform staff on their roles and 

responsibilities under the new guidance. 

 It was also designed to ensure awareness of the Mental Health Act legislation 

changes and provide an opportunity to discuss with professions from other agencies 

the challenges for the s136 pathway. They also provided the opportunity to distribute 

supporting material for the guidance e.g. roles and responsibility posters for 

displaying in workplaces.  

Over 300 delegates attended the sessions including service users, and frontline staff 

from MH trusts, LAS, police and local authorities. A training toolkit was developed to 

Page 96

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

41 

allow further training to take place locally. Further training sessions will take place in 

2018, focussing on the ED role in crisis care. 

Marketing and media 

To increase engagement in the development of the s136 new model of care HLP 

undertook a range of marketing activities including: 

 Social media activity e.g. Twitter (50 HLP Tweets from January 2016 – May 

2018) 

 Blogs e.g. Mental Health Today; HSJ; Rethink; and Taking the crisis out of 

mental health crisis care on the HLP site 

 An improving crisis care for Londoners video outlining the success of the SLAM 

pilot evaluation (December 2017) 

 In focus briefing - Healthy London Partnership London’s s136 Pathway and 

HBPoS Specification (December 2017) 

 Online news piece on new funding available to support crisis care (October 

2017) 

 Online news piece - Successful multiagency training for London’s mental health 

crisis care professionals (July 2017) 

 In focus briefing - Treat as One: Bridging the gap between mental and physical 

healthcare in general hospitals (April 2017) 

 Online news piece - Specialist A&E mental health support around the clock 24/7 

(April 2017) 

 Award entries: Shortlisted for the Patient Safety Awards 2018; entered the HSJ 

awards 2017 and 2018; shortlisted for the Healthcare Transformation Awards 

2018. 

 

London’s crisis care programme would like to thank all those involved in the 

programme thus far and going forward for their hard work and support. 

 

 

 

Page 97

https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care
https://www.healthylondon.org/taking-crisis-mental-health-crisis-care/
https://www.healthylondon.org/pilot-shows-health-based-place-safety-improves-care-lifts-pressure-aes/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/In-focus-S136-and-health-based-places-of-safety-Dec-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/new-funding-available-support-londoners-crisis/
https://www.healthylondon.org/successful-multiagency-training-londons-mental-health-crisis-care-professionals/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/In-focus-Treat-as-one-19-April-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/specialist-ae-mental-health-support-around-clock-24-7/


Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 1: STP Engagement Maps 

 Individual STP maps to show engagement that has taken place more recently since 

the pan-London guidance has been developed, including activities to 

support implementation through 2017 and 2018.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 99



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

44 

 

Page 100



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

45 

Appendix 2: Online survey 2016 demographic information 

The information below was collected at two points: 

 29th January – the point at which responses were analyses in order to develop 

initial drafts of the ‘I’ statements 

 24th February – the survey closure date 

 Characteristic Online survey at 29/1/16 (104 

responses) 

Online survey when closed 

24/2/16 (154 responses) 

Age 

12-17     3 3 

18-24 7 11 12 13 

25-34 14 22 16 17 

35-44 10 16 17 18 

45-54 23 36 31 33 

55-64 9 14 12 13 

65-74 1 1.5 2 2 

75-84     - - 

85 and over     1 1 

Gender 

Male 16 25 27 29 

Female 48 75 66 70 

Other     1 1 

Transgender 

Yes 0 0 1 1 

No 62 100 88 99 

Sexuality 

Bisexual 10 16 13 14 

Gay 3 5 4 4 

Page 101



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

46 

Heterosexual/straight 45 73 65 72 

Lesbian 1 2 3 3 

Other 3 5 5 6 

Religion 

No religion 26 41 33 36 

Christian 28 44 43 47 

Buddhist 1 2 2 2 

Hindu 2 3 3 3 

Jewish 0 0 2 2 

Muslim 0 0 0 0 

Sikh 1 2 2 2 

Other 5 8 7 8 

Long term health condition or disability 

Physical or sensory 12 28 13 22 

Learning or developmental 3 7 4 7 

Other (mainly mental 

health problems, also 

mental health problems 

with physical disability; 

diabetes; COPD; stroke 

survivor; chronic fatigue; 

asthma; vitamin and iron 

deficiency) 

28 65 43 72 

Ethnic group (only groups represented are listed) 

Asian or Asian British - 

Indian 

4 6 7 8 

Asian or Asian British – 

other Asian 

1 2 1 1 

Black or Black British - 

African 

1 2 4 4 

Mixed – White & Asian 1 2 1 1 

Page 102



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

47 

Mixed – White & Black 

African 

2 3 2 2 

Mixed – White & Black 

Caribbean 

1 2 1 1 

Mixed – another mixed 1 2 1 1 

White – White British 43 69 61 66 

White – White Irish 1 2 1 1 

White – another white 

background 

5 8 8 9 

Other ethnic group - Arab 0 0 1 1 

Other ethnic group – 

another ethnic background 

3 5 5 5 

Page 103



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 3: Service User ‘I’ statements 

P
age 104



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 4: CYP ‘I’ statement 

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 106



 

Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

 

 

 

Mental Health Crisis Care for 

Londoners 

HBPoS Business Case - DRAFT 

March 2018 

 

Page 107



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  2 

 

Contents 

1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. 3 

2 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 28 

2.1 Introduction and purpose of document ........................................................................ 29 

3 Strategic case .................................................................................................................... 34 

3.1 Mental health crisis care in London ............................................................................. 36 

3.2 Case for change.......................................................................................................... 38 

3.3 Vision and objectives .................................................................................................. 49 

4 Clinical case ....................................................................................................................... 52 

4.1 Existing clinical challenges .......................................................................................... 53 

4.2 Clinical benefits of the preferred option ....................................................................... 57 

5 Economic case ................................................................................................................... 61 

5.1 Options assessment ................................................................................................... 63 

5.2 Indicative economic costs and benefits ....................................................................... 74 

6 Financial case .................................................................................................................... 91 

6.1 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs ............................................................................ 94 

6.2 Preferred option pathway costs ................................................................................. 106 

6.3 Variance in pathway costs ........................................................................................ 115 

6.4 Transition costs ......................................................................................................... 122 

6.5 Capital costs ............................................................................................................. 123 

6.6 Summary and funding arrangements ........................................................................ 124 

6.7 Risks to financial assessment ................................................................................... 126 

7 Management case ........................................................................................................... 128 

7.1 Transitional phase ..................................................................................................... 129 

7.2 Implementation ......................................................................................................... 133 

7.3 Post implementation ................................................................................................. 143 

8 Commercial case ............................................................................................................. 146 

8.1 Commercial strategy ................................................................................................. 147 

8.2 Synergy with the wider crisis care system ................................................................. 149 

9 Workforce case ................................................................................................................ 151 

9.1 Current staffing arrangements ................................................................................... 152 

9.2 Future staffing arrangements .................................................................................... 157 

Appendix A ............................................................................................................................. 167 

 

  

Page 108



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  3 

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this document is to provide a business case to support implementation of 

London’s section 136 (s136) new model of care and the proposed reconfiguration of Health 

Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) sites. This is to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 

treatment and quality of care for people experiencing mental health crisis along the s136 

pathway and the broader crisis care system.  

 

To implement this innovative new model of care, bold action needs to be taken by London’s 

crisis care system. Strong collaboration and new ways of working across healthcare, social care, 

police and third sector organisations are imperative, including breaking down the silos that exist 

between organisations and barriers between physical and mental healthcare. Whilst there must 

be an increased focus on local action to prevent crises occurring, when a crisis does happen, 

people experiencing mental health crisis need to have timely, high quality care, which respects 

individual needs, wherever they are in London.  

 
The voice of people with mental health problems must be at the heart of the changes. Londoners 

say over and over again that their care whilst in crisis does not meet the basics of dignity, 

respect and high quality compassionate care. Services are often not delivered in the right 

environment to help people recover. Londoners are often denied access to HBPoS sites and 

Emergency Departments (EDs), left in the back of police cars and ambulances, or transferred 

unnecessarily between EDs and HBPoS sites due to a lack of appropriate and co-ordinated 

care. There is still not parity of esteem for mental health; as is clearly reflected in the disparity of 

care for people with mental health issues as opposed to physical ones. People with mental 

health problems and clinicians have recognised the opportunity to address a forgotten service 

and make s136 an active part of the crisis pathway. 

 

Whilst the new model of care will have positive impacts on the crisis care system as a whole, it is 

also important to recognise that in order for it to be sustainable, all parts of the wider system 

need to be functioning well including: preventative initiatives which assist in demand 

management (such as Street Triage and Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM)), adequate flow 

through inpatient services including reduced delayed transfers of care (DTOC), well-resourced 

and responsive community crisis response, and aftercare teams to support on discharge. The 

ideal pathway for a person in mental health crisis will involve positive, coordinated interactions 

with more than one of a range of services that will support them. 

The optimal pathway for an individual detained under s136 is detailed below. The diagram 

shows the pathway is one element of the wider crisis care system; preventative and early 

“There is a stark disparity in the response from the health and social care system to people 
with mental health vs. physical health problems and this is unacceptable. People with mental 
health crisis needs are often denied access to care by the NHS in a way that is discriminatory 
and may have to be conveyed over many hours to multiple points of care in a police vehicle 
or ambulance in deeply distressing circumstances - sometimes even ending up detained in a 
police cell. It is unthinkable that this would be tolerated for a vulnerable individual who was 
physically in need of urgent care.” Mental health service user (2017)  

Page 109



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  4 

 

intervention services must be in place to prevent people from reaching crisis point as well as 

adequate follow up pathways once assessed at the HBPoS site.  

Figure 1: The pan-London’s section 136 pathway 

 

This business case sets out the rationale for improving London’s s136 pathway and for the 

HBPoS site reconfiguration to proceed, subject to completion of all recommendations herein and 

obtaining regulatory approval and funding. 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  5 

 

1.1.2 Strategic Case 

 

 

London is currently facing significant challenges across the crisis care system 
owing to rising levels of mental ill health and challenges with current service 
provision. It is anticipated that services will be required to change to address these 
challenges and become sustainable in the medium term. 

► The vision is to provide safety and high quality care and treatment to people 
detained under s136 by delivering the following six strategic objectives: 

o Enable the improvement in s136 patient outcomes 

o Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

o Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

o Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

o Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system  

o Deliver value for money 

► Delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts 
patient experience and outcomes. 

► The new model of care provides the opportunity to achieve improved access 
and patients outcomes, higher levels of patient satisfaction, positive benefits 
to staff, deliver 24/7 services, reduce inequality and realise efficiencies across 
the local health and care economy and wider society.  

► There is a continued drive for high quality sustainable care in the NHS. People 
with mental health problems, carers, clinicians and regulatory bodies have 
highlighted that there is too much variation in both quality and access across 
different services.  

► Increasing financial and operational pressures are being placed on mental 
health Trusts due to demand for services is increasing. Funding does not meet 
requirements to maintain standards of care; there is a need for all NHS 
organisations to engage in wider transformational change and service 
reconfiguration with other agencies towards highly responsive, effective and 
personalised services for people with urgent physical and mental health needs. 

► South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust (SLAM) has piloted the new 
model of care at their centralised HBPoS site. 

 An average of 15% more admissions are accepted.  

 Having a 24/7 dedicated team has meant there has been only one closure over the 
last year; sites were closed 279 times previously over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals taken to an ED before going to the centralised site has 
reduced; 

 96% of individuals detained are being admitted to the HBPoS within 30 minutes of 
arrival;  

 The new purpose built facility provides a physical environment which is much more 
conducive to recovery;  

 76% of service users provided positive feedback, finding the service more respectful 
and responsive; 

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13%. 

 

Page 111



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  6 

 

Mental health crisis care in London 

London’s mental health crisis care system is under significant pressure and simply does not 

have the services and infrastructure to ensure that people experiencing mental health crisis 

receive timely, high quality care that respects their individual needs. Across London’s s136 

pathway there are 20 designated HBPoS sites which vary in capacity, facilities, workforce and 

services. Most of the facilities are not fit-for-purpose and cannot handle current and future 

patient activity along the s136 pathway, let alone high quality, effective care. 

There is a requirement for delivery of a new model which ensures that people experiencing a 

mental health crisis have the right care delivered at the right location, at the right time, by staff 

with the right skillset and in suitable facilities. 

Moreover, the potential gains are clear for the NHS and wider public sector from intervening 

earlier, investing in effective, evidence-based care and integrating the care of people’s mental 

and physical health. In addition to the moral imperative and the clear clinical and individual 

benefits, it is important to recognise that there is a financial necessity to manage the challenges 

of the years ahead.  

The proposal is in line with wider policy goals relating to health and social care and particularly 

mental health care provision in England. Providing a better service to those detained under s136 

will contribute to the aims and objectives outlined in the Crisis Care Concordat and the NHS Five 

Year Forward View. It also aligns to Mental Health and Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) 

deliverables within London’s STP plans and ensures the pan-London s136 pathway and Health 

Based Place of Safety specification (endorsed by all key stakeholders and launched by the 

Mayor of London in late 2016) is met.  

Issues across the s136 pathway and current HBPoS configuration   

There are six key issues across London’s s136 pathway and the current HBPoS configuration, 

which all play a role in affecting the experience of those in mental health crisis.  

 Inconsistent quality of care: The care on offer at London’s HBPoS sites can vary due 

to differing levels of staff training and skillsets of the staff allocated to HBPoS sites. 

London’s service users and clinical staff have indicated the current ‘ad-hoc’ staffing 

model, where staff are pulled off wards when a person detained under s136 arrives, is 

not conducive to good patient care, both to those detained under s136 but also those on 

the ward where staffing numbers are depleted for a 12-24 hour period. Some sites 

across London also indicated that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-

escalation, which is recommended for managing those with disturbed behaviour. 

 

 Inappropriate provision for Children and Young People (CYP): Patients who are 

under 18 require appropriate facilities and specialised staff that can respond to their 

specific needs. However, at present many of London’s HBPoS sites have local protocols 

that restrict children and adolescents from the site. EDs are regularly used as the default 

position when HBPoS sites are unable to manage CYP detained under s136. When this 

occurs children can be in the ED for a 24-72 hour period due to lack of appropriate 

staffing but also the lack of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) beds 

available in London.  

   

Page 112



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  7 

 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care: London’s three police forces, the London 

Ambulance Service (LAS) and NHS Trusts continuously struggle to find capacity at 

HBPoS sites. This is primarily due to sites not having sufficient capacity to meet demand 

and because the absence of 24/7 staffing prevents effective patient flow, both in and out 

of hours. As the number of s136 detentions increase, this adds additional pressure to 

London’s EDs and increases the length of time people are detained due to waiting in the 

back of a police van, ambulance vehicle or in ED.  

 

A typical Emergency Department sees on average 300 patients a day who are in the 

department for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual detained under s136 is in the 

department they spend on average 12 hours due to their complex health and social 

needs. This means that the care for one person detained under s136 is the equivalent of 

being able to treat ten other patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in 

department being five times that of other patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

 

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 

physically ill patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour 

standard and 12 hour standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 

patients a week, 10 patients equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by 

treating s136 patients in a more appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and 

would positively impact on performance against the A&E standards. 

Clinical staff have noted that delays in accessing support and on-going treatment 

negatively impacts patient experience and outcomes. Staff have stated that those who 

experience poor treatment at the start of the pathway are less likely to engage with health 

services, co-produced crisis plans are jeopardised and a lot of the trust between 

clinicians and the patient is lost.1 This is illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 there 

were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were detained again under s136 within two 

days.2  

 Challenging treatment environments: A number of HBPoS sites were deemed not fit-

for-purpose by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). It is important that during a mental 

health crisis, the treatment environment supports a good experience for those detained, 

staff efficiency and protects safety including that of staff. This problem in London is 

intensified by the fact that four of the designated HBPoS sites are EDs; whilst in some 

instances it is necessary for mental health crisis patients to attend an ED due to specific 

physical health needs e.g. overdose or self-harm, it is recognised that a busy ED is not 

always the most suitable environment for the care of patients in mental health crisis.   

 Funding issues: Current funding arrangements do not promote Trusts to accept people 

into HBPoS sites based on need but rather a number of people are accepted and 

assessed based on their home address or registered GP. This causes delays and 

inconsistent and variable care across London; patients are denied access to urgent 

mental health care - something that does not happen to Londoner’s who require urgent 

physical healthcare.  

                                                
1
 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 

Specification 
2
 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 

Specification 

Page 113



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  8 

 

 Inpatient bed availability: The lack of inpatient beds in London impacts on the s136 

pathway increasing the length of time patients spend at HBPoS sites. In line with the 

Mental Health Act, Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHPs) cannot complete the 

Mental Health Act assessment until a bed is found. The lack of inpatient beds causes a 

delay in completing the assessment and there is now additional pressure given the 

recent changes to the Mental Health Act3. Currently, the London average is 

approximately 41% of those detained under s136 are admitted to an inpatient ward 

following assessment.  

Evidence from elsewhere in the UK and in London (e.g. Birmingham and South London and 

Maudsley Mental Health Trust) suggests that confronting these issues can lead to improvements 

in patient experience and outcomes, reduced inpatient admissions and decreased readmissions. 

It is important that the rest of London follows suit.  

Pilot of London’s s136 new model of care 

South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust is the first Trust in London to fully implement 

the London s136 pathway guidance and HBPoS specification to provide a 24/7 staffed place of 

safety for adults and children detained under s136. Healthy London Partnership with 

stakeholders from across the crisis care system have evaluated the new model of care which 

has received overwhelmingly positive feedback from service users as well as significant 

improvements in the pressure often experienced by the police, paramedics, EDs and the sites 

themselves. The key findings include: 

 The site accepts on average 15% more admissions than previously across the four sites 

in that area. The activity increase represents the amount of patients turned away at 

previous single occupancy sites located in Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark; 

 Having a dedicated team at the centralised site has meant that it has only been closed 

once over the past year - a stark improvement - sites were closed 279 times previously 

over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals detained under s136 that have had to be taken to an ED 

before going to the centralised site has reduced - partly due to the fact that the staff 

based at the pilot site are better trained to address physical health issues; 

 Individuals detained under section 136 are being admitted to the sites quicker, with 96% 

of cases being admitted within 30 minutes of arrival; 

 The physical environment has been transformed through the new purpose built facility 

which is much more conducive to recovery;  

 Service user’s satisfaction with the centralised site has significantly improved with 76% of 

service users providing positive feedback;  

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13% under the new model 

following comprehensive assessment by dedicated staff; and 

 Improving flow will be important to reduce the time patients are detained at the suite in 

light of new legislation. 

The feedback from service users is that they received a more respectful, more responsive and 

less fragmented experience from all agencies involved; from the police and ambulance services, 

to ED and social and mental health services. 

                                                
3
 Revisions to the MHA (1983) changed the length of time an individual can be detained under s136 from 

72 to 24 hours.  

Page 114



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  9 

 

1.1.3 Clinical Case 

 

In the existing system, there are a number of clinical challenges along the s136 pathway which 

affect patient experiences and outcomes. These include: 

 Inconsistent quality of care - Only 14% of people with experience of mental health 

crisis interviewed said that they had the support they needed in a crisis.4 Issues within 

the crisis care system, such as the delays and unsuitable environments discussed 

above, contribute to potentially harmful patient experiences. Patients have also shown a 

clear preference for 24/7, dedicated crisis services even if that means travelling 

marginally further to access care. Patient experiences also vary due to differing levels of 

staff training and skillsets at the HBPoS sites and EDs. Staff who are not dedicated to 

treating mental health crisis patients feel less confident in their ability to contribute to 

mental health assessments; 

 

 Inappropriate provision for CYP - In a survey by the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 

79.1% of respondents reported safeguarding concerns while CYP waited for an inpatient 

bed; 61.9% reported young people being held in inappropriate settings such as paediatric 

and adult wards, police cells, and EDs.5  The use of adult wards and EDs for managing 

                                                
4
 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 

5
 Survey of in-patient admissions for children and young people with mental health problems. RCPsych, Faculty 

Report CAP/01 

London’s mental health crisis system is facing a number of clinical challenges that 

have been identified through significant engagement with people with lived 

experience of mental health crisis, the LAS and clinical staff at both HBPoS sites 

and EDs and corroborated by the CQC, most recently in a report published in July 

2017.  

The new model of care will contribute significantly to improving these challenges and help 

deliver better outcomes to Londoners: 

1. Improve the quality of care by enabling more capacity across the system, better 
environment conditions and suitably trained and dedicated staff teams, enable the 
delivery of a consistent level of care for all, which support reduced inpatient 
admissions and readmissions. 

2. Improve the provision of care for CYP by increasing the capacity of appropriate 
facilities for CYP with suitably trained staff. 

3. Improve access to care by being better placed to accommodate capacity and 
demand, supporting reduced ED admissions, providing dedicated staffing 24/7, 
reducing conveyance time and enabling patients to be assessed and treated 
holistically and comprehensively.  

4. Improve the environment in which care is provided by ensuring patients are 
treated with respect, comfort and dignity and feel safe at all times, in fit-for-purpose 
facilities. 

Implementation will be carried out with strong clinical engagement and leadership to 

ensure clinical quality is maintained and improved at all sites throughout the 

transformation. 

Page 115



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  10 

 

CYP has been described as problematic by stakeholders due to the perceived lack of 

staff expertise together with inappropriate facilities to care for CYP; 

 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care - In 2015, over 100 issues related to HBPoS 

capacity and access across the s136 pathway were reported by frontline police officers.6 

This number increased in 2016 and 2017, with some instances of police officers and 

paramedics recording waits of over seven hours in accessing care, despite it being clear 

that without prompt intervention, a patient’s mental health condition can deteriorate. A 

poor experience at the beginning of the s136 pathway can have traumatising effects for 

individuals, leading to worse clinical outcomes and a reluctance to seek professional help 

in the early stages of any future deterioration in mental health; and 

 

 Unsuitable treatment environments - London’s treatment environments for people 

experiencing mental health crisis vary, but often fail to provide a therapeutic setting for 

patients. In their most recent reports from 2016 and 2017, the CQC rated two London 

HBPoS sites as ‘requires improvement’ and one as ‘inadequate’.  The feedback is even 

worse for those that are transferred to Emergency Departments due to capacity issues; 

only 12% of those assessed in an ED thought their assessment rooms were pleasant, 

comfortable and welcoming. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These benefits have been demonstrated by models both nationally and in London that have 

made changes that reflect the new model of care. 

 

                                                
6
 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites seeks to address these challenges 

through: 

 Reducing delays throughout the pathway including improving the access to 

care, approximately 45% and 23% reduction in average police and ambulance 

conveyance times respectively and a 29% reduction in time spent at the 

HBPoS; 

 Improving the treatment environment and staff expertise in both mental and 

physical health to support improved patient experience and outcomes.  

 Reducing approximately 531 unnecessary ED attendances due to improved 

access and improved physical health competencies of HBPoS staff; this 

equates to resources for 5310 additional patients or 12,744 extra hours of 

patient care, which would become available to treat other patients. 

 Each person detained under s136 attending ED accounts for 3.3 percentage 

points of activity (equivalent of 10 other patients) which if not seen will directly 

impact on performance against the four hour and twelve hour standard.   

 Decreasing the overall rates of inpatient admissions and readmissions, 20% 

(1061 admissions) and 48% (2547 readmissions) respectively. 

 Reduction in LAS handover time; LAS estimate a nine minute improvement in 

the handover of s136 patients, it is clear that this will have a positive impact 

on the majority of waiting and handover times across London. 

 

Page 116



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  11 

 

1.1.4 Economic Case 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London is not conducive to meeting 
the standards outlined in the pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification.  

HBPoS sites are historically located where space has been available; however, capacity 
issues, a lack of dedicated, skilled resource (both in and out of hours) and lack of access 
predicated on geographic location of need are all drivers for a change of the current 
configuration. 

► A robust options appraisal has demonstrated a reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is 
required to meet the new model of care. The options appraisal showed a 
preference of moving to:  

o Nine site model for adults with a combined workforce model (further 
details on the workforce model is detailed in the workforce chapter); and  

o Five sites (one in each STP) within the nine site model that provide an 
all-age service.  

► The options appraisal represented the best option to address the mental health 
crisis care problems across London, bringing sustainable improvements and 
lasting benefits for patients, as well as driving improvements in the wider health 
economy. 

► This option is the preferred state for London’s future HBPoS site configuration; 
however a transitional 13 site phase has been developed following STP 
programme leads engaging locally on proposed configurations.  
 

► The indicative benefits of the reconfiguration based on nine sites have been 
quantified by estimating the NHS financial savings as well as measuring the social 
impact of nine key outcomes. 

o NHS financial savings total £14,384k 

  £795k cashable / £13,589k non-cashable 

o Social impact savings (non-cashable) measured at £5,572k 

► The total baseline pathway cost is c. £20,632k p.a. (excluding activity 
growth).  

► The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration is £23,744k which includes the 
following: 

o Pathway cost £20,494k p.a. 

o Transition costs £1,000k 

o Capital costs £2,250k 

► The indicative net present benefit of the reconfiguration over the five year period 
FY17/18 to FY21/22 is £73,927k which includes; 

o Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) 
£66,174k 

o Net present value of the preferred option £7,753k 

Page 117



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  12 

 

Overview 

A detailed options appraisal has been carried out in order to arrive at the preferred option, the 

‘consolidated model’ of nine HBPoS sites. Within the nine site model the outcome of the options 

appraisal was that within each STP, one of the HBPoS sites should provide an all-age service 

with the appropriate facilities. This is to ensure those that are under 18 receive care in a suitable 

HBPoS site with adequate facilities and that EDs are not used.   

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

This resulted in a transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across London (including five sites that 

provide an all-age service). The 13 site transitional stage is referenced throughout the following 

chapters with further detail in the management case.   

Options appraisal  

The options appraisal process comprised of three phases: 

 Phase 1a: Site agnostic appraisal 

 Phase 1b: Site specific appraisal 

 Phase 2: Pan – London site configuration assessment 

 Phase 3: Preferred option 

At each phase, a set of criteria was used to reduce the millions of potential configurations to one 

preferred model. These criteria included quality, access to care, deliverability, strategic 

coherence and value for money. Figure 2 provides a map of the preferred 9 site configuration 

following the options appraisal as well as additional sites in the transitional phase (faded 

circles)7. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
7
 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health received a marginally higher options appraisal score than 

Newham Centre for Mental Health. For this business case, the former is considered the preferred site, 
however as implementation plans progress the preferred site may change. 

Page 118



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  13 

 

 

Figure 2: Pan-London consolidated HBPoS site model  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

Some of the key attributes of the consolidated model are: 

 The location is spread evenly across London, ensuring equity of inner and outer London, 

but also at an STP level. The consolidated approach, with dedicated staffing, also 

ensures that capacity is adequate to deal with fluctuations in demand at peak hours;  

 Eight of the nine sites are within 0.5 miles8 of an ED, ensuring that urgent physical care 

can be accessed if required; 

 100% of the sites are within 0.5 miles of an inpatient mental health bed (both adult and 

CYP); 

 88.5% of the s136 cohort will be 45mins9 or less away from an HBPoS site. For the 

remainder of those detained under s136, the average time would be 53 minutes, with a 

range of 48 – 56 minutes. If patients were to be conveyed by blue light (only when 

suffering a life threatening clinical condition), 100% would be 45mins or less away; and  

                                                
8
 0.5 miles was agreed by service users, carers and operational staff to be the maximum distance HBPoS 

sites should be from inpatient and physical health services. 
9
 45 minutes travel time aligns to the timeframes used for London’s stroke and trauma reconfiguration and 

is consistent with national and international good practice.   

Page 119



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  14 

 

 The utilisation of facilities and staff will significantly improve, with an expected capacity 

utilisation of 58% and workforce utilisation of 62% across the nine sites. Based on 5,307 

s136 patients equating to 58% utilisation, this would provide a range of 5,307-9,150 at 

peak capacity (100% utilisation), providing headroom to allow HBPoS sites to better 

manage peaks and troughs in activity. 

 Furthermore, the experience from SLAM’s centralised HBPoS illustrates that quieter 

periods give time for on-site training and for adequate breaks and reflection in what is on 

other occasions a high intensity environment; this has a positive impact on staff wellbeing 

and contributes to high retention rates.  

Economic costs and benefits 

The Economic Case also outlines the indicative economic costs and benefits of the nine site 

model. This chapter focuses on the nine site model; further information on costs and benefits for 

the 13 site transitional phase is outlined in the management case.  

The total estimated pathway cost of the preferred option is £20,494k p.a. giving a £138k saving 

on the baseline pathway cost of £20,632 p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth). In addition, 

the preferred option assumes transition and capital costs of £1,000k and £2,250k respectively 

will to be incurred through FY17/18 and FY18/19.  In particular, the consolidation of HBPoS sites 

will require an increase in capacity for the majority of sites within the preferred option, for 

example through an increase in the number of assessment rooms, thereby necessitating capital 

investment. These costs are discussed in more detail in the financial case.   

A range of benefits, which are designed to specifically enhance patient experience along the 

s136 pathway, include the financial, economic and social values which will be realised as a 

result of implementing the new model of care which includes the consolidation of HBPoS sites.   

Table 1 below sets out the financial benefits totalling £14,384k which are estimated to be 

delivered, £795k of which is assumed to be cashable, £13,589k non-cashable. In addition, a 

further £5,572k social impact savings have been identified as part of the nine site option 

analysis. Table 2 sets out the indicative benefits per STP / HBPoS, both cashable and non-

cashable, with the allocation calculated on a capitation basis; this will require further review and 

analysis at next business case stage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  15 

 

Table 1: Benefits overview 

No. Outcome 
Financial (cashable) 
benefit Value p.a 
(£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value 
p.a (£000) 

1a
10

 
 Reduced conveyance time 
(ambulance and police 
vehicle)  

£498 - £14 £512 

2 Reduced ED admissions £297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

                                 -                                       - £87 £87 

4 Improved staff expertise NA -  NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 -                                       - £335 £335 

6 Reduced non-pay costs                                  -    £5,542*                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 -    £7,918** £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced HBPoS 
readmissions 

-    £129** £470 £598 

9 
Improving the wider crisis 
care system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

  Total £795* £13,589 £5,572** £19,956 

*Financial benefits figures included in the preferred pathway costing analysis in section 5 of this business case 

**Total non-cashable benefits figure (£13,619k combined) included in indicative net benefits calculation in subsection 

4.2.5 of this business case 

Table 2: Benefits overview by STP / HBPoS 

 

In total, after considering financial and non-financial savings, the indicative net present value of 

the preferred option over the five year period FY17/18 to FY21/22 is estimated at approximately 

£70,931k which includes: 

 Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) £66,174k; and 

 Net present value of the preferred option £4,757k. 

                                                
10

 Combined benefit for LAS and Police 

STP SEL SWL

HBPoS
Chase Farm 

H

Highgate 

MHC

Lakeside 

MHU

Riverside 

C

 St 

Charles

City & 

Hackney 

MHC

Sunflower 

Ct
Southwark Wandsworth

No. Outcome
Total 

£'000s

1
 Reduced conveyance time 

(ambulance vs. police vehicle) 
£111 £50 £512

2 Reduced ED admissions £78 £35 £357

3 Reduced length of stay at HBPoS £5 £13 £9 £2 £6 £16 £8 £19 £8 £87

5 Reduced non-pay costs £20 £50 £35 £9 £24 £61 £32 £73 £33 £335

6 Reduced inpatient admissions £326 £824 £575 £141 £396 £1,014 £521 £1,205 £540 £5,542

7 Reduced HBPoS readmissions £736 £1,862 £1,300 £319 £894 £2,292 £1,178 £2,723 £1,220 £12,524

8
Improving the wider crisis care 

system
£35 £89 £62 £15 £43 £109 £56 £130 £58 £598

Total £1,303 £2,838 £2,156 £486 £1,363 £3,733 £1,795 £4,339 £1,944 £19,956

£106 £103 £142

£99£74 £72

Indicative preferred option benefits (£'000s)

NCL NWL NEL

Page 121



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  16 

 

Improving the wider crisis care system 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will not only have a 

direct impact on the s136 pathway; it will have wider implications for the entire crisis care system 

in the capital: 

 The first notable benefit is that the new model will future proof services. The reconfigured 

sites allow capacity to be utilised in a more sustainable manner, ensuring that 

infrastructure can better cope with volatility in demand and potential growth in coming 

years; 

 Successful implementation of a pan-London model with improved facilities and a high 

quality standard of care will raise the profile of crisis care as a whole and is likely to 

encourage future service improvement in crisis care services, including potential 

expansion of other services and training; 

 In addition, the new model of care will promote greater synergies between crisis care 

services and other physical and health services within the NHS and well as local demand 

management schemes that are emerging (e.g. Street Triage and the Serenity Integrated 

Mentoring (SIM) model). The specialised 24/7 staffed sites will lead to focal points for 

crisis care activity, providing the opportunity for a solid network of supporting services to 

be developed around the sites and bringing transparency and recognition to an often 

forgotten and ‘ad hoc’ service;   

 The investment will support the broader objective of closing the financial gap between 

physical and mental health care funding. There are direct financial benefits to the 

reconfigured pathway as detailed in Section 5. Furthermore, the new model of care will 

provide a platform from which performance and trends can be appraised across the 

system, establishing the potential for further cost efficiencies; and 

 The new model of care proposes a standardised, consistent s136 pathway across 

London. This presents an opportunity to collect and appraise standardised crisis care 

data. Using this as an initial platform to expand data collection across crisis care, will 

ensure that performance of the whole crisis care system can be effectively evaluated; 

this will support identification and sharing of best practice and identification of 

opportunities for wider service improvement and cost efficiencies.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  17 

 

1.1.5 Financial Case 

 

Financial costs 

To understand the financial implications of the HBPoS reconfiguration, it is necessary to cost 

each step of the s136 pathway and determine the potential impact of the new model. However, 

there are a number of complications with trying to estimate a baseline cost for the s136 pathway, 

including inconsistent pathway practices and a lack of available data. 

Nevertheless, pathway costs have been estimated by utilising existing secondary data sources 

provided by the LAS, Police and the NHS; supplemented through a series of data collection 

audits and surveys. The analysis considered the costs of conveyance, HBPoS sites and EDs 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London, with a lack of dedicated, 

specialty skilled resource, results in a cost pressure for most MH Trusts, with staff 

diverted from other roles (often from inpatient facilities) to attend to s136 patients. 

The preferred nine site option is estimated to cost c. £20.5m p.a. compared to the 

baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth), a decrease 

of £0.1m 

The interim stage of transition to the preferred option will involve a total of 13 sites at an 
estimated cost of c. £23.2m p.a. 

Over the five year period FY18/19 to FY22/23 total costs of the reconfiguration are 

estimated at c. £106.8m, compared to £111.7m per the baseline pathway. This gives a 

net savings of £4.9m, with a NPV of £4.8m.  

The current plan is predicated on the following assumptions: 

► Preferred option is implemented in FY19/20 

► Net activity growth of 16.5% (allow for demographic growth and growth from 
recent statutory changes) 

► Successful delivery of £6.3m financial savings (of which £795k are cashable cost 
savings) 

► £1m transition costs; however, this is only an estimate and it is acknowledged 
that further analysis and refinement is required 

► £2.3m capital expenditure; however, this is only an estimate and it is 
acknowledged that further analysis will be required during implementation 
planning, with capital requirements per site defined with local estates team. A 
transitional stage of 13 sites would require £450k less capital funding 

► £3.3m funding being made available from CCGs / pooling of budgets across STP 
footprints 

Risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

include: 

► Gaps in data collection 

► Robustness of data 

► Access to data 

Page 123



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  18 

 

and determined a total saving of £138k per annum. This saving is primarily a result of non-pay 

savings, which result from a reduction in sites. Table 3 below summarises the annual variances. 

Table 3: Summary of cost variances 

Reference Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

1a11 Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

1b11 Police (with LAS) £435k £333k (£102k) 

212 LAS £1,310k £1,004k (£306k) 

3 ED £297k £0k (£297k) 

4 AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £57k 

5 Independent s12 

Doctor £378k £302k (£76k) 

6 HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £6,219k 

7 HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k (£5,542k) 

 Total £20,632k £20,494k (£138k) 

 

Transition costs  

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will be a complex undertaking and as such, 

resources will be required to support in the transition.  

It is proposed that implementation will be led locally and coordinated at an STP level. To this 

regard and with detailed implementation planning still to be undertaken, subject to the 

progression of this business case, it is difficult to provide a firm estimate of the level of resource 

required. However, it is acknowledged that resource will be required at both a local level and at a 

pan-London level to support the transition requirements. 

For the purpose of the wider costing exercise it is proposed that £100k will be required per STP 

to support the transition. This establishes a total cost of £500k p.a. in FY18/19 and FY19/20 to 

support the transition. This is however, a high-level estimate and will require further refinement. 

Capital costs  

The consolidation of HBPoS sites will require an increase in capacity for the majority of sites 

which are incorporated within the preferred option. As such, to support this increase in capacity, 

capital investment will be required at many HBPoS sites.  

                                                
11

  1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 
12

 The cost to LAS when they convey (always with police). 

Page 124



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  19 

 

Aside from the increase in the number of assessment rooms, the degree to which an existing 

site can accommodate a larger HBPoS will vary. While analysis has been undertaken as part of 

the options appraisal process that considered the percentage of estates that are currently 

utilised for non-clinical purposes, further analysis is required during implementation planning to 

effectively deduce capital requirements per site in collaboration with local estate teams. 

For the purpose of this financial analysis, an assumed capital cost of £150k is utilised per extra 

bed required. This figure is drawn from the Policing and Crime Bill – Amend Police Powers 

under the Mental Health Act 1983, which provides an indicative view of what may be required 

across London. This establishes that an assumed total level of capital investment required 

across London to support the configuration is £2.3m. 

Funding 

At this early stage of the project, the exact funding arrangements for the costs outlined above 

have not been finalised and agreed. However, initial expectations about funding arrangements 

can be summarised as follows: 

 It is likely that variances to pathway costs will be borne by the relevant stakeholders i.e. 

police forces, LAS, Mental Health Trusts; 

 The pan-London transformation work programme has thus far been led by the Healthy 

London Partnership (HLP) in partnership with key stakeholders across London’s crisis 

care system. Going forward, implementation and transition costs will require funding from 

local systems; 

 Transition costs will likely be incurred by the CCGs within the relevant STPs as they 

transform the services at their HBPoS sites. It is important that additional funding is made 

available for this transition as there will be no equivalent income mechanism to support 

them; and 

 The capital costs required to increase capacity at relevant HBPoS sites will likely be borne 

by the local STPs, however national capital funding available through bidding processes 

should be exploited.  

Pooling budgets across CCGs within the relevant STPs, combining spending power, is expected 

to provide funding support for the new model of care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  20 

 

1.1.6 Management Case 

 

The implementation of a material reconfiguration of any clinical service must be undertaken in a 

robust and sensitive manner. As such, a number of priorities/principles have been proposed that 

should be adhered to during the course of implementation, ensuring that the process meets its 

objectives. These include: 

 Ensuring patient safety; 

 Profiling implementation and developing detailed implementation plans; 

 Ratifying key protocols prior to go-live; 

 Engaging with stakeholders; 

 Aligning with wider crisis care transformation and;  

 Maintaining clinical leadership. 

Transition phase 

As previously mentioned programme STP leads tested the nine site configuration locally through 

significant engagement across the system. From this it was recognised that the changes 

required for the nine site model would not be achievable locally in the short to medium term.  

In light of this, the 13 site model is considered a transition stage to support STPs to implement 

the nine site preferred configuration. The resultant 13 site transition phase is shown below in 

Figure 3. 

Current reconfiguration planning is based on a completion date of 2019/20, subject to 

agreement on financial support and regulatory and Board approvals. To reach the 9 site 

option the following measures are proposed: 

► A 13 site transitional phase has been supported by STPs in the shorter term as 
an interim measure to reach the preferred nine site option.   

► A highly collaborative approach and governance structure, with robust 
governance arrangements will be adopted to manage the reconfiguration and plan 
for the future implementation; key requirements have been identified. 

► A plan to continue engagement with key stakeholders including people with 
lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers will be developed to 
ensure the transition into the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is successful. 

► A plan for proposed governance structure post implementation and 
performance management arrangements will be developed; principles for 
governance have been identified and a suggested multi-agency group structure. 
Group roles and governance benefits have been identified. 

► A comprehensive risk assessment, escalation and mitigation process will be 
developed and in place to support the reconfiguration, with risks identified both at a 
local and system wide level. Implementation risks will be identified and assessed 
using a four tiered matrix. Risks will be discussed during implementation and post 
implementation governance forums 

 

Page 126



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  21 

 

Figure 3: HBPoS locations in the 13 site transition phase  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

The total estimated benefits of the transitional phase are marginally higher than the nine site 

model due to decreased travel times. This equates to an additional financial benefit to LAS and 

Police of c. £134k p.a. and an additional £3k p.a. social benefit (non-cashable) accruing to the 

patient due to a reduced travel time.  

The overall costs however are more expensive with 13 sites largely due to 24/7 dedicated 

staffing at each site. The 13 site configuration is estimated to cost c. £23.2m p.a. compared to 

the baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. and the nine site configuration of c. £20.5m p.a. 

(excluding impact of activity growth). Of the additional four sites not included in the nine site 

configuration, only two sites need additional capital funding to meet capacity requirements of an 

additional assessment room at each site. This capital investment will total c. £1.8m for the 13 

site configuration, £450k less than the preferred nine site model.  

The timelines for this transition are due to fall within the proposed two year process to move to 

the nine site model. As a result there no additional transition costs expected in addition to the 

£1.0m included as part of the preferred nine site option. 

Structures in place for implementation  

The programme recognises the need for establishing robust governance procedures, risk 

management and a benefits realisation framework prior to implementation. This is to help 

manage key risks and issues that may arise, these include:  

Page 127



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  22 

 

 Diversion and delays from the implementation plan; 

 Lack of buy-in, scepticism and resistance to change; 

 Impact on broader health and crisis care services; 

 The requirement for formal new ways of working; and 

 Availability of both capital and revenue funds. 

Specific examples of implementation structures to consider for the next stage, in order to 

address the key risks and issues outlined above, will include establishing formal arrangements 

for AMHPs working outside of local authority boundaries, reaching an understanding on cross-

charging arrangements for out of area patients, and understanding how this work interacts with 

other key mental health initiatives, such as ensuring adequate inpatient capacity and delayed 

transfers of care (DTOC). 

During and post implementation, a local multi-agency group led by the provider trust providing 

each of the HBPoS sites should exist and should be overseen by the respective UEC network in 

each STP. In addition, a post programme evaluation should be carried out. Due consideration 

should also be given to the pan-London position during implementation as it is important to 

ensure that there is pan-London oversight. 

Post-implementation, in order to assess the impact of the programme at a pan-London level, a 

programme evaluation should take place. Appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs), which 

align with the objectives for the new model of care, would need to be established and agreed 

upon by stakeholders across the crisis care system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  23 

 

1.1.7 Commercial Case 

 

The requirement to develop a robust commercial strategy is particularly important for this 

transformation programme due to the breadth of stakeholders and delivering a pan-London 

model of care. At this early stage in the programme, it is difficult to predict which services will be 

required as part of the scheme. However, it is expected that services will be required for 

construction, programme support/implementation, recruitment and training. 

A set of objectives have been developed which must be adhered to through development of 

procurement approach. This includes providing optimum value for money, the procurement is 

managed and governed in an open and transparent manner and there is careful planning and 

timing of procurement process.   

In addition, the commercial strategy must recognise the opportunities related to synergies in the 

wider crisis care system. These involve joint investment, shared infrastructure and system wide 

data.  

The new model of care and reconfiguring HBPoS sites across London is the most 
effective option to address current issues across the s136 pathway.  

The new model will bring sustainable improvements and lasting benefits for patients, 
whilst in the medium to long term resulting in a local health economy that is both clinically 
and financially sustainable, delivering improved access, with 24/7 services and patient 
improved outcomes and provision of care. 

The reconfiguration will present an opportunity for broader transformation of the 
crisis care system, including a range of services; a robust commercial process is 
therefore required.  

► With the complex network of stakeholders involved in the reconfiguration, 
oversight of the commercial process is critical to the success of the new model of 
care 

► Whilst it is early in the process to establish the exact service requirements, the 
expectation is that services will be required for construction, programme 
support/implementation, recruitment and training 

► A commercial strategy supporting the reconfiguration will be developed in 
conjunction with proposed transformation plans on a STP basis 

Page 129



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  24 

 

1.1.8 Workforce Case 

 

At present, staff across the crisis care system face a number of issues when it comes to the 

s136 pathway. The roles of the police and LAS, HBPoS staff, AMPHs, s12 doctors and ED staff 

are all affected by operational inconsistencies and efficiencies: 

 Conveyance staff: London’s police forces and LAS are hampered by delays in 

accessing HBPoS facilities, poor communication protocols between their staff and staff at 

HBPoS sites and Emergency Departments and lack of knowledge and clarity regarding 

the roles and responsibilities of each stakeholder group;  

 HBPoS staff: Non-dedicated staffing can cause a number of issues for clinical staff and 

individuals undergoing Mental Health Act assessments at HBPoS sites. It detracts nurses 

and doctors from their substantive posts and leads to varying levels of competencies 

when treating s136 patients. It also leads to low staff satisfaction due to staff being pulled 

off wards and not feeling part of a dedicated, specialised team. A further important 

impact of a lack of dedicated staffing is that on downstream inpatient wards. When staff 

are brought in from other areas to staff the HBPoS, a reduction in staff in those clinical 

Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated trained staff and staffing levels are minimal 

out of hours; this is despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring outside of regular 

working hours. Key components of the workforce model in each HBPoS site are:   

► Providing adequate, dedicated staffing 24/7 teams that are suitably skilled in 
both mental and physical health at all HBPoS sites is expected to significantly 
improve patient experience and outcomes, staff experience and reduce cost 
pressures currently experienced from having to pull staff of inpatient wards.  

► Two dedicated specialty workforce models have been proposed: a combined 
staffing model where the HBPoS is co-located with a crisis assessment unit or 
Psychiatric Decision Unit (as seen at South West London St. Georges Mental 
Health Trust), and a stand-alone workforce model (as seen at SLAM) 

► Three possible options have been identified to deliver AMHP services 
following the reconfiguration of sites learning from different models across London; 
however, a more rigorous assessment is required to ensure challenges 
encountered by AMHPs are addressed and an efficient model is created. 

► Greater transparency is needed to ensure appropriate training standards have 
been met in relation to independent s12 doctors and improved payment and 
administration protocols. 

► The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED 
presentations due to capacity issues and improved physical healthcare provision 
in the HBPoS sites, both of which will reduce the strain currently experienced by 
London’s Emergency Departments. 

► Development of a clear strategic direction and purpose will facilitate 
transformation of the workforce model as well as a robust workforce strategy that 
includes staff engagement throughout implementation, robust workforce planning 
including network approaches across STPs, values based management and 
leadership and consistent London standards. 

Page 130



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  25 

 

areas will impact on quality of care for patients there, which effects patient experience 

and outcomes;  

 AMHP services: Limited capacity, particularly out-of-hour AMHP availability, and 

inconsistent protocols across boroughs can delay mental health assessments. These 

issues are often amplified for out-of-borough presentations; 

 S12 doctor: The lack of standardised processes for recruitment, administration and 

payment requirements can often delay independent s12 doctors, create a lack of 

transparency in the system, and lead to insufficient capacity and variable quality of 

assessments; and 

 ED staff: Unclear policies and responsibilities for liaising and communicating with police 

and HBPoS staff, as well as lack of clarity of the role of EDs in the s136 pathway, can 

exacerbate delays to treatment. In addition, the limitations faced when accessing patient 

notes due to incompatible systems between Acute and Mental Health Trusts are 

challenging for good quality care.  

The pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification outlines key criteria that the future 

workforce model needs to meet. Once met the new model of care will have significant positive 

implications for staff in terms of safety, efficiency, utilisation and new ways of working. In 

addition, the improvements in staff training, communication protocols and multi-agency working 

that are expected will help to engage staff members from all parts of the pathway to help ensure 

successful implementation of the new model.  

Workforce model for HBPoS sites 

During the options appraisal two staffing models were considered, a stand-alone workforce 

model (as seen at South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust) or a combined workforce 

model where staff cover both an HBPoS and PDU (e.g. Psychiatric Decision Unit, seen at South 

West London St. Georges Mental Health Trust). In both models, the creation of a dedicated 

team has significant benefits through addressing some of the challenges related to access and 

quality of care. The dedicated, specialty trained workforce model is innovative and provides an 

opportunity to build a specialised workforce for this largely forgotten service, promoting the s136 

pathway to an active part of the crisis care system. 

The introduction of dedicated 24/7 staffing as part of the reconfiguration of the HBPoS sites will 

address current pressures experienced due to inadequate staffing and facilitate improved quality 

of assessments and resulting patient outcomes. The dedicated team will be able to work more 

closely with patients to understand their needs and identify the best course of action, with any 

plans developed handed over to the next team member on shift. At SLAM’s centralised place of 

safety, which has piloted the new s136 model of care for London, the rate of admission has 

fallen by 13% following implementation of the new model. This has been attributed in large part 

to improved practice following the introduction of the dedicated staff team, together with a close 

working with the Trust’s Acute Referral Centre.  

The concept of the combined unit is to have a psychiatric decision unit and HBPoS co-located; 

this enables a joint workforce that can flex between the decision unit and the HBPoS increasing 

the utilisation of staff and benefitting from a model that provides a broader service to a wider 

range of patients (e.g. the assessment unit receives mental health crisis patients from liaison 

Page 131



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  26 

 

psychiatry, crisis teams and street triage to carry out an informed, collaborative assessment in 

an appropriate mental health assessment facility). As noted above for SLAM however, periods of 

lower utilisation can have positive impacts on staff wellbeing and retention. Each area would 

need to consider the case for each model within their area. 

The benefits of both models are a dedicated 24/7 specialised workforce and whilst it may be 

tempting to create an HBPoS team who have additional roles as supernumerary staff in other 

mental health teams, in the climate of overall low mental health workforce numbers, there is a 

real danger of reliance on these staff members thereby creating the situation where their 

immediate availability for a s136 patient is reduced, or those other areas of care are affected; 

this would mark a return to one of the key issues of the current model of care.  

Costing the 24/7 model 

It is estimated that the preferred 9 site option with 24/7 dedicated workforce would cost £11.6m 

per year. The workforce model that is proposed is based on safe levels of staffing at the HBPoS.  

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a., the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

HBPoS staff training and competencies 

Irrespective of which workforce model, healthcare staff who work in an HBPoS should be 

sufficiently trained in mental and physical health to safely and effectively perform their role. The 

provision of a dedicated team allows for s136 specific training to be delivered to a dedicated 

workforce and for the on-going assessment of skills and training needs; this will improve the 

quality of care for individuals detained under s136.  

As well as improving team skills and expertise, training initiatives for dedicated staff teams have 

a clear role in staff development and career progression. This will have positive impacts on 

recruitment and retention, both important issues to address across mental health, as highlighted 

in the Health Education England (HEE) Mental Health workforce plan13.  

Furthermore, a dedicated workforce will allow development of relationships across the 

ED/Mental Health interface, leading to sharing of expertise, improved handover and the 

opportunity to develop novel approaches in partnership to support integrated mental and 

physical healthcare. It is anticipated that adherence to the physical health competencies set out 

in the pan-London guidance will reduce the need for physical health assessments or treatment in 

an ED prior to or during assessment at the HBPoS site. This will reduce the burden on EDs, 

improve the timeliness of assessments and reduce the use of further conveyance by LAS or 

police between HBPoS sites and EDs.  

 

 

                                                
13

 Stepping Forward to 2020/21: Mental Health Workforce Place for England (2017). Health Education 
England. Available at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/planning-commissioning/workforce-
planning/mental-health-workforce-plan  

Page 132



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  27 

 

1.1.9 Recommendation and next steps 

This business case sets out the rationale for a new model of care and consolidating HBPoS sites 

across London. The proposal contained herein demonstrates that such a reconfiguration can 

improve outcomes for patients, facilitate the availability of a 24/7 service, concentrate and 

enhance staff expertise, achieve value for money and ensure effective synergies between the 

s136 pathway and broader crisis care. 

However, it is acknowledged that such an undertaking would be delivered in a complex, multi-

stakeholder environment. Furthermore, it also requires an investment of resource, both in terms 

of finance and time. Therefore the steps that should be taken post the conclusion of this 

business case should be considered judiciously, ensuring that due diligence is taken in the 

commitment of further resource. 

It is recommended that the proposal contained within this business case is progressed towards 

implementation, augmented with the following steps: 

 Appropriate consultation is undertaken with key stakeholders as necessary; 

 Each respective STP determines precise capital requirements particular to the sites 

within their jurisdiction; 

 Sources of funding are determined, with relevant submissions made to secure such 

funding; and, 

 The proposals contained within the Management Case are progressed; most notably, the 

establishment of effective implementation governance and the development of detailed 

implementation planning. 

  

Page 133



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  28 

 

2 Introduction 
This section sets out the context of the business case. It details the scope and purpose of the 

change and introduces the reader to the baseline pathway and preferred option. This section is 

structured as follows:  

 Purpose of document 

 Overview 

 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners 

 Current s136 pathway 

  

Page 134



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  29 

 

2.1 Introduction and purpose of document 

2.1.1 Purpose of this document 

This document sets out the case for reconfiguring Health Based Place of safety (HBPoS) sites 

across London in order to improve the efficiency of treatment and quality of care for patients 

along the section 136 (s136) pathway. Specifically, it details how a consolidated nine-site model 

for adults, including an all-age site within each STP, will address the needs of patients and wider 

stakeholders in improving the s136 pathway and broader crisis care system.  

The business case is intended to support the work carried out to date on mental health crisis 

care in London, specifically the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. Moving to the 

‘consolidated model’ will enable an improvement in the service provided to patients across the 

crisis care system and will facilitate future improvements to operations. 

The business case follows HM Treasury Green Book guidance by outlining the strategic case, 

economic case, financial case, commercial case and management case for the reconfiguration. 

In addition, the business case specifically details the impacts for clinical outcomes and staff in 

the Clinical Case and Workforce Case respectively.   

2.1.2 Overview 

What is section 136? 

Section 136 (s136) of the Mental Health Act 1983 is the power that allows a police officer to 

detain someone they believe to be mentally disordered and in need of urgent care or control. 

Either finding or being directed towards a person with mental disorder in a public place is not 

sufficient justification to detain under s136.  The power requires the following conditions to be 

met: 

• The individual must appear to the officer to be suffering from mental disorder; 

• The individual must appear to the officer to be in immediate need of care or control; 

• The officer must think that removing the individual is necessary in the individual’s 

interests or for the protection of others; 

• The individual must be found in a public place or anywhere that is not the house, flat or 

room where that person, or any other person, is living; and 

• When practicable, the officer must consult a registered medical practitioner, a registered 

nurse, an Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) or a person of a description 

specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

What is a health based place of safety? 

A HBPoS is used when an individual of any age has been detained under s135 or s136 of the 

Mental Health Act 1983. In law, the place of safety to which the person is taken can be 

residential accommodation provided by the Local Social Services Authority, a hospital as defined 

in the Act, a police station, an independent hospital or care home for mentally disordered 

Page 135



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  30 

 

persons or any other suitable place where the occupier is willing to temporarily receive the 

person. 

The Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice 2015 states that the preferred environment is a 

HBPoS where mental health services are provided14. Under the amended legislation of Section 

136A of the Mental Health Act 1983 (which came into force from 11th December 2017), a child 

under 18 detained under s136 may not be removed to, kept at or taken to a place of safety that 

is a police station, and police stations should only be used for adults detained under s136 in 

exceptional circumstances15. Providing mental health assessments within healthcare settings 

improves access to care for patients and avoids the potential stresses associated with police 

stations. In practice, MH Trusts and hospital Emergency Departments are most commonly used. 

How can HBPoS sites be reconfigured? 

To provide the quality of care which mental health crisis patients deserve, it is important that 

individuals are taken to the right environment, with the right staff, providing the right treatment 

that is tailored to their needs. As such, the HBPoS sites in London should meet certain 

standards in terms of infrastructure, workforce and practices. 

At present, there are 20 HBPoS sites operating across London, the vast majority of which have 

1-2 assessment suites. However, this number is not based on capacity requirements, the 

prevalence of s136 detentions in geographic areas or the availability of skilled staff across 

London. Instead, they are historically located where space has been available.  

This historic configuration of sites, some with insufficient capacity and others with minimal 

utilisation, is not fit for purpose within London’s crisis care service ambitions.  

In choosing how many HBPoS sites should operate, in which locations and with what capacity, 

there are a multitude of initial options. However, by assessing the options based on access and 

quality of care, deliverability, value for money and strategic coherence, this list can be 

considerably refined. The options assessment in Section 4.1 details this process. 

A final optimal model of nine adult sites, with a combined workforce was arrived at as the 

‘preferred option’ for the reconfiguration. For CYP the change proposes that one site within each 

STP will have suitable facilities and staff expertise to provide an all-age service. 

2.1.3 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners 

This case builds on a series of reports over the past number of years which set out a clear and 

compelling case for transforming how mental health crisis care is delivered in London. The Crisis 

Care Concordat (2014)16 and more recently The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health 

(2016)17, Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View (2017)18 and Implementing the Five 

                                                
14

 Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice 
15

 Section 136A of Mental Health Act 1983 
16

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 
17

 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health. Independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in 
England (2016) 
18

 Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View. NHS (2017) 

Page 136



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  31 

 

Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)19, have put the spotlight on improving the quality 

and efficiency of crisis care in the UK.  

More specifically, this document follows the recommendations and guidance set out in ‘Mental 

Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of 

Safety specification’. The guidance document, developed in collaboration with partners across 

the crisis care system aligns with the overarching principle in the Crisis Care Concordat (2014)20 

of cooperation and collaboration: 

“We commit to work together to improve the system of care and support so people in crisis 

because of a mental health condition are kept safe and helped to find the support they need – 

whatever the circumstances in which they first need help – and from whichever service they turn 

to first.” 

The key principles of the guidance are listed below and have been used to inform the options 

appraisal and business case process throughout: 

 If there is no capacity at the local HBPoS when the police officer makes initial contact it is 

that site’s responsibility to ensure that the individual is received into a suitable place of 

safety, through agreed escalation protocols or making alternative arrangements, whether 

the individual is from that area or not. When the HBPoS states that it has capacity, this 

means it is able to receive the detained individual as soon as they arrive on site; 

 Under exceptional circumstances when an individual under s136 presents to an 

Emergency Department with no physical health needs (due to limited HBPoS capacity) 

the Emergency Departments cannot refuse access unless a formal escalation action has 

been enacted; 

 If someone appears to be drunk and showing any ‘aspect’ of incapability (e.g. walking 

unaided or standing unaided) which is perceived to result from that drunkenness, then 

that person must be treated as drunk and incapable. A person found to be drunk and 

incapable by the police should be treated as being in need of medical assistance at an 

Emergency Department or other alcohol recovery service (where available); 

 An Emergency Department can itself be a Place of Safety within the meaning of the 

Mental Health Act. Therefore, if protracted physical health treatment or care is required, 

where appropriate the Acute Trust should accept the s136 papers and take legal 

responsibility for custody of the individual for the purpose of the Mental Health 

assessment being carried out; 

 Every HBPoS should have a designated s136 coordinator available 24/7 who is assigned 

to the HBPoS at all times. Adequate, dedicated clinical staff must be available 24/7 to 

ensure staff members do not come off inpatient wards; 

 HBPoS staff (including both nursing and medical staff) should have adequate physical 

health competencies to prevent unnecessary Emergency Department referrals; 

                                                
19

 Implementing the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016) 
20

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 

Page 137



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  32 

 

 HBPoS and local Acute Trusts should have clear pathways and protocols and the 

relationships to deliver these for those with physical health problems but for whom urgent 

transfer to an ED is not the optimum course of action. These should include triage, 

advice and where possible outreach systems to support appropriate responsive and 

timely physical health care to those in a Health Based Place of Safety; 

 While a police officer or an AMHP has the legal responsibility for authorising the transfer 

of the detained individual, coordinating the conveyance of individuals between HBPoS 

and Emergency Departments and vice versa should be undertaken by the Mental Health 

Trusts and Acute Trusts respectively, led by the s136 coordinator. Coordinating and 

arranging transport is not the police’s role unless there is mutual agreement between 

parties that it is in the best interest of the individual and there is resource to provide 

support; 

 If the s12 doctor (or in exceptional circumstances another doctor with adequate mental 

health experience) sees the individual before the AMHP and is satisfied that there is no 

evidence of underlying mental disorder of any kind, the person can no longer be detained 

and must be immediately released, even if not seen by an AMHP; 

 When a Mental Health Assessment is required the legal duty to assess falls upon the 

AMHP service for the area where the person is at the point when the assessment is 

needed, in this case the borough in which they are currently being detained under s136; 

and 

 The mental health assessment should be completed within 4 hours of the individual 

arriving at the HBPoS unless there are clinical grounds for delay. 

2.1.4 Current s136 pathway 

The s136 pathway is complex in nature, involving multiple stakeholders that varies across 

STPs. Figure 4 provides an illustration of the pathway, from pick up to decision to discharge.  

Figure 4: s136 pathway 

 

Police 
Conveyance  

Police with 
Ambulance 

Conveyance    

HBPoS 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

Discharge 

Inpatient 

Community 

ED visit 
due to 

physical 
health care 

needs 

s136 
Pathway

ED visit due to 
lack of HBPoS 

capacity 

S136 
Pick 
Up 

Page 138



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  33 

 

When a person is officially detained under s136 by the Police, the individual is taken to a 

place of safety by the LAS and police, unless they require physical health care, in which 

case, they are first taken to an Emergency Department and eventually transferred to the 

HBPoS. Under s136 of the MHA, the individual detained cannot leave until they have had a 

formal assessment of their mental health by a suitably trained doctor. If the individual is 

found to have no underlying mental disorder of any kind, the person is no longer within the 

scope of the MHA and is to be discharged at the earliest opportunity, even if the AMHP has 

not yet seen them.  

However, if the individual is deemed to have an underlying mental disorder, they must also 

be assessed by an AMHP and a decision made regarding the care needed, for example an 

inpatient admission or community referral. Where the individual does not agree to an advised 

admission on an informal basis, in order that the AMHP can apply for MHA admission under 

section 2 or 3 of the MHA, medical recommendations for the admission are required from 

two medical professionals, one of whom must be an independent s12 doctor, The maximum 

detention period under s136 of the MHA is 24 hours from arrival at a place of safety.  

  

Page 139



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  34 

 

3 Strategic case 
This section sets out the strategic context and the case for change, together with the supporting 

investment objectives for the scheme. The section is structured as follows: 

 Mental health crisis care in London 

 Case for change 

 Vision and objectives 

Page 140



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  35 

 

 

 

London is currently facing significant challenges across the crisis care system owing to 
rising levels of mental ill health and challenges with current service provision. It is 
anticipated that services will be required to change to address these challenges and 
become sustainable in the medium term. 

► The vision is to provide safety and high quality care and treatment  to people 
detained under s136 by delivering the following six strategic objectives: 

o Enable the improvement in s136 patient outcomes 

o Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

o Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

o Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

o Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system  

o Deliver value for money 

► Delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts patient 
experience and outcomes. 

► The new model of care provides the opportunity to achieve improved access and 
patients outcomes, higher levels of patient satisfaction, positive benefits to staff, 
deliver 24/7 services, reduce inequality and realise efficiencies across the local 
health and care economy and wider society.  

► There is a continued drive for high quality sustainable care in the NHS. Service 
users, clinicians and regulatory bodies have highlighted that there is too much variation in 
both quality and access across different services.  

► Increasing financial and operational pressures are being placed on mental health 
Trusts due to the demand for services increasing. Funding does not meet requirements to 
maintain standards of care; there is a need for all NHS organisations to engage in wider 
transformational change and service reconfiguration with other agencies towards highly 
responsive, effective and personalised services for people with urgent physical and 
mental health needs. 

► South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust (SLAM) has piloted the new 
model of care at their centralised HBPoS site. 

 An average of 15% more admissions are accepted.  

 Having a 24/7 dedicated team has meant there has been only one closure over the last 
year; sites were closed 279 times previously over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals taken to an ED before going to the centralised site has 
reduced; 

 96% of individuals detained are being admitted to the HBPoS within 30 minutes of arrival;  

 The new purpose built facility provides a physical environment which is much more 
conducive to recovery;  

 76% of service users provided positive feedback, finding the service more respectful and 
responsive; 

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13%. 

 

Page 141



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  36 

 

3.1 Mental health crisis care in London 

3.1.1 Overview 

Mental illness is the single largest cause of disability in the UK and each year about one in four 

people suffer from a mental health problem. Yet despite its harmful physical and economic 

impacts, the response to mental health lags significantly behind physical health.  

In London, mental health crisis care is an example of a system which does not meet the quality 

and efficiency standards of other services in the NHS. The treatment pathway for individuals 

detained due to mental disorder, which sits under s136 of the Mental Health Care Act 1983, has 

come under increasing pressure in recent years due to inadequate infrastructure and service 

provision as well as the increasing prevalence of mental health crises in the Capital.21 

There are a number of cases which illustrate that timely, high quality care is not always available 

to individuals who are experiencing a mental health crisis. In surveys conducted by the Healthy 

London Partnership in 2016, only 14 per cent of people said they had the support they needed in 

a crisis.22 

However, the challenges presented within this system are well recognised and significant 

progress has been made in recent years to improve the service. In 2014, the London Mental 

Health Crisis Commissioning Standards were agreed to ensure equity between physical and 

mental health. In addition, London’s Mental Health Trusts and their key partners developed an 

action plan focused on s136 of the Mental Health Act. For example, the work of the Mental 

Health Partnership Board sought to reduce the use of police cells for those detained under s136 

and since October 2016 the use of police cells in London has fallen below one per month.23  

It was decided in 2015 that there should be a pan-London focus on the section 136 pathway and 

Health Based Place of Safety sites to improve the current inconsistencies across London and 

often inadequate care for those who are some of London’s most vulnerable. This led to the 

development of London’s s136 Pathway and HBPoS specification. Further detail on the 

development of this guidance is given below. Delivery of a new model of care, with a 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, the locations where detained individuals are transferred to by 

police officers under s136, is among the proposed changes which aims to improve quality and 

access for patients in mental health crisis care in London – and is the subject of this business 

case.  

3.1.2 Model of care and stakeholder engagement 

In 2015, a crisis care multiagency professional group was established with representation from 

Mental Health and Acute Trusts, the LAS, the Met Police, social services and general practice. 

This group led the development of the new model of care that includes the pan-London s136 

pathway and a specification for HBPoS. 

The new model of care was developed using a partnership model to ensure sufficient 

engagement with stakeholders across the system. This included active engagement with the 

following stakeholders: 

                                                
21

 Mental Health Network NHS Confederation (2016): Is mental health crisis care in crisis? 
22

 Healthy London Partnership (2016) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
23

 London Mental Health Partnership Board (2013-2016) Individuals under section 136 held in police cells 

Page 142



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  37 

 

• People with lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers: Over 300 

Londoners with lived experience of a mental health crisis were actively engaged to 

ensure that the guidance meets service user needs and expectations; 

• Police officers: Over 70 police officers from London’s three police forces (The Met 

Police, British Transport Police and the City of London Police Force) to ensure specific 

access and capacity issues were confronted; 

• Mental Health Trusts:  Over 150 front-line and senior staff from all nine of London’s 

Mental Health Trusts were engaged with to inform capacity and infrastructure 

requirements; 

• Urgent and Emergency Care: Over 200 ED staff and liaison psychiatry staff from ED’s 

in each Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) network were engaged in order to assess 

that equitable provision of care and patient outcomes across their footprint can be 

achieved; 

• Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHPs) & Local Authorities: Over 75 

AMHPs and Local Authority representatives were consulted in developing the model of 

care; and 

• London Ambulance Service (LAS): LAS paramedics, mental health nurses, and mental 

health operational staff were consulted and included in the multiagency professional 

group to ensure capacity and access issues during conveyance were addressed 

appropriately. 

In addition, there was extensive engagement with the voluntary sector, particularly Mind, 

Rethink, NSUN and the National Crisis Care Concordat initiative. The Royal Colleges of 

Psychiatrists and Emergency Medicine and Pan-London forums, for example the Cavendish 

Square Group, also played important roles in the development of the new model of care. 

 

Page 143



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  38 

 

o Only 14% of Londoner’s feel they have support when in a mental health crisis;  

o Only 36% of patients felt safe in their surroundings in London’s HBPoS sites; 

o Recent LAS scene time data for section 136 patients has shown on average more 

than 35% of LAS callouts face significant access issues, averaging 2.5 hours from 

arrival at the hospital to being accepted into the site by staff;  

o On average when section 136 patients present to the Emergency Department they  

remain in the department over 4 hours 70% of  the time and nearly 50% are in the 

department for over 12 hours;  

o Over 75% of section 136 detentions occur out of hours yet few sites in London have 

dedicated, appropriate 24/7 staffing to care for these patients  

 

3.2 Case for change 

3.2.1 Overview 

It has been said recently that London’s crisis care system is itself in crisis. There are significant 

challenges across the system, due to inadequate care and services and also the level of mental 

ill health and crisis that the capital faces.  

The disparity of care for people with mental health issues as opposed to physical ones is still 

disproportionate and all London’s partners, including service users, realise that the status quo is 

not acceptable. Those detained under s136 are often denied access to Health Based Place of 

Safety sites and Emergency Departments (EDs), left in the back of police cars and ambulances, 

or transferred unnecessarily between an ED and mental health trusts due to a lack of 

appropriate and co-ordinated care. Londoners with experience of mental health crisis, together 

with London’s clinicians, tell us over and over again that the care does not meet the basic 

expectations of dignity, respect and high quality compassionate care, and services are often not 

delivered in the right environment to help people recover. There is a real opportunity to address 

a forgotten service and make section 136 an active part of the crisis pathway. 

 

Box 1: Case for Change 

 

Page 144



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  39 

 

Whilst there must be an increased focus on local action to prevent crises occurring, when a 

crisis does happen service users need to have timely, high quality care, which respects 

individual needs, wherever they are in London. This is reiterated by service users who have told 

us they want crisis care that is always available, consistent and respectful across all stages of 

the pathway. There are still many cases which illustrate that this is not available, resulting in EDs 

being a regular default.  

 

A reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is an important step towards overcoming the significant 

challenges and pressures in provision of mental health services and implementing the pan-

London s136 model of care.  This requires delivery of a new model which ensures that the right 

care is delivered at the right location, at the right time, by staff with the right skillset, in suitable 

facilities for patients during a mental health crisis. The status quo is not sufficient to provide this 

level of care to those in need and therefore a change is warranted. In addition, the 

reconfiguration will contribute towards the wider policy goal of embedding mental health care 

within the wider healthcare system, improving parity of esteem and integrating physical and 

mental health care. 

The evidence is clear that improving outcomes for people with mental health problems supports 

them to achieve greater wellbeing, build resilience and independence and optimise life chances, 

as well as reducing premature mortality. 

Moreover, the evidence is equally clear on the potential gain for the NHS and wider public sector 

from intervening earlier, investing in effective, evidence-based care and integrating the care of 

people’s mental and physical health. In addition to the moral imperative and the clear clinical and 

individual benefits, it is important to recognise that there is a financial necessity to manage the 

challenges of the years ahead. 

 

3.2.2 National Context 

Historically, mental health has not had the priority awarded to physical health, has been short of 

qualified staff and deprived of funds. There is a need to provide equal status of mental and 

physical health, equal status to mental health staff and equal funding for mental health services.  

The following paragraphs highlight four areas of the national context which drive the rationale for 

the reconfiguration of the HBPoS sites, which will support achievement of national objectives.  

1. Future direction of NHS 

NHS Five Year Forward Views 

The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in 2014, seeks to provide an equal response to 

mental and physical health and drive towards the two being treated together. It specifies the 

need to break down barriers across systems to integrate urgent and emergency care (UEC) 

services for people of all ages experiencing physical and mental health problems. This aligns 

with Sir Bruce Keogh’s 2013 review of the NHS UEC system in England which highlighted the 

increasing unsustainable pressures on the current system, recommending system-wide 

transformation towards highly responsive, effective and personalised services for people with 

urgent physical and mental health needs. More recently, the Next Steps on the Five Year 

Forward View, published in 2017, outlines the key improvements required to be in place 

Page 145



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  40 

 

through FY18 and FY19, including new specifications for mental health provision for people in 

secure and detained settings. 

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (FYFWMH), published in 2016, further 

emphasises the importance of having an effective, responsive UEC system and highlights the 

need to have mental health care accessible 24 hours a day, seven days a week – a key element 

in the s136 new specification. Implementing improved access to high quality care, more 

integrated services and early interventions will support establishment of services which are 

sustainable for the long term. 

Future in Mind 

Future in Mind, a joint review by NHS England and the Department of Health, outlines the need 

to provide appropriate support to children in crisis in-hours and out-of-hours. In addition, the 

expertise and environment should be age-appropriate. 

An important consideration in the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to ensure that CYP in crisis 

are transported to where they can receive the appropriate care, and that decisions are not 

related only to convenience of location. 

Crisis Care Concordat 

The Crisis Care Concordat is a national agreement signed by 27 national bodies involved in 

health, policing, social care, housing, local government and the third sector. It sets out how 

organisations can work together to help people experiencing a mental health crisis get the help 

they need. The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will facilitate organisations to work with each 

other by ensuring that a clear treatment pathway can be supported by appropriate facilities and 

expertise.  

2. Quality expectations 

There is ever increasing scrutiny of mental health NHS providers, mental health independent 

providers, departments and individual healthcare professionals. Findings from the CQC’s 

programme of comprehensive inspections of specialist mental health services 2014 to 2017 

identified many examples of excellent care, but also found too much poor care and too much 

variation in both quality and access across different services. The pressure on services partly 

explains why, at 31 May 2017, 36% of NHS core services and 34% of independent mental 

health core services were rated as requires improvement for safe, with a further 4% of NHS and 

5% of independent core services being rated as inadequate for safe. On too many wards, the 

combination of a concentration of detained patients with serious mental health conditions, old 

and unsuitable buildings, staff shortages and lack of basic training, make it more likely that 

patients and staff are at risk of suffering harm. In addition, people experienced difficulties in 

accessing services best equipped to their needs, there was persistence of restrictive practice 

and poor clinical information systems.24   

3. Operational pressures  

One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in any given year. 

People in all walks of life can be affected and at any point in their lives, including new mothers, 

children, teenagers, adults and older people. Circa.1.8m people were in contact with adult 

mental health and disability services through FY16. From 2015/16 to 2016/17, s136 detentions 

                                                
24

 CQC Report, “The state of care in mental health services 2014 to 2017”  

Page 146



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  41 

 

have increased by 19%. Across England the increasing demand on mental health services, and 

the capacity constraints of these services, are contributing to escalating ED mental health 

presentations. The additional pressures on EDs contribute to Trusts breaching the four and 

twelve hour ED targets. CYP are also facing longer waits for treatment. Meanwhile, this is 

occurring whilst the mental health workforce has been in decline, with a 12% reduction in the 

number of mental health nurses from January 2010 to January 2017. 

4. Financial challenge  

The NHS is undergoing an unprecedented combination of rising demand with funding which falls 

short of what is estimated as required to maintain standards of care, requiring year on year 

efficiencies which are becoming increasingly difficult to deliver. In addition, short-term tactics to 

contain spending, such as holding down NHS staff pay and underinvesting in the NHS estate, 

have now more than run their course, whilst the introduction of access to mental health care 24 

hours a day and the move to seven day working will present significantly higher costs. With the 

deficits across hospitals in England growing and a forecast deficit of £30bn by 202125, all NHS 

organisations need to engage in wider transformational change and service reconfiguration with 

other agencies and providers and local government, housing, education, employment and the 

voluntary sector. 

3.2.3 London Context 

London faces many challenges across the crisis care system with services often falling short in 

providing effective access, care and treatment for the capital’s most vulnerable. Whilst significant 

progress has been made in recent years to address these challenges, there is a requirement for 

a new model which ensures that the right care is delivered at the right location, at the right time, 

by staff with the right skillset. Current key issues with the s136 pathway, all of which impact 

patient experience, are detailed in the paragraphs which follow. 

3.2.3.1 Inconsistent quality of care 

The care on offer at London’s HBPoS sites can vary due to differing levels of staff training and 

skillsets at the HBPoS sites and EDs. London’s service users have indicated the current ‘ad-hoc’ 

staffing model, where staff are pulled off wards when an s136 patient arrives, is not conducive to 

good patient care, both to those detained under s136 but also to those on the ward where 

staffing numbers are depleted for a 12-24 hour period. Some sites across London also indicated 

that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-escalation, which is recommended for 

managing those with disturbed behaviour. These inconsistencies in quality of care translate into 

poorer clinical outcomes.  

3.2.3.2 Inappropriate provision for Children and Young People (CYP) 

Patients who are under 18 require appropriate facilities and specialised staff that can respond to 

their specific needs. However, at present many of London’s HBPoS sites have local protocols 

that restrict children from the site. Emergency Departments are regularly used as the default 

position when HBPoS sites are unable to manage CYP detained under s136. When this occurs 

children can be in the ED for a 24-72 hour period due to lack of appropriate staffing but also the 

lack of CAMHS Tier 4 beds available in London. 

                                                
25

 NHS Five Year Forward View: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf 

Page 147



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  42 

 

3.2.3.3 Facilities 

One of the primary objectives of the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to provide a standardised, 

high-quality treatment environment for individuals detained under s136. Evidence suggests that 

mental health facilities which are fit-for-purpose and meet the needs of service users improve 

patient outcomes and safety. Trends also lean towards reduced involuntary admissions and 

overall aggression levels.26 

Overview of existing facilities 

There are currently 20 ‘designated’ HBPS sites across London. Most can only see one patient at 

a time. Instead of their location being based on need or demand, sites are historically located 

where space has been available. This problem in London is intensified by the fact that four of the 

designated HBPoS sites are EDs; whilst in some instances it is necessary for mental health 

crisis patients to attend ED due to specific physical health needs e.g. such as overdose or self-

harm, it is recognised that a busy ED is not always the most suitable environment for the care of 

patients in mental health crisis.   

London’s HBPoS sites have had varying Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings. In the most 

recent CQC reports from 2016 and 2017, two Trusts received ‘needs improvement’ ratings, while 

another was rated ‘inadequate’. Key themes from the CQC reports include the lack of dignity, 

comfort and confidentially; inadequate processes regarding the Mental Health Act; staff levels 

and training; and information recording. These themes correspond with national issues. It was 

recently reported that 39% of crisis care services, including HBPoS sites were rated as ‘requires 

improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ for safety.27 This needs to change. 

Service user experiences 

Londoners with lived experience have also 

expressed concerns about the quality of the 

treatment environments. Only 36 per cent of 

Londoner’s detained under s136 said they 

felt safe in an HBPoS.28 In London’s EDs, 

only 12 per cent of those assessed thought 

their assessment rooms were pleasant, 

comfortable and welcoming. These 

assessment rooms have been described as “like a 

police cell”; “padded cell”; “interrogation room”; 

“bunker”; and “glorified storage room”.29 

CYP environments 

In addition, a number of stakeholders interviewed have stated that the HBPoS environment is 

not appropriate for CYP in general and especially for those with learning difficulties.30 One issue 

was that there was limited access to any information at the HBPoS that would help to explain the 

                                                
26

 Hughes, R. (2008) Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Agency for Healthcare 
Research and Quality (US) 
27

 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20170720_stateofmh_report.pd 
28

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
29

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 
30

 Ibid 

Person detained under Section 136 

“I’ve been sectioned before and held in a police cell before 
and that was bad, it was cold and dark and miserable and I 
just curled up on those bunks and cried my eyes out. The place 
they take you now is only a little bit better, and I mean only 
little bit better, it’s not as cold and they don’t make you wear 
those paper suits but it’s still like a police interrogation room 
than a place where you should be getting better.” 

Page 148



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  43 

 

reason for their detention and the process that would follow. This was linked to the non-

therapeutic nature of the environment.  

3.2.3.4 Capacity and delays 

The ability of a pan-London system of HBPoS sites to perform its function relies on its ability to 

provide adequate access to care; this is achieved primarily by ensuring that there is suitable 

capacity, but also by ensuring that there are minimal delays in the pathway. In the existing 

system, capacity issues and delays are negatively impacting those detained under s136 and 

wider stakeholders, such as police forces and EDs. 

Current capacity 

From interviews conducted, it has been deduced that police forces, the LAS and NHS Trusts 

struggle to find capacity at London HBPoS sites.  

In 2015, over 210 issues were reported by frontline police officers in London; half of these were 

specifically related to capacity and access across the s136 pathway31. Monthly comparisons of 

issues logged between 2015 and 2016 show a 30 per cent increase in reports due to delays in 

accessing sites. Similar issues have continued throughout 2017 into 2018.  

The reasons behind these capacity limitations are manifold: 

• Staff availability: Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated staff and staffing levels 

are generally minimal out of hours - despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring 

outside of regular working hours (11pm -7am); 

• Temporary closures: While it is rare that an emergency care service for physical health 

shuts down, there has been numerous occasions of temporary closures of HBPoS sites 

due to the lack of dedicated staff and/or damaged facilities; and 

• Low individual site capacity: the dispersed HBPoS sites across London tend to 

predominantly have low capacity. A number of existing sites have a capacity of 1. This 

results in binary utilisation, whereby sites are either completely empty or at capacity at 

any given point in time. 

These capacity issues are exacerbated by a rising number of s136 detentions, as well as 

London’s unique capacity limitations. Whereas police in other parts of the UK can offer support 

to people in crisis beyond detainment, London is limited in its alternatives. This means the 

number of s136 detentions persist, adding increased pressure to London’s HBPoS sites and 

Emergency Departments. 

Impact on the system and patient outcomes 

Access issues and delays along the pathway have wider implications for the range of 

stakeholders involved during an s136 detention.  

Clinical staff have noted that delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively 

impacts patient experience and outcomes. Staff have stated that those who experience poor 

treatment at the start of the pathway are less likely to engage with health services, co-produced 

                                                
31

 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

Page 149



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  44 

 

crisis plans are jeopardised and trust between clinicians and the patient is lost.32 This is 

illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 there were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were 

detained again under s136 within two days.33  

Both national (including MHA legislation) and London policy prevent the use of police cells for 

those detained under s136 which has resulted in a 94% decrease in the use of cells. However, 

the knock on effect has been additional pressure on HBPoS sites and EDs.  

Capacity issues at HBPoS sites have harmful impacts for EDs. As places of safety by law, the 

Met Police instructs all officers to go to the nearest ED when capacity issues arise at HBPoS 

sites. Evidence suggests that prolonged ED stays are associated with increased risk of symptom 

exacerbation and absconsion for those with mental health issues.34 The delays have a strong 

link with poor patient experience leading to increased hospital readmissions and poorer clinical 

outcomes.  

EDs are also experiencing escalating demand from all attendances, and significant resources 

are needed in order to manage the care of those under s136 in the department. Individuals 

detained under s136 spend five times as long in EDs, with over 40% of those in mental health 

crisis in ED breaching the four hour target. A typical emergency department sees on average 

300 patients a day who are in the department for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual 

detained under s136 is in the department, they spend on average 12 hours due to their complex 

health and social needs. This means that the care for one person detained under s136 is the 

equivalent of being able to treat ten other patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in 

department being five times that of other patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 physically ill 

patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour standard and 12 hour 

standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 patients a week, 10 patients 

equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by treating s136 patients in a more 

appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and would positively impact on performance 

against the A&E standards. 

National policy direction states that long delays in handing patients over from the care of 

ambulance crews to that of the ED staff, not only result in breaches of the 15 minute handover 

target, but are detrimental to clinical quality and patient experience and costly to the NHS. Under 

the current HBPoS configuration, police and ambulance staff often face long delays accessing 

place of safety sites whilst staff are pulled from other wards, often with the individual detained 

having to wait in an ambulance or police van.  Furthermore, the time taken to convene the 

assessing team and arrange onward care following assessment also contributes to delays; with 

lengthy place of safety admissions impacting patient experience and limiting patient flow, 

contributing to capacity issues.  

The benefits of the new model and reliable access to care will provide the Police and LAS with 

access to the right medical staff to consult with prior to detention, the confidence to take the 

patient to the nearest HBPoS to receive high quality care as well as the opportunity to build 

                                                
32

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 
33

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 
34

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 

Page 150



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  45 

 

better working relationships with staff at the sites. All of this will contribute significantly to 

admission avoidance, improved patient flow throughout the system and a better quality service; 

driving a positive impact on the 15 minute ambulance handover time target as well as both the 

four and twelve hour performance across the capital.  

Monitoring and oversight 

There is a role for commissioners and providers to have better oversight when capacity issues 

occur. It was recorded in 2016 that only 32 per cent of London CCGs were using provider, police 

and local authority data to monitor and understand the demand for HBPoS sites (as well as 

outcomes for those detained under s136).35 Over 62 per cent thought they were not compliant in 

instigating joint incident reviews when someone detained under s136 has been refused access 

to a HBPoS, or taken into police custody, or both. 

3.2.3.5 Funding issues 

Current funding arrangements do not promote Trusts to accept patients into HBPoS sites based 

on need, but rather a number of patients instead are accepted and assessed based on their 

home address or registered GP. This causes delays and inconsistent and variable care across 

London; patients are denied access to urgent mental health care - something that does not 

happen to Londoner’s who require urgent physical healthcare.  

3.2.3.6 Inpatient bed availability 

The lack of inpatient beds in London impacts on the s136 pathway increasing the length of time 

patients spend at HBPoS sites. In line with the Mental Health Act, AMHPs cannot complete the 

mental health assessment until a bed is found. The lack of inpatient beds causes a delay in 

completing the assessment and there is now additional pressure given the recent changes to the 

Mental Health Act36. The London average used for this business case is 41% of those detained 

under s136 are admitted to an inpatient ward following assessment37. 

Evidence from elsewhere in the UK and in London (e.g. Birmingham and South London and 

Maudsley Mental Health Trust) suggests that confronting these issues can lead to improvements 

in patient experience and outcomes, reduced inpatient admissions and decreased readmissions. 

It is important that the rest of London follows suit. 

 

3.2.4 Patient volumes and trends 

At present, London’s HBPoS sites provide care for approximately 5,307 s136 patients per 

annum. Given demographic projections, and increasing trends in demand over the past number 

of years, patient volumes are estimated to grow by approximately 16.5% for adults and 17.5% of 

CYP between 2015/16 and 2020/21.  

Of these detentions, over 75 per cent occur out of hours.38 This is illustrated in Figure 5, which 

details the proportion of arrivals by hour of day.  

                                                
35

 CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework report (September, 2016) 
36

 Revisions to the MHA (1983) changed the length of time an individual can be detained under s136 from 
72 to 24 hours.  
37

 Mental Health and Learning Disability dataset (MHLDDS) from July – December 2015 
38

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: HBPoS audit 

Page 151



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  46 

 

 

 

Figure 5: proportion of activity by time of arrival 

 

The hours of arrival, together with the expected growth in patient volumes puts significant stress 

on the current configuration. The majority of sites do not have dedicated 24/7 staffing, and 

therefore cannot respond to patient needs appropriately. 

3.2.5 Learning from elsewhere 

Leveraging London’s own expertise 

There are two HBPoS sites within London with dedicated 24/7 staffing, South London and 

Maudsley (SLAM) and South West London and St. George’s (SWLSTGs). The experience from 

these sites has been used to inform the s136 new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS 

sites. 

During the options appraisal process and beyond, frontline staff and management from SLAM 

and SWLSTGs have helped to inform the analysis and assumptions supporting this business 

case.  

Below are some of the key advantages and the learning from SLAM and SWLSTG. 

South London and Maudsley (SLAM) 

SLAM’s centralised place of safety is a purpose-built facility, which meets the NHS estates 

standard and is staffed with a specialist team dedicated to providing speedy and expert 

assessments on 24/7 basis. It currently holds four assessment rooms, and two further step-down 

units. One of the two high dependency units has an attached private lounge area and was 

designed to accommodate those under the age of 18, making SLaM’s centralised HBPoS one of 

the few sites across London that has a designated assessment room for this purpose. 

Key advantages: 

 Access to a HBPoS has improved, with the new site accepting an average of 13% more 

s136 referrals each month than across the four sites under the old model; 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

Hour of Day 

Arrival time 

Page 152



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  47 

 

 Frequent place of safety closures that were experienced in the past due to staffing issues 

and damaged facilities have not been a problem disruption to services due to closures 

reduced from 279 incidents across 4 sites in 2016 to 1 closure in 2017; 

 A dedicated team on site 24/7 has facilitated quicker acceptance of patients into the site, 

with 96% of patients admitted within 30 minutes of arrival; the time which police officers  

have to remain at the place of safety has also improved; 

 Improved physical health capabilities of staff has facilitated a decrease in the number of 

patients going to an ED prior to admission to the HBPoS; 

 Dedicated specialist staffing has facilitated improvement in service user experience, 

quality of assessment provided and interagency working across the s136 pathway; 

 The new purpose built facility, co-designed with service users, has transformed the 

physical environment. The unit has been designed to support delivery of safe and 

dignified care to patients in a therapeutic setting; and 

 The admission rate has decreased by 13% under the new model, with improved practice 

of a dedicated team and close working with the Trust's acute referral team (equates 8 

fewer admissions per month for the trust via the centralised place of safety). 

Key Learning: 

 Further work is required to improve patient flow and ensure patients are always assessed 

and discharged from the site quickly; 

 The availability of inpatient beds for onward admission remains an issue (length of stay 

for individuals requiring admission is on average 10 hours longer than those discharged 

into the community); and 

 Now there is a better understanding of the fluctuations in demand, plans for managing 

both periods of high and low demand, including managing capacity issues and reviewing 

staff utilisation are in progress. 

South West London and St. George’s (SWLSTGs) 

The SWLSTGs model is based on the Birmingham Psychiatric Decision Unit (PDU), which plays 

an important role in the urgent care pathway and has demonstrated significant benefits in 

reducing inpatient admissions and diverting people from the ED. SWLSTGs is a 24-hour mental 

health acute assessment unit that enables more in-depth assessments. It currently has two s136 

assessment rooms and an adjacent psychiatric decision unit with a bed capacity of 5 units. 

Key Advantages: 

 There was a 26% decrease in informal admissions, a 17% reduction in 0-5 day 

admissions and 8.4 fewer occupied beds per day through November 2016 to February 

2017. 

 There has been an improvement in service user experience due to the nature of the 

PDU’s calm and relaxing environment that reduces anxiety levels; 

Page 153



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  48 

 

 A more dynamic workforce model with the ability to interchange staff between the s136 

assessment rooms  and the PDU, which reduces down-time for staff; 

 All service users transferred to the suite are supported to develop a collaborative crisis 

plan to keep on discharge; this has been met positively by service users; and 

 The service has supported the professional  development of nursing assessment skills 

resulting in in a clear pathway for role progression. 

Key Learning: 

 On-going learning will continue to take place from adverse incidents, assessment time 

breaches and advice from regulators, in order to ensure safety and high quality care in 

the unit. As with SLAM, fluctuations in demand need to be understood to ensure staff can 

operate effectively when the unit is at maximum capacity. 

 

  

Page 154



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  49 

 

3.3 Vision and objectives 

3.3.1 Improving London’s section 136 pathway 

Transforming the s136 pathway and HBPoS service sites requires a shared vision across 

London’s crisis care system. As such, all partners involved in this transformation have agreed to 

work in line with the main principle of cooperation and collaboration underpinning the crisis care 

concordat39. 

This overarching vision to provide safety and support to people in mental health crisis is 

underpinned by a number of guiding principles which informed the specification of London’s 

s136 pathway. In addition, it is important that this vision enables the development of strategic 

objectives for the reconfiguration of HBPoS. 

3.3.2 Strategic objectives 

The strategic objectives outlined below highlight the list of aims which the reconfiguration of 

HBPoS sites is trying to achieve and/or contribute to. By setting out a list of objectives,  decision 

makers can assess whether the programme’s objectives are in line with wider policy interests 

and also evaluate the programme post-implementation. These objectives will inform the range of 

economic and clinical benefits identified in this business case and further benefits realisation 

activities thereafter. 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in patient outcomes 

• The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites should assist all stakeholders in the s136 pathway in 

delivering better patient experiences 

• This includes ensuring that adequate conveyance times, facilities and services on arrival 

are provided to enable better care to those in crisis 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

• The reconfiguration should allow those experiencing a mental health crisis to have 

specialist treatment available to them 24/7 

• In addition, the reconfiguration should seek to minimise delays in specialist treatment and 

transport for the benefit of people in mental health crisis, police forces, Emergency 

Departments and clinical staff 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient 

needs 

• The reconfiguration should allow individuals to have access to the expertise required to 

enable better outcomes no matter which HBPoS they are transported to 

• Staff should also have adequate physical health competencies to prevent unnecessary 

ED referrals and provide a better experience for those detained under s136 through more 

holistic care. 

                                                
39

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 

Page 155



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  50 

 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money 

• The reconfiguration should be delivered in the context of existing financial constraints 

and funding availability within the UK’s health system 

• This involves minimising the level of capital investment required to deliver the improved 

s136 pathway 

• In addition, the reconfiguration should seek to have sufficient throughput of patient 

activity so that desirable staff utilisation levels are maintained 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system 

• The preferred HBPoS configuration should fit within the wider crisis care system in a way 

which enables other services to benefit from the proposed change 

• An example of these synergies is from future-proofing i.e. the new configuration allows 

for the expansion and/or improvement in the system in the medium to long term 

Objective 6: Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

• The reconfiguration should ensure that the specific needs of CYP can be met in a suitable 

care environment.  

• As a result, there will be one HBPoS within each STP that provides services for all ages, 

with appropriate facilities available for CYP patients and sufficient capacity and staff skills 

to provide a 24/7 service. 

3.3.3 Appraisal framework 

In order to appraise options in the Economic Case, and to subsequently evaluate the preferred 

option against the do-nothing alternative, it is necessary that the framework utilised to appraise 

potential options aligns with the broader strategic objectives of the programme. Table 4 sets this 

out in detail. 

  

Page 156



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  51 

 

Table 4: Appraisal framework 

 

  

Objectives Appraisal criteria 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in s136 

patient outcomes 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration of 
HBPoS sites can best deliver the proposals set 
out in the Specification 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services  Determine what configuration would establish 
sufficiently constant demand to warrant 24/7 
services across all sites 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a 

service suitable to patient needs 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration can 
maintain the skills required to deliver a high-
quality 24/7 service 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration 
supports sufficient utilisation of resource to 
warrant dedicated HBPoS staff 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money  Consider a configuration which makes best use 
of existing infrastructure and ensures an 
efficient use of resources per patient 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis 

care system 

 Configuration allows for enhancement of other 
services through HBPoS and the potential for 
future proofing 

Objective 6: Ensure a distinction between the 

service provided to adults and the service provided 

to CYP 

 Ensure that the resource and infrastructure 
requirements for adults and CYP are 
considered separately 

Page 157



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  52 

 

4 Clinical case 
This chapter provides an added focus on the clinical challenges that exist with the existing 

configuration of HBPoS sites, along with an appraisal of proposed clinical benefits that may be 

derived through the proposed reconfiguration.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Existing clinical challenges 

 Clinical benefits of the preferred option 

 

 

 

 

 

have been identified through significant engagement with people with lived 

experience of mental health crisis, the LAS and clinical staff at both HBPoS sites 

and EDs and corroborated by the CQC, most recently in a report published in July 

2017.  

The new model of care will contribute significantly to improving these challenges and help 

deliver better outcomes to Londoners: 

1. Improve the quality of care by enabling more capacity across the system, better 
environment conditions and suitably trained and dedicated staff teams, enable the 
delivery of a consistent level of care for all, which support reduced inpatient 
admissions and readmissions. 

2. Improve the provision of care for CYP by increasing the capacity of appropriate 
facilities for CYP with suitably trained staff. 

3. Improve access to care by being better placed to accommodate capacity and 
demand, supporting reduced ED admissions, providing dedicated staffing 24/7, 
reducing conveyance time and enabling patients to be assessed and treated 
holistically and comprehensively.  

4. Improve the environment in which care is provided by ensuring patients are 
treated with respect, comfort and dignity and feel safe at all times, in fit-for-purpose 
facilities. 

Implementation will be carried out with strong clinical engagement and leadership to 

ensure clinical quality is maintained and improved at all sites throughout the 

transformation. 

 

Page 158



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  53 

 

4.1 Existing clinical challenges 

4.1.1 Overview 

London’s current s136 pathway and HBPoS specification does not adequately and consistently 

deliver the quality of care that patients deserve. Stakeholders across the crisis care system 

acknowledge that there are a number of challenges which need to be addressed in order to 

provide patients with timely, high quality care which respects individual needs. 

This section sets out the existing clinical challenges in London’s mental health crisis care 

system. These challenges have been identified through continued engagement and interviews 

with London’s police forces, the LAS, clinical staff and patients with experience of the s136 

pathway and HBPoS sites. The challenges identified are: 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care; 

 Unsuitable treatment environment;  

 Inconsistent quality of care; and 

 Inappropriate provision for CYP. 

In the Financial Case and Economic Case, a number of these challenges are discussed in terms 

of their financial, economic and social impacts. The purpose of the Clinical Case, however, is to 

outline how the existing inefficiencies and inconsistencies along the pathway can be addressed 

through the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites.  

4.1.2 Delayed and unreliable access to care 

Insufficient site capacity, together with non-dedicated staffing, can cause significant delays to 

treatment for patients detained under s136 of the Mental Health Act.  

Delays to care 

A number of stakeholders involved with the s136 pathway have noted continued delays in 

accessing sites, as police forces and LAS struggle to secure capacity at HBPoS sites. In 2015, 

over 100 issues related to capacity and access across the s136 pathway were reported by 

frontline police officers.40 This number increased in 2016, with some instances of police officers 

and paramedics recording waits of over seven hours in accessing care. Box 2 provides an 

example of difficulties police forces have faced in accessing care for individuals detained under 

s136. 

Box 2: Capacity and delays in existing system 

 

                                                
40

 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

Police request access to a Health Based Place of Safety but were denied as the site was full, staff at the site 

refused to facilitate arranging elsewhere for the patient to go. Eight hours later officers had the patient 

assessed at a London Emergency Department, following assessment the patient was then transferred back to 

the original site where the Place of Safety was situated to be admitted into an inpatient psychiatric bed. 

Page 159



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  54 

 

There are two primary reasons for these difficulties in accessing care: 

 Individual site capacity; and 

 Insufficient staff availability. 

Many of the current HBPoS sites have minimal capacity, with some only capable of holding one 

individual under s136 at any point in time. The current configuration of sites and their capacity is 

not modelled according to demand and therefore when the volumes of patients presented at 

HBPoS sites exceed the available number of suites, long delays can occur in terms of waiting 

times and travelling times to other sites.  

As the majority of sites do not currently have dedicated staffing, this situation is exacerbated 

outside of regular working hours. Over 75% of s136 detentions occur during this time period, yet 

minimal staffing levels restrict the ability to provide a responsive service. 

Together, these bottlenecks and operational inefficiencies increase conveyance times and 

lengths of stay at HBPoS sites, ultimately delaying patient assessments and elongating the 

service.  

Impact on patients 

For patients, delays in time to assessment can lead to: 

 Increased emotional distress; 

 A delay in receiving appropriate medication; and 

 A breakdown in trust with mental health services. 

Without prompt intervention, a patient’s mental health condition can deteriorate. A poor 

experience at the beginning of the s136 pathway can have traumatising effects for individuals, 

leading to worse clinical outcomes and reluctance to seek professional help in the event of 

another crisis. Unplanned delays can also have a catastrophic impact on a person’s pre-

admission functional ability. In a mental health setting, extended length of stay can lead to 

deconditioning, functional relapse and a loss of confidence.41 

In interviews, clinical staff at London’s HBPoS sites have also noted that these delays in 

accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts patient experience and outcomes. 

Staff have stated that those who experience poor treatment at the start of the pathway are less 

likely to engage with health services, co-produced crisis plans are jeopardised and much of the 

trust between clinicians and the patient is lost. This is illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 

there were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were detained again under s136 within two days. 

4.1.3 Unsuitable treatment environment 

London’s treatment environments for mental health crisis patients vary, but often fail to provide a 

therapeutic setting for patients. In the most recent reports from 2016 and 2017, the CQC rated 

two Mental Health Trusts as ‘needing improvement’ and one as ‘inadequate’.  

                                                
41

 Right place, right time, better transfers of care, NHS Providers, 2015 

Page 160



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  55 

 

Londoners with lived experiences of the s136 pathway have also expressed concerns about the 

comfort and safety of HBPoS sites. Only 36 per cent of Londoner’s detained under s136 said 

they felt safe in an HBPoS.42 The feedback is even worse for patients that are transferred to EDs 

due to capacity issues. In London’s EDs, only 12 per cent of those assessed thought their 

assessment rooms were pleasant, comfortable and welcoming.43  

It is important that London’s crisis care services can provide patients with the respect, comfort 

and dignity that they deserve during difficult moments in their lives. Poor physical environments 

can make a patient feel intimidated, scared and less likely to engage with treatment during and 

after the intervention. 

4.1.4 Inconsistent quality of care 

Only 14% of patients interviewed say that they had the support they needed in a crisis.44 Issues 

within the crisis care system, such as the delays and unsuitable environment discussed above, 

contribute to potentially harmful patient experiences. Patients have also shown a clear 

preference for 24/7, dedicated crisis services even if that means travelling further to access the 

care. Patient experience also varies due to differing levels of staff training and skillsets at the 

HBPoS sites and EDs. 

The CQC report indicated that nearly a third of nursing and medical staff training was ‘on the job’ 

rather than before they started work in the place of safety. Furthermore, five per cent of places of 

safety indicated that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-escalation, which is 

recommended for managing disturbed behaviour.45 

On occasion, staff who do not have a dedicated role in treating mental health crisis patients can 

feel less confident in their ability to contribute to mental health assessments.  

4.1.5 Inappropriate service provision for CYP 

CYP suffering a mental health crisis have different needs to adults, which should be reflected in 

the care and environment provided to them.  

However, many CYP patients are not receiving the care that they need in mental health facilities. 

In a survey by the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 79.1% of respondents reported safeguarding 

concerns while CYP were waiting for an inpatient bed; 76.5% reported young people with 

unacceptably high risk profiles having to be managed in the community because of a lack of 

beds; 61.9% reported young people being held in inappropriate settings such as paediatric and 

adult wards, police cells, s136 suites and Emergency Departments.46 

The use of adult wards for managing CYP detained under s136 has been described as 

problematic by stakeholders interviewed as part of the Health Needs Assessment.47 This is due 

to the perceived lack of staff expertise in care for CYP at a number of sites. 

                                                
42

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
43

 Ibid 
44

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
45

 Care quality Commission: A safer place to be 
46

 Survey of in-patient admissions for children and young people with mental health problems. RCPsych, Faculty 
Report CAP/01 
47

 Section 136 and mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London, 2016 

Page 161



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  56 

 

This issue in the quality of care for CYP patients is exacerbated by London’s current 

configuration of HBPoS sites, as many instruct that children detained under s136 should instead 

go to the nearest Emergency Department. Over the past two years, one London ED has seen an 

82% increase in the number of CYP patients requiring a mental health assessment. As 

discussed previously, treating anyone detained under s136 in an Emergency Department is not 

appropriate and has a strong link with poor patient experiences, higher readmission rates and 

less desirable clinical outcomes.  

Page 162



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  57 

 

4.2 Clinical benefits of the preferred option 

4.2.1 Overview 

A primary purpose of the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to address the existing clinical 

challenges along the s136 pathway and within the wider crisis care system in order to deliver 

high-quality, coordinated care for some of the most vulnerable Londoners. By improving access 

to care, providing suitable treatment environments and ensuring a consistent quality of care at 

HBPoS sites, the preferred option will help to deliver better outcomes for those detained under 

s136 in future. In addition, the provision of an all-age HBPoS site in each STP will ensure that 

CYP are provided with appropriate care according to their needs.  

This section outlines how the preferred option will address the current clinical challenges 

identified within the crisis care system. Table 5 maps out how the outcomes of the preferred 

option will address the existing challenges, and lead to clinical benefits. 

Table 5: Clinical benefits map 

Existing challenge Preferred option outcome(s) Clinical benefit(s) 

Delayed and unreliable access 
to care 

 Reduced conveyance time 

 Reduced HBPoS length of 
stay 

 Patients experiencing a 
crisis are treated quicker 

Unsuitable treatment 
environment  

 Improved HBPoS 
environment 

 Reduced ED admissions 

 Fit-for-purpose facilities 
improve patient outcomes 
and reduce aggression 
levels 

Inconsistent quality of care  Improved staff expertise 

 Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

 Reduced readmissions 

 Patients receive better 
quality treatment during 
HBPoS stay 

 Reduction in variation 

Inappropriate provision for CYP  Improved staff expertise  CYP patients are treated by 
paediatric professionals with 
appropriate skills 

 

4.2.2 Clinical outcomes and benefits 

In addressing the challenges discussed previously, the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will 

produce a number of benefits for patients. The outcomes listed below are also included in the 

Economic Case, however they are discussed in this section purely in terms of their clinical 

benefits. 

Reduced conveyance time 

By providing sufficient capacity at the HBPoS sites, the preferred option will reduce the average 

journey time from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for police vehicles and 24 minutes to 22 minutes for 

ambulance vehicles.  

Page 163



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  58 

 

This will ensure that patients receive emergency clinical care more quickly whilst also denoting a 

time saving for police, ambulance and patients. Patient experience will improve as delays are 

minimised and they can be seen faster by clinical staff trained to care for their needs. 

Furthermore, by reducing the conveyance time for patients, the reconfiguration will contribute 

towards the wider aim of urgent and emergency access to crisis care – making sure that a 

mental health crisis is treated with the same urgency as a physical health emergency; this is vital 

step towards achieving parity of esteem for mental and physical health.48 

Reduced length of stay at HBPoS 

Through dedicated staffing and minimised delays, it is expected that the average length of stay 

at an HBPoS site will reduce slightly from 17.5 hours to 16 hours. This is partially because the 

new configuration seeks to limit the number of assessments which last more than 24 hours to 

zero.  

Where this represents a reduction in waiting time, there is an improvement in patient experience 

as they are seen by a mental health professional and admitted to an inpatient bed, where 

necessary, more rapidly. 

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) note that it is important to start 

building therapeutic relationships as early as possible in order to: 

 Lessen the person's sense of being coerced; 

 Encourage the person to engage with treatment and recovery programmes and 

collaborative decision-making; 

 Create a safe, contained environment; and 

 Reduce the risk of suicide, which is high during the first 7 days after admission. 

This is particularly important for people who have been admitted in crisis.49 

Improved HBPoS environment 

It is a national objective for mental health services in London that people are treated with dignity 

and respect when in crisis, within a therapeutic environment.50 A soothing environment can de-

escalate patients and make them feel safer during treatment. Importantly, it also demonstrates to 

patients that they are respected and cared for by those seeking to help them. This is achieved 

both through the physical design of an HBPoS site and staff factors: the training of the staff to 

use the environment effectively, the compassion and dignity afforded to patients by staff and the 

relationships within the staff team and with other professionals. Where HBPoS environments 

have been co-designed with patients, this can ensure that the environment meets patient, as 

well as staff, needs.  

 

 

                                                
48

 Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020. DH, 2014 
49

 Transition between inpatient mental health settings and community or care home settings (NG53). NICE, 2016 
50

 Department for Health, 2014 - Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020 

Page 164



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  59 

 

 

Box 3: HBPoS environment 

Evidence suggests that mental health facilities that are fit-for-purpose and meet the needs of 

service users improve patient outcomes and safety. Trends also lean towards reduced 

involuntary admissions and overall aggression levels.51 Staff at the SLAM Centralised Place of 

Safety have experienced that the design of the built environment has supported safety, improved 

dignity and privacy and quality of assessments.  

Figure 6: Service user perceptions of the SLAM centralised HBPoS, 2017  

 

In the Economic Case, this benefit has been quantified and a monetary value of £335k per 

annum has been estimated using the Social Value Bank methodology.  

  

                                                
51

 Hughes, R. (2008) Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Agency for Healthcare 
Research and Quality (US) 

“We’re starting to learn how to use the environment in a really positive way in terms of managing risk. 

We use the rooms to step people down and step people up according to their need. That works really 

well for us in terms of managing risk, and it ties in with other initiatives we use in the Trust, like the four 

steps to safety which is a violence and aggression tool.” 

 SLAM Centralised Place of Safety Nurse, 2017 

Page 165



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  60 

 

Reduced Emergency Department admissions 

In the preferred option, it is anticipated that the number of patients sent to ED due to insufficient 

capacity will reduce from 4.5% to zero.  

ED admissions are associated with poor patient experiences, leading to less desirable clinical 

outcomes. As a result, diverting individuals away from Emergency Departments will have clinical 

benefits in terms of reduced hospital readmissions and improved patient experiences.   

If ED admissions due to insufficient capacity are reduced to zero, approximately 200 patients will 

benefit from the improvement in experience. This has been calculated using the Social Value 

Bank’s value for relief from depression/anxiety and is calculated at approximately £10k per 

annum.  

Improved staff expertise 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will concentrate staff expertise at the 9 sites.  

The provision of 24/7 dedicated staffing, together with more focused staff training, will ensure 

that all patients receive a high quality of care upon arriving at an HBPoS site. Furthermore, by 

training staff to contribute to mental health assessments, a sense of ownership and responsibility 

can be fostered within the dedicated sites.   

This improvement in care has not been quantified for the purpose of this business case; 

however, it can be expected that it contributes to the reduction in inpatient admissions and 

reduced repeat presentations which are discussed below. 

Reduced inpatient admissions 

Past case studies, from Birmingham, SLAM and South West London have shown that the 

combination of dedicated staffing, improved facilities and minimised delays in care can lead to a 

significant reduction in inpatient admissions. The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London, 

together with a combined workforce model, could reduce inpatient admissions by between 20% 

and 26% if results from elsewhere are achieved.  

The reduction in inpatient admissions as a result of the improved s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification will itself represent a clinical benefit. Avoiding unnecessary admissions to mental 

health inpatient wards illustrates the efficacy of the clinical interventions at the HBPoS site. 

Reduced repeat presentations  

At present, approximately 19.2% of sections are repeat presentations from patients that are 

readmitted through the s136 pathway within six months.52 However, from discussions with key 

stakeholders in the system it is estimated that a reduction to 10% is possible under the preferred 

option.   

As above, the reduction in readmissions as a result of the improved s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification will itself represent a clinical benefit. Avoiding reoccurrences of mental health crises 

illustrates the efficacy of the clinical interventions at the HBPoS site. 

 

                                                
52

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 

Page 166



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  61 

 

5 Economic case 
This section sets out the Economic case for reconfiguring HBPoS sites in London. It outlines the 

process for arriving at the preferred option and outlines the indicative costs and benefits of the 

reconfiguration against the do-nothing baseline scenario.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Options assessment 

 Indicative economic costs and benefits 

Page 167



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  62 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London is not conducive to meeting the 
standards outlined in the pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification.  

HBPoS sites are historically located where space has been available; however, capacity 
issues, a lack of dedicated, skilled resource (both in and out of hours) and lack of access 
predicated on geographic location of need are all drivers for a change of the current 
configuration. 

► A robust options appraisal has demonstrated a reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is 
required to meet the new model of care. The options appraisal showed a preference 
of moving to:  

o Nine site model for adults with a combined workforce model (further 
details on the workforce model is detailed in the workforce chapter); and  

o Five sites (one in each STP) within the nine site model that provide an 
all-age service.  

► The options appraisal represented the best option to address the mental health 
crisis care problems across London, bringing sustainable improvements and lasting 
benefits for patients, as well as driving improvements in the wider health economy. 

► This option is the preferred state for London’s future HBPoS site configuration; 
however a transitional 13 site phase has been developed following STP 
programme leads engaging locally on proposed configurations.  
 

► The indicative benefits of the reconfiguration based on nine sites have been 
quantified by estimating the NHS financial savings as well as measuring the social 
impact of nine key outcomes. 

o NHS financial savings total £14,384k 

  £795k cashable / £13,589k non-cashable 

o Social impact savings (non-cashable) measured at £5,572k 

► The total baseline pathway cost is c. £20,632k p.a. (excluding activity growth).  

► The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration is £23,744k which includes the 
following: 

o Pathway cost £20,494k p.a. 

o Transition costs £1,000k 

o Capital costs £2,250k 

► The indicative net present benefit of the reconfiguration over the five year period 
FY17/18 to FY21/22 is £73,927k which includes; 

o Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) 
£66,174k 

o Net present value of the preferred option £7,753k 

 

Page 168



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  63 

 

5.1 Options assessment 

5.1.1 Overview 

As expressed in Section 3, there is a clear case for a new model of care, changing the 

configuration of HBPoS sites alongside the development of the new s136 pathway. Stakeholders 

from across the crisis care system have articulated that the care and treatment service that 

users experience throughout different points of the pathway is variable and often inadequate. 

In order to provide a viable solution to the existing issues, it is necessary to consider the full 

range of alternative delivery models for the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. This section 

describes the process undertaken to evaluate the site configuration options for mental health 

crisis care for London.  

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London requires a more complicated and thorough 

options appraisal process than most public spending proposals. This is because, in theory, there 

are a vast number of potential configurations into which HBPoS sites could be organised across 

London: 

 There could be any number of sites in an option ranging from one site for London to 20 

sites (current state)53; 

 Each site could be designated as a HBPoS; or 

 There could be multiple combinations of sites to form a single service. 

As such, a structured process made up of several steps was required to scrutinise the 

alternatives in order to identify the most desirable alternative to the status quo. In order to 

provide a structured, logical and objective approach towards arriving at a preferred option for 

reconfiguration, a three stage process was designed: 

 Phase 1a: Site agnostic appraisal; 

 Phase 1b: Site specific appraisal; 

 Phase 2: Pan – London configuration assessment; and 

 Phase 3: Preferred option. 

At each stage, a set of criteria was used to measure the different reconfiguration options in 

terms of patient experience and outcomes as well as improve wider system efficiencies. Before 

progressing to the next stage, approval was required from the Crisis Care Implementation 

Steering Group. 

As described throughout the following sections, appraisal was undertaken separately for adult 

and CYP groups, with a final subjective assessment carried out in the final steps of the analysis.  

                                                
53

 At present, there are 20 HBPoS sites in operation across London. However, a HBPoS in Highgate is currently 
proposed for development and has therefore been considered as an option for the purpose of this appraisal 

Page 169



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  64 

 

Figure 7 below provides a high-level overview of the appraisal process outlining the key outputs 

delivered at each stage.  

Figure 7: London’s HBPoS options appraisal exercise 

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

This resulted in a transitional stage being developed. The transitional stage is referenced 

throughout this business case with further detail in the Management Case. 

5.1.2 Phase 1a – site agnostic appraisal 

Figure 8: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 1a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overview 

The first step in the options appraisal process was to identify the optimum number of HBPoS 

sites irrespective of the location and/or quality of the sites themselves. However, rather than 

arrive at a specific number of sites, and limit later stages of the analysis, the site agnostic 

appraisal provided a view as to the range within which the optimum number of sites exists.  

The results of this stage of the options assessment have been used to help shape the Pan 

London assessment in phase 2. In addition, the hurdle process helps to reduce the millions of 

alternatives for reconfiguration down to a long list of options. 

Page 170



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  65 

 

Criteria 

The criteria utilised during this stage of the assessment aim to test the degree to which a set 

number of sites can support the core principles within London's section 136 pathway and Health 

Based Place of Safety specification, namely the provision of a 24/7 service, minimising potential 

capital expenditure investment, effectively utilising capacity and resources and providing an 

equitable coverage across London. This produced four hurdle questions to employ as criteria: 

 Does the configuration effectively utilise staff skills? 

 Does the configuration effectively utilise capacity? 

 Does the configuration provide equitable coverage across London? 

 Does the configuration minimise capital expenditure investments? 

Results 

The analysis established that between five and 13 HBPoS sites would be the optimal range for 

adults in London. A configuration with under 5 sites would not provide equitable coverage and 

would require significant capital investment. On the other hand, a configuration with more than 

13 sites would not effectively utilise workforce and capacity and thereby struggle to justify the 

establishment of a 24/7 service. 

Figure 9: Hurdle analysis – adult HBPoS sites 

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered not to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test for one workforce model, but not the other 

Optimal Range 

This analysis establishes that the range deemed to be optimal for the number of HBPoS sites in London serving adult 
patients is between 5 and 13 

Page 171



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  66 

 

For CYP, the same process was undertaken in the site agnostic appraisal. At this stage, the 

optimal number of HBPoS sites for CYP in London was found to be between 1 and 2 sites. A 

larger number of sites would not effectively utilise workforce or capacity in the system and 

importantly, the option to have one or two sites allowed for an optimal concentration of 

appropriate skills.  

Figure 10: Hurdle analysis – CYP HBPoS sites 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

 

5.1.3 Phase 1b – site specific appraisal 

Figure 11: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 1b 

 

Overview 

In parallel to determining the optimal number of sites for the configuration, individual HBPoS 

sites were also assessed against a set of criteria in order to determine London’s most viable 

sites for the reconfiguration.  

This objective assessment of individual sites enabled a ranking of the full range of HBPoS sites 

across London and within their respective sustainability and transformation partnerships (STPs), 

which was subsequently utilised in the pan-London appraisal.  

Optimal Range 
This analysis establishes that the range deemed to be optimal for the 

number of HBPoS sites in London serving CYP patients is between 1 and 2 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered not to have passed a given criteria test 

Page 172



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  67 

 

Criteria 

Six criteria have been used to assess the HBPoS sites on an individual basis: 

 Proximity to occurrences of s136 detentions (based on pick up locations and areas of 

prevalence); 

 Proximity to inpatient beds; 

 Deliverability (designated HBPoS sites at Emergency Departments are deemed not 

viable); 

 Proximity to 24/7 urgent physical care54; 

 % of non-clinical space to total space available; and 

 Current capacity of the HBPoS site. 

This set of criteria for individual sites has been tested with individual members from both the 

Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group and the Technical Implementation Group meeting 

along with representatives from the STPs, people with lived experience and their carers. Table 6 

illustrates the criteria that has been utilised to rank each of the sites. Each option is scored using 

either a tiered (each option is placed on a 0-1 scale for achievement of goal) or binary (each 

option is given a value of 0 or 1, reflecting yes/no answer) method. High, medium and low 

weightings are provided in order to prioritise the importance of certain criteria.  

Table 6: Site-specific appraisal criteria 

Type Criteria Rationale Weighting 

Access to 

care 

Areas where there are 
high presentations of 
section 136 detentions 

Given the challenges with current service provision there is 
a need to improve the access of care, particularly in areas 
of high s136 activity. It is also well known that a good 
proportion of s136 patients are picked-up near large 
transportation hubs in London.   

High  

Deliverability  Emergency 
Departments that are 
‘designated’ HBPoS 
are deemed unviable 
to be further 
developed 

Royal College of Psychiatry and the Royal College of 
Emergency Medicine both recommend EDs should only be 
used as an HBPoS where medical problems need urgent 
assessment and management, this has been supported by 
London service users and stakeholders across the system.  

High 

Access to 
care 

Proximity to mental 
health inpatient beds 
(adults - general acute 
wards and PICU 
wards, CYP – CAMHS 
beds and CAMHS 
workforce) 

There is a need to be close to other mental health services, 
particularly inpatient beds. For adults this is general 
inpatient beds and Psychiatric Intensive Care Units (PICU), 
for CYP this is more CAMHS Tier 4 and the CAMHS 
workforce.  

High  

                                                
54

 In some cases, individuals detained under s136 require urgent physical care. This is typically delivered at an 
Emergency Department, and this arrangement is expected to continue in the new configuration. 

Page 173



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  68 

 

Access to 
care 

Proximity to 24/7 
urgent physical care 

Feedback throughout the engagement period outlined that 
robust acute and mental health pathways are vital to 
ensure an effective s136 pathway. It is acknowledged that 
sites that are in close proximity to an ED are more likely to 
have well developed pathways and have more effective, 
joint working between physical and mental health staff. 

Medium 

Deliverability % of non-clinical 
space to total space 
available 

This measure looks at the possibility of increasing capacity 
at HBPoS sites, the assumption being that non-clinical 
areas can more readily be used to increase capacity at 
sites.  

Low 

Deliverability Current capacity at 
HBPoS 

This criteria measures the current capacity at each site, 
with the rationale being to minimise the amount of capital 
investment required. 

Low 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Results 

The full suite of HBPoS sites were ranked according to each criteria. Please see Appendix A for 

detail on the rankings of HBPoS sites. 

 

5.1.4 Phase 2: Pan – London configuration assessment 

Figure 12: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 2 

 

Overview 

Following the site agnostic appraisal and site-specific appraisal, an objective pan-London 

configuration appraisal was undertaken in order to arrive at a shortlist of options.  

The first step involved at this stage of the process was to establish a long list of configuration 

options based on the highest scoring configurations from the site specific analysis undertaken in 

step 1b. The long list of configurations was then assessed in two ways: 

 Individual site appraisal criteria that are relevant on a pan-London level and hence 

aggregated to provide an appraisal of a given configuration; and 

 Specific pan-London criteria. 

 

 

Page 174



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  69 

 

Criteria 

The pan-London configuration criteria used at this stage in the assessment are outlined in Table 

7 below. This set of criteria was tested with individual members from both the Implementation 

Steering Group and the Technical Implementation Group along with representatives from the 

STPs, people with lived experience and their carers. The criteria are both objective and 

subjective in nature, and build on the analysis undertaken in Phase 1a and Phase 1b. Each 

option is scored against the baseline model, which is scored as zero; the scoring framework 

interprets whether the new model is an improvement on the current model or not, with the scores 

weighted based on the agreed weighting of that criteria point. High, medium and low weightings 

are provided in order to prioritise the importance of certain criteria. 

Table 7: Pan-London configuration criteria 

Type Configuration criteria Weighting 

Quality Pan-London configuration option delivers London’s 
HBPoS specification (a key component being a 24/7 
staffed service) 

High 

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises service user 
experience 

High 

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises staff 
experience (acknowledging multi agencies) 

High 

Quality  Pan-London configuration option ensures improved 
patient outcomes 

High 

Access to care  Option ensures adequate HBPoS capacity to meet peak 
demands and future growth in activity 

High 

Access to care Option ensures appropriate distance between mental 
health inpatient service  and HBPoS site 

High 

Access to care Option ensures minimal conveyance time from pick up to 
the HBPoS site 

High 

Access to care Option ensures appropriate distance between 
Emergency Department and HBPoS site 

Medium 

Access to care Option ensures equitable coverage between sites 
(distance between each HBPoS site in the configuration) 

Low 

Value for money Option provides value for money for London Medium 

Value for money  Option minimises overall capex investment Low 

Deliverability 

  

Option ensures all estates are fit-for purpose and viable 
to deliver an improved service 

Medium 

Strategic coherence  Option aligns to STP wider crisis care visions  High  

Page 175



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  70 

 

Strategic coherence  Option aligns with current agreed acute 
reconfigurations/mental health reconfigurations or service 
developments across wider health and social care.  

Medium 

Strategic coherence  Option ensures comprehensive coverage across London  Medium 

 

Results 

Based on the criteria above, the objective pan-London assessment recommended a 9 site 

configuration of HBPoS sites for adults, with a combined workforce model. The results are 

provided in Table 8 below. 

Table 8: Pan-London appraisal results 

 5 Site Model 9 Site Model 13 Site Model 

Stand-alone Combined Stand-alone Combined Stand-alone Combined 

Objective 

analysis 

-9 -5 -3 1 -5 1 

Subjective 
analysis 

15 15 18 18 12 12 

Total 6 10 15 19 7 13 

 

For CYP, the same process was undertaken, which included further engagement across London 

with CAMHS clinical leads. A 2-site model with a combined workforce scored high in the 

objective analysis; however, it was not supported by both service users and clinicians.  

5.1.5 Phase 3: preferred option 

Figure 13: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 3 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  71 

 

Overview 

In order to arrive at a preferred option, the subjective input of various stakeholders was sought in 

order to ensure that the output from the pan-London assessment in phase 2 proposed a realistic 

and viable alternative to the current configuration.  

This step in the process ensured that appropriate engagement and insights were sought from 

the organisations and individuals which would be directly and indirectly affected by the change. It 

also allowed for a more strategic evaluation of options, with a consideration of other potential 

alternatives for the delivery of crisis care. 

To inform the stakeholders involved in this phase of the assessment, the short list of options, 

including the supporting pan-London appraisal and individual site appraisal scores were 

circulated to the Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group and the Technical Implementation 

Group. This was followed by an evaluation workshop, which gained stakeholder input against a 

list of set focus points.  

Finally, to arrive at the exact configuration of sites, a meeting was held between strategic leads 

in the relevant stakeholder groups. This considered a shortlist of 3 options for the preferred 9-

site, with an HBPoS within each STP providing an all-age service with the appropriate facilities. 

Rather than supersede the objective analysis undertaken in Phases 1 and 2, this subjective 

element of the appraisal process was used to supplement the analysis in order to arrive at the 

correct determination of the preferred option for London. 

Criteria 

Each of the short listed configuration options were subjectively appraised against the pan-

London criteria shown in Table 9 below. 

Table 9: Preferred option decision criteria 

Type Criteria Weighting  

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises service user 
experience 

High  

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises staff 
experience (acknowledging multi agencies) 

High 

Quality  Pan-London configuration option ensures improved 
patient outcomes 

High  

Deliverability 

  

Option ensures all estates are fit-for purpose and viable 
to deliver an improved service 

Medium  

Strategic 
coherence  

Option aligns to STP wider crisis care visions  High  

Strategic 
coherence  

Option aligns with current agreed acute 
reconfigurations/mental health reconfigurations or 
service developments across wider health and social 

Medium  

Page 177



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  72 

 

care.  

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Results 

The subjective assessment of sites, through two evaluation workshops (one for CYP, the other 

for adults), aligned with the results from Phase 2 above – indicating that a nine site combined 

model would be preferred for the HBPoS reconfiguration, with 5 sites (one in each STP) 

providing an all age service, with appropriate facilities55. A shortlist of 3 options were presented 

to the strategic leads, with the final configuration chosen as the preferred option illustrated in 

Figure 14 below (sites in the transitional phase are identified by faded circles).  

Figure 14: Pan-London consolidated HBPoS site model  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transitional stage 

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

                                                
55

 The preferred CYP sites in the 9 site model include: The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), 
Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health Centre (NCL) and St. Charles (NWL). The site of the 
CYP all-age service for NEL in the final 9 site model will require further discussion as the preferred CYP 
site is one of the transitional sites. 

Page 178



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  73 

 

This resulted in a transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across London (including five sites that 

provide an all-age service). The additional sites are highlighted in Figure 13 above by faded 

circles. Further detail of the 13 site transitional stage is referenced in the Management Case. 

Page 179



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  74 

 

5.2 Indicative economic costs and benefits 

5.2.1 Overview 

To deliver the new model of care, the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London will have direct 

and indirect impacts for service users, staff, the NHS and London’s wider society and economy. 

The direct financial implications of the proposed nine site model are outlined in detail in Section 

5, the Financial Case. However, the direct financial costs and savings do not fully account for the 

full range of impacts which will result from the reconfiguration. Instead, to determine the full set 

of costs and benefits of the proposal, a wider consideration of economic and social impacts is 

encouraged by the HM Treasury Green Book. This chapter focuses on the nine site proposal; 

further information on costs and benefits for the 13 site transitional phase are outlined in the 

Management Case. 

The consideration of wider benefits is particularly important for this proposal, as the changes to 

London’s mental health crisis care system are intended to primarily address quality issues and 

because mental health is an investment area for the government. As a result, the case for 

reconfiguration may be primarily grounded on the social and economic benefits discussed in this 

section. 

This section begins by outlining the methodology for identifying and measuring the economic 

and social impacts of this proposal. Where possible, the benefits have been quantified with 

reference to EY’s Social Return on Investment (SROI) methodology, using sources of 

information which are supported by the HM Treasury Green Book. 

It then discusses the benefits identified for this proposal, both qualitative and quantitative, based 

on 9 key outcomes which will result from the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, namely: 

1. Reduced conveyance time; 

2. Reduced ED admissions; 

3. Reduced length of stay at HBPoS; 

4. Improved staff expertise; 

5. Improved HBPoS environment; 

6. Reduced non-pay costs; 

7. Reduced inpatient admissions; 

8. Reduced readmissions; and 

9. Improving the wider crisis care system. 

  

Page 180



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  75 

 

These outcomes result in benefits across a range of stakeholders and are monetised where 

possible so that a comparison with the costs of the proposal can be carried out.  

While some fiscal savings to the NHS are discussed in this section, the detailed analysis of the 

financial costs and savings along the s136 pathway are presented in Section 5, the Financial 

Case. 

5.2.2 Benefits Methodology 

The proposed new model will have positive impacts for a range of stakeholders across the crisis 

care system in London. These benefits may be through financial savings, economic impacts or 

positive social externalities.  

In order to capture the broad and varied range of benefits appropriately, we have referred to 

EY’s approach to calculating society’s return on investment (SROI). This methodology has been 

specifically tailored to the s136 pathway and HBPoS reconfiguration by utilising the detailed 

analysis and audit which was undertaken as part of the options appraisal process described in 

the section above. 

 

The SROI methodology has been broadly divided into three steps,  are discussed in turn below:  

1. Defining and classifying the costs and benefits for each potential initiative;  

2. Researching likely efficacy and impact of each intervention; and 

3. Applying the costs and benefits across the relevant population to understand society’s 

return on investment in aggregate. 

Step 1: Defining the costs and benefits 

Identifying benefits: pathway based outcomes 

To align our approach to benefits with the financial case and options assessment, the 

methodology employed has focused on the outcomes resulting from the HBPoS reconfiguration 

both on the s136 pathway, for example conveyance times, ED admissions and the HBPoS 

facilities and staff.  

However, in addition to these outcomes, a wider set of implications outside of the s136 pathway 

have also been considered in order to understand the full footprint of the proposed change. 

These outcomes outside of the pathway include reduced inpatient admissions, reduced 

readmissions and a broader objective of improving the wider crisis care system. 

To identify the full suite of outcomes and benefits, a workshop was held with key stakeholders 

and health consultants with experience in this area. This allowed a categorisation and 

assignment of benefits as discussed below. 

Categorising benefits 

The first step in identifying the benefits of the reconfiguration was to seek to understand the 

financial, economic and social impacts of the proposed model. Figure 15 provides an illustration 

to demonstrate the potential benefits of health care projects. 

Page 181



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  76 

 

Figure 15: Benefits categorisation 

 

Stakeholder benefits 

The benefits realised from the outcomes above can further be categorised into the following 

stakeholder groups: 

 Service Users; 

 Relatives and carers of the service users; 

 HBPoS staff; 

 LAS; 

 Police forces; 

 Local authorities; 

 The NHS; and 

 The wider economy. 

Outcomes mapping 

The table and diagram below illustrates how the new model outcomes can be mapped along the 

pathway and assigned to the stakeholder groups. The numbers denote the outcome listed 

below, while the colours indicate which stakeholder groups are affected.  

 

  

Financial 
return: 

cost/benefit £ 

Economic impact:  
cost/benefit £ 

Social and personal return: financial value 

placed upon non-financial cost/benefit → £ 

► Direct benefit or cost to own organisation and 
key partners, e.g., reduced ED use or staff 
costs. Basis for internal business cases and 
traditional ROI 

► Financial benefits and costs to the wider region or 
UK system, such as increased economic output and 
tax revenues. Of interest to central government and 
devolved bodies. 

► E.g., gain in quality adjusted life years, reduced 
anxiety and depression, the cost to volunteers of 
donating their time. Articulates achievement of 
core mission to partners and the public. 

Most NHS cases only consider and monetise direct financial 
benefits, but the treasury green book does encourage a broader, 
more innovative view 

Page 182



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  77 

 

Table 10: Outcomes map 

Outcome 

P
a
ti

e
n

ts
 

F
a
m

il
y
/ 

C
a
re

rs
 

W
id

e
r 

e
c
o

n
o

m
y

 

L
A

S
 

N
H

S
 

H
B

P
o

S
 s

ta
ff

 

P
o

li
c

e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

A
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s

 

1. Reduced conveyance time         

2. Reduced ED admissions         

3. Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

        

4. Improved staff expertise         

5. Improved HBPoS environment         

6. Reduced non-pay costs         

7. Reduced inpatient admissions         

8. Reduced readmissions         

9. Improving the wider crisis care 
system 

        

 

Figure 16: Outcomes map 

 

Step 2: Researching impact and efficacy 

Once we have understood the types of cost and benefit expected to result from each initiative, 

the next step is attaching a financial value to them as accurately as possible. This involves 

research into the likely efficacy, impact and resource requirements of the interventions under 

consideration using the best sources available. 

Page 183



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  78 

 

Transparency 

As the level of evidence related to each of the benefits will be variable, it is important that the 

research method is rigours and systematic and that the findings are presented in a transparent 

and consistent manner. This means actively identifying any weaknesses or gaps in the evidence 

base. 

There are known limitations to data availability for mental health crisis care in London and as a 

result, we have required the use of external sources and a number of agreed assumptions.  

Credibility and proximity of evidence 

To ensure that the value of this proposal is estimated in a robust, verifiable manner, the most 

reputable sources of information available have been used when quantifying benefits.  

The most credible sources of information are considered in this context to be governmental or 

peer reviewed academic sources – while grey literature and one-off case studies are relatively 

weaker. 

In addition, we have leveraged the audits and modelling work undertaken to date, which has 

provided us with robust assumptions about the cost and time of resources along the baseline 

pathway. Further information on the sources of information utilised in the quantification of 

benefits are provided in Box 4 below. 

Box 4: Information sources for benefits quantification 

 

Step 3: Application to population or programme 

For ease of comprehension, the values derived in step 2 are often best presented at the level of 

each intervention applied to a single suitable individual. However, when developing a business 

case it is important to think about the population an intervention or package of interventions will 

actually be applied to. This will drive the overall levels of cost and benefit experienced by 

society. 

 

Primary sources of information 

The primary sources used for quantifying benefits for the HBPoS reconfiguration were the UK social 

value bank and the New Economy CBA model  - both of which are endorsed by the HM Treasury 

Green Book. 

HACT is the housing sectors ideas and innovation agency. Together with a social impact analysis and 

policy evaluation specialist, HACT have created the largest bank of methodologically consistent and 

robust social values. These values provide an initial assessment of social impact, providing evidence of 

value for money which can be used in full SROI or cost-benefit analyses. This represents a significant 

step forward in the quality of available resources to enable placing social value on qualitative outcomes.  

In a similar fashion, New Economy, in conjunction with central government, have formulated a cost 

database, comprising of more than 600 cost estimates, largely derived from government reports and 

academic studies and cover areas from crime, to education, skills and employment. These costs have 

been quality-assured by HM Government. The database therefore allows for informing proposals for 

implementing new interventions and redesigning or evaluating public services. 

Page 184



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  79 

 

Patient volumes 

To aggregate the benefits, we have used the estimated number of individuals per year who are 

detained under s136: 

 A total of 5307 people detained under s136 are estimated to go through the pathway 

each year;  

 There were 219 CYP detentions between April 2015 and March 2016, leaving an 

estimated balance of 5088 adults detained under s136 per annum. 

Time estimates 

The patient volumes are combined with the estimates of time spent per patient at each stage of 

the pathway to determine a final cost. These time estimates have been derived from the 

baseline audits conducted and using assumptions from prior case studies in Birmingham, 

Yorkshire and South West London. Details of each time-based assumption are provided in the 

following section. 

5.2.3 Indicative benefits 

Overview 

To discuss and where possible, quantify the list of benefits resulting from the new model of care 

and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, each benefit has been mapped against the list of outcomes 

discussed previously in this section.  

A number of the benefits identified have been quantified and monetised using the Social Value 

Bank, New Economy Model or audit data collected during the options appraisal process. In 

addition, as shown in the outcomes map in Figure 16 these benefits have been mapped to the 

stakeholders at key points along the pathway. 

Table 11 outlines the list of benefits identified for the new model of care, following 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites for both adults and CYP. The total values are presented per 

outcome and are discussed in the following sub-sections.  Table 12 sets out the indicative 

cashable and non-cashable benefits per STP / HBPoS, with the allocation calculated on a 

capitation basis. This will require further review and analysis at the next business case stage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 185



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  80 

 

Table 11: Benefits overview 

No. Outcome 
Financial 
(cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value 
p.a (£000) 

1 
 Reduced conveyance time 
(ambulance and police 
vehicle)  

£498  - £14 £512 

2 Reduced ED admissions £297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

                                 
-    

                                   - £87 £87 

4 Improved staff expertise NA                                   NA NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 
-    

                                   - £335 £335 

6 Reduced non-pay costs 
                                 
-    

£5,542*                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 
-    

£7,918** £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced repeat 
presentations 

-    £129** £470 £599 

9 
Improving the wider crisis 
care system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

  Total £795* £13,589 £5,572** £19,956 

*Financial benefits figures included in the preferred pathway costing analysis in section 5 of this business case 

**Total non-cashable benefits figure (£13,619k combined) included in indicative net benefits calculation in subsection 

4.2.5 of this business case 

Table 12: Benefits overview by STP and HBPoS 

 

Figure 17 below illustrates the breakdown of benefits per stakeholder. It is clear that reduced 

inpatient admissions are a key driver of benefits, while both patients and the NHS are main 

beneficiaries.   

 

 

 

 

STP SEL SWL

HBPoS
Chase Farm 

H

Highgate 

MHC

Lakeside 

MHU

Riverside 

C

 St 

Charles

City & 

Hackney 

MHC

Sunflower 

Ct
Southwark Wandsworth

No. Outcome
Total 

£'000s

1
 Reduced conveyance time 

(ambulance vs. police vehicle) 
£111 £50 £512

2 Reduced ED admissions £78 £35 £357

3 Reduced length of stay at HBPoS £5 £13 £9 £2 £6 £16 £8 £19 £8 £87

5 Reduced non-pay costs £20 £50 £35 £9 £24 £61 £32 £73 £33 £335

6 Reduced inpatient admissions £326 £824 £575 £141 £396 £1,014 £521 £1,205 £540 £5,542

7 Reduced HBPoS readmissions £736 £1,862 £1,300 £319 £894 £2,292 £1,178 £2,723 £1,220 £12,524

8
Improving the wider crisis care 

system
£35 £89 £62 £15 £43 £109 £56 £130 £58 £598

Total £1,303 £2,838 £2,156 £486 £1,363 £3,733 £1,795 £4,339 £1,944 £19,956

£106 £103 £142

£99£74 £72

Indicative preferred option benefits (£'000s)

NCL NWL NEL

Page 186



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  81 

 

Figure 17: Benefits by stakeholder 

 

1. Reduced conveyance time 

The total conveyance social savings are set out in Table 13 below and described in more detail 

in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 13: Conveyance savings 

Stakeholder 

 
Conveyance 

% 
Base case 

9 site model 
with same 

conveyance 
% 

Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 

 
Total Saving 

Police
56

 21% £203,235 £112,428 £90,807 - £90,807 

Police (with 
LAS)

57
 

79% £435,143 £333,474 £101,669 - £101,669 

Ambulance
58

 79% £1,309,914 £1,003,859 £306,055 - £306,055 

Patient    - £13,197 £13,197 

Total    £498,531 £13,197 £512,448 

The first step along the s136 pathway is the detention and conveyance (transport) of the 

individual to the HBPoS site.  

At present, there are significant inefficiencies in the system due to insufficient capacity causing 

delays in conveyance. There are a number of statements from police officers and LAS staff 

which highlight the issues in “bouncing around” the system due to insufficient capacity at 

individual sites. Box 5 provides an example. 

 

 

 

 

                                                
56

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone. 
57

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying with LAS. 
58

 The cost of conveyance to LAS; this is always with police. 

 £-

 £2,000,000

 £4,000,000

 £6,000,000

 £8,000,000

 £10,000,000

 £12,000,000

 £14,000,000
V

al
u

e 
 

Outcome 

Patient Family/carer Wider economy LAS NHS Local authority HBPoS staff Police

Page 187



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  82 

 

Box 5: Delays in conveyance 

 

These issues are addressed in the new model by ensuring appropriate capacity at the individual 

HBPoS sites. This reduces the average journey from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for police 

vehicles and 107 minutes to 82 minutes for ambulance vehicles (which are accompanied by 

police vehicles). Please see Financial Case for more detail. 

This estimated reduction in conveyance time will have benefits for the police forces, LAS and 

patients. For LAS and the police forces, the time spent conveying those detained under s136 

represents an opportunity cost to the public service staff’s time. This is estimated at £0.97 and 

£2.92 per minute for police officers and LAS staff respectively.59 Given a 21:79 split in volume for 

police forces and LAS, the total savings per annum are estimated at £192,476 (combines 

£90,807 and £101,669 in Table 12 above) and £306,055 respectively. 

In addition to police and LAS benefits, the reduction in conveyance time represents a partial 

reduction in the total time that the individual spends on the s136 pathway. As a result, the 

individual receives a time saving of 21.6 minutes on average. The value of this time is calculated 

using the Department for Transport’s Transport Appraisal Guidance (TAG), which values non-

working time (leisure) at £5.51 per hour.60 Aggregating this for patient volumes provides a total 

benefit of £13,917 for patients due to conveyance. 

In total, taking LAS, police and patient benefits together, the social benefit of this outcome is 

estimated at £512,448. 

2. Reduced ED admissions 

 

A typical emergency department sees on average 300 patients a day who are in the department 

for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual detained under s136 is in the department they 

spend on average 12 hours due to their complex health and social needs. This means that the 

care for one person detained under s136 is the equivalent of being able to treat ten other 

patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in department being five times that of other 

patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 physically ill 

patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour standard and 12 hour 

standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 patients a week, 10 patients 

equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by treating s136 patients in a more 

appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and would positively impact on performance 

against the A&E standards. 

                                                
59

 These resource costs have been estimated from audit data from the HBPoS sites 
60

 The use of non-working time is considered to be a conservative approach, as it assumes that 100% of those 
detained are experiencing crisis outside of their own working hours.  

“There was no S136 Suite available across [HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts.  After 2 hours in the van and no 

sign of a S136 suite becoming available, male was taken to custody suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  Officers are told by a 

nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend the HBPoS with the male but are met by a 

nurse who states that there are no beds available” 

Page 188



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  83 

 

It is estimated that the current number of ED attendances as a result of capacity constraints will 

reduce from 6% to zero with the new model of care, with a further 4% reduction driven by the 

impact of improved physical health competencies amongst place of safety staff. This equates to 

531 patients who will not present to London EDs as a result of the new model. Taking the 531 

s136 patients identified, the current additional resource requirement equates to 5310 patients 

being seen, or 12,744 extra hours of patient care, which will become available to treat other 

patients and contribute to improving performance against the 4 and 12 hour ED targets across 

the system in London. 

As quantified above the impact on the department of a person detained under s136 attending 

will be felt by the majority of patients attending at the time of or even after a s136 patient has 

been treated, given the knock on impact the event will have on resources and patient flow.  This 

reduction of available resources will constrain the flow of patients through the department which 

quickly starts to back up to the front door where ambulance handovers will be impacted. 

Therefore, in addition to the LAS estimate of a nine minute improvement in the handover of s136 

patients, it is clear that the new model of care will have a positive impact on the majority of 

waiting and handover times across London. 

The total savings from reduced ED admissions are set out in Table 14 below and described in 

more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 14: ED savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £297,134 - £297,134 

Patient (time and experience) - £60,207 £60,207 

Total £297,134 £60,207 £357,341 

 

There is a financial benefit to the NHS from this reduction in ED attendances. The average cost 

of an ED attendance is £117.61 However, this is based on an average duration of just 2.5 

hours.62 However, as audit data shows that those detained under s136 spend an average of 12 

hours at ED, this is uplifted in order to take account of the added resource costs. As a result, the 

total annual estimate for the NHS financial savings from reduced ED attendances is £297,134, 

and is also included in the Financial Case. 

In addition to the financial savings, the 531 service users who will not attend ED as a result of 

the capacity or physical health conditions in the reconfigured model will realise both time and 

experiential benefits. 

“In London’s EDs, only 12 per cent of those assessed thought their assessment rooms were 

pleasant, comfortable and welcoming” 63 

The value of time is calculated as per outcome 1 above, while the experiential benefit is 

calculated using the Social Value Bank’s value for relief from depression/anxiety for the 12 

hours. The total patient savings are estimated at £60,207.  

                                                
61

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database  
62

 http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070  
63

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 

Page 189

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  84 

 

In total, taking both NHS savings and patient savings together, the benefit of this outcome is 

estimated at £357,341. 

3. Reduced length of stay at HBPoS 

 

The total savings from reduced length of stay (LoS) are set out in Table 15 below and described 
in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 
 

Table 15: LoS savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

Patient (time and experience) - £86,673 £86,673 

Total - £86,673 £86,673 

 

At present, the average length of stay at an HBPoS site is approximately 17.5 hours.  Through 

dedicated staffing and minimised delays, it is expected that this will reduce slightly to 16 hours. 

While this is a minimal change, it denotes time savings for each patient. This is valued as per 

Outcomes 1 and 2 above and is estimated at £86,673 per annum. 

It is assumed that there is no saving to the NHS from this reduced LoS as AMPHs and s12 

doctors both charge fixed fees. In addition, HBPoS staff will be dedicated 24/7 and as a result 

there will be no additional saving in resource in costs. However, the reduced LoS will improve 

access to HBPoS sites, thereby reducing conveyance and acceptance times for police and LAS, 

and reducing the use of ED for capacity reasons.  

4. Improved staff expertise 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will concentrate staff expertise at 9 

sites with one HBPoS within each STP providing an all-age service with the appropriate facilities. 

In the current model, staff are often pulled from wards and do not have the appropriate 

capabilities to treat mental health crisis patients. See Box 6 below for an example. 

Box 6: AMHP staff interview 

 

This improvement in staff expertise will undoubtedly have an effect on a service user’s short 

term and long term outcomes. However, the size of this impact is uncertain and has not been 

measured as part of this business case. Instead, it can be included in the benefit service users 

receive from experience an improved HBPoS setting. It may be argued that a significant 

qualitative benefit will be realised by CYP, as they will receive a more appropriate and focused 

treatment under the new model. 

“The suite is staffed but not by a dedicated team. There is a manager, but the team consists of rotating staff from 

the wards so they’re a team of people, some of whom know what the role is and are very good at the role, some 

of whom are very disinterested in the role in the suite and don’t really understand the role particularly or aren’t 

that interested, so you’ve got a mixed bag of staff”  

AMHP Staff Interview 

Page 190



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  85 

 

In addition, the improvement in staff expertise will have benefits for the staff members 

themselves. The dedicated HBPoS staff will feel more confident in their ability to treat people 

detained under s136, which will add to satisfaction levels. This benefit has not been quantified 

for the purposes of this business case, but for reference purposes, the SVB estimates that a 

feeling of greater confidence can be attributed to approximately £13k per year. It is anticipated 

that there will be benefits in terms of recruitment and retention, which will lead to savings, 

particularly through a reduction in the use of agency staff.  

5. Improved HBPoS environment 

 

The total savings from an improved environment are set out in Table 16 below and described in 
more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 16: Improved environment savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

Patient (experience) - £335,123 £335,123 

Total - £335,123 £335,123 

The new model will ensure that all infrastructure for those detained under s136 at the sites is fit 

for purpose. At present there are notable issues with the facilities, which have negative impacts 

for patients and staff, see Box 7 for details. 

Box 7: HBPoS environment 

 

For patients, ensuring that HBPoS sites are fit for purpose, together with improved staffing levels 

and expertise, will lead to a more therapeutic health care setting. Using the social bank measure 

for relief from depression/anxiety, we have estimated this benefit at £288,485 per annum. 

In addition, the improved HBPoS facilities will help to relieve safety concerns at the sites. These 

themes correspond with national issues. As of 31st May 2017, 36% of NHS and 34% of 

independent core services were rated by CQC as requires improvement for ‘safe’. A further 4% 

of NHS core services and 5% of independent services were rated as inadequate for ‘safe’.64 

6. Reduced non-pay costs 

 

The total non-pay cost savings are set out in Table 17 below and described in more detail in the 

paragraph which follows. 

Table 17: Non-pay cost savings 

                                                
64

 CQC report, The state of care in mental health services 2014 to 2017 

“I’ve been sectioned before and held in a police cell before and that was bad, it was cold and dark and miserable 

and I just curled up on those bunks and cried my eyes out. The place they take you now is only a little bit better, 

and I mean only little bit better, it’s not as cold and they don’t make you wear those paper suits but it’s still like a 

police interrogation room than a place where you should be getting better.” 

London Mental Health Crisis Care Service User 

Page 191



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  86 

 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £5,541,837 - £5,541,837 

Total £5,541,837 - £5,541,837 

As discussed in detail in Section 5, the Financial Case, the new model of care and 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will induce a saving in non-pay cost such as corporate 

overheads, cleaning and estate charges. These costs are primarily driven by the scale of 

facilities with the consolidation in the number of facilities expected to create a financial saving for 

the NHS of £5,541,837. 

7. Reduced inpatient admissions 

The total savings from reduced inpatient admissions are set out in Table 18 below and described 

in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 18: Reduced inpatient admission savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS - £7,918,089 £7,918,089 

Patient (time and experience) - £3,960,176 £3,960,176 

Family/carer (time) - £437,350 £437,350 

Wider economy - £208,861 £208,861 

Total - £12,524,476 £12,524,476 

Past case studies have shown that the combination of dedicated staffing, improved facilities and 

minimised delays in care can lead to a significant reduction in inpatient admissions. Examples 

include: 

 Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust Psychiatry Decision 

Unit (PDU): An evaluation of the service showed a 26% decrease in inpatient bed 

admissions, saving 6,900 bed days in total65 

 South London and the Maudsley Centralised Place of Safety: The evaluation showed 

a 13% reduction in admissions66. 

 South West London and St. George’s: The PDU established at SWLSTG saw a 

reduction in inpatient admissions of 25%67 

In order to not overstate the potential benefits from this outcome, we have assumed that 

inpatient admissions would reduce by 20%.This accounts for an approximate decrease of 356 

admissions, equivalent to 14,850 bed days given an average length of stay of 41.7 days.68 

This reduction in inpatient admissions will have benefits for a wide range of stakeholders, 

including service users and their families, the NHS and the wider economy.  

                                                
65

 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s Section 136 pathway and HBPoS specification 
66

 Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s Centralised Health Based Place of 
Safety. Healthy London Partnership (2017). 
67

 South West London and St. Georges: Lotus Assessment Suite (Psychiatric Decision Unit) Report 
68

 British Journal of Psychiatry, http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html  

Page 192

http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html
http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  87 

 

For individuals in mental health crisis, avoiding admission to an inpatient ward generates 

significant time savings and experience savings. These are valued using the Social Value Bank 

and TAG values described in Outcomes 1 and 2 above and are estimated at £3,960,176 per 

annum. 

In addition, the relatives and/or carers of service users typically suffer an opportunity cost of time 

from visiting patients during inpatient admission periods. This, as for patients, is estimated using 

DfT’s TAG value for non-working time, with an assumed loss of 8 days.69 

A major financial benefit results from avoided inpatient admissions for the NHS. The Manchester 

New Economy Model provides an estimate of £459 for the fiscal cost of mental health inpatient 

cost per bed day, providing a total saving of £7,918,089.70 

Finally, there may be benefits to the wider economy from reduced readmissions. Employers will 

gain if more individuals become available to work as a result of the proposed changes. This 

positive labour intervention will therefore have an overall impact on productivity in the economy. 

The Manchester New Economy Model values the economic costs of service provision for those 

suffering from mental health disorders at £4,420 per year. Given the average length of stay and 

patient volume assumptions, this saving is estimated at £208,861 per annum.  

8. Reduced repeat presentations 

The total savings from reduced repeat presentations are set out in Table 19 below and 

described in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 19: Reduced repeat presentations savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £128,631 - £128,631 

Patient (time and experience) - £46,213 £46,213 

Local authority - £164,580 £164,580 

Wider economy - £3,94829 £3,948 

LAS - £132,039 £132,039 

Police - £122,780 £122,780 

Total £128,631 £469,559 £598,191 

At present, approximately 19.2% of sections are repeat presentations from individuals  are 

readmitted through the s136 pathway within six months.71 However, from discussions with key 

stakeholders in the system it is estimated that a reduction to 10% is possible under the preferred 

option.  For the entirety of London, this would represent a 489 fewer episodes of individuals 

being detained under s136 per year when compared to the current model. In addition, it is 

expected that implementation of new models such as Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM) will 

have a positive impact on repeat admissions.  

The entire costs of the pathway, financial, social and economic are therefore saved with respect 

to these 489 patients. The total saving is estimated at £598,191 per annum. 

                                                
69

 The use of non-working time is conservative as it assumes that 100% of re;atives/carers visit outside of working 
hours 
70

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database 
71

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 

Page 193

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  88 

 

9. Improving the wider crisis care system 

 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will not only have a 

direct impact on the s136 pathway; it will also have wider implications for the entire crisis care 

system in the capital: 

 The first notable benefit is the new model will future proof services. The reconfigured 

sites allow capacity to be utilised in a more sustainable manner, ensuring that 

infrastructure can better cope with volatility in demand and potential growth in coming 

years; 

 Successful implementation of a pan-London model with improve facilities and a high 

quality standard of care will raise the profile of crisis care as a whole and is likely to 

encourage future service improvement in crisis care services including potential 

expansion of other services and training; 

 In addition, the new model of care will promote greater synergies between crisis care 

services and other physical and health services within the NHS and well as local demand 

management schemes that are emerging (e.g. Street Triage and the Serenity Integrated 

Mentoring (SIM) model). The specialised 24/7 staffed sites will lead to focal points for 

crisis care activity, providing the opportunity for a solid network of supporting services to 

be developed around the sites and bringing transparency and recognition to an often 

forgotten and ‘ad hoc’ service;   

 The investment will support the broader objective of closing the financial gap between 

physical and mental health care funding. There are direct financial benefits to the 

reconfigured pathway as detailed in Section 5. Furthermore, the new model of care will 

provide a platform from which performance and trends can be appraised across the 

system, establishing the potential for further cost efficiencies; and 

 The new model of care proposes a standardised, consistent s136 pathway across 

London. This presents an opportunity to collect and appraise standardised crisis care 

data. Using this as an initial platform to expand data collection across crisis care, will 

ensure that performance of the whole crisis care system can be effectively evaluated; 

this will support identification and sharing of best practice and identification of 

opportunities for wider service improvement and cost efficiencies. 

Whilst the new model of care will have positive impacts on the crisis care system as a whole, it is 

also important to recognise that in order for it to be sustainable, all parts of the wider system 

need to be functioning well including:  

 Preventative initiatives which assist in demand management (such as Street Triage) 

 Flow through inpatient services with adequate beds and low numbers of delayed 

transfers of care (DTOC) 

 Well-resourced and responsive community and crisis response teams for prevention 

of admission and intensive discharge support. 

 S117 aftercare support from social services 

 New initiatives, such as the Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM) model to provide 

targeted support to those frequently detained. 

The ideal pathway for a patient in crisis will involve positive interactions with more than 

one of a range of services that will support them. It is also these services, particularly 

Page 194



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  89 

 

demand management initiatives such as street triage and crisis resolution teams that will 

protect against the presence of a well-functioning s136 pathway driving further 

increasing demand. 
 

Figure 18: The ideal journey of a person in mental health crisis on the pan-London 

s136 pathway.  

 

The pathway is one element of a wider crisis care system; preventative and early intervention 

services must be in place to prevent people from reaching crisis point as well as adequate follow 

up pathways once assed at the HBPoS site.  

5.2.4 Indicative costs 

The cost of the new model of care and reconfiguration of London’s HBPoS sites is outlined in 

detail in Section 5, the Financial Case and includes the following expenditure items: 

 Transition costs; 

Page 195



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  90 

 

 Capital costs; and 

 Section 136 pathway variances as a result of the reconfiguration. 

The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration, including total indicative transition and capital 

costs as well as estimated pathway costs for a given year, is £23.7m and is broken down as 

shown in the table below. The costs of the preferred option include the financial savings gained 

along the pathway from LAS and police time savings, together with the NHS savings from 

reduced ED admissions due to capacity issues and lower overheads. 

Table 20: Costs overview 

Type Baseline cost for 

20 sites  

(£000) 

Preferred option 

(£000) 

Variance 

(£000) 

Pathway (per annum) £20,632 £20,494 £138 

Transition £0 £1,000 (£1,000) 

Capital £0 £2,250 (£2,250) 

Total £20,632 £23,744 (£3,112) 

 

5.2.5 Indicative net benefits and NPV 

The potential value of the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London can 

only be understood through comparing the full range of costs and benefits of the scheme. This 

includes each of the financial, economic and social impacts which affect the broad range of 

stakeholders involved within and outside of the s136 pathway. To determine to profitability of the 

proposed reconfiguration the Net Present Value (NPV) is calculated. The NPV is described as 

the difference between the present value of cash inflows (benefits) and the present value of cash 

outflows (costs) over a period of time. A positive NPV indicates a profitable investment. 

Tables 21 and 22 below consider the net benefits and costs of the scheme for the period 

FY18/19 to FY22/23. To avoid double counting, the financial savings from reduced overheads 

(non-cashable), lower ED admissions and LAS and police resource costs (latter two both 

cashable) are not included in the benefits identified. 

Whilst the current analysis assumes that all benefits will delivered in full from year 1 (FY18/19), 

there is recognition that the benefits will accrue over time as the new model of care is 

implemented. Furthermore, it is acknowledged that additional costs may arise as a result of 

phased implementation (two sites FY18/19, three sites FY19/20). Further detail will be 

developed to capture the estimated financial impact at the next business case stage. This will be 

dependent on the implementation plans by STP. 

Page 196



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  91 

 

This indicative analysis of costs and associated non-cashable benefits suggests a net present 

value (NPV) of non-cashable benefits of £66.2m over the five year period. The NPV has been 

calculated on the future cash flow over 5 years discounted at 3.5% per annum. 

Table 21: Net present benefits 

 FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21 FY21/22 FY22/23 

Benefits (excl. 

pathway financial 

savings) 

£13,619k £14,156k £14,693k  £15,230k  £15,768k  

Discount factor 
(3.5%) 

0.966 0.934 0.902 0.871 0.842 

Discounted 
benefits 

£13,158k £13,215k £13,252k  £3,272k £13,276k  

Net present non-
financial 
benefits 

£66,174k     

 

The indicative analysis of the variance in costs between the baseline pathway and preferred 

option pathway suggests a NPV of £4.8m over the five year period. The NPV has been 

calculated on future cash flow over 5 years discounted at 3.5% per annum. 

 

Table 22: Net present savings/costs 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Variance (cost)/saving (£500k) (£2,750k) £2,154k £3,005k £3,856k 

Discount factor 0.966 0.934 0.902 0.871 0.842 

Discounted (cost)/ Saving 
(£,000) 

(£483k) (£2,567k) £1,942k £2,618k £3,246k 

Net present financial 
savings 

£4,757k     

Together, Table 19 and Table 20 illustrate that the indicative net present value of the 

reconfiguration is approximately £71m (including both cashable and non-cashable benefits). It is 

therefore recommended that the proposal is approved for funding. 

 

6 Financial case 
This section of the business case describes the financial implications of the preferred nine site 

option for the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London. As indicated 

Page 197



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  92 

 

previously, further information on costs and benefits for the 13 site transitional phase is outlined 

in the Management Case. The starting point for the analysis is to identify the costs of the current 

s136 pathway to the range of stakeholders within the crisis care system. To determine the cost 

variances as a result of the reconfiguration, this analysis is followed by a breakdown of the costs 

of the preferred option, which is supported by a new model of care for people detained under 

s136.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs 

 Preferred option pathway costs 

 Variance in pathway costs 

 Transition costs 

 Capital costs 

 Summary and funding arrangements 

 Risks to financial assessment 

Page 198



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  93 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London, with a lack of dedicated, 

specialty skilled resource, results in a cost pressure for most MH Trusts, with staff 

diverted from other roles (often from inpatient facilities) to attend to s136 patients. 

The preferred nine site option is estimated to cost c. £20.5m p.a. compared to the 

baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth), a decrease 

of £0.1m 

The interim stage of transition to the preferred option will involve a total of 13 sites at an 
estimated cost of c. £23.2m p.a. 

Over the five year period FY18/19 to FY22/23 total costs of the reconfiguration are 

estimated at c. £106.8m, compared to £111.7m per the baseline pathway. This gives a 

net savings of £4.9m, with a NPV of £4.8m.  

The current plan is predicated on the following assumptions: 

► Preferred option is implemented in FY19/20 

► Net activity growth of 16.5% (allow for demographic growth and growth from 
recent statutory changes) 

► Successful delivery of £6.3m financial savings (of which £795k are cashable cost 
savings) 

► £1m transition costs; however, this is only an estimate and it is acknowledged 
that further analysis and refinement is required 

► £2.3m capital expenditure; however, this is only an estimate and it is 
acknowledged that further analysis will be required during implementation 
planning, with capital requirements per site defined with local estates team. A 
transitional stage of 13 sites would require £450k less capital funding 

► £3.3m funding being made available from CCGs / pooling of budgets across STP 
footprints 

Risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

include: 

► Gaps in data collection 

► Robustness of data 

► Access to data 

►  

Page 199



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  94 

 

6.1 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs  

6.1.1 Overview 

To provide a financial case for the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in 

London, there is a clear requirement to provide robust costing for the base case, the ‘do-nothing’ 

option. This enables a greater understanding of the cost impacts along various sections of the 

s136 pathway and allows a further examination of how the proposed changes will be realised 

financially. 

However, there are numerous challenges in trying to estimate a baseline cost for the s136 

pathway: 

 The pathway is inconsistent across the system; 

 There is lack of consistent data, as no pan-London consistent data collection 

methodology exists across what is a complex, multi-stakeholder environment; and 

 Data can be misinterpreted due to the complexity of the pathway with multiple interfaces 

with various stakeholders. 

During the options evaluation process, a mapping exercise was carried out, where the journey of 

an individual detained under Section 136 was recorded from the point of detention to their arrival 

at an HBPoS and subsequent discharge. There can be up to seven different agencies involved 

in this process for an adult and the number is even greater for a child or young person. All of 

these agencies have their own policies, cultures, information/communication requirements (e.g. 

assessments), processes and attitudes towards risk. These agencies include:  

i. The police (including the Metropolitan Police, The City of London Police and British 

Transport Police);  

ii. LAS;  

iii. EDs;  

iv. Mental health trusts (MHTs);  

v. AMHPs;  

vi. Emergency duty teams (EDTs), which may be different organisationally from day 

services; and  

vii. Crisis resolution and home treatment teams (or other referral agencies).  

As a consequence, providing an accurate assessment of cost for the baseline is complex in 

nature. Furthermore, this complexity is exacerbated by the lack of robust data in this area of the 

UK’s health service. Recent literature has identified the need to enhance the robustness of 

existing data for the s136 pathway and related crisis care services. For example, the Royal 

College of Psychiatrists’ ‘Guidance for commissioners’ document (2013), emphasised core 

standards in service provision from initial detention, including the need to establish multi-agency 

groups that will monitor data to develop, implement and assure quality of service. Similarly, the 

Page 200



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  95 

 

Care Quality Commission (2014) undertook a national survey of providers and found that there 

was a lack of an appropriate data capture mechanism to inform the monitoring of service 

provision. 72 

Given such data limitations, the costs of the s136 pathway have been estimated by utilising 

existing secondary data sources provided by the LAS, Police and the NHS; supplemented 

through a series of data collection audits and surveys.  

The baseline pathway costs have been grouped into the following key steps along the s136 

pathway: 

 Cost of Conveyance; 

 HBPoS costs, including the cost of AMHPs, s12 Doctors and assumed overhead costs; 

and 

 ED costs, where an ED is utilised due to lack of capacity at an HBPoS. 

The remainder of this subsection and the following subsection is organised according to these 

headings. Underneath each of these key steps, the cost of specific stakeholder involvement can 

be calculated. Figure 19 below provides a summary of the scope and costs estimates of the 

s136 pathway.  

Figure 19: Summary and scope of baseline costs 

 

  

                                                
72

 CQC national survey of providers 2014 

Police 
Conveyance 

Ambulance 

Conveyance 

HBPoS – staff 
 
 

HBPoS non-pay 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

1. £112- £249 

2. £69 - £398 

3. £145 - £256 

4. £178 

5. £333 - £1133 

Discharge 

Inpatient 

Community 

ED visit due 
to physical 
health care 

needs 

s136 
Pathway 

Average Indicative 
Cost per Patient 
£1396 - £2,773 

7. £559 

ED visit due to lack of 

HBPoS capacity 

S136 
Pick Up 

6. 

Page 201



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  96 

 

6.1.2 Summary of baseline pathway costs 

It is estimated that on average, the baseline s136 pathway costs are circa £20.6 million per year. 

Table 23 below provides a summary of the average cost range associated with the s136 

pathway components. The paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in more 

detail. 

Table 23: Baseline pathway costs 

Ref Pathway 

Component 

Indicative annual activity Indicative unit 

cost per patient 

Indicative 

baseline cost 

1a Police 

Conveyance73 

1,114 £182.36 £203k 

1b Police Conveyance 

(with LAS)60 

4,193 £103.79 £435K 

2 Ambulance74 4,193 £312.44 £1,310k 

3 AMHP 5,307 £210.75 £1,118k 

4 Independent s12 

Doctor 

2,123 £178 £378k 

5 HBPoS: Staff Standalone – 617 

Combined – 373 

The remainder – 4,317 

IP - £843 

Discharge -£458 

Community - 

£513  

SLAM – £1,512k 

PDU - £1,151k 

£5,418k 

6 HBPoS: non-Pay   £11,473k 

7 ED 531 £559 £297k 

 Total   £20,632k 

 

 

                                                
73

 1a refers to conveyance activity and costs when police only when conveying alone and 1b when 
conveying with LAS. 
74

 The activity and cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Page 202



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  97 

 

6.1.3 Cost of Conveyance 

The total costs of conveyance are set out in Table 24 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

 

Table 24: Cost of Conveyance 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

Police  costs
75

  £112-£249 £203,235 

Police conveyance costs (with 
LAS)

76
 

£81-£141 £435,143 

Ambulance conveyance costs
77

 £327-£564 £1,309,914 

 

At present, there are two modes of conveyance by which an individual detained under s136 

arrives at an HBPoS site after initial detention: 

 Either via the LAS  

 via police vehicle (if LAS is not available within an adequate timeframe) 

Note that the police retain legal responsibility for the patient during conveyance and therefore 

will always accompany LAS. 

.Figure 20 provides a snapshot of this step along the s136 pathway. 

Figure 20: Baseline conveyance costs 

 

For both modes of travel, there are three major cost drivers for this step in the pathway: 

 The travel time/distance from initial detention to HBPoS; 

 The frequency of conveyance; and 

 The unit cost of conveyance. 

                                                
75

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone. 
76

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying with LAS 
77

 The cost of conveyance to LAS; this is always with police. 

Police 
Conveyance 

Ambulance 

Conveyance 

HBPoS  1. £112- £249 

2. £69 - £398 s136 Pathway 

S136 
Pick Up 

Page 203



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  98 

 

The total costs per patient and per annum for conveyance by police conveyance and ambulance 

conveyance are discussed below. Ranges are given for costs per patient, while for the purposes 

of this financial analysis, median figures have been used to aggregate this to an annual amount. 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £112 - £249 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £203k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by a police officer in London costs between £112 and £249 per 

person detained. After taking patient activity into account, the cost of conveyances of s136 

patients via the police force is estimated at approximately £203k per annum. This cost includes 

both adult and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs 

are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To determine the baseline travel time for Police conveyances, one year’s worth of data (from 

April ’15 to March ’16) submitted from the British Transport Police has been utilised. The data, 

direct from stakeholder sources, established that Police conveyance ranged on average from 40 

minutes to 84 minutes with a median conveyance of 64 minutes. 

Activity 

To determine activity, an estimate was required of the percentage of activity conveyed via the 

Police alone vs. LAS (with police). Historic trajectories have been analysed to understand how 

the proportion of various means of conveyance has changed. These trajectories have 

demonstrated that the proportion of conveyance by police alone is decreasing; this is in line with 

London’s s136 guidance which states that an ambulance with police support should always be 

used to convey the individual under s136 to a HBPoS.  Combining conveyance data from 

London’s three police forces, it has been estimated that conveyance by police alone represents 

approximately 21% of all conveyances, with LAS conveyance (with police) representing the 

remaining 79%. These figures have been used for the baseline calculations. 

Unit costs 

To establish the unit cost of conveyance via Police, the unit cost is drawn from the National 

Policing Guidelines on Charging for Police Services 2016. This provides a cost figure of £58.20 

per hour and incorporates both direct costs as well as an apportionment of overhead costs 

including equipment and vehicle costs, building costs and back office costs.  

b) With LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £81 - £141 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £435k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by a police officer in London, whilst accompanying the LAS, costs 

between £81 and £141 per individual detained under s136. After taking patient activity into 

Page 204



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  99 

 

account, the cost of conveyances of s136 patients via the police force, whilst accompanying the 

LAS, is estimated at approximately £435k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP 

conveyances. The assumptions used for unit costs are discussed above, whilst the assumptions 

used for travel time and activity are the same as that used for ambulance conveyance, 

discussed in turn below. 

The combined total police conveyance costs in the baseline option are therefore estimated at 

£638k per annum. 

 

2. Ambulance conveyance 

 Indicative per patient ambulance conveyance costs: £245 - £423 

 Indicative per annum ambulance conveyance costs: £1,310k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by an ambulance ranges between £245 and £423 per individual 

detained under s136. After taking patient activity into account, the cost of conveyances of s136 

patients via LAS is estimated at approximately £1,310k per annum. This cost includes both adult 

and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs are 

discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To determine the baseline travel time for ambulance conveyances, information was drawn from 

six months’ worth of LAS data (from Aug ’16 to Jan ’17). The data, direct from stakeholder 

sources, established that Ambulance conveyance ranged on average from 84 minutes to 145 

min, with a median conveyance of 107 minutes.  

Activity 

As discussed above for police conveyance, it has been estimated that ambulance conveyance 

represents approximately 79% of all conveyances. 

Unit costs 

LAS provided an estimate of the average cost per minute of £2.92 to See, Treat and Convey. 

This is based on reference costs and the average job cycle time.  

6.1.4 Health Based Place of Safety 

The total HBPoS costs are set out in Table 25 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 
 

Table 25: HBPoS costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

AMHP  £145-£256 £1,118,450 

Independent s12 doctor £178 £377,858 

Staff costs £333-£1,133 £5,417,486 

Non-pay costs NA £11,472,647 

 

Page 205



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  100 

 

Once the individual detained under s136 arrives at the HBPoS, there are three key areas of 

activity that can occur: 

 Activities carried out by HBPoS staff: After the handover that occurs between the 

police/ambulance at the place of safety, the person’s immediate needs are assessed by 

the duty doctor; usually a junior doctor. A full mental state examination is carried out by a 

more senior doctor - a Specialist Registrar (SpR), or Consultant Psychiatrist, who will 

either be called to the suite from their normal place of work or, if outside of normal office 

hours, called in from home. If the SpR or Consultant is of the view that the patient is not 

suffering from a mental disorder, they can be discharged directly after this initial 

assessment. 

 Activities carried out by the AMHPs: If the doctor sees the person first and concludes 

that they have a mental disorder, the person must be seen by an AMHP who will 

interview them. The AMHP is a duty social worker with specialist mental health training, 

who is available 24/7 in each borough. If an admission is not required, they will decide 

what (if anything) the person needs in the community, for example a community team 

referral, The patient may agree to informal (voluntary) admission, in which case 

assessment by the section 12 doctor as described below is not required.. 

 Activities carried out by the independent s12 doctor: If the SpR or Consultant feels 

that admission is required but the patient does not consent to this, a second Section 12 

approved doctor and an AMHP will complete a MHA assessment and make a decision 

following that assessment. 

In addition to these activities which drive pay costs, there are non-pay costs such as corporate 

and management overheads which need to be factored into our analysis. Figure 21 below 

provides a snapshot of this step along the s136 pathway.  

 

Figure 21: HBPoS baseline costs 

 

The total costs per patient and per annum for AMHPs, s12 doctors, HBPoS staff and HBPoS 

non-pay expenses are discussed in turn below. 

3. AMHP costs 

 Indicative per patient AMHP costs: £145 - £256 

 Indicative per annum AMHP costs: £1,118k 

HBPoS – staff 
 
 

HBPoS non-pay 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

3. £145 - £256 

4. £178 

5. £333 - £1133 

s136 Pathway 

6.  

Page 206



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  101 

 

The provision of AMHP services varies significantly across each of London’s boroughs. This 

variation not only affects patient services, but also impacts on data collection at each HBPoS 

site. A range of data collection methods such as monitoring or audit forms, log-sheets, paper-

based staff records, and bespoke spread sheets have been utilised by different HBPoS sites, 

with little consistency. As a result, it is difficult to compare AMHP costs across services. To solve 

this issue, a survey was conducted with various boroughs to estimate the cost of an AMHP in 

dealing with a section 136 patient. 

From the analysis, it is estimated the average cost of an AMHP assessment can range between 

£145 and £256 per assessment. When aggregated, the estimated baseline cost for AMHPs is 

£1,118k per year. This cost includes AMHP services to both adult and CYP individuals. 

For the purposes of the financial analysis, it is assumed that 100% of the patients are seen by 

an AMHP based on the specification. From Police and LAS data, the annual s136 activity across 

London is 5307 is estimated from Jan 16 to Dec 17. 

The unit cost figures were sourced through research into the contracted hourly rate for AMHPs 

across London. This research determined that the contracted hourly rates varied from 

approximately £28 per hour to £32 per hour. For this business case, a mid-point of £30 per hour 

has been used. It is acknowledged that this figure solely considers the direct cost of contractor 

AMHP activity and does not incorporate an apportionment of overheads. Furthermore, while it is 

noted that there is a greater prevalence of contracted AMHP resources in London, some of 

these resources will be operating via a substantive permanent post. 

To estimate the time spent by AMHPs within the s136 pathway, a data collection exercise was 

undertaken by HLP. The exercise focused on collating data to inform average times spent within 

the pathway. This included average administrative time, travel time to the assessment and the 

actual time required to undertake the mental health assessment. This determined that AMHPs 

on average spend between 292 minutes and 514 minutes on s136 activities per patient. The 

distribution of data collected against each of these time categories is displayed in Figures 22 to 

25 below. 

Figure 22: Distribution of AMHP admin time 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

m
in

s
 

AMHP Admin time 

Page 207



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  102 

 

Figure 23: Distribution of AMHP waiting for bed time 

 

Figure 24: Distribution of AMHP patient facing time 

 

Figure 25: Distribution of AMHP travelling time 

 

Table 26: Baseline AMHP resource time 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Admin Waiting 

Time 

Patient 
Facing 

Travel 
time 

Total 

time 

Total 

Cost 

Baseline 92 231 61 38 422 £1,118k 

For the purposes of costing, 422 minutes has been used, a sum of median travel time, patient 

facing, admin and waiting time for AMHPs was used. Using this information, it has been 

estimated the cost of the baseline to be £1,118k. 

4. Independent s12 doctor costs 

 Indicative per patient s12 doctor costs: £178 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

m
in

s
 

AMHP waiting for bed time 

0

20

40

60

80

100

m
in

s
 

AMHP patient facing time 

0

20

40

60

80

m
in

s
 

AMHP travelling time 

Page 208



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  103 

 

 Indicative per annum s12 doctor costs: £378k (assumed call out rate 40%) 

An independent s12 doctor is called if the SpR or Consultant feel that admission is required but 

the patient does not consent to admission. The s12 doctor cost for the pathway is therefore 

influenced by two factors: 

 The frequency in which the s12 doctor is called: The major driver for this cost 

category is the frequency of the s12 doctor call out. However, there is no robust data that 

clearly establishes this figure. From data analysis, it is estimated that 20% of patients are 

informally admitted, while 21% are detained formally. The data is sourced from Mental 

Health and Learning Disability dataset (MHLDDS) from July – December 2015. From this 

data, it can be assumed the s12 doctor was called at least 21% of the time, since 21% of 

the patients got formally admitted. However, a proportion of patients seen by the s12 

doctor will be eventually admitted informally or discharged. As an estimate, 40% 

independent s12 call out rate for the baseline is assumed. 

 The cost charged by the independent s12 doctor: The cost of an s12 doctor is based 

on a fixed fee that is charged for every s12 call out. It is a fixed fee of £178, which is 

standard across England. 

Assuming a 40% call out rate, together with the fixed fee of £178, a baseline cost of £378k per 

annum for s12 doctors has been estimated. This cost includes s12 services provided to both 

adult and CYP individuals. 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

 Indicative per patient HBPoS staff costs: £333 - £1,133 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS staff costs: £5,417k 

As the majority of the HBPoS sites do not have any dedicated staffing arrangements, the 

traditional method of costing the pathway, by adding the whole time equivalent and multiplying 

by their respective unit cost is not possible.  

As an alternative, a time and motion study was undertaken to determine the time that non-

dedicated staff typically spend dealing with a person detained under s136. Excluding places of 

safety78 with dedicated staffing, the average cost of staff per service user ranges from between 

£333 and £1,133. The major drivers for this cost are the length of stay at the HBPoS, the various 

staffing models and the pay band at each of the sites. It is estimated that the indicative cost of 

staff directly involved in the provision of care within HBPoS sites across London is approximately 

£5.4m per year. This includes those sites that have established dedicated staffing and includes 

HBPoS services provided to both adult and CYP individuals. 

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a.,the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

                                                
78

 SWLSTGs, and SLAM are excluded when calculating cost per individual detained under s136; however, the cost of 
£4.9m does include SWLSTGs and SLAM staff costs. 

Page 209



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  104 

 

 

Figure 26: Distribution of cost per individual detained under s136 

 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS non-pay costs: £11,473k 

As with pay costs, attempting to establish the proposed non-pay cost of HBPoS sites across 

London is challenging. Multiple stakeholders have iterated the complexity of costing the non-staff 

running costs such as drugs, medications, and estimating capital overheads and estate charges. 

This is, to some degree, driven by the lack of formal data capture undertaken within the 

pathway. Box 8 provides an example of these difficulties. 

Box 8: Non-pay cost identification difficulties 

 

While it is difficult to estimate the various non-pay costs such as management overheads and 

estate charges, it is prudent to assume that HBPoS sites draw on overhead resources. As a 

proxy, data associated with SLAM’s non-pay costs have been tested with finance directors from 

London’s Mental Health Trusts and utilised to estimate a baseline non-pay cost across London. 

This dataset was utilised due to it being the most detailed breakdown of non-pay costs available. 

These non-pay costs are assumed to be driven both on a per site basis and a per patient basis; 

a summary of the non-pay cost of HBPoS across London is provided below. 

Table 27: Baseline non-pay costs 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

£
 C

o
st

 

“The two suites are part of PFIs which are managed by acute trust partners and both the non-staffing running 

costs (utilities, medication, phones, stationary etc ) and capital overheads are integrated within the overall fabric of 

the building. At this stage we don't have a dedicated staffing team for the suites and delegate staffing from our 

wards and Pre Admission Suite when required.” 

Finance Manager 

Page 210



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  105 

 

Non-pay costs Baseline Non-Pay Cost of HBPoS 

sites across London 

Drugs                                £          40k 

Medical Purchases  £        160k 

Transport costs  £        1,037k 

Cleaning   £        700k 

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation  £        160k 

Corporate Overhead Allocation  £    5,142k 

Management Overhead Allocation  £    1,512k 

Estate charges  £    2,722k 

Total  £  11,473k 

 

6.1.5 Emergency Department (ED) 

The total ED costs are set out in Table 28 below and described in more detail in the paragraphs 
which follow. 

Table 28: ED costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

NHS  £559 £297,134 

At present, it is estimated that 6% of people detained under s136 are sent to the ED due to 

insufficient capacity in the current configuration of HBPoS sites.79 In addition, a further 4% are 

estimated to attend with other physical health conditions. This adds increased pressure to EDs 

and leads to worse treatment experiences for the individual. Figure 27 below provides a 

snapshot of this step in the pathway. 

Figure 27: ED baseline costs 

 

The average cost of an ED attendance is £117.80 However, this is based on an average duration 

of just 2.5 hours.81 However, as audit data shows that individuals detained under s136 spend an 

average of 12 hours at an ED, this is uplifted in order to take account of the added resource 

costs. As a result, the total annual estimate for the NHS cost of s136 attending the ED is £297k. 

                                                
79

 This estimate has been calculated from audit data from the HBPoS sites 
80

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database  
81

 http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070  

HBPoS 

s136 Pathway 

7. £559 

ED visit due to lack of 
HBPoS capacity 

ED visit for physical 

health reason 

Page 211

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  106 

 

6.2 Preferred option pathway costs 

6.2.1 Overview 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the baseline costs of the s136 pathway 

discussed in the previous subsection, this subsection focuses on assessing the cost of the 

preferred nine site option across the patient pathway. This incorporates understanding the cost 

impact of the consolidation of the existing HBPoS sites into nine sites. Furthermore, it considers 

a dedicated, combined workforce model, consistently applied across all sites in London. 

As in the previous subsection on baseline costs, this section describes the cost associated with 

the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites at each step of the s136 journey. The pathway is divided into 

two parts: 

 The conveyance from initial detention to the HBPoS; and 

 The critical steps that occur at the HBPoS.  

For the cost associated at each of these steps of the pathway, an indicative cost range is 

provided where applicable, along with an estimated overall cost per annum. 

6.2.2 Summary of preferred option pathway costs 

It is estimated that on average, the s136 pathway costs for the preferred option are circa 

£20.5million per year. Table 29 below provides a summary of the average cost associated with 

the s136 pathway components. The paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in 

more detail. Table 30 sets out the indicative pathway component costs per STP / HBPoS, with 

the allocation calculated on a capitation basis. This will require further review and analysis at the 

next business case stage. 

Table 29: Preferred option pathway costs 

Ref Pathway Component Indicative annual 

activity 

Indicative unit 

cost per patient 

Indicative 

preferred 

option cost 

1a82 Police Conveyance 1,114 £101 £112k 

1b69 Police Conveyance (with 
LAS) 

4,193 £80 £333k 

283 Ambulance 4,193 £239 £1,004k 

3 AMHP 5,307 £222 £1,176k 

                                                
82 1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 

83 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

 

Page 212



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  107 

 

4 Independent s12 Doctor 1,698 £178 £302k 

5 HBPoS – Staff 5,307 £2,192 £11,636k 

6 HBPoS – non-pay   £5,931k 

7 ED 0 £0 £0k 

 Total   £20,494k 

 

Table 30: Preferred option pathway costs per STP and HBPoS 

 

6.2.3 Cost of Conveyance 

As noted, there are two major routes in which an individual arrives from initial detention to the 

HBPoS; either via a police vehicle or via an ambulance with police support. 

                                                
84

 1a gives the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS 
85

 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Ref 

STP NCL NWL NEL SEL SWL Total 

HBPoS 
Chase 
Farm 

Highgate 
MHC 

Lakesid
e MHU 

Riverside 
St. 

Charles 

City and 
Hackney 

MHC 

Sunflower 
Court 

Southwark Wandsworth 
Total 

£’000s 

 
Pathway 
Compon

ent 
Indicative preferred option costs (£’000s) 

1a Police
84

 £23 £23 £31 £24 £11 £112 

1b Police 
(with 
LAS)

71 
£69 £67 £92 £73 £32 £333 

2 LAS
85

 £208 £201 £278 £218 £98 £1,004 

 Total £300 £291 £401 £315 £141 £1,449 

3 AMHP £69 £175 £122 £30 £84 £215 £111 £256 £115 £1,176 

4 Independ
ent s12 
doctor 

£18 £45 £31 £8 £22 £55 £28 £66 £29 £302 

5 HBPoS- 
Staff 

£858 £1,512 £1,185 £858 £858 £1,840 £1,185 £2,155 £1,185 £11,636 

6 HBPoS – 
Non pay 

£349 £882 £616 £151 £424 £1,085 £558 £1,290 £578 £5,931 

 Total £1,294 £2,614 £1,954 £1,047 £1,388 £3,195 £1,882 £3,767 £1,907 £20,494 

Page 213



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  108 

 

The total costs of conveyance are set out in Table 31 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

Table 31: Cost of Conveyance 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

Police conveyance costs
86

  £101 £112,427 

Police conveyance costs
73

 (with 
LAS) 

£80 £333,474 

Ambulance conveyance costs
87

 £239 £1,003,859 

 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £101 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £112k 

The total cost for police conveyance (not accompanying the LAS) in the preferred option has 

been estimated at £112k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The 

assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To assess the impact on conveyance time of the preferred option, data was utilised that detailed 

the pick-up location of historic s136 pan-London activity. This data was overlaid onto the location 

of HBPoS sites within the preferred option, allowing an assessment to be made of average 

conveyance time between the pick-up locations and the location of the consolidated HBPoS 

sites.  

This determined that average conveyances times within the preferred option were between 16 

and 32 minutes, with a median of 22 minutes. For the purpose of this analysis, it is assumed that 

travel time differential between the Police and the Ambulance does not exist, as Ambulance 

vehicles are not allowed to blue light while conveying mental health patients to the HBPoS, 

although this may change in the future.  

Activity 

As stated in Section 5.1.3, the proportion of individuals detained under s136 conveyed by police, 

is decreasing relative to LAS conveyance. Using mathematical prediction, an indicative estimate 

is that 87% of those detained will be conveyed by LAS by 2020, compared to 13% by police 

vehicle. As it is not possible to determine conclusively that the past trend will continue at the 

same pace in the future, the preferred option uses the same conveyance percentages that is 

seen in the baseline - an ambulance conveyance of 79% and a police conveyance of 21%. 

It is noted that there is a risk to increasing activity at HBPoS sites that border London where police 
detention takes place in the outer areas of London. Further investigation into this shows there are two 
Health Based Place of Safety sites that lie within ten miles of the London boundary that could be affected 
by the nine site option. Conveyance to these sites outside of London is likely to primarily come from the 

                                                
86

 1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 
87

 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Page 214



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  109 

 

outer London boroughs in NWL and SEL. To give an indicative estimation of the potential impact, it is 
estimated that activity levels diverted to these sites would be no higher than 10% of activity in the 
affected areas, using current figures this would be 20-23 patients per annum as a result of London’s new 
model of care. However, improved access at HBPoS sites within the London boundary is likely to limit the 
conveyance of those sectioned to sites outside the city. Nonetheless, during and post implementation it 
will be important to be aware of this potential unintended consequence and be open to communication 
with areas outside London in order to monitor and mitigate this risk. 

Unit costs 

As per the baseline costs, the preferred option unit cost per minute is assumed to be £58.2 per 

hour for police forces.  

b) With LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £80 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £333k 

The total cost for police conveyance, accompanying the LAS, in the preferred option has been 

estimated at £333k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The unit 

cost assumptions are discussed above, whilst the assumptions used for travel time and activity 

are the same as that used for ambulance conveyance, discussed in turn below. 

The combined total police conveyance costs in the preferred option are therefore estimated at 

£446k per annum.  

2. Ambulance conveyance 

 Indicative per patient ambulance conveyance costs: £239 

 Indicative per annum ambulance conveyance costs: £1,004k 

The total cost for ambulance conveyance in the preferred option has been estimated at £1,004k 

per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for 

travel time, activity and unit costs are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

As noted above, the average conveyance time assumed for the preferred option is between 64 

and 111 minutes, with a median of 82 minutes. For the purpose of this analysis, it is assumed 

that travel time differential between the Police and the Ambulance does not exist, as Ambulance 

vehicles are not allowed to blue light while conveying mental health patients to the HBPoS, 

although this may change in the future. 

Activity 

As stated above, we have assumed that the preferred option uses the same conveyance 

percentages that are seen in the baseline - an ambulance conveyance of 79% and a police 

conveyance of 21%. However, it is important to note that the proportion of those detained who 

are conveyed via ambulance may increase in the future. Figure 28 provides an illustration of a 

projected increase in LAS conveyance, although this has not been incorporated in our financial 

analysis. 

Page 215



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  110 

 

Figure 28: Projection of LAS conveyance % 

 

If these projections are accurate, the anticipated shorter journey times, together with the 

increased frequency of usage for ambulance and a decreased usage of police conveyance, will 

require local ambulance services to have more staff and more ambulance vehicles, potentially 

inducing cost increases during conveyance. 

Unit costs 

As per the baseline costs, the preferred option unit cost per minute is assumed to be £2.92 for 

LAS. 

6.2.4 Health Based Place of Safety 

The total HBPoS costs are set out in Table 32 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

 

Table 32: HBPoS costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

AMHP  £222 £1,175,501 

Independent s12 doctor £178 £302,287 

Staff costs £2,192 £11,636 

Non-pay costs NA £5,830,810 

 

3. AMHP costs 

 Indicative per patient AMHP costs: £222 

 Indicative per annum AMHP costs: £1,176k 

It is estimated that the AMHP cost associated with s136 activity across London is £1,176k per 

annum for the preferred option, which includes AMHP activity for adults only. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

LA
S 

co
n

ve
ya

n
ce

 %
 

LAS conveyance using BTP LAS conveyance for MET

Log. (LAS conveyance using BTP) Log. (LAS conveyance for MET)

Page 216



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  111 

 

There are three drivers that will impact the AMHPs cost for the preferred option, which are as 

follows:  

 Activity - For the preferred option, it is also assumed that 100% of the patients are seen 

by an AMHP, as this is outlined in the s136 specification.  

 Unit cost - It is assumed that hourly rate of AMHPs across London does not change 

between the baseline and the preferred option, and therefore, £30 per hour was utilised 

for the preferred option. 

 Time spent (travel/admin/assessing patient) - As a result of the consolidation of 

HBPoS sites, AMHPs travel time would increase. Given the location associated with the 

9 site model, it is estimated that travel time would increase by 57% from 38 minutes to 59 

minutes on average. The % increase is calculated by the time differential of travelling 

between the baseline case and the preferred option, where AMHPs are travelling from 

their home borough to the closest HBPoS located within their STP, within the 

reconfigured model. 

Table 33: AMHP resource time 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Travel time Patient Facing Admin Waiting Time Total 

time 

Total 

Cost 

Preferred option 59 61 92 231 443 £1,176k 

4. Independent s12 Doctor costs 

 Indicative per patient s12 doctor costs: £178 

 Indicative per annum s12 doctor costs: £302k 

The cost of the s12 doctor for the pathway is influenced by two factors in the preferred option: 

 Frequency: With a 24/7 dedicated speciality workforce, it is envisioned that admission to 

inpatient beds will reduce. Given limited data on s12 doctor call-out rates, the % change 

of the s12 doctor call-out rate is required be estimated.  Both SLAM Centralised Place of 

Safety and SWLSTG PDU, with their dedicated 24/7 staffing teams, have seen a 

decrease in admissions following assessment. Using the SWLSTG PDU as a proxy, a 

20% drop in inpatient admission was evidenced. Using the equivalent % change, it is 

possible to estimate the callout % for an independent s12 doctor. Using this as a basis, 

independent s12 callout % in the preferred option is estimated to be 32%. 

 Cost: The cost of the independent s12 doctor is based on a fixed fee, which is standard 

across England at £178 and therefore is proposed not to change in the preferred option. 

Utilising this information, it is estimated that the cost of s12 activity in the preferred option will 

cost £302k. This cost includes s12 activity for both adult and CYP individuals. 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

 Indicative per patient HBPoS staff costs: £2,192Indicative per annum HBPoS staff costs: 

£11,636k 

Page 217



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  112 

 

The 9 site preferred option is moving away from the predominant existing model of taking staff 

from wards to deliver the service, to a model that provides 24/7 dedicated specialised staff.   

It is estimated that the preferred 9 site option with 24/7 dedicated workforce would cost £11.6m 

per year. The workforce model that is proposed is based on safe levels of staffing at the HBPoS. 

Table 32 below shows an assumed workforce requirement for HBPoS at various bed capacity 

levels. 

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a., the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

Table 34: WTE requirement by capacity levels 

Bed Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

 WTE  

New Speciality Doctor Grade              1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Consultant's Post 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 

Nursing Band 03                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 05                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 06                1.5 3.0 4.5 6.0 7.5 18.0 

Nursing Band 07                1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Similarly, Table 35 below shows the assumed cost of workforce for HBPoS sites of various 

capacity levels. 

Table 35: Pay costs by capacity levels 

Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

New Speciality Doctor Grade              £74k £74k £74k £74k £74k £74k 

Consultant's Post           £68k £63k £73k £82k £91k £89k 

Nursing Band 03                £104k £208k £312k £416k £520k £624k 

Nursing Band 05                £130k £259k £389k £519k £649k £778k 

Nursing Band 06                £84k £168k £253k £337k £421k £505k 

Nursing Band 07                £54k £54k £54k £54k £54k £54k 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            £31k £31k £31k £31k £31k £31k 

Total £545k £858k £1,185k £1,512k £1,840k £2,155k 

Once the cost associated with each capacity level at an HBPoS is determined, it is important to 

understand the capacity required for the preferred option.  

Analysing activity flows from the baseline to the preferred option, accounting for demand 
patterns and growth, capacity requirement at each of the consolidated sites was determined for 
the preferred option. Table 36 below shows the capacity and workforce cost breakdown by the 
HBPoS for the preferred option for the adult population only. This only includes the s136 staff, 
without any wrap around service cost included, noting that some places of safety which already 
have dedicated staff members might have a different workforce mix.  

Table 36: Preferred option HBPoS staff costs 

Page 218



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  113 

 

STP HBPoS Capacity Workforce 

cost 

North Central 

London 
Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital 

2 £858k 

North Central 

London 
Highgate Mental Health Centre 

4 £1,512k 

North East 

London 
City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  

5 £1,840k 

North East 

London 
Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

North West 

London 
St. Charles 

2 £858k 

North West 

London 
Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital 

2 £858k 

South East 

London 

Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex 

University Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

South East 

London 

Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, 

Maudsley Hospital (new centralised site) 

6 £2,155k 

South West 

London 

Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 

Suite, Springfield University Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

Total   £11,636k 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS non-pay costs: £5,931k 

The consolidation of sites will impact non-pay costs at the selected HBPoS sites. It is expected 

that the consolidation will not only reduce costs, but also that the larger sites will individually gain 

from economies of scale.  

Table 37 below provides an assumed breakdown of non-pay costs associated with the preferred 

option. The basis of non-pay costs is drawn from the SLAM HBPoS and the table below is an 

extrapolation of the non-pay costs for the preferred 9 site model. 

Table 37: Preferred option non-pay costs 

Non-pay costs Preferred Option 

Drugs                               £40k 

Medical Purchases £160k 

Transport costs £1,037k 

Cleaning  £315k 

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation £160k 

Corporate Overhead Allocation £2,314k 

Management Overhead Allocation £680k 

Estate charges £1,225k 

Total £5,931k 

 

 

Page 219



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  114 

 

6.2.5 Emergency Department (ED) 

From the Strategic Case, it has been made clear that an ED is not the right environment for an 

s136 patient to be treated, in the absence of urgent physical health needs that cannot be 

address in the HBPoS.  

The total ED costs are set out in Table 38 below and described in more detail in the paragraph 
which follows. 

Table 38: ED costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

NHS  £559 £0 
 

It is proposed that the preferred option for HBPoS reconfiguration will reduce the number of ED 

visits due to lack of capacity at the HBPoS. To this end, the preferred option will have adequate 

capacity to deal with s136 demand, where growth and hourly demand pattern is accounted for. It 

is therefore estimated that all pathway costs associated with ED activity due to lack of capacity 

to reduce to zero.  

  

Page 220



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  115 

 

6.3 Variance in pathway costs 

6.3.1 Overview 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the current costs of s136 services across 

the patient pathway discussed in section 3.1 and subsequently the cost of the preferred option in 

section 3.2, the next step is to understand and highlight any cost differentials between the 

baseline and the preferred option. This section discusses the incremental costs or savings 

related to delivering the preferred option and whether these savings are cashable for the NHS. 

The pathway is divided into two parts, as follows:  

 The conveyance from initial detention to the HBPoS; and 

 The critical steps that occur at the HBPoS.  

For the cost variance at each step of the journey, consideration is made to the variance drivers 

and alternative scenario’s considered for the preferred option. 

6.3.2 Summary of pathway cost variances 

It is estimated that on average, the s136 pathway cost for the preferred option induces a net 

saving of £138k per annum. This is primarily driven by non-pay costs which are expected to be 

non-cashable. It should be noted however, that if the non-pay costs are excluded, the preferred 

option would induce an incremental cost of £5.4m above the baseline. 

Table 39 provides a summary of the variance associated the s136 pathway estimates. The 

paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in more detail. 

Table 39: Pathway cost variances 

Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

Police (with LAS) £435k £333k (£102k) 

LAS £1,310k £1,004k (£306k) 

ED £297k £0k (£297k) 

AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £57k 

Independent s12 Doctor £378k £302k (£76k) 

HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £6,219k 

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k (£5,542k) 

Total £20,632k £20,494k (£138k) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 221



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  116 

 

Figure 29: Cost differential for baseline and preferred option broken by stakeholders 

 

Figure 30: Absolute cost variance from base case to preferred option by stakeholder 

 

 

 

 

 

Baseline Preferred Option

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473 £5,931

HBPoS: workforce £5,417 £11,636

Independent s12 Doctor £378 £302

AMHPs £1,118 £1,175

ED £297 £0

LAS £1,310 £1,004

Police (combined) £638 £446

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

C
o

st
 (

£
0

0
0

s)
 

(£8,000)

(£6,000)

(£4,000)

(£2,000)

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

-150

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

Stakeholders Police
(combined)

LAS ED AMHPs Independent
s12 Doctor

HBPoS:
workforce

HBPoS:  non-
pay

Absolute variance in £(000s) % Change

Page 222



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  117 

 

6.3.3 Cost of Conveyance 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

Table 40 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for police 

conveyance, not accompanying the LAS. 

Table 40: Police conveyance cost variance 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

b) With LAS 

 

Table 41 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for police 

conveyance, accompanying the LAS. 

Table 41: Police conveyance cost variance accompanying the LAS 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Police88 £435k £333k (£102k) 

 

2. Ambulance conveyance 

Table 42 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for ambulance 

conveyance. 

Table 42: Ambulance conveyance cost variance 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Ambulance89 £ 1,310k £ 1,004k       (£306k) 

    

The assumptions behind these variances are described below. 

Cost per unit 

There is no difference in the cost per minute from the baseline to the preferred option.  

Conveyance time 

Through the consolidation of sites established by the preferred option, it is expected that, with 

fewer HBPoS sites in London, initial conveyance time will increase. However, it is also 

acknowledged that, through improved capacity within the consolidated sites, the number of 

incidents where further conveyance is required due to an individual detained under s136 arriving 

                                                
88

 This is the cost to police only. The cost to the LAS is given in table 40. 
89

 This is the cost to LAS only. The cost to the police is given in table 39. 

Page 223



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  118 

 

at a site which is at capacity, will reduce. Box 9 provides an example from the Metropolitan 

Police escalation log which illustrates the type of delays faced within the current s136 pathway. 

 

Box 9: Delays current s136 pathway 

 

Figure 30 below depicts the conveyance time from the base case scenario to the preferred 9 site 

option for Police conveyance. The base case of 2090 sites includes inefficiencies in the system 

driven by the police conveying an individual to a site which is then found to be at capacity. This 

results in either further conveyance time to an alternate place of safety or waiting at the place of 

safety.  

Moving from the inefficient model, to the efficient 2091 site model, where patients are taken to the 

closest HBPoS without any bottleneck or operational inefficiency reduces the average travel time 

significantly. However, the travel time increases as the number of sites decrease from the 21 

efficient site model to the preferred 9 site model, as expected. 

Figure 31: Police conveyance time from base case to preferred option 

 

Similarly, the conveyance time for the ambulance from the base case scenario to the 9 site 

model will influence the pathway cost for the conveyance of the preferred option. 

Figure 32: LAS conveyance time from base case to preferred option 

                                                
90

 Because the calculation of travel time utilises actual data, Highgate Mental health trust has been excluded, as this 
site currently does not exist, and therefore, a 20 site for the base case. However, when calculating the travel time in 
the efficient site model, Highgate mental health trust is included in the calculation. 
91

 The 21 site does include Highgate mental health trust 

64 

22 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Basecase configuration
(20 site)

Efficient 21 site model Efficient 9 site model Preferred 9 site model

A
vg

 C
o

n
ve

ya
n

ce
 t

im
e

s 
 

(m
in

s)
 

“There was no S136 Suite available across [HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts.  After 2 hours in 

the van and no sign of a S136 suite becoming available, male was taken to custody suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  Officers 

are told by a nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend the HBPoS 

with the male but are met by a nurse who states that there is no beds available” 

Page 224



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  119 

 

 

Therefore, there is a 42 minute time differential for the Police and a 25 minute time differential 

for the ambulance conveyance from the base case to the preferred option, which is the main 

driver for the cost variance between the baseline and the preferred option. 

Activity 

There is no difference in the proportion of patients conveyed via an ambulance and police from 

the baseline to the preferred option. The same conveyance proportions are assumed, 79% of 

conveyance via the ambulance and 21% conveyance via Police. 

6.3.4 HBPoS 

In this pathway, the four main components that drive a cost variance between the preferred 

option and the base case within the s136 pathway are: 

 AMHPs; 

 Independent s12 doctor; 

 HBPoS staff; and 

 HBPoS non-pay costs. 

3. AMHP costs  

The preferred option for AMHPs costs £1,118k, compared to the base case of £1,175k, 

representing an increased cost of £57k. The main driver for this cost is caused by an increase in 

travel time in the preferred option compared to the baseline. As noted in the baseline analysis, 

the proportion of AMHP time which is dedicated towards travelling represents a relatively small 

proportion of total AMHP activity. 

Table 43: AMHP cost variance 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Travel 

time 

Patient 

Facing 

Admin Waiting 

Time 

Total 

time 

Total Cost % 

change 

from 

baseline 

Baseline 38 61 92 231 422 £1,175k 0% 

Preferred option 
59 61 92 231 443 £1,118k 5.1% 

It is assumed that patient facing time, admin time, and waiting time remain the same for the 

baseline and preferred option.  

107 

82 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Basecase configuration
(20 site)

Efficient 21 site model Efficient 9 site model Preferred 9 site modelLA
S 

- 
A

vg
 c

o
n

ve
ya

n
ce

 
ti

m
e

s 
 (

m
in

s)
 

Page 225



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  120 

 

4. Independent s12 costs  

The cost of an independent s12 doctor for the preferred option is estimated to be £302k, 

compared to the baseline of £378k, a decrease in cost from the baseline of £76k, which is 

cashable. The main driver for this change is driven by lower call-out frequencies for the s12 

doctor in the preferred option compared to the baseline.  

Figure 33: Difference in cost of s12 doctor from base case to preferred option 

 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

The staff cost of HBPoS sites for the preferred option is estimated to be £11.6m, compared to 

the baseline of £5.4m, an increase in cost from the baseline of £6.2m. The main driver for this 

cost is having 24/7 dedicated staffing at each of the HBPoS sites.  

Table 44: HBPoS staff cost variance 

 Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Staff costs £5.4m £11.6m 115% 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

The non-pay cost of HBPoS staff for the preferred option is estimated to be £5.9m, compared to 

the baseline of £11.5m, a decrease in cost from the baseline of £5.6m. The majority of this is 

driven by non-pay costs that are assumed to be driven by the number of HBPoS sites such as 

cleaning, corporate overhead allocation, and management overhead allocation and estate 

charges. It is assumed that the majority of these are non-cashable. Table 45 summarises the 

cost differential between the baseline and the preferred option for non-pay costs. 

Table 45: HBPoS non-pay cost variance 

 Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Drugs                                £          40k  £        40k  £    0 

Medical Purchases  £        160k   £      160k  £    0 

Transport costs  £     1,037k   £   1,037k  £    0 

Cleaning   £        700k   £      315k  (£ 385k)   

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation  £        160k   £      160k £    0 

Corporate Overhead Allocation  £     5,142k   £   2,314k  (£  2,828k) 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

£

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

£350

Baseline Preferred option

s-
1

2
 c

al
l o

u
t 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
s1

2
 (

£
,0

0
0

) 

s12 cost % call-out

Page 226



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  121 

 

Management Overhead 

Allocation 

 £     1,512k   £      680k  (£  832k) 

Estate charges  £    2,722k   £  1,224k  (£  1,497k) 

Total  £  11,473k   £  5,931k  (£  5,542) 

 

6.3.5 Emergency Department 

7. Emergency Department costs 

The cost of an unwarranted visit of an s136 patient to an ED is zero in the preferred option, 

compared to the base case of £297k. This is because we assume that the preferred option will 

have adequate capacity and protocols in place, with suitably trained staff, to avoid ED 

presentations of this nature. 

Table 46: ED cost variance 

 Referred to 

ED baseline 

Baseline 

Cost 

Referred to ED 

for the 

preferred option 

Preferred 

option 

cost 

Variance 

 

ED referrals  

 

10%* 

 

£297k 

 

0% 

 

£0 

 

(£ 297k) 

*includes 6% due to capacity issues and 4% for other physical conditions 

Page 227



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  122 

 

6.4 Transition costs 

Table 47 below summarises the assumptions included for the purpose of the wider costing 

exercise. Specifically, it is proposed that a figure of £100k will be required per STP to support 

the transition. This establishes a total cost of £500k p.a. in FY18/19 and FY19/20 to support the 

transition. This is however, a high-level estimate and will require further refinement. 

Table 47: Transition costs 

 Cost  

 
STPs 

 
£500k 

 
Total 

 
£500k 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will be a complex 

undertaking and as such, resources will be required to support in the transition.  

It is proposed that implementation will be led locally and coordinated at an STP level. To this 

regard and with detailed implementation planning still to be undertaken, subject to the 

progression of this business case, it is difficult to provide a firm estimate of the level of resource 

required. However, it is acknowledged that resource will be required at both a local level and at a 

pan-London level to support the transition requirements. 

These resources may be required to support a number of activities, including: 

 Programme and project management; 

 Internal and public communications; 

 Site assessments and subsequent non-capital development costs; and 

 Development and further refinement of appropriate protocols and ways of working. 

 

Further details about the proposed requirements are provided in the Management Case. 

 

 

Page 228



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  123 

 

6.5 Capital costs 

The new model of care and consolidation of HBPoS sites will require an increase in capacity for 

the majority of sites which are incorporated within the preferred option. As such, to support this 

increase in capacity, capital investment will be required at many HBPoS sites.  

Aside from the increase in the number of beds, the degree to which an existing site can 

accommodate a larger HBPoS will vary. While analysis has been undertaken as part of the 

options appraisal process that considered the percentage of estates that are currently utilised for 

non-clinical purposes, further analysis is required during implementation planning to effectively 

deduce capital requirements per site in collaboration with local estate teams. 

For the purpose of this financial analysis, an assumed capital cost of £150k is utilised per extra 

bed required. This figure is drawn from the Policing and Crime Bill – Amend Police Powers 

under the Mental Health Act 1983, which provides an indicative view of what may be required 

across London. This establishes that an assumed total level of capital investment required 

across London to support the configuration is £2.3m. 

Table 48: Indicative capital costs 

STP HBPoS Baseline 
capacity 

Capacity 
requirement 

Capital 
cost at 
£150k per 
bed * 

North Central 
London 

Chase Building, Chase 
Farm Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

North Central 
London 

Highgate Mental Health 
Centre 

0 4 £600k 

North East London City and Hackney Centre 
for Mental Health  

1 5 £600k 

North East London Sunflowers Court, Good 
mayes Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

North West London St. Charles 1 2 £150k 

North West London Riverside Centre, 
Hillingdon Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

South East London Lakeside Mental Health 
Unit - West Middlesex 
University Hospital 

1 3 £300k 

South East London Southwark Place of Safety  4 6 £300k 

South West London Wandsworth Recovery  2 3 £150k 

Total    £2,250k 

* Further analysis and refinement required with local estate teams during implementation planning, to 

identify actual capital requirements per site location 

Page 229



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  124 

 

6.6 Summary and funding arrangements 

In order to assess the long term financial impact of the implementation of the proposal, a net 

present value of the financial implications has been calculated. This does not include the 

economic and social benefits discussed in the Economic Case. The net present value 

calculation assesses the long term financial impact by adding together the anticipated cost 

savings over the life of the project and deducting all the costs involved, discounting both the 

future costs and savings as an appropriate rate. The discount rate, equal to 3.5%, is used to 

convert the future costs and benefits to the “present value”, so that they can be compared.  

6.6.1 Summary of financial impact and NPV 

Table 47 below summarises the baseline pathway cost, whilst Table 48 summarises the 

preferred pathway cost, the high-level transition and capital costs associated with the preferred 

option. 

This assumes that implementation planning and subsequent transition will be spread across 

FY18/19 and FY19/20. The costs associated with capital development have been assumed to 

fall in FY19/20. 

For the modelling purpose, it is assumed that the preferred option is implemented in FY 19/20. 

Table 49 illustrates the base case – do nothing scenario. The total cost over the five year period 

to FY22/23 is £111.7m. 

Table 49: Baseline pathway costs – 5 year view 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Baseline - 

Pathway 

cost  

 

£20,632k 

 

£21,483k 

 

£22,334k 

 

£23,185k 

 

£24,036k 

Table 50 illustrates the costs of implementing the preferred option.  

Table 50: Preferred option costs – 5 year view 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Pathway 

cost  

£20,632k £21,483k £20,494k £20,494k £20,494k 

Transition 

cost  

£500k £500k £0k £0k £0k 

Capital £0k £2,250k £0k £0k £0k 

Total  

£21,132 

 

£24,233k 

 

£20,494k 

 

£20,494k 

 

£20,494k 

Under proposed plans for the preferred nine site model, the five year cost of the project will be 

approximately £106.8m.  

Table 51 sets out the variances in costs/savings of the base case pathway compared to the 

preferred nine site option. 

 

 

Page 230



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  125 

 

Table 51: Net present value (financial only) 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Variance 

(cost)/saving 

 

(£500k) 

 

(£2,750k) 

 

£2,154k 

 

£3,005k 

 

£3,856k 

Discount 

factor 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

Discounted 

(cost)/ Saving 

(£,000) 

 

(£483k) 

 

(£2,567k) 

 

£1,942k 

 

£2,618k 

 

£3,246k 

NPV  
£4,757k 

    

There is a net saving of £4.9m with the preferred nine site option, with a positive net present 

value (NPV) of £4.8m.  

However, as discussed in the Economic Case in Section 4, the financial impact of the 

reconfiguration should not be viewed in isolation. Instead, it is important to consider the range of 

clinical, economic and societal benefits which will be enabled by the scheme. The total net 

benefit from the new model of care, consolidating HBPoS sites in London, is estimated at £20m 

per year (financial and non-financial). 

6.6.2 Funding arrangements 

At this early stage of the project, the exact funding arrangements for the costs outlined above 

have not been finalised and agreed. However, initial expectations about funding arrangements 

can be summarised as follows: 

 It is likely that variances to pathway costs will be borne by the relevant stakeholders i.e. 

police forces, ambulance services, Mental Health Trusts; 

 The work programme has thus far been led by the Healthy London Partnership (HLP), 

which is funded by all 32 CCGs and NHSE. However, when HLP have finished their 

programme of work, the continued implementation and transition costs will require 

funding; 

 Transition costs will likely be incurred by the CCGs within the relevant local STPs as they 

transform the services at their HBPoS sites. It is important that additional funding is made 

available for this transition as there will be no equivalent income mechanism to support 

them; and 

 The capital costs required to increase capacity at relevant HBPoS sites will likely be borne 

by the local STPs.  

Pooling budgets across CCGs within the relevant STPs, combining spending power, is expected 

to provide funding support for the reconfiguration.  

Page 231



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  126 

 

6.7 Risks to financial assessment 

The consolidation of HBPoS sites requires a complex programme of change, and in order to 

model the financial implications, a number of assumptions have been made. To test the validity 

of the results, an initial high-level assessment of key sensitivities has been carried out. 

Below are the key risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification. 

Gaps in the data collection 

A literature review to aid this analysis identified that there were a relatively small field of 

academic, peer-reviewed papers (which were mainly highly localised, small-scale and dated 

studies) from which conclusions could be drawn. 

The ad-hoc evidence base which currently exists means that there is a limited knowledge of 

trends or changing patterns in the area, as well as limited ‘service user’ involvement. There are 

few outcome studies other than those that measure the result of a clinical decision to admit an 

individual to an inpatient bed or, otherwise, re-presentation levels.  

A major gap in the literature relates to understanding longer-term outcome measurements, 

including changes in morbidity and mortality rates. Gaps also exist in data collection with EDs, 

as there was very limited robust information on issues such as secondary presentations, 

including dual diagnosis needs. 

Robustness of data 

The scoping component and analysis of all the datasets also identified issues with the 

robustness of the quantitative data collected.  

 Discussions with police leads highlighted coverage and completeness issues with some 

of the data held across the three police forces and for the Mental Health Service Dataset 

(MHSDS) there were coverage issues that resulted in some areas presenting no data 

(e.g. some EDs did not contribute to the system at all).  

 Similar problems were found with the secondary analysis of the HES information derived 

from EDs.  

 Similar issues were identified with other datasets, including data capture issues in the 

MHSDS as a consequence of migration to a new data platform, which resulted in a 

noticeable drop in returns to the system. 

Access to data 

It was not possible to access the primary data sources of any clinical dataset for a number of 

reasons including the following: 

 Concerns over confidentiality;  

 Proprietorial ownership of confidential information, including concerns over second-party 

interpretation of data;  

Page 232



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  127 

 

 Manual recording of some data items;  

 The technical aspects of extracting data; and  

 The resource implications of developing systematic downloads to make them available 

for secondary analysis.  

As a result, for this analysis, access to the MHSDS was derived through extracts of clinical data 

as part of a pre-existing pan-London performance monitoring arrangement. As part of this ‘piggy-

back’ arrangement, the data available was limited to the information routinely used to form 

performance monitoring arrangements – for example, one quarter’s data only. As a result, it was 

not possible to further analyse the data to understand trends or changes in the patterns of 

mental health presentation.  

Data was also supplied on an ad-hoc basis across the London networks by MHTs and AMHPs. 

These covered a number of approaches including 

 The use of bespoke spread sheets encompassing clinical audit data; 

 Logbooks; and  

 Stakeholders’ own analyses of data.  

This pragmatic approach allowed for often complex information to be collected, but this was at 

the expense of developing a consistent, systematic and robust methodology across the whole of 

London. The reports received from across the networks varied in terms of what and when data 

was collected and used different methodologies encompassing various definitions (e.g. the 

definition of ‘repeat presentations’ varied hugely across the data received). Few of the reports 

received defined the counting rules used to analyse data that would allow us to interpret the 

findings presented. These were further compounded by varying definitions of when the ‘clock’ 

started and stopped in relation to the measurement of process times. 

  

Page 233



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  128 

 

7 Management case 
This section of the Business Case describes the transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across 

London (including five sites that provide an all-age service), detailing associated indicative costs 

and benefits against the baseline/preferred option scenario. The section also addresses the 

‘achievability’ of the scheme. Its purpose, therefore, is to consider the key considerations and 

governance that will be required to achieve successful implementation along with the actions 

required to transition to an effective governance environment post implementation. 

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Transitional phase 

 Implementation  

 Post-implementation 

 

Current reconfiguration planning is based on a completion date of 2019/20, subject to 

agreement on financial support and regulatory and Board approvals. To reach the 9 site 

option the following measures are proposed: 

► A 13 site transitional phase has been supported by STPs in the shorter term as 
an interim measure to reach the preferred nine site option.   

► A highly collaborative approach and governance structure, with robust 
governance arrangements will be adopted to manage the reconfiguration and plan 
for the future implementation; key requirements have been identified. 

► A plan to continue engagement with key stakeholders, including people with 
lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers, will be developed to 
ensure the transition into the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is successful. 

► A plan for proposed governance structure post implementation and 
performance management arrangements will be developed; principles for 
governance have been identified and a suggested multi-agency group structure. 
Group roles and governance benefits have been identified. 

► A comprehensive risk assessment, escalation and mitigation process will be 
developed and in place to support the reconfiguration, with risks identified both at a 
local and system wide level. Implementation risks will be identified and assessed 
using a four tiered matrix. Risks will be discussed during implementation and post 
implementation governance forums. 

 

Page 234



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  129 

 

7.1 Transitional phase 

7.1.1 Overview 

As previously mentioned in the Business Case, following the options appraisal, further 

engagement led by programme STP leads took place across the system on the preferred option. 

The engagement process resulted in some STPs confirming sites that would be included in a 

pan-London nine site model whilst others required more time to develop local plans reflecting on 

other crisis care services and further understanding the impact of patient flow across local 

systems. This is particularly the case (but to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), 

North East London (NEL) and South East London (SEL).  

In light of this, the 13 site model is considered a transition stage (including five sites that provide 

an all-age service) to support STPs to implement the nine site preferred configuration. The 

resultant 13 site transition phase is shown below in Figure 34. 

Figure 34: HBPoS locations in the 13 site transition phase 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

7.1.2 Thirteen site transitional phase pathway benefits 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the benefits of the preferred option s136 

pathway discussed in section 4, this subsection focuses on assessing the benefits of the 13 site 

transitional stage model across the patient pathway. This incorporates the financial, economic 

and social impacts.  

Page 235



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  130 

 

The same methodology and approach was applied to identify benefits of the 13 site model, as 

was followed for the preferred option cost benefit analysis, detailed in section 4 of this business 

case. Table 52 below, sets out the financial benefits totalling £20,074k which are estimated to be 

delivered, £930k of which is assumed to be cashable, £13,589k non-cashable. In addition, a 

further £5,555k social impact savings have been identified as part of the thirteen site transitional 

phase option analysis. 

Table 52: Thirteen site transitional stage benefits overview  

No. Outcome 
Financial 
(cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value p.a 
(£000) 

1 

 Reduced 
conveyance time 
(ambulance vs. 
police vehicle)  

£633 (vs £498)  - £17 (vs £14) £650 (vs£512) 

2 
Reduced ED 
admissions 

£297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of 
stay at HBPoS 

                                 
-    

                                
   - 

£87 £87 

4 
Improved staff 
expertise 

NA   NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 
-    

                                   
- 

£335  £335 

6 
Reduced non-pay 
costs 

                                 
-    

£5,542                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 
-    

£7,918 £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced repeat 
presentations 

-    £129 £450 (vs £470) £579 (vs £599) 

9 
Improving the 
wider crisis care 
system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

   £930 £13,589 £5,555 £20,074 

 

The total estimated benefits of the transitional phase are marginally higher than the preferred 

option nine site model (c. £118k higher, which equates to a 1% increase) due to the following: 

 Reduced conveyance times – There are decreases of 69% (from 64 minutes to 20 

minutes) and 31% (from 107 minutes to 74 minutes) in the average journey times for 

police vehicles and LAS (accompanied by police) respectively (this compares to 45% and 

23% for the preferred nine site model), which generates an additional combined financial 

benefit to the Police and LAS of c.£135k p.a. and an additional £3k p.a. social benefit 

(non-cashable) accruing to the patient due to a reduced travel time; and 

 Reduced repeat presentations – There is a decrease in the average travel time for 

repeat presentations for police vehicles and LAS combined from 69 minutes to 63 

minutes from the preferred option nine site model to 13 site transitional phase, which 

generates a decrease of c. £20k social benefit (non-cashable). 

 

All other benefits remain unchanged between the preferred option nine site model and the 13 

site transitional phase option. 

7.1.3 Thirteen site transitional phase pathway costs 

Page 236



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  131 

 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the baseline and preferred option costs of 

the s136 pathway discussed in section 5, this subsection focuses on assessing the cost of the 

13 site transitional stage model across the patient pathway. This incorporates understanding the 

cost impact of the consolidation of the existing HBPoS sites into thirteen sites. Furthermore, it 

considers a dedicated combined workforce model, consistently applied across all sites.  

The same methodology and approach was applied to identify costs of the 13 site model, as was 

followed for the baseline and preferred option costing analysis, detailed in section 5 of this 

business case. Table 53 below, sets out the estimated average pathway cost for the 13 site 

transitional phase at £23.2m p.a., compared to the baseline and preferred option pathway costs 

of £20.6m p.a. and £20.5m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth) respectively. 

Table 53: Pathway costs 

Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Transitional phase 

Police £203k £112k £108k 

Police (with LAS) £435k £333k £300k 

LAS £1,310k £1,004k £903k 

ED £297k £0k £0k 

AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £1,176k 

Independent s12 

Doctor £378k £302k £302k 

HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £12,502k 

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k £7,946k 

Total £20,632k £20,494k £23,237k 

The costs are more expensive for the 13 site transitional phase largely due to 24/7 dedicated 

staffing at each site and additional non-pay costs associated with the increased number of sites 

(i.e. estate charges, management/corporate overheads and cleaning costs). 

7.1.4 Transition costs 

The timelines for this transition are due to fall within the proposed two year process to move to 

the nine site model. As a result there no additional transition costs expected in addition to the 

£1.0m included as part of the preferred nine site option. 

7.1.5 Capital costs 

Of the additional four sites not included in the nine site configuration, only two sites require 

additional capital funding to meet the capacity requirements of an additional assessment room at 

each site. As illustrated in Table 52, this capital investment will total c. £1.8m for the 13 site 

configuration, £450k less than the preferred nine site model.  

Page 237



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  132 

 

Table 54: Indicative capital costs for 13 site transitional phase 

STP HBPoS Baseline 
capacity 

Capacity 
requirement 

Capital cost at 
£150k per bed 
* 

North Central 
London 

Chase Building, Chase 
Farm Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

North Central 
London 

Highgate Mental Health 
Centre 

0 4 £600k 

North East London City and Hackney Centre 
for Mental Health  

1 2 £150k 

North East London Sunflowers Court, Good 
mayes Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

North West London St. Charles 1 2 £150k 

North West London Riverside Centre, 
Hillingdon Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

South East London Oxleas House 1 2 £150k 

South East London Southwark Place of Safety  4 5 £150k 

South West London Wandsworth Recovery  2 2 N/A 

Total (9 sites)    £1,500K 

NWL Hammersmith and Fulham 1 1 N/A 

NWL Lakeside Mental Health 
Unit 

1 2 £150k 

NWL Northwick Park 1 1 N/A 

NEL Newham 1 2 £150k 

Total (13 sites)    £1,800k 

* Further analysis and refinement required with local estate teams during implementation planning, to 

identify actual capital requirements per site location 

 

Page 238



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  133 

 

7.2 Implementation 

7.2.1 Overview 

This section discusses the steps that need to be taken in order to put in place the processes, 

workforce and facilities that can deliver London’s s136 pathway and reconfigured HBPoS sites. 

In order to deliver the strategic objectives set out in Section 3, a joined up approach to 

implementation will be required by all stakeholders across the pathway. Establishing a clear plan 

for implementation, together with appropriate governance structures is therefore critical to the 

success of the programme.  

This section sets out the following important considerations for implementing the reconfigured 

HBPoS sites: 

 Priorities for implementation; 

 Options for implementation; 

 Requirements pre-implementation; 

 Governance; 

 Benefits management; and 

 Risks. 

7.2.2 Priorities for implementation 

The implementation of a material reconfiguration of any clinical service must be undertaken in a 

robust and sensitive manner. As such, a number of priorities/principles have been proposed that 

should be adhered to during the course of implementation, ensuring that the process meets its 

objectives. 

• Ensuring patient safety 

The consolidation of HBPoS sites across London inherently requires the closure of some 

existing sites as the reconfiguration is established. This must be undertaken in a manner 

which ensures patient safety throughout. Any decisions associated with implementation 

and transition should consider potential service impact and ensure that plans are put in 

place to transition in a safe manner. Further considerations as to how patient safety can 

be maintained during implementation are proposed later in this section. 

• Profiling of Implementation 

With respect towards the complexity and multi-stakeholder nature of the s136 pathway, 

careful consideration should be applied to the profiling of implementation. Shadow 

running of services is proposed to help mitigate the complexity of implementation, with 

further details around implementation options proposed later in this section. 

 

Page 239



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  134 

 

• Development of detailed implementation plans 

Following consideration of this business case, focus should be applied to the 

development of detailed implementation plans. It is proposed that these are established at 

an STP level. However, it is essential that key stakeholders, including the Police, Local 

Authorities and the LAS, are sufficiently involved in the development of these plans, 

clearly identifying any dependencies. Furthermore, due to the pan-London nature of the 

reconfiguration, pan-London oversight would be required. 

• Key protocols require ratification prior to go-live  

The specification detailed a standard of care, which the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites 

will help deliver.  However, during the course of implementation, there is a need to ensure 

a number of pivotal protocols are established at the point of ‘go-live’. Such consideration 

needs to be applied to: 

► Site capacity breach – whilst the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is proposed to better 

ensure that capacity can deal with peaks in demand, it should be acknowledged that 

there will be occasions where capacity is reached at a given site due to abnormal 

demand. The pan-London pathway (in addition to the NHSE (London) compact) 

outlines a clear escalation protocol that should be followed in these instances;   

► Clarity over geographic working – the impact of consolidating HBPoS sites will mean 

that a number of arrangements for working will change. This includes the impact on 

AMHPs who may have to travel further to assess patients, there is a need to 

establish how resources can best be managed and funded within the system prior to 

go-live; and 

► Financial impact – whilst the reconfiguration has very much been proposed to benefit 

the service user and the system as a whole, the complex multi-stakeholder and 

commissioning system at it stands may mean  financial flows benefit some parts of 

the system more than others. The commissioning and payment flows will need to be 

adjusted to support implementation of this new model of care.    

• Continued stakeholder engagement 

Due to the multi-stakeholder nature of the reconfiguration, it is recommended that 

comprehensive stakeholder engagement is continued throughout implementation. This 

should ensure that appropriate forums are established to allow stakeholders including 

commissioners, providers, local authorities and service users to be provided with a 

platform to input into and refine plans as they develop. 

• Alignment with wider Crisis Care transformation 

Whilst the focus of consideration here is the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites to support 

implementation of the London s136 pathway, it should be acknowledged that this pathway 

is heavily intertwined with the broader crisis care system. The implementation of the 

pathway and reconfiguration of sites must be undertaken in synergy with changes across 

the broader crisis care system, ensuring that collaborative benefits are realised and that 

any system risks are mitigated. 

Page 240



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  135 

 

• Maintain clinical leadership  

The options appraisal process undertaken in support of the proposed reconfiguration has 

ensured firm clinical leadership throughout. This has helped evolve and refine the 

approach, ensuring that the preferred option has been shaped and approved by clinicians. 

Similarly, clinical leadership must play an integral role in the implementation of the 

reconfiguration. 

7.2.3 Implementation approach 

In transitioning to the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, it is proposed that there is a phased 

implementation across London. Sites within the preferred configuration would be geared up to 

deliver the proposed capacity and service before other sites are formally stood down. Key 

protocols can then be phased in, providing an opportunity for systems and resources to 

accommodate new ways of working, prior to formal go-live. The benefits of this approach are set 

out below, along with some risks, which would need to be managed. 

The benefits of a phased implementation are: 

 Implementation risk can be minimised through ensuring that existing infrastructure 
is not decommissioned before the reconfigured infrastructure is ready to 
accommodate new levels of service and new ways of working; 

 In a multi-stakeholder implementation such as this, a phased implementation can 
effectively accommodate variance in readiness of stakeholders to change; 

 The phased approach gives the flexibility to test processes and plans prior to 
formal go-live and provides a possibility to learn lessons from these experiences; 
and 

 This flexible approach allows focus towards those areas/sites which require the 
most significant change as a result of the proposal. 

The risks of a phased implementation are: 

 A phased implementation is likely to incur higher cost of implementation, as there 
will be an element of dual running of resources during the phasing; 

 The process of phasing will likely mean that the implementation process will be 
longer than other alternative models of implementation; and 

 During the phased implementation, there is a risk that sufficient resources are not 
available consistently throughout the course of the process. 

This approach should be tested and verified during implementation planning as more detail is 

developed. Particular attention may be required with regards to how cross boundary flows of 

activity are managed during a phased implementation approach. 

 

 

Page 241



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  136 

 

7.2.4 Requirements pre-implementation 

Consideration needs to be applied to the requirements prior to implementing the reconfiguration 

of HBPoS sites in London. These should be progressed post the submission of this business 

case. 

It is acknowledged that each respective STP should confirm its willingness to embark upon the 

reconfiguration proposed within this business case, subject to more detailed implementation 

planning. The development of detailed implementation planning should be STP led but with full 

engagement and involvement from all key organisational stakeholders involved in the pathway, 

including relevant local authorities, Mental Health and Acute Trusts, the LAS and London’s three 

police forces.  

Whilst due care is required to ensure that the implementation occurs in an effective and safe 

manner, it is also acknowledged that there is an imperative to change the current s136 pathway 

across London. Focus should be applied to ensure that progress is made towards 

implementation at pace for the benefit of London’s service users. 

No definitive view is provided here as to when implementation can take place, as this is very 

much dependent on the individual STP’s requirements and associated readiness for change. 

However, there are a number of considerations that play an integral part in the timeline towards 

implementation and these are summarised below: 

 Detailed implementation planning – implementation plans need to be developed at an 

STP level. These will need to be overseen at a pan-London level to determine synergy 

and coordination between the various plans. These plans need to incorporate a range of 

activities, including estate development requirements, workforce impact assessments, 

communications, capability training, and plans to transition services;  

 Public consultation – it is likely that some areas may be required to publically consult on 

plans prior to progressing towards implementation; 

 Finance and funding approval – due consideration is required towards the requirements 

for funding to support both the transition and operating costs of the reconfigured sites. 

Whilst further details about the specific financial impact across all stakeholders is 

discussed in the Financial Case, the following principles should make up part of the 

implementation planning: 

 Transition Costs – one off transition costs are required to support the 

implementation activities of the reconfiguration. It is proposed that these are 

administered at an STP level. However, some resources will be required at an 

organisational level, especially with respect to resource costs associated with shadow 

operation of services during implementation; 

 Capital Costs – the development of enhanced HBPoS sites require capital 

expenditure to support both increased capacity as well as other refurbishments 

required to bring sites in line with the requirements of the specification. It is 

acknowledged that each STP and those Mental Health Trusts with a requirement to 

develop sites will be doing so from varied bases. Therefore, it is proposed, that as 

part of the STP led implementation planning, Mental Health Trusts, with the support 

Page 242



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  137 

 

of their STPs, develop business cases that detail and substantiate capital 

requirements. This can be supported by the upcoming Department of Health ‘beyond 

places of safety’ capital funding process; and 

 Transformed Pathway Costs – as detailed in the financial case, there may be some 

higher costs of operation for some stakeholders. These costs will need to be factored 

into revenue budgeting for the period post implementation.  

7.2.5 Implementation governance 

Transitioning to the new model of care is a complex task, which needs to be carefully managed 

across a range of stakeholders. To enable effective programme management, a governance 

structure is required which facilitates monitoring and decision making throughout the duration of 

the implementation. 

Some of the key requirements and components for effective implementation programme 

management include: 

 Programme Management Office 

Implementation would be required to be led locally, within existing PMO structures at 

STP level.  The PMO should be tasked with developing and administrating the specific 

implementation plans, as well as maintaining project management assets. The pan-

London oversight will continue to support local implementation, local PMOs should 

ensure a clear path of communication to the pan-London programme, thereby ensuring 

there is clarity over both local and pan-London progress. 

 RACI Matrix 

Due to the complexity of the stakeholder environment within which implementation will 

need to take place, it is proposed that a matrix, defining who should be responsible, 

accountable, consulted and informed should be established and effectively maintained. 

 Change Management 

The complexity of the programme within which there are key stakeholders with conflicting 

priorities, a clear protocol, defining robust escalation policies should be established for 

tracking and enforcing programme change. These protocols and enforcing programme 

change should be co-produced with the local governance structures including key 

stakeholders from across the pathway. 

 Communications Plan 

Since the programme of change involves multiple stakeholders, a detailed system and 

public communication plan must be created to ensure all parties are informed of critical 

decision making. A dedicated team should be in place to communicate relevant 

information to all stakeholders to ensure stakeholders are sign-posted of relevant 

information. 

 

Page 243



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  138 

 

 Risk Management Framework 

With any programme of change of such scale, a dedicated resource and frame work, 

focused on proactive risk identification, management and mitigation, is required. It is not 

enough to identify the risks, but equally important to facilitate mitigation strategies to 

resolve any issues that might arise. 

 Project Performance Reporting 

Given the complexity of the programme within which there are multiple stakeholders, a 

clear reporting mechanism, with clear content for the audience is required. The reporting 

mechanism should be streamlined, with key performance indicators and rhetoric’s tested 

with stakeholders before distribution. 

 Off Target Delivery Mechanism 

No matter the amount of planning, there are likely to be unseen obstacles that will risk 

the delivery of this programme. In such instances, an agreed protocol to mitigate off 

target delivery should be in place. This should be agreed and tested with local 

governance structures and clear escalation procedures should be in place when such 

protocols are to be enforced. 

7.2.6 Benefits management 

Benefits management allows a structured approach towards achieving outcomes as a result of 

change, and involves identifying, planning, measuring and tracking benefits from the start of the 

programme until realisation of the final desired objective.  

A clear approach toward benefits realisation will help ensure maximum value is driven from 

implementing the s136 pathway and should be incorporated into further work undertaken 

towards implementation. A proposed summary of the benefits management approach is 

provided in figure 34 below. 

Figure 35: Benefits management approach 

 

Identify 
benefits 

Develop 

benefits 
realisation 

plan 

Execute the 
plan 

Review and 
evaluate the 

plan 

Page 244



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  139 

 

Identify Benefits – the identification of benefits should draw from those proposed in the 

Economic Case. A means through which these can be appraised and measured should be 

established. The degree to which various stakeholders are able to influence and drive these 

benefits should also be established across the system. 

Develop benefits realisation plan – having determined where influence and accountability lies 

for the various benefits, detailed planning should establish milestones and schedules for these 

benefits that considers the dependencies on the achievement of these benefits. This plan should 

be agile and should evolve as implementation progresses. 

Execute the plan – the benefits realisation plan should be executed, with management of the 

plan being led by the implementation PMO and subsequently transferred into the post-

implementation governance framework. 

Review and evaluate the plan – at a reasonable point, it is considered good practice to review 

the progress made against the plan and share achievements as well as lessons learnt. It is 

recommended that this is undertaken as part of the post-implementation governance framework. 

7.2.7 Risks and mitigations 

Effective risk management is an integral element of the programme to implement the s136 

pathway and reconfigure HBPoS sites. This will help to mitigate against any potential internal or 

external threats to successful delivery of the strategic objectives. 

Identifying risks 

Risks should be identified at both a local and system wide level, effectively logged and 

discussed as part of a standing agenda item during implementation and post-implementation 

governance forums. 

Monitoring and reporting 

A standardised risk register should be utilised to monitor and report risks. This should effectively 

track the probability and impact of risks both pre and post mitigation as well as identifying a risk 

owner. 

The risk assessment utilises a four tiered matrix assessing likelihood and impact of any 

proposed risk, as follows: 

Likelihood 

1. Low – the event is highly unlikely to occur 

2. Medium – the event is likely to occur 

3. High – the event is highly likely to occur 

4. Very High – the event is almost certain to occur 

Impact  

1. Low – the event will have minimal impact on the programme’s plans or objectives 

Page 245



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  140 

 

2. Medium – the event will have a reasonable impact on the programme’s plans or 

objectives 

3. High – the event will have a large impact on the programme’s plans or objectives 

4. Very high – the event will have a catastrophic impact on the programme’s plans or 

objectives 

Consideration of risks have been summarised in Table 55. 

Table 55: Implementation risks 

R
e

f Risk 
L

ik
e

li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c

t 

R
a

ti
n

g
 

Mitigation 

1 Diversion from implementation plan 

The required implementation is a 

complex multi-stakeholder undertaking 

and milestones or timelines may be 

missed. 

3 3 9 A detailed implementation plan 

needs to be shared and signed 

up to by all responsible 

stakeholders. Furthermore, a 

clear off-target delivery plan 

needs to be established to 

provide clear direction as to 

how stakeholders should react 

should a milestone is missed, 

thereby minimising the impact 

on overall programme 

objectives. 

2 Lack of buy-in, scepticism and 

resistance to change 

The required implementation of 

consolidated HBPoS sites will likely be 

a long process and therefore a degree 

of change fatigue is likely. Furthermore, 

challenges are likely to emerge which 

may lead to change resistance. 

4 2 8 Engagement should be 

monitored throughout 

implementation in the form of 

surveys to track any degree of 

change fatigue and/or 

resistance. The overarching 

vision of what is attempting to 

be achieved should also be at 

the forefront of any work 

associated with the change. 

3 Impact on broader health and crisis 

care services 

A number of the proposed benefits rely 

on broader care services to be 

achievable. A number of the benefits 

may not be realised if broader 

resources are not sufficiently prepared 

to support this change. 

2 3 6 As part of implementation 

planning, it is recommended 

that readiness checks are 

undertaken across all services 

that may be impacted by the 

proposed change. These 

include LAS, Emergency 

Departments AMHP services 

and mental health inpatient 

wards. 

Page 246



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  141 

 

4 The requirement for formal new 

ways of working 

The consolidation will require a number 

of new ways of working which will 

require formal agreement prior to 

implementation. Should these new 

ways of working not be established it 

may result in benefits not being 

effectively realised or service quality 

issues emerging. 

2 4 8 Clarity over the protocols and 

processes that require new 

ways of working should be 

established and stakeholders 

required to come to agreement 

identified. Formal agreement 

should be seen as a key 

dependency prior to go-live. 

5 Availability of funds 

This proposal is reliant on capital 

investment which will enable sufficient 

capacity at each of the selected HBPoS 

sites. However, there is a risk that 

funds may not be made available for 

one or more of London’s STPs 

2 4 8 Sufficient engagement across 

partners to ensure sufficient 

funding is allocated to the 

model and clarity over the 

expected benefits and any cost 

savings from implementation 

of the new model. 

6 Staff recruitment issues 

Given the scale of recruitment that may 

be required in the consolidated model, 

it may be challenging to attract and 

retain staff during the implementation 

period.  

 

3 3 9 In line with national priorities, 

funding needs to be made 

available to recruit staff for 

mental health services. Staff 

engagement and recruitment 

plan to be developed. 

Figure 35 below illustrates these primary risks based on the ratings in the table above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  142 

 

Figure 35: Implementation risks 

 

 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] [CELLRANGE] 

0

1

2

3

4

0 1 2 3 4

Im
p

ac
t 

Likelihood 

Staff recruitment 
issues 

Page 248



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  143 

 

7.3 Post implementation 

7.3.1 Overview 

During the planning and implementation stages for the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, it is 

necessary to consider the future governance model to ensure that the appropriate structures and 

decision making units are established and maintained. In addition, a post programme evaluation 

should be carried out to ensure that objectives are delivered and lessons are learned for service 

transformation and investments. 

7.3.2 Post implementation governance 

The future governance of the pan-London s136 model of care should draw from existing 

governance and best practice principles from other health services. Such governance should be 

embedded within broader crisis care governance arrangements to enable system wide 

oversight. Whilst it is noted that London’s Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Networks are 

established in different forms across London, it is proposed that they have collective oversight 

for the equitable provision of care across this pathway. 

Principles for governance 

Decisions for the programme following implementation should be driven through business as 

usual commissioning arrangements wherever possible, and should be built on the current 

arrangements to manage this process.  

The proposed principles for governance should include: 

 Sufficient representation from the breadth of stakeholders involved in the s136 pathway; 

 Effective alignment with broader crisis care governance arrangements; 

 A balance of pan-London system oversight with focused local decision making; 

 Clear lines of accountability and escalation; and 

 A decision making framework effectively supplied with accurate, relevant and timely data. 

Proposed governance – multi-agency group 

A local multi-agency group led by the provider trust providing the HBPoS site should exist and 

should be overseen by the respective UEC network. Each group should be positioned within the 

local governance system and have appropriate representation to ensure that there is adequate 

oversight and accountability. 

The multi-agency group must be attended by senior representatives from the HBPoS, local 

Emergency Departments, other Mental Health Trusts in the STP, AMHPs, the Police, LAS and 

Healthwatch (or other patient representatives). The group should ensure membership represents 

all ages. 

The group should perform the following roles: 

 Measure and analyse current performance at the HBPoS; 

 The continuation of the implementation benefits realisation process, ensuring that 

activities are focused on achieving the proposed benefits of reconfiguration; 

Page 249



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  144 

 

 Understand the contact those detained under s136 have had with mental health services 

previously and what alternative pathways or interventions could have been applied to 

prevent the use of s136; 

 Discuss specific case studies where issues have occurred across the pathway to ensure 

learning across the system from these specific cases; 

 Facilitate training initiatives on local policies and protocols which include key partners 

and local Acute trusts; 

 Network with other local multiagency groups across London to ensure consistency of 

service across the s136 pathway; and 

 Ensure the Directory of Services is regularly updated showing the accurate up-to-date 

information regarding the HBPoS. 

 Furthermore, the requirement for pan-London oversight is necessary and will be 

supported through the implementation of the NHSE (London region) compact. 

7.3.3 Governance benefits 

Significant benefits may be derived through the establishment of an effective post-

implementation s136/HBPoS governance framework. A number of the issues identified in the 

implementation process could be mitigated through the establishment of such a framework. 

Such benefits include: 

 Effective asset utilisation – ensuring that London’s resources and infrastructure are 

utilised in the most effective manner possible in the provision of care; 

 Consistency of service – facilitating a consistently high quality service for those detained 

under s136, regardless of where that service is being delivered in London; 

 Proactive risk mitigation – ensuring that data is effectively utilised to support the analysis 

of trends and activity to allow the system to proactively mitigate risks; and 

 Driving best practice – using the framework to identify best practice and drive such 

performance across London. 

7.3.4 Post programme evaluation 

It is recommended that post implementation, an evaluation is undertaken to determine how 

effectively the programme has achieved its objectives. This should consider the original 

objectives of the HBPoS consolidation and the primary issues that the programme was intended 

to address. Evaluation requires measurable outcomes that can be compared against 

benchmarks that are distilled from the original objectives. It is therefore proposed that an 

evaluation framework is developed around the objectives below and is utilised to evaluate 

programme performance. 

 

 

Page 250



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  145 

 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in patient outcomes and experience  

Has the programme improved patient outcomes and experience for those detained under s136? 

Consideration should be applied to the degree to which the consolidation has impacted patient 

outcomes and experience and whether these have been in anyway negatively impacted during 

implementation. 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

Has the programme facilitated access to 24/7 services consistently across London and in 

manner which has long term viability from a financial and workforce perspective? 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

Has the programme established a concentration of staff expertise and can it be demonstrated 

that these capabilities are delivering the services that patients require? 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money 

Has the implementation and consolidation of sites utilised public funds in an efficient and 

effective manner? This should take account of both transitionary costs, capital costs and 

business as usual direct and indirect operational costs. 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system 

Can it be demonstrated that the programme and associated consolidation of sites has benefitted 

the wider crisis care system and moreover can it be demonstrated that the s136 pathway has 

derived benefit through greater synergies with the wider crisis care system? 

In order to evaluate the impact of the programme at a pan-London level, appropriate key 

performance indicators (KPIs) would need to be established and agreed upon by stakeholders 

across all five London STPs, LAS and the Police.  

Possible KPIs could include: 

 Proportion of MHA assessments resulting in involuntary admission, voluntary admission 

and discharge with or without community follow-up; 

 Occasions per month when capacity constraints resulted in ED admission; 

 Number of closures of HBPoS sites per month; 

 Number of sites with 24/7 staffing; 

 Number of occasions per month when time from detention to admission to HBPoS 

exceeded x minutes; and 

 Percentage of s136 patients attending ED for a physical health reason; 

 Percentage of place of safety detention periods exceeding 24 hours, without valid clinical 

reason for extension.  

Page 251



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  146 

 

8 Commercial case 
This section sets out the commercial strategy for the consolidation of HBPoS sites. It considers 

how procurement and contract management will be managed for any capital investment 

requirements associated with the preferred option. 

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Commercial strategy 

 Synergy with wider crisis care system 

 

The new model of care and reconfiguring HBPoS sites across London is the most 
effective option to address current issues across the s136 pathway.  

The new model will bring sustainable improvements and lasting benefits for patients, 
whilst in the medium to long term resulting in a local health economy that is both clinically 
and financially sustainable, delivering improved access, with 24/7 services and patient 
improved outcomes and provision of care. 

The reconfiguration will present an opportunity for broader transformation of the 
crisis care system, including a range of services; a robust commercial process is 
therefore required.  

► With the complex network of stakeholders involved in the reconfiguration, 
oversight of the commercial process is critical to the success of the new model of 
care 

► Whilst it is early in the process to establish the exact service requirements, the 
expectation is that services will be required for construction, programme 
support/implementation, recruitment and training 

► A commercial strategy supporting the reconfiguration will be developed in 
conjunction with proposed transformation plans on a STP basis 

Page 252



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  147 

 

8.1 Commercial strategy 

8.1.1 Overview 

This section sets out the initial plans for procuring and contracting services related to the 

implementation of the new model of care and HBPoS site reconfiguration. Specifically, it sets out 

how the transition programme and capital requirements can be delivered in a manner which is 

timely, cost effective and in accordance with NHS standards. 

The requirement to develop a robust commercial strategy is particularly important for this project 

due to the breadth of stakeholders involved in the transformation to the new model of care. As 

noted in the management case, the implementation of the project will require coordination and 

leadership across London’s STPs. Due to the complex network of stakeholders, oversight of the 

commercial and management processes will be critical to the success of the consolidation.  

8.1.2 Required services 

At this early stage in the transformation process, it is difficult to predict the level of services 

required to deliver a pan-London model of care. Nevertheless, we can expect that the NHS and 

local partners will need to go to market in order to deliver the capital requirements at the reduced 

number of sites. In addition, the regional NHS organisations and HLP will need to provide 

additional ad-hoc support and expertise to support local partners in the implementation phase of 

the programme. The expected services required at this stage are as follows: 

• Construction: Where required, additional facilities at HBPoS sites will need to be 

constructed in order to manage increased capacity; 

• Commissioning: The NHS and local partners will require support with tasks undertaken 

to prepare the new environment, including the buildings and equipment and all training, 

testing and orientation activities for staff;  

• Programme support: This will be required to ensure that the consolidation is suitably 

funded, resourced and established in order to deliver the strategic objectives; and 

• Recruitment and training: Development of recruitment and training plans that enables 

the workforce to deliver the new model of care. 

In addition to these services, there will be a need to consider existing contracting arrangements 

and to recognise any implications for tariffs as a result of the proposal. With regard to the 

existing format of contractual arrangements, transformation of this nature provides an 

opportunity to review and refine commissioning frameworks, potentially exploring alternatives to 

arrangements such as block contracts. 

  

Page 253



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  148 

 

8.1.3 Procurement strategy 

The approach for procuring services for the consolidation of HBPoS sites need to ensure that 

the following objectives are met: 

• Deliver upon the end-user needs: It is essential the end-user requirement is initially 

mapped with procurement aligned to users’ need and thereby, ensuring the procurement 

delivers to the end-user specification; 

• Provide optimum value for money: Qualified suppliers will be assessed on overall 

value for money. This will enable public money to be optimally spent to improve the 

quality and services purchased and help deliver more responsive, flexible and affordable 

services across London; 

• Be managed and governed in an open and transparent manner: To be managed and 

governed in an open and transparent manner is a prerequisite for an effective 

procurement. As the foundation, it determines the ability to provide public services and 

foster competitiveness and fairness; 

• Consider the planning and timing of procurement: Procurement planning is 

important, it helps to decide what to buy, when and from what sources. It also ensures 

that planners can estimate the time required to complete the procurement process and 

flush out the requirement to develop the technical specification or scope of requirement. 

Furthermore, it also helps assess the feasibility of combining or dividing procurement 

requirements into different contract packages; 

• Properly allocate and manage risk: Project risks should be dealt with openly from the 

outset of the project and all stakeholders involved should be encouraged to take an 

active role in identifying, mitigating and apportioning risk to the party best suited to deal 

with it; 

• Ensure equality of access to qualified suppliers: To implement the preferred option, 

contracts worth many millions of pounds will be required for buying goods and services. 

Therefore, the services provided should be geared to ensure equality of access to 

qualified suppliers. This will improve the overall value for money for the goods and 

services purchased, improve the quality and responsiveness of the services and help 

ensure the public money is not spent on practices which lead to unfair discrimination. 

This can be achieved by establishing mechanisms for monitoring contractor’s adherence 

to equality standards approved by the board; and 

• Comply with applicable Government Guidelines and EU Procurement legislation: 

Procurement for wider public sector bodies such as health and local government is 

subject to the public contract regulations. These rules include requirements such as 

advertising all public contracts below the EU thresholds. It is important that procurement 

complies with relevant government guidelines and EU procurement legislation where 

applicable. 

Page 254



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  149 

 

8.2 Synergy with the wider crisis care system 

8.2.1 Overview 

The new model of care, consolidating HBPoS sites across London, presents an opportunity for 

broader transformation of the crisis care system. The s136 pathway does not operate in isolation 

and its effectiveness, patient outcomes and the demand placed upon it are dependent, and in 

turn impact on, on many other elements of the health and social care system. 

A commercial strategy which supports site consolidation should be developed in conjunction with 

proposed transformation plans on a per STP basis. In particular, this should consider: 

 Joint investment – the business case proposes the establishment of a ‘combined’ 9 site 

model, highlighting the potential for the development of broader plans that consider 

investment in crisis care centres. Such an approach is of great importance given the 

pressure to Emergency Departments and mental health inpatient provision. To resolve 

the issue of service demand pressures, it is critical to establish alternatives to Emergency 

Departments and inpatient admission through wider recovery-based models. An 

enhanced mental health pathway means Trusts have to review their existing services 

and care pathways, but it also requires additional investment in new and innovative 

services that will better support people in the community as alternatives to purchasing 

more acute beds. There are various innovative services that will better support the crisis 

care: 

o Psychiatric Decision Unit: These units provide interim mental health care and 

assessment for patients referred from within acute hospital liaison psychiatry 

services, crisis resolution home treatment teams (CRHTT) and from mental health 

street triage. They aim to prevent long waits in EDs and provide an alternative, 

calm and safe environment for patients who require a mental health assessment. 

The units provide a dedicated 24 hour service with the ability to assess patients 

for up to 72 hours (24 hours for those detained under s136) with the ultimate aim 

of supporting the patient back home with an enhanced community package of 

care and avoiding admission where possible. 

o Integrated out-of-hours hub/ Street triage: The principle of these services is to 

undertake informed needs-led assessments that enable more people in crisis to 

be supported in community settings. Traditionally, this is particularly challenging 

outside of normal working hours, when Crisis and Home Treatment Teams often 

do not have the capacity to assess in people in their home environment. When 

assessments take place in Emergency Departments often clinicians are left with 

limited choices, typically to either to send the person home or to admit them. This 

is not offering the best quality experience to the service user and furthermore 

admissions add additional cost pressures to the system. Investment in integrated 

out-of-hour/ street triage services is therefore important for the combined model 

to be effective and for consistent service provision across London. 

 Shared infrastructure – Whilst analysis has been undertaken which aims to minimise, 

where possible, the capital investment needed to support the consolidation, 

consideration should still be given to where the requirements can be served by existing 

Page 255



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  150 

 

infrastructure. Similarly, to achieve greater value for money, where infrastructure 

investment can be undertaken that can be utilised across a greater array of services, this 

should be prioritised. An example of this could be a shared model of transportation for 

mental health patients, where a service for only those who have been detained under 

s136 would not be feasible. The aim would be to provide eligible patients with safe, 

timely and comfortable NHS funded transport, for example through transport to, from and 

between healthcare services and transport to place of residence after inpatient or HBPoS 

admission. 

 System wide data analysis – the standardisation of the s136 pathway will provide a 

foundation for more effective data analysis. The approach needed would be to establish 

across the crisis care system consistent data capture mechanisms, system requirements, 

data flow information governance and shared KPIs. A patient level, outcome based data 

set which delivers robust, comprehensive, regionally consistent and comparable 

information for children, young people and adults who are in contact with Mental Health 

Services would also be required. It may also be possible to use clinical and operational 

data for purposes other than direct patient care. Although there is data available in 

MHSDS which brings together key information from adult and children's mental health, 

learning disabilities, autism spectrum disorder, CYP-IAPT and the early intervention care 

pathway, there are gaps still gaps in the dataset, such as the absence of  detailed 

breakdown of s136 care pathway.  

 Working with non-NHS partners - Police, local authorities and the voluntary sector all 

have important roles across the crisis care pathway and opportunities should be sought 

to work in partnership with non-NHS partners to improve the experience and outcomes of 

crisis care patients.  One particular partnership that demonstrates the potential impact of 

developing relationships and joint services is the Serenity Integrated Mentoring High 

Intensity Network Model. This model sees mental health nurses work with Police officers 

to provide mentoring model based support those who are at high risk of frequent s136 

detentions. Implementation of this programme on the Isle of Wight has led to a significant 

reduction in s136 detentions and there are currently plans for implementation across 

London. 

  

Page 256



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  151 

 

9 Workforce case 
This section highlights the existing workforce issues in the crisis care system and describes how 

these will be addressed by the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites. It discusses the workforce model 

that will be implemented as part of the preferred option and outlines the potential impact on key 

stakeholders.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Current staffing arrangements 

 Future staffing arrangements 

 

 

 

Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated trained staff and staffing levels are minimal 

out of hours; this is despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring outside of regular 

working hours. Key components of the workforce model are:   

► Providing adequate, dedicated staffing 24/7 teams that are suitably skilled in 
both mental and physical health at all HBPoS sites is expected to significantly 
improve patient experience and outcomes, staff experience and reduce cost 
pressures currently experienced from having to pull staff of inpatient wards.  

► Two dedicated specialty workforce models have been proposed: a combined 
staffing model where the HBPoS is co-located with a crisis assessment unit or 
Psychiatric Decision Unit (as seen at South West London St. Georges Mental 
Health Trust), and a stand-alone workforce model (as seen at SLAM) 

► Three possible options have been identified to deliver AMHP services 
following the reconfiguration of sites learning from different models across London; 
however, a more rigorous assessment is required to ensure challenges 
encountered by AMHPs are addressed and an efficient model is created. 

► Greater transparency is needed to ensure appropriate training standards have 
been met in relation to independent s12 doctors and improved payment and 
administration protocols. 

► The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED 
presentations due to capacity issues and improved physical healthcare provision 
in the HBPoS sites, both of which will reduce the strain currently experienced by 
London’s Emergency Departments. 

► Development of a clear strategic direction and purpose will facilitate 
transformation of the workforce model as well as a robust workforce strategy that 
includes staff engagement throughout implementation, robust workforce planning 
including network approaches across STPs, values based management and 
leadership and consistent London standards. 

Page 257



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  152 

 

9.1 Current staffing arrangements 

9.1.1 Overview 

The s136 pathway is complex in nature, engaging multiple stakeholders across the health and 

social care system and beyond. As a result, a variety of public service staff will be impacted by 

the new model of care and HBPoS reconfiguration.  

For many of those detained under s136, an HBPoS site will be their first experience of a mental 

health facility. Even for individuals who have used mental health services for some time, by the 

very nature of being detained under s136, the person is likely to be in acute distress. It is 

important, therefore, that the person’s experience at the HBPoS is welcoming and caring.   

While the infrastructure and operations along the s136 pathway are important factors in ensuring 

high quality of care, the mental health services provided are ultimately an interaction between 

people. For that reason, the proposed workforce at an HBPoS site is a critical consideration.  

This section outlines the existing staffing arrangements along the s136 pathway. It discusses the 

issues with the workforce model and its implications for patients, staff and the wider system.  

9.1.2 Conveyance staff 

At present, there are a number of issues faced by the staff responsible for conveying those 

detained under s136 to an HBPoS site. These can be categorised into two broad areas: 

 Delays in accessing HBPoS facilities; and 

 The interface between conveyance staff and the NHS secondary care trust staff. 

Delays in accessing HBPoS facilities 

Box 10 provides an example from the MET escalation log which illustrates the type of delays 

which police face in the s136 pathway. 

Box 10: HBPoS access issues 

 

Instances where a patient is waiting in the back of a police van or ambulance due to 

unavailability of beds are not an uncommon in the current model.  

  

“Subject was arrested 0725 hours and taken to ED as she is 9 weeks pregnant and has 

attempted suicide by tying something round her neck.  She has been medically cleared at 

1230 hours and arrived at custody 1243 hours. Assessment has taken place 0126 on 7th 

March and an unacceptable delay on finding a bed has occurred, 1325 hours escalation has 

been sent to Central Mental Health Team. informed me that a bed had been located.  

However due to long wait subject has become suicidal and started to pull out her hair and has 

been taken back to ED.” 

Page 258



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  153 

 

Interface between the conveyances staff and the NHS staff within EDs and Mental 

Health Trusts 

The interface between the conveyance staff (police and LAS) and the NHS staff within EDs and 

Mental Health Trusts has also proved to be a challenge in the past. There are multiple instances 

where communication has broken down due to unclear standard operating procedures, lack of 

understanding of roles and responsibilities for each party and unclear escalation procedures. 

This leads, in some cases, to the conveyance staff taking patients to the closest ED as a default, 

even in the absence of any physical health concerns. 

Box 11: Staff communication issues 

 

9.1.3 HBPoS staffing 

At present, staffing arrangements across London’s HBPoS sites vary significantly. In particular, 

two issues have been identified in London’s HBPoS workforce model: 

 Non-dedicated staffing; and 

 Variability in the s136 experience levels and skills of the HBPoS staff across London. 

Both of these issues can have harmful impacts on patients and other stakeholders within the 

mental health care system and are discussed in turn below. 

Non-dedicated staffing 

At present, there are no dedicated staff at the majority of London’s HBPoS sites other than a 

staff coordinator. The clinical staff who are called upon to assess patients, work within a rota 

system during normal office hours, with the majority of the staff being pulled from wards.  

This lack of immediate availability can have significant consequences in terms of access to care, 

waiting times and the length of stay at the HBPoS. For example, a lack of dedicated staffing may 

mean that the doctor making the initial assessment is delayed due to responsibilities elsewhere, 

or patients may be required to wait in ambulances or police cars for staff to be sourced from 

other wards to staff the site. A reduction of staffing in other areas of the trust could reduce the 

level of care on those clinical areas affected. 

When health based places of safety are unavailable due to staffing shortages, the police need to 

wait until one becomes available or take the person to an ED. Each of these responses is 

unacceptable as they result in the patient being detained in an environment which is highly 

unsuitable for their needs during a time of acute crisis.  

“There was no s136 suite available across [the HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts. After 2 hours 

in the van and no sign of an s136 suite becoming available, the subject was taken to custody 

suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  

Officers are told by a nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend 

the HBPoS with the male but are met by a nurse who states that there are no beds available” 

Page 259



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  154 

 

For each individual detained under s136, the goal is to have a mental health assessment 

concluded as quickly as is practicable, in order to minimise delays in the initiation of a care or 

treatment plan. There are often clinical reasons why this cannot be achieved, such as the 

complexity of individual’s clinical presentation, intoxication or language barriers. However, the 

availability of staff is a major factor increasing the length of stay in some cases.  

Variability in staffing levels & skill-mix 

Depending upon the clinical presentation of s136 patients, support staff may be required from 

other wards. However, at times when wards are very busy it may not always be possible for the 

appropriately skilled staff member to be released in a timely manner to provide a service at the 

place of safety. As a result, patients may receive differing levels of service and quality depending 

on factors which are outside of the HBPoS site’s control, such as the timing of detention and the 

activity of the inpatient wards. In particular, there may not be staff available who have the 

physical health competencies to provide holistic care and avoid unnecessary transfers to EDs.  

In addition, a number of issues with staff training at HBPoS sites have been identified by the 

Care Quality Commission. For example, a third of nursing and medical staff interviewed in 

England received training ‘on the job’ rather than before they started working at the HBPoS. As a 

result, patients may be seen by staff who are not suitably trained. 

Box 12: Benefits of a dedicated team 

 

9.1.4 AMHP services 

AMHPs are responsible for organising and co-ordinating Mental Health Act assessments for 

individuals detained under s136.  

When medical recommendations are made to admit the patient to hospital under a section of the 

Mental Health Act, the AMHP must decide whether to make an application for the patient to be 

detained. This involves a consideration of the individual’s social circumstances and a liaison with 

the patient’s family and ‘nearest relative’.  

Crucially, AMHPs apply the ‘least restrictive alternative’ in deciding whether or not to proceed 

with an application under the Act. This means that the AMHP should have knowledge of local 

available resources which could possibly be deployed to avoid a compulsory admission to 

hospital.  

The current AMHP arrangements across London’s boroughs are varied, as each borough has its 

own AMHP duty service in their respective local authority area.  

“[Before the centralised site] you’d go there on a rota, and you’d literally just sit there. Sometimes you’d 

have two external staff plus the coordinator doing the admin stuff, and rarely you’d see them actually 

interacting with the patients, they were more like bodyguards. But now you’ve got more consistency – staff 

used to be changing every hour, a new face every hour – but now, they’ve got a whole ward and we’re 

there for the whole shift and they have an allocated nurse who’s always available to speak to them.”  

HBPoS Nurse, SLAM 2017 

Page 260



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  155 

 

Out of hours AMHP availability: The office hours are 9 to 5pm, Monday to Friday. Outside of 

these hours during weekdays and weekends, requests for Mental Health Act assessments are 

sometimes dealt with by the Emergency Duty team (EDT)92. They are often staffed by one EDT 

social worker (usually an AMHP) but do not have capacity to travel outside of their own borough 

area to respond to Mental Health Act assessments out of their borough boundary.  

Box 13: Lack of out of hour AMHP resource 

 

Issue with out-of-borough protocols: There is a current protocol in place across the AMHP 

services which states that assessments on patients who present in their local authority area will 

be assessed by that AMHP duty team on behalf of the local authority. For patients who are 

assessed under s136 and then further detained on a section 2, the 'host' duty AMHP will do the 

section  2 assessment on behalf of the other local authority. However, if a section 3 is indicated, 

the 'host' AMHP will not do the assessment as the home borough will retain aftercare 

responsibility under section 117. The AMHP from the home borough is then required to travel to 

do the section 3 assessment, which can cause a significant increase in the patients’ length of 

stay.93 

9.1.5 S12 doctor 

The use of an s12 doctor is integral to the s136 pathway. The independent s12 doctor provides 

an independent judgement alongside the AMHP to evaluate if the person detained requires an 

admission to an inpatient ward. With such a critical role, there are no standardised processes for 

recruiting or supervising s12 doctors and there are issues of availability. In addition, there can be 

significant difficulties associated with the administration requirements related to s12 doctors.  

Invoices are usually paper-based and directed to the service lines, while claims are made in 

bulk. Furthermore, as illustrated in Box 14 below, there are observed inconsistencies in payment 

protocols for the s12 doctor when patients are out-of-borough. Variability in s12 doctor skills and 

expertise has been expressed; this is despite applications for s12 approval in the London region 

being overseen by one approval panel94. 

Box 14: Unclear s12 payment protocols 

 

Potential delays to s12 doctor services adds to the existing supply side issues in providing staff 

to care for those detained under s136. 

 

                                                
92

 EDTs are not mental health specific services and provide a generic emergency response for the local authority 

covering children’s and adult services which include: older people, learning and physical disability and mental health 

services.  
93

 This is a generalisation and this protocol changes for each STP. 
94

  London Region approval panel Section 12(2) Mental Health Act 1983. Royal College of Psychiatrists. 
Available at: http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/workinpsychiatry/divisions/london/resources/section12.aspx 

Arrived in custody at 0600 and placed on constant watch and AMHP services called.  AMHP 

states that it will be passed to day shift.  Chased later and no AMHP on route. 

Resident of [X] but in [Y] custody.  Delay in doing assessment as X refused to pay and s12 

Doctors not prepared to come out until a trust agrees who is paying for the assessment. 

Page 261



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  156 

 

 

9.1.6 Emergency Department staff 

Under current protocols, EDs are used when a patient is in need of physical care. However, in 

addition to these ED attendances, patients are also being transferred to the ED due to lack of 

capacity at HBPoS sites.  

Each presentation to the Emergency Department for a non-clinically appropriate reason puts 

unnecessary additional strain on the department. In addition, a number of operational 

inefficiencies can add to the burden: 

 A lack of knowledge of roles and responsibilities within the pathway and understanding of 
the Mental Health Act and Capacity Act means care is variable and disagreements can 
occur between all professionals in the pathway; 
 

 Difficulties in managing s136 patients in the department whilst the department is full, 
leading to stress on staff and other patients; 

 

 The transfer of physical health care documentation from Emergency Departments to 

mental health trusts is not standardised; and 

 The responsibility for deciding on whether there are safeguarding concerns is often 

unclear. 

Page 262



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  157 

 

9.2 Future staffing arrangements 

9.2.1 Overview 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites from the current model to the consolidated model will 

coincide with a transformation of the workforce delivering mental health services along the s136 

pathway. Under the new model, 24/7 specialist services will be concentrated at the HBPoS sites. 

To ensure the best possible outcomes at these centres, an appropriate workforce model will be 

required which organises staff and establishes work practices according to patients’ needs. 

To facilitate this transformation of the workforce model, it’s important to develop: 

 Clear strategic direction and purpose so that staff at all levels understand their role in 

helping those during a mental health crisis; 

 Genuine staff engagement and involvement in all aspects of the pathway, ensuring 

that staff members are listened to and feel involved in transforming and innovating 

their area of work for the benefit of patients; 

 Improved planning of staffing requirements to ensure that the trusts attract, recruit and 

retain the appropriate number of staff to meet future needs; 

 Good values based on management and leadership – this involves recognition and 

appreciation for a job well done, with everyone feeling valued for their contribution; 

and 

 Improved approaches to communication to ensure that information can be exchanged 

more easily across the wide range if stakeholders in the system. 

There are a number of guiding principles at the heart of ensuring that staff are recognised, 

involved and engaged in order to deliver the best service to those in need. These principles of 

patient centred care include: 

 Delivering robust services that provide the best possible experiences for patients, their 

families and carers; 

 Supporting staff to raise concerns that they may have regarding poor care, safety 

concerns and morale; 

 Developing workforce to realise their full potential through the provision of learning 

opportunities for staff at every level and suitable clinical supervision; 

 Understanding the work performed by staff so that high quality and safe care are 

consistently provided to patients; and 

 Always seeking to support staff health and wellbeing. 

Noting the above principles, according to the s136 specification document, there are key criteria 

that the future workforce model needs to meet. A number of key points related to the proposed 

workforce model are: 

Page 263



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  158 

 

 Every Health Based Place of Safety should have a designated s136 coordinator available 

24/7,  who is assigned to the site at all times and is the most senior person in the Health 

Based Place of Safety team at any one time (recommended no less than a Band 6 

nurse); 

 Sufficient staff should be trained in this role to ensure reliable availability, with 

contingency in place for accommodating sickness and annual leave; and 

 Dedicated staff must be available 24/7 to ensure staff members do not come off inpatient 

wards. Similarly, if the Health Based Place of Safety is co-located with an Emergency 

Department there must be adequate staff available to ensure that the unit does not have 

to rely on members of the liaison psychiatry team to fulfil this role in addition to other 

demands. The dedicated staff group should be developed to form a specialist team 

providing speedy and expert assessment of those detained under section 136. 

The remainder of this section outlines the proposed staffing arrangements under the new model 

along the steps of the s136 pathway. 

9.2.2 Conveyance Staff 

Through improving the capacity at each individual site within the consolidated model, and a 

decreased need for site closure due to staffing issues, the number of incidents where further 

conveyance is required due to arrival at a site which is at capacity, will decrease. In addition, 

standardised procedures, for example clarification regarding responsibility for locating capacity 

at other HBPoS sites, are aimed at reducing variation along the pathway will help conveyance 

staff to navigate the mental health crisis care system. 

Both of these improvements, together with improved administration and communication 

protocols, will enable both police and LAS staff to convey the patient to the right setting first time, 

every time. LAS paramedics are vitally important at the conveyance stage in order to make an 

initial physical health assessment that allows the correct decision to be made regarding the 

appropriate place of care (ED vs. HBPoS). Conveyance in an ambulance, as opposed to a 

police care is also important for patient dignity. 

9.2.3 HBPoS staff 

To support this specification, two staffing models have been considered during the options 

appraisal process: 

 Stand Alone model (as seen at South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust) 

 Combined model model with HBPoS and PDU (e.g. Psychiatric Decision Unit, seen at 

South West London St. Georges Mental Health Trust) 

In both models, the creation of a dedicated team of staff is expected to have significant benefits 

through addressing some of the challenges related to access and care quality: 

 Allows relationships to be built between team members, and with other professionals in 

the s136 pathway including LAS, police, ED staff and AMHPs; improved collaboration 

will benefit patient care and staff wellbeing.  

Page 264



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  159 

 

 Staff are no longer brought from other clinical areas to staff the unit: this reduces delays 

in accepting patients and prevents impacts of reduced staff numbers being felt on staff 

and patients in other clinical areas. 

 A dedicated team can undergo specific training to develop specialised skills in the care 

of s136 patients. This benefits both staff development and patient care. 

 The dedicated team can also be trained in physical health competencies that can 

provide patients with more holistic care, improve identification of non-psychiatry 

presentations and reduce the need for transfer to ED for minor physical health needs or 

‘medical clearance’. 

 Through the benefits above, working as part of an HBPoS team becomes an attractive 

career option for clinicians, thereby promoting recruitment and retention.   

Overall, the introduction of dedicated 24/7 staffing as part of the reconfiguration of the HBPoS 

sites will facilitate improved quality of assessments and resulting patient outcomes. The 

dedicated team will be able to work more closely with patients to understand their needs and 

identify the best course of action, with any plans developed handed over to the next team 

member on shift.  

At SLAM’s centralised place of safety, which has piloted the new s136 model of care for London, 

the rate of admission has fallen by 13% following implementation of the new model. This has 

been attributed in large part to improved practice following the introduction of the dedicated staff 

team, together with a close working with the Trust’s Acute Referral Centre. A further important 

impact of dedicated staffing is that on downstream inpatient wards. When staff are brought in 

from other areas to staff the s136 suite, a reduction in staff in those clinical areas will impact on 

quality of care for patients there, which will likely effect patient experience and outcomes. 

Standalone model 

Each HBPoS in the new configuration will have sufficient demand to require a dedicated staff 

team: 

 The facilities will have a designated consultant psychiatrist with overall responsibility for 

the service provision; 

 A specialty doctor will be on duty Monday to Friday and will carry out mental health 

assessments to all patients presenting to the suite. This will include making the first 

medical recommendation for those considered to require detention under the Mental 

Health Act; 

 New out of hours medical staffing rotas are being developed to ensure that the health 

based places of safety have speedy access to both junior and senior medical staff; and 

 There will be a resident junior doctor on site, out of hours, to ensure all immediate 

medical needs are addressed. 

South London and Maudsley (SLAM) 

This is an example of the standalone model.  The South London and Maudsley (SLAM) HBPoS 

site based at the Maudsley hospital has a total of six assessment rooms, four of which are 

Page 265



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  160 

 

consistently staffed. The remaining two rooms are designed to the ‘seclusion’ standard, which 

enables staff to cope with individuals who are the most unwell and display very challenging 

behaviour. The police have direct access to the seclusion area to avoid the individual having to 

go through the main entrance of the site. 

One room has an adjacent sitting room area which can be separated from the remainder of the 

unit. This is suitable for CYP or others who may have family members in attendance. Note that 

this site is available for all ages detained under s136.   

There is an s136 rota which includes a Specialty Doctor or consultant who carries out the first 

mental health assessment when the individual arrives. Where a second doctor is required for 

Mental Health Act assessment purposes, this is provided by an independent s12 doctor on the 

approved list of medical staff. 

The s136 rota includes both qualified staff and health care assistants; all staff allocated to the 

HBPoS are dedicated to s136 patients. The team includes: 

 Team leader – Band 7 x 1 

 Charge Nurses – Band 6 x 6 

 Staff Nurses – Band 5 x 12 

 Health Care Assistants – Band 3 x 11 

 Specialty Doctor – 1 

 Administrator / PA – Band 4 x 1 

This staffing establishment will provide for 5 staff to be on duty on each shift on a 24/7 basis for 

a 4 unit suite. This allows the unit to better manage peaks and troughs in activity. Furthermore, 

the experience from SLAM’s centralised place of safety illustrates that quieter periods give time 

for on-site training and for adequate breaks and reflection in what is on other occasions a high 

intensity environment; this has a positive impact on staff wellbeing and contributes to high 

retention rates. 

Box 15: Feedback on benefits of a dedicated staff team 

 

Combined model (PDU and HBPoS) 

 The concept of the combined unit is to have an assessment unit and section 136 suite co-

located, this enables, a joint workforce that can flex between the assessment unit and the 

section 136 suite, and in-depth assessment and treatment for patients who would otherwise 

have been admitted to acute wards.  

The service recognises that informed decisions on whether hospital admission may be required 

are often affected by the circumstances of the assessment. The combined unit/workforce offers 

“Having dedicated staff which aren’t taken from other teams allows a more cohesive environment 
which is more able to address patient needs in a more proactive way.”  
 
ST7 Registrar, 2017 SLAM Centralised Place of Safety 

 

Page 266



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  161 

 

a safe and stable environment through which an informed assessment can take place, and 

where appropriate arrangements can be set up following assessment. 

South West London St. Georges (SWLSTGs) 

An example of the combined model is the Psychiatric Decision Unit (PDU) model based in 

SWLSTGs. The PDU is an integrated assessment suite that encompasses the HBPoS site and 

provides interim mental health care and assessment for patients referred from liaison psychiatry 

services in Emergency Departments, crisis home treatments teams and the mental health street 

triage teams in partnership with the police and ambulance services. The SWL CCGs supported 

the proposal to develop this Psychiatric Decision Unit, which is based on a model in 

Birmingham. 

When the individual arrives at the PDU they are immediately seen by the nurse to discuss the 

nature of the crisis and what the best options may be. The time and space that the assessment 

suite offers gives patients time to think through the immediate crisis and the sort of help they 

need to recover, both over the short and longer term. It also gives staff time to carry out an 

informed assessment, create a collaborative, tailored treatment plan and make appropriate 

arrangements for on-going support in the community where feasible. The assessment suite is 

not a ward and does not have beds.  

The HBPoS adjoins the PDU and the staffing model covers both services. The PDU has 

capacity for five service users whilst the HBPoS has capacity for two individuals detained under 

s136. When there are instances where the HBPoS is at maximum capacity and others are 

waiting to be seen, the PDU can act as a step down area for low to moderate risk service users. 

This service has the core aims of: 

• Reducing demand on Emergency Departments by transferring people in mental health 

crisis to an appropriate mental health assessment unit; 

• Reducing protracted waits in ED/Emergency assessment units for beds when not 

immediately available; and 

• Offering an enhanced period of assessment and reducing unnecessary admissions giving 

a better outcome to the service user and keeping expensive acute beds only for those 

who are most in need. 

Safe staffing levels for sites under the preferred option 

Table 56 outlines the workforce requirements in order to provide safe staffing levels given 

various levels of capacity at HBPoS sites across London. This only includes staffing for the s136 

suite and excludes the wrap around services. However, it is assumed that the s136 staff when 

not utilised in the suites can be deployed flexibly to other crisis care services. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  162 

 

Table 56: Safe level staffing by capacity level 

Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

 WTE  

Speciality Doctor Grade              1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Consultant's Post 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 

Nursing Band 03                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 05                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 06                1.5 3.0 4.5 6.0 7.5 9.0 

Nursing Band 07                1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

 

HBPoS staff training and competencies 

Irrespective of which workforce model, healthcare staff working in a Health Based Place of 

Safety should be sufficiently trained in mental and physical health to safely and effectively 

perform their role. The provision of a dedicated team allows for s136 specific training to be 

delivered to a dedicated workforce and for the on-going assessment of skills and training needs; 

this will improve the quality of care for individuals detained under s136. 

Mental health skills include mental state assessments, rapid tranquilisation procedures, safe 

restraint and knowledge of relevant legislation (e.g. the Mental Health Act and Mental Capacity 

Act). In addition to mental health skills, it is expected that the staff will be trained in basic 

physical health competencies, in order to provide holistic care.  

It is furthermore anticipated that adherence to the physical health competencies set out in the 

s136 pathway (appendix 9 of ‘Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 136 

pathway and Health Based Place of Safety specification’), will reduce the need for physical 

health assessments or treatment in an ED prior to HBPoS site attendance and for transfer post 

admission to the HBPoS site. This will reduce the burden on EDs, improve the timeliness of 

assessments and reduce the use of further conveyance by LAS or police between HBPoS site 

and the ED.   

Training initiatives for a dedicated staff team will, as well as improving team skills and expertise, 

have a clear role in staff development and career progression. This will have positive impacts on 

recruitment and retention, both important issues to address across mental health, as highlighted 

in the Health Education England (HEE) workforce plan95.  

The importance of staff training within the s136 pathway, and the opportunity that newly formed 

dedicated staff teams provide has been recognised by HEE. Four London mental health trusts 

successfully bid for funding to help set up innovative rotational nursing programmes for staff at 

EDs and HBPoS sites. The aim of these programmes is for HBPoS nursing staff to gain 

experience in ED, whilst ED nurses gain experience at the HBPoS sites in order to develop their 

physical and mental health care skills respectively, reduce the dependency on ED for minor 

physical health needs and develop relationships across organisational boundaries.  

 

                                                
95

 Stepping Forward to 2020/21: Mental Health Workforce Place for England (2017). Health Education 
England. Available at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/planning-commissioning/workforce-
planning/mental-health-workforce-plan  

Page 268



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  163 

 

A summary of the expected physical and mental health competencies are outlined in table 56 

below. Feedback (box 15 and 16) from s136 staff at SLAM highlights the benefit of a dedicated 

staff team on training and competencies.  

Box 16: Feedback on benefits of a dedicated team  

 

Table 57: Competencies of HBPoS staff 

Competencies for HBPoS staff (including nursing and medical)  

Mental state assessment 

Rapid Tranquilisation Procedure 

The use of physical intervention and safe restraint 

Risk assessment and management including risk to others, from others, to self and to health 
(including self-neglect). 

The use of the Mental Health Act, Mental Capacity Act and an overview of the Care Act. 

Observational skill including the level and manner of detail contained in written observations. 

Up to date mandatory training in Trust protocols (i.e. information governance, safeguarding, 
promoting safer and therapeutic services - PSTS). 

Liaison with families and carers. 

CPR and age appropriate life support, including the ability to use resuscitation equipment 

Physical health assessment 

Safely administer and monitor medication used or rapid tranquilisation. 

Provide monitoring and basic physical interventions e.g. hydration to support basic physical health 
status. 

Recognise and refer on the acutely deteriorating patient providing initial supportive treatment, 

“Thinking back to how the service used to be run, before even any of the dedicated team came on 

board, it was run in such an ad hoc way, it was seen as a burden so that probably translated to a poor 

quality of care for patients. People weren’t specialised and didn’t necessarily have the necessary level 

of skill required to look after patients, it really was just seen as a bolt on. So, for me I think the 

improvement in terms of patient care is massive – that’s probably the biggest contribution…I think it’s 

the skill and the knowledge and the experience of the staffing group that’s really made a difference.”  

Former Unit Manager, 2017 

Page 269



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  164 

 

including seizures, chest pain, breathlessness, lowering of consciousness. 

Manage simple superficial wounds. 

Screen and respond to non-acute illness including management of co-morbid infection and 
identification and onward referral for chronic stable disease. 

Perform basic lifestyle screen assessment. 

Assessment and management of substance misuse and intoxication. Screen for, prevent and 
manage uncomplicated alcohol or substance (including nicotine) withdrawal. 

Provide full medical examination and systems review (and if appropriate blood tests) to screen for 
co-morbid physical health conditions to support onward referral if appropriate 

 

9.2.4 Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) services 

The proposal to move from the current model of 20 HBPoS sites to 9 will have implications for 

current AMHP duty arrangements and local authority duties under section 13 of the Mental 

Health Act. There are a number of options for how this could be progressed: 

Option 1: Directly employ AMHPs as part of the HBPoS staffing establishment on a 24/7 basis. 

 Pros: Dedicated AMHP cover on site would provide a timely response in all cases. 

 Cons: Additional funding arrangements would be required to enable 24/7 dedicated 

AMPH services. This would involve significant engagement with the local Boroughs.  

 Challenges: Local authorities currently have difficulty in recruiting experienced 

AMHPs. 

Option 2: Create a dedicated single, STP-based AMHP duty service to assess all patients, 

regardless of borough of origin. This would cover both normal working hours and out of hours, 

for all assessments under the Mental Health Act, not solely Section 136 requests. 

 Pros: Actual activity and demand would be no higher than at present for individual 

AMHP duty services. 

 Cons: Depending on where the AMHPs were based, there may be travel and 

response time issues. 

 Challenges: There may be legal issues to address in order for AMHPs to act on 

behalf of other local authorities. For example, there may be warranting, authorisation 

and possibly honorary contractual arrangements in order for AMHPs to ‘act on behalf 

of’ other local authorities. 

Option 3: Each borough deploys an AMHP to respond to requests for s136 assessments for 

their borough residents at the HBPoS, as and when required 

Page 270



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  165 

 

 Pros: Local AMHPs have the knowledge of local resources, which can act as an 

alternative to hospital admission. 

 Cons: Increased travel/response time for AMHPs. 

 Challenge: Potential diversion of AMHPs from other duty work. 

To arrive at the best option for AMHP services, a more rigorous assessment of the various ways 

in which AMHPs can be commissioned is required to ensure the challenges faced by the AMHPs 

are addressed and an efficient model is created for the consolidated model. Other AMHP 

models across London should also be looked at, for example how SLAM and SWLTSTG have 

managed the AMHP workforce with a centralised site. Furthermore, this is in opportunity, given 

the overall challenges for AMHP availability across London, to explore novel AMHP 

development programmes, for example the possibility of training Trust staff as AMHPs. 

9.2.5 S12 doctor 

It is important that in the new model, further consideration is given to improving the transparency 

and consistency of acquiring s12 doctor services. More transparency is needed to ensure 

training standards have been met in relation to s12 doctors. Payment and administration 

protocols are required to ensure that s12 doctors are contracted appropriately and aligned to 

demand patterns. This will ensure optimal patient experience and reduce delay in patient care. 

9.2.6 Emergency Department staff 

When an individual detained under s136 is conveyed to an Emergency Department, the 

individual remains in police custody throughout the period in ED until one of the following occur: 

 A s12 doctor concludes that the patient has no underlying mental health disorder and the 

individual is discharged from s136; 

 ED staff accept responsibility for individual custody for the purpose of the mental health 

assessment; or 

 The individual is conveyed to the local HBPoS site. 

In any of these instances, it is vital that information about the individual’s needs and any 

associated risks are clearly documented and explained to the ED staff. It is also the 

responsibility of the ED staff to inform the AMHP services if necessary. While in the Emergency 

Department, ED staff and mental health professions should respond in a timely way to support 

appropriate assessment including following best practice to ensure liaison psychiatry see the 

individual within one hour or referral and the AMHP and s12 doctor assess within 4 hours of ED 

presentation. 

When the individual is referred to the liaison psychiatry team, the team have a key role in 

supporting the mental health assessment process but are not involved in the assessment itself. 

The team’s role includes: 

 Contributing to the decision regarding whether there is a need to transfer the individual to 

the local Health Based Place of Safety for a mental health assessment or whether this 

will occur in ED and alerting the AMHP and s12 doctor of the arrival of the individual; 

Page 271



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  166 

 

 Supporting the gathering and transfer of information relevant to the patient’s 

presentation, including obtaining collateral information from other professionals and 

family/friend and supporting the transfer of physical health care documentation to the 

Mental Health Trust; 

 Deciding whether there are safeguarding concerns, and raising a safeguard alert if 

necessary; and 

 Providing an initial mental health examination to ensure the individuals’ needs are met 

and completion of an immediate mental health risk assessment, which should include 

liaison with police, LAS, health based place of safety and ED staff. 

In addition to these activities, an assessment of both the physical and mental health needs is 

required. Some of the key steps involved at this stage are: 

 Assessment of physical health needs and handover of physical health information to the 

mental health liaison team; 

 The liaison team should concurrently form and communicate an initial assessment plan, 

including contact details for allocated liaison worker; 

 Liaison and ED staff agree together the next stages of the care plan including the time 

frame for referral and completion of the mental health assessment (if considered 

appropriate) and the time frames and nature of further physical health assessments and 

treatments; and 

 Proceed with the mental health assessment alongside medical care when there is no 

cause to believe that physical health assessment will impact significantly upon the 

patient’s mental state. 

The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED presentations due to 

capacity issues. Furthermore, it is expected that the future model will also reduce the demand 

for physical health care in the Emergency Department due to improved physical healthcare 

provision in the HBPoS sites, thus minimising transfers to ED for ‘medical clearance’ or minor 

physical health needs. 

In order to ensure that those patients who will still be attending ED under the new model, which 

will in particular include those with more complex physical health needs, receive high quality and 

efficient care, ED staff will need to be aware through training of, and adhere to, clear roles and 

responsibilities, as outlined in the ‘Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 

136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety specification’. 

. 

  

Page 272



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  167 

 

Appendix A 
Overall pan-London ranking of HBPoS sites 

Following the analysis against the individual site criteria, the overall pan–London ranking of all 

HBPoS sites is outlined below, for the adult population group. 

Ranking HBPoS site STP Weighted score 

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, 
Maudsley Hospital (new centralised site) 

South East London 13.0 

2 Highgate Mental Health Centre 
North Central 
London 

11.5 

3 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 10.0 

3 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 10.0 

4 
Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing 
Hospital 

North West London 9.5 

4 St Charles Hospital  North West London 9.5 

4 Gordon Hospital North West London 9.5 

4 Oxleas House South East London 9.5 

4 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, 
Springfield University Hospital 

South West London 9.5 

5 The Whittington Hospital 
North Central 
London 

9.0 

5 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 9.0 

5 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex 
University Hospital 

North West London 9.0 

6 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 8.5 

6 Green Parks House South East London 8.5 

7 
Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital (2+ 1 
reserved , used in exceptional standard) 

North Central 
London 

8.0 

7 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 8.0 

8 
Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick 
Park Hospital 

North West London 7.0 

9 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 6.5 

10 University College London Hospital 
North Central 
London 

6.0 

11 Royal Free Hospital 
North Central 
London 

5.5 

12 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  168 

 

STP ranking of HBPoS sites 

The table below shows the output of the individual site assessment, ranking HBPoS sites within 

their respective STPs, for the adult population group. 

Rankings HBPoS STP Weighted Score 

1 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 9.5 

    
 

  

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, Maudsley Hospital 
(new centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Oxleas House South East London 9.5 
3 Green Parks House South East London 8.5 

    
 

  
1 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 10.0 
1 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 10.0 
3 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.5 
3 St Charles Hospital  North West London 9.5 
3 Gordon Hospital North West London 9.5 

4 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 9.0 

5 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 7.0 
6 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 6.5 

    
 

  
1 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 9.0 
2 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 8.5 
3 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 8.0 
4 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

    
 

  
1 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 11.5 
2 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 9.0 
3 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 8.0 
4 University College London Hospital North Central London 6.0 
5 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 5.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 274



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  169 

 

Overall pan-London ranking of HBPoS sites 

Following the analysis against the individual site criteria, the overall pan–London ranking of all 

HBPoS sites outlined below is for the children (under 18s) population group. 

Rankings HBPoS site STP Weighted Score 

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, Maudsley Hospital (new 
centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 12.0 

3 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 9.5 

4 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.0 

5 Green Parks House South East London 8.0 

5 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 8.0 

6 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 7.5 

7 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 7.0 

7 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 7.0 

7 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 7.0 

8 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 6.5 

8 Oxleas House South East London 6.5 

9 Gordon Hospital North West London 6 

10 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 5.5 

10 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 5.5 

11 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 5.0 

12 University College London Hospital North Central London 4.5 

12 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

13 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 4.0 

13 St Charles Hospital  North West London 4.0 

14 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 3.0 

 

  

Page 275



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  170 

 

STP ranking of HBPoS sites 

The table below shows the output of the individual site assessment, ranking HBPoS sites within 

their respective STPs, for the CYP population group. 

Rankings HBPoS site STP Weighted Score 

1 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 8.0 

    
 

  

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, Maudsley Hospital (new 
centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Green Parks House South East London 8.0 

3 Oxleas House South East London 6.5 

    
 

  

1 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.0 

2 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 7.0 

2 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 7.0 

2 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 7.0 

3 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 6.5 

4 Gordon Hospital North West London 6 

5 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 5.0 

6 St Charles Hospital  North West London 4.0 

    
 

  

1 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 12.0 

2 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 9.5 

3 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 5.5 

4 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

    
 

  

1 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 7.5 

2 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 5.5 

3 University College London Hospital North Central London 4.5 

4 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 4.0 

5 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 3.0 

 

Page 276



Health & Social Care Scrutiny Committee – Annual Workplan

Members are reminded of the agenda items suggested at the 8th May meeting and the scheduled dates for future meetings of the Committee. 
Future agendas can be discussed at each meeting to raise any issues and to determine which topics or services should be considered at the next 
meeting.

Subject List Brought 
Forward Date Proposed Information To be considered by the 

Committee

Accountable Care Officer 13 February 2018

The accountable care officer or a senior member of 
STP staff to be invited to a future meeting to discuss 
the changing role of the CCG and the new East 
London Healthcare Partnership.

6 November 2018

SEND 1 May 2018 To receive the results of the Corporation’s recent 
Ofsted inspection for discussion. 6 November 2018

Healthwatch 1 May 2018

Healthwatch representatives to attend a Committee 
meeting and report to the Committee on governance 
changes and restructuring of Healthwatch City of 
London and Hackney.

6 November 2018

Air Pollution 1 May 2018

To look at the actions taken or being taken to 
improve air quality in the City of London, progress 
made against the Air Quality Strategy and whether 
the Corporation’s targets were being met.

TBC

Histology at Royal London 1 May 2018 To examine the procedures around histology as part 
of the process for cancer treatment. TBC

Babylon GP Service 13 February 2018 Officers to look into the impact of the Babylon GP 
service and see if a report could be presented. TBC

P
age 277

A
genda Item

 9



Post-election Health 
Announcements 8th May 2017

Headline changes to be circulated electronically to 
the Committee after elections, and details to be 
presented when available.

Ongoing

P
age 278


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 East London Health & Care Partnership
	ELHCP-better-care-and-wellbeing-in-east-London_Feb18

	7 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) City of London Local Area Inspection outcome – May 2018
	6 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) City of London Local Area Inspection outcome - May 2018
	SEND Inspection Report - APPENDIX
	6 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) City of London Local Area Inspection outcome - May 2018
	SEND Inspection Report - APPENDIX



	8 North East London CCGs - Health Based Places of Safety (HBPos)
	Health Based Places of Safety in North East London
	HLP Crisis Stakeholder engagement audit FINAL
	HLP HBPoS Business Case

	9 Annual Workplan

